# University of Alberta

*Trans*-11 Vaccenic Acid Favourably Remodels Whole Body Energy and Endocannabinoid Metabolism During Conditions of Dyslipidemia

by

Maria Miriam Jacome Sosa

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Nutrition and Metabolism

## Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

# ©Maria Miriam Jacome Sosa Fall 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

"You can't connect the dots looking forward; you can only connect them looking backwards. So you have to trust that the dots will somehow connect in your future. You have to trust in something – your gut, destiny, life, karma, whatever. Because believing that the dots will connect down the road will give you the confidence to follow your heart even when it leads you off the well worn path; and that will make all the difference."

— Steve Jobs (Stanford Commencement Address, 2005)

# Dedication

To my husband, Hermes Gerardo Cuervo and my family for being my highest inspiration, for sharing my dreams and for always supporting me throughout this journey

#### Abstract

**Introduction:** *Trans* 11-18:1 (vaccenic acid, VA) is the *predominant* ruminant-derived *trans* fatty acid (TFA) in the food chain and is also the precursor to endogenous synthesis of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 conjugated linoleic acid (CLA). Literature documents numerous health benefits associated with CLA, which is a *minor* component of natural TFA. A few recent studies have reported hypolipidemic properties of VA. However, independent bioactive properties of VA during dyslipidemia and insulin resistance remain elusive.

**Objectives:** To determine whether VA can enhance the putative hypolipidemic effects of CLA. To investigate whether enriching dairy fat with VA can favourably modulate whole body energy use/storage.

**Methods and Results:** Hypolipidemic effects of dietary supplementation with CLA on dyslipidemia were enhanced by the addition of VA in a rat model of metabolic syndrome (the JCR:LA-*cp* rat). VA was also found to reduce total body fat (-6%) while stimulating adipose tissue re-distribution (reduced mesenteric fat (-17%) while increasing inguinal fat mass (29%)). VA fortification increased metabolic rate concomitantly with an increased preference for whole body glucose utilization for oxidation and increased insulin sensitivity (lower HOMA-IR index (-59%)). Additionally, VA reequilibrated intestinal and hepatic lipid homeostasis (reduced TG secretion) while exerting differential transcriptional regulation in both organs. Targeted lipidomic analyses revealed that VA can regulate concentrations of endocannabinoids in a tissue-specific manner.

**Conclusions:** VA has hypolipidemic effects independent of CLA and can favorably modulate whole body energy metabolism and lipid homeostasis when added to a dairy-derived diet. The regulatory effect of VA on the endocannabinoid system may have potential therapeutic applications. Based on these results, enriching dairy products with VA (either naturally

or by fortification) may maximize the health value of dairy-derived fats. Findings also support the need for nutrition guidelines focused on eliminating industrial forms of TFA from processed foods, as opposed to all TFA *per se*.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor and mentor, Dr. Spencer Proctor for providing me with a wonderful training experience filled with endless opportunities, for guiding me and supporting me all the way.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Donna Vine, Dr. Catherine Field for their invaluable guidance and support and for always encouraging me to pursuit my dreams.

I would like to thank Dr. Rene Jacobs and Dr. Richard Lehner for the helpul discussions and valuable feedback for my doctoral thesis.

I would like to thank Ms. Sandra Kelly, Ms. Kristina McNaughton and Ms. Sharon Sokolik for the incredible technical support.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Dr. Rabban Mangat and Dr. Faye Borthwick for helping me, guiding me and for sharing with me wonderful memories. I would also like to sincerely thank Dr. Flora Wang, Dr. Abdoulaye Diane and all the present and past members of the MCVD lab for their help and for making my trainee experience truly enjoyable.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapt	er 1 Literature Review1
Prelude to Thesis1	
1.1	Trans Fatty Acids: Historical Perspective and Policy
	Implications2
1.1.1	Trans fats in the diet2
1.1.2	Health implications of trans fats
1.1.3	Ruminant trans fats4
	1.1.3.1 Conjugated linoleic acid6
	1.1.3.2 TFA-enriched dairy products8
1.1.4	Trans fat regulations9
1.1.5	Dietary intake of industrial <i>trans</i> fats after 200610
1.1.6	Controversies in <i>trans</i> fat labeling regulations10
1.1.7	Effects of naturally occurring trans fats on biomarkers of CVD
	risk12
1.1.8	Synopsis: Understanding the role of VA in ameliorating
	metabolically aberrant conditions15
1.2	Plasma Transport of Dietary and Endogenous lipids
1.2.1	Lipoprotein composition and function
1.2.2	Introduction to lipoprotein metabolism
1.2.3	Lipid sources for lipoprotein synthesis and secretion
	1.2.3.1 Dietary and fatty acids released from adipose stores20
	1.2.3.2 De novo synthesized fatty acids21
1.2.4	Synthesis of triglyceride from dietary and endogenous
	sources and regulatory enzymes23
1.2.5	Synthesis and secretion of triglyceride rich lipoproteins
1.2.6	Metabolism of triglyceride rich lipoproteins
1.3	Metabolic Syndrome, CVD Risk and Non-fasting Lipids31
1.3.1	Introduction31

1.3.2	Pathophysiology of the metabolic syndrome32
1.3.3	Non-fasting lipemia as an independent predictor of CVD risk35
	1.3.3.1 Indirect effect of TRL on increased CVD risk
	1.3.3.2 The proposed direct effect of TRL on increased
	CVD risk
	1.3.3.3 Evidence for the role of non-fasting triglyceridemia
	on increased CVD risk37
1.4	Integrated Role of Intestine, Liver and Adipose Tissue in
	Lipid Metabolism and Metabolic Syndrome
1.4.1	The physiological role of insulin (transition from the fed to the
	fasted state)
1.4.2	The role of adipose tissue in obesity and metabolic syndrome40
	1.4.2.1 Anatomic and functional differences between fat
	depots: links to metabolic risk41
1.4.3	The pathophysiology of insulin resistance in obesity and
	dysfunctional lipid homeostasis44
	1.4.3.1 Increased ectopic lipid accumulation during obesity
	and insulin resistance44
	1.4.3.2 Effect of insulin resistance on lipoprotein production
	and metabolism46
	1.4.3.2.1 Overproduction of TRL during insulin resistance46
	1.4.3.2.2 Impaired clearance of TRL during insulin
	resistance49
1.5	The JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> Rat, a Model of Insulin Resistance and
	Metabolic Syndrome49
1.5.1	JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat as a model of insulin resistance50
1.5.2	JCR:LA-cp rat as a model of fasting and postprandial lipemia51
1.5.3	Use of the JCR:LA-cp rat model in nutritionally-balanced
	studies

1.6	Regulation of Lipid Metabolism and Insulin Action by
	Dietary Fatty Acids52
1.6.1	Effect of fatty acids on TRL metabolism52
1.6.2	Regulation by transcription factors54
	1.6.2.1 Sterol regulatory element binding proteins
	1.6.2.2 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors
	1.6.2.2.1 Activation of PPARs and associated
	physiological effects55
	1.6.2.2.2 Metabolic functions and clinical outcomes of
	PPARγ activation56
	1.6.2.2.3 Activation of PPARs by natural ligands57
1.6.3	Role of dietary lipids in MetS associated inflammation58
1.7	Proposed mechanisms of action for the health benefits of
	VA60
1.7.1	Activation of PPARs by VA60
1.7.2	Incorporation of VA into cellular membranes61
1.8	Regulation of Endocannabinoids by Dietary Fatty Acids
	in Health and Disease62
1.8.1	Endocannabinoid biosynthesis and regulation63
1.8.2	Endocannabinoid analogues and their receptors65
1.8.3	Physiological actions of CB receptor activation linking to
	obesity and MetS65
1.8.4	Regulation of endocannabinoids by dietary fatty acids as an
	alternative strategy to favourably modulate the
	endocannabinoid system during obesity and MetS67
1.9	Working Hypothesis and General Objectives of the
	Thesis70
1.10	Literature Cited71
Chapt	er 2 Rationale: Objectives and Hypotheses

2.1	Rationale and introduction to research hypothesis95	
2.2	Thesis Objectives and Hypothesis98	
Chapt	er 3: Increased hypolipidemic benefits of conjugated linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA <i>cp</i> rat98	
Chapt	er 4 Diets enriched in <i>trans-</i> 11 vaccenic acid attenuate ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid storage and increase energy utilization in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat	
Chapt	er 5 Metabolic effects of <i>trans-</i> 11 vaccenic acid are associated with its ability to exert tissue specific regulation of endocannabinoids in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat102	
2.3	Literature cited103	
Chapter 3 Increased hypolipidemic benefits of conjugated linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat		
	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat106	
3.1	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat106 Introduction	
3.1 3.2	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat	
<b>3.1</b> <b>3.2</b> 3.2.1	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat	
<b>3.1</b> <b>3.2</b> 3.2.1 3.2.2	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in         the JCR:LA-cp rat         106         Introduction         106         Research Design and Methods         107         Animals and diets         107         Plasma biochemical components	
<b>3.1</b> <b>3.2</b> 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in         the JCR:LA-cp rat         106         Introduction         106         Research Design and Methods         107         Animals and diets         107         Plasma biochemical components         110         Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG	
<b>3.1</b> <b>3.2</b> 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.3	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in         the JCR:LA-cp rat         106         Introduction       106         Research Design and Methods       107         Animals and diets       107         Plasma biochemical components       110         Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG       111         Hepatic and adipose tissue citrate synthase activity       112	
<b>3.1</b> <b>3.2</b> 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in         the JCR:LA-cp rat         106         Introduction       106         Research Design and Methods       107         Animals and diets       107         Plasma biochemical components       110         Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG       111         Hepatic and adipose tissue citrate synthase activity       112         Relative protein abundance of lipogenic enzymes       112	
<b>3.1</b> <b>3.2</b> 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.6	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in         the JCR:LA-cp rat       106         Introduction       106         Research Design and Methods       107         Animals and diets       107         Plasma biochemical components       110         Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG       111         Hepatic and adipose tissue citrate synthase activity       112         Relative protein abundance of lipogenic enzymes       112         Statistical analysis       112	
<ul> <li><b>3.1</b></li> <li><b>3.2</b></li> <li>3.2.1</li> <li>3.2.2</li> <li>3.2.3</li> <li>3.2.4</li> <li>3.2.5</li> <li>3.2.6</li> <li><b>3.3</b></li> </ul>	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in         the JCR:LA-cp rat         106         Introduction         106         Research Design and Methods         107         Animals and diets         107         Plasma biochemical components         110         Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG         111         Hepatic and adipose tissue citrate synthase activity         112         Relative protein abundance of lipogenic enzymes         112         Results	
<ul> <li><b>3.1</b></li> <li><b>3.2</b></li> <li>3.2.1</li> <li>3.2.2</li> <li>3.2.3</li> <li>3.2.4</li> <li>3.2.5</li> <li>3.2.6</li> <li><b>3.3</b></li> <li>3.3.1</li> </ul>	linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in         the JCR:LA-cp rat         106         Introduction       106         Research Design and Methods       107         Animals and diets       107         Plasma biochemical components       110         Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG       111         Hepatic and adipose tissue citrate synthase activity       112         Relative protein abundance of lipogenic enzymes       112         Statistical analysis       113         Food intake, body weight and body composition       113	

3.3.3	Fatty acid profile in epididymal adipose tissue triglyceride116
3.3.4	Fasting plasma lipid, glucose and insulin concentrations116
3.3.5	Post-prandial plasma TG response119
3.3.6	Liver TG concentration and relative abundance of hepatic
	lipogenic enzymes120
3.4	Discussion122
3.4.1	Combination of VA+CLA increases food intake and
	decreases liver weight
3.4.2	CLA and VA+CLA increase the enzymatic activity of a marker
	of mitochondrial oxidative capacity in liver and adipose tissue122
3.4.3	CLA and VA are similarly incorporated in adipose tissue
	triglyceride123
3.4.4	Combined dietary VA+CLA has a greater effect to reduce
	dyslipidemia and hepatic steatosis124
3.5	Literature cited126
3.5 Chapte	Literature cited126 er 4 Diets enriched in <i>trans</i> -11 vaccenic acid attenuate
3.5 Chapte	Literature cited126 er 4 Diets enriched in <i>trans</i> -11 vaccenic acid attenuate ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid storage and
3.5 Chapt	Literature cited
3.5 Chapte 4.1	Literature cited
3.5 Chapte 4.1 4.2	Literature cited
3.5 Chapte 4.1 4.2 4.2.1	Literature cited
<ul> <li>3.5</li> <li>Chapte</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.2.1</li> <li>4.2.2</li> </ul>	Literature cited
<ul> <li><b>3.5</b></li> <li><b>Chapte</b></li> <li><b>4.1</b></li> <li><b>4.2</b></li> <li>4.2.1</li> <li>4.2.2</li> <li>4.2.3</li> </ul>	Literature cited.       126         er 4       Diets enriched in <i>trans</i> -11 vaccenic acid attenuate ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid storage and increase energy utilization in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat.         Introduction       131         Materials and methods       133         Animals and diets       133         Body composition analysis       134         Adipocyte size of visceral and inguinal depots       134
3.5 Chapte 4.1 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.3	Literature cited.       126         er 4       Diets enriched in trans-11 vaccenic acid attenuate ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid storage and increase energy utilization in the JCR:LA-cp rat.       131         Introduction       131         Materials and methods.       133         Animals and diets       133         Body composition analysis       134         Adipocyte size of visceral and inguinal depots       134
3.5 Chapte 4.1 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5	Literature cited.       126         er 4       Diets enriched in <i>trans</i> -11 vaccenic acid attenuate ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid storage and increase energy utilization in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat.       131         Introduction       131         Materials and methods       133         Animals and diets       133         Body composition analysis       134         Adipocyte size of visceral and inguinal depots       134         Meal tolerance test (MTT) and the post-prandial response of       126
3.5 Chapte 4.1 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5	Literature cited
3.5 Chapte 4.1 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 4.2.6	Literature cited

4.2.8	Quantification of phosphorylated hormone sensitive lipase	
	(pHSL) protein136	
4.2.9	Quantification of intestinal and hepatic lipids136	
4.2.10	Hepatic and intestinal gene expression	
4.2.11	Assessment of hepatic and intestinal TG secretion in vivo137	
4.2.12	Plasma lipid extraction and radioactivity counting138	
4.2.13	Plasma biochemical assays138	
4.2.14	Statistical analysis	
4.3	Results139	
4.3.1	VA decreases total body fat mass and favorably alters fat	
	distribution and adipocyte size139	
4.3.2	VA decreases the active form of HSL in adipose tissue143	
4.3.3	Enrichment of dairy fat with VA increases energy expenditure144	
4.3.4	VA decreases fasting insulin and improves glucose response	
	after a meal146	
4.3.5	VA attenuates the progression of NAFLD149	
4.3.6	VA affects intestinal and hepatic lipid deposition, but has a	
	unique opposing effect on the regulation of mRNA expression	
	for select genes	
4.3.7	Enrichment of dairy fat with VA significantly reduces hepatic	
	and intestinal TG secretion152	
4.4	Discussion154	
4.4.1	Improved insulin sensitivity by VA may be associated with	
	body fat re-distribution and decreased ectopic fat	
	accumulation154	
4.4.2	Enrichment of dairy fat with VA decreases hepatic and	
	intestinal lipid accumulation and results in opposing	
	transcriptional control in the liver and the intestine	
4.4.3	Enrichment of dairy fat with VA significantly improves	
	intestinal and hepatic TG secretion156	

4.5	Literature cited158
Chapt	er 5 Metabolic effects of <i>trans-</i> 11 vaccenic acid are associated with its ability to exert tissue specific regulation of endocannabinoids in the JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rat163
5.1	Introduction163
5.2	Materials and Methods165
5.2.1	Animals and diets165
5.2.2	Tissue lipid extraction
5.2.3	Analysis of endocannabinoids and ananadamide analogues 167
5.2.4	Fatty acid analysis in PL168
5.2.5	Measurement of fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) protein
	expression in the jejunum169
5.2.6	Measurement of pro-inflammatory genes in the jejunum169
5.2.7	Statistical analysis170
5.3	Results170
5.3.1	Dietary supplementation with VA alone or in combination with
	CLA decreases the concentration of 2-AG and anandamide
	analogues (OEA and PEA) in the liver and VAT170
5.3.2	Supplementation with VA increases the concentration of
	anandamide and anandamide analogues (OEA and PEA) in
	the jejunum171
5.3.3	Effects of dietary supplementation with VA, CLA or their
	combination on tissue PL fatty acid composition177
5.3.4	The magnitude of incorporation of VA in membrane PL is
	tissue-dependent178
5.3.5	Dietary supplementation with VA alters the mRNA and protein
	expression of FAAH but does not affect the mRNA
	expression of $CB_1$ receptor in the jejunum

5.3.6	Dietary supplementation with VA reduced the mRNA
	expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the jejunum
5.4	Discussion183
5.4.1	Dietary supplementation with VA reduces liver and VAT 2-AG
	without altering the availability of PL biosynthetic precursor183
5.4.2	Effects of VA on tissue EC concentrations are associated with
	its incorporation into tissue PL185
5.4.3	VA increases jejunal anandamide and anandamide
	analogues associated with a down-regulation of FAAH protein
	expression
	Literature sited
5.5	Literature cited
Chapte	er 6 Final Discussion193
6.1	Summary of Findings193
6.1.1	VA enhances the lipid-lowering effects of CLA during
	conditions of abnormal linid motabolism 103
6.1.2	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA
6.1.2	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism
6.1.2	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism
6.1.2	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism
6.1.2	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA         alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism         6.1.2.1       Effect of fasted versus fed states on intestinal lipid         secretion       195         6.1.2.2       Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation
6.1.2	<ul> <li>Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA</li> <li>alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism</li></ul>
6.1.2	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism
<ul><li>6.1.2</li><li>6.1.3</li><li>6.1.4</li></ul>	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism
6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA         alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism         194         6.1.2.1       Effect of fasted versus fed states on intestinal lipid         secretion       195         6.1.2.2       Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation         195         6.1.2.2       Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation         196         VA exerts a selective regulation of tissue endocannabinoids         that is associated with its metabolic effects         198         Summary of the pleiotropic effects and proposed mode of         action of VA         199
<ol> <li>6.1.2</li> <li>6.1.3</li> <li>6.1.4</li> <li>6.2</li> </ol>	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA         alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism       194         6.1.2.1 Effect of fasted versus fed states on intestinal lipid       195         6.1.2.2 Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation       196         VA exerts a selective regulation of tissue endocannabinoids       198         Summary of the pleiotropic effects and proposed mode of       199         Future Directions       201
<ul> <li>6.1.2</li> <li>6.1.3</li> <li>6.1.4</li> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.2.1</li> </ul>	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA         alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism         194         6.1.2.1       Effect of fasted versus fed states on intestinal lipid         secretion       195         6.1.2.2       Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation         195       6.1.2.2         Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation         196       VA exerts a selective regulation of tissue endocannabinoids         that is associated with its metabolic effects       198         Summary of the pleiotropic effects and proposed mode of       199         Future Directions       201         Effects of VA on energy metabolism in diet-induced obesity       201
<ul> <li>6.1.2</li> <li>6.1.3</li> <li>6.1.4</li> <li>6.2</li> <li>6.2.1</li> <li>6.2.2</li> </ul>	Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA         alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism       194         6.1.2.1       Effect of fasted versus fed states on intestinal lipid         secretion       195         6.1.2.2       Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation         196       VA exerts a selective regulation of tissue endocannabinoids         that is associated with its metabolic effects       198         Summary of the pleiotropic effects and proposed mode of       199         Future Directions       201         Effects of VA on energy metabolism in diet-induced obesity       201

6.2.3	Potential role of VA in alleviating inflammatory bowel
	diseases
6.3	Significance and Impact of Thesis Findings204
6.3.1	VA and lipid lowering effects in humans204
6.3.2	Potential therapeutic use of VA in NAFLD205
6.3.3	Potential implications of thesis findings in the development of
	novel foods206
	6.3.3.1 Nutraceuticals and fortified foods207
	6.3.3.2 Naturally enriched dairy products207
6.3.4	Implications on current labeling regulations and policies209
	6.3.4.1 Considerations for labeling TFA based on the
	source as opposed to all TFA per se210
6.4	Literature cited

Appendix 'A' Nutrition and Metabolism 2010, 7:60

Appendix 'B' Supplementary Tables and Figures for Chaper 4

**Appendix 'C'** Protocol for Extraction and Analysis of Endocannabinoids and Fatty acid fractions (TG and PL) in Tissue

# List of Tables

Table 1-1	Effects of VA on biomarkers or risk factors of CVD and
	MetS in humans14
Table 1-2	Physical properties of major classes or lipoproteins16
Table 1-3	Characteristics of major apolipoproteins and their
	metabolic functions17
Table 1-4	Clinical criteria for the diagnostic of the metabolic
	syndrome
Table 1-5	Physiological differences between fat depots43
Table 1-6	The physiological actions of CB receptor activation in
	different tissues67
Table 3-1	Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of control
	and experimental diets111
Table 3-2	Food intake, body weight and body composition of rats
	in dietary groups
Table 3-3	Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of
	triglyceride in epididymal adipose tissue
Table 3-4	Fasting plasma lipid concentrations, glucose and
	insulin AUC after MTT and hepatic TG
Table 11	Intertingland hangetic ligid composition (50
Table 4-1	Intestinal and nepatic lipid composition
Table 5-1	Fatty acid composition of control and experimental
	diets166
Table 5-2	PL fatty acid composition in tissues of JCR:LA-cp rats
	fed control or experimental diets for 8 wk179

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1	Biosynthesis of VA and CLA by bacteria in ruminant
	animals and conversion of VA into CLA by SCD in
	tissues of animals and humans5
Figure 1-2	Schematic representation of lipoprotein metabolism
	under normal physiological conditions
Figure 1-3	Schematic representation of de novo synthesized fatty
	acids in the cellular cytoplasm22
Figure 1-4	The metabolic pathways and enzymes for TG synthesis25
Figure 1-5	Schematic representation of CM synthesis in the
	enterocyte27
Figure 1-6	Schematic representation of VLDL synthesis in the
	hepatocyte29
Figure 1-7	Association of insulin resistance with CVD risk factors35
Figure 1-8	Regulation of inflammatory signaling pathways by SFA
	and n-3 PUFA that modulate insulin action59
Figure 1-9	Schematic representation of endocannabinoid
	biosynthesis and degradation64
Figure 3-1	Changes in body weight throughout the study and
	schematic representation of the experimental design108
	Citrate syntheses activity in liver, perironal and inquinal
Figure 3-2	
	adipose ussue
Figure 3-3	Post-prancial triglyceride response following an oral fat
	challenge
Figure 3-4	Effects of CLA and VA+CLA on hepatic protein
	abundance of lipogenic enzymes121
Figure 4-1	Body composition of lean, MetS and MetS+VA rats
	assessed by NMR during sacrifice141

Figure 4-2	Representative images of visceral and inguinal
	adipocytes and the respective adipocyte size
	distributions of MetS and MetS+VA rats142
Figure 4-3	Protein abundance of the active form of HSL (pHSL)
	was assessed via immunoblot analysis143
Figure 4-4	Oxygen consumption of lean, MetS and MetS+VA rats144
Figure 4-5	RER of lean, MetS and MetS+VA rats145
Figure 4-6	Post-prandial insulin response after a MTT of lean,
	MetS and MetS+VA rats and the corresponding AUC
	and iAUC147
Figure 4-7	Post-prandial glucose response after a MTT of lean,
	MetS and MetS+VA rats and the corresponding AUC
	and iAUC148
Figure 4-8	Progression of NAFLD in lean, MetS and MetS+VA
	rats149
Figure 4-9	Intestinal and hepatic mRNA expression of genes
	involved in lipid synthesis, oxidation and transport that
	were regulated by VA152
Figure 4-10	TG secretion after injection of the lipase inhibitor (P-
	407)
Figure 5-1	Endocannabinoid and <i>N</i> -acyl ethanolamide
	concentrations in the liver of JCR:LA-cp rats
Figure 5-2	Endocannabinoid and <i>N</i> -acyl ethanolamide
-	concentrations in VAT of JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rats
Figure 5-3	Endocannabinoid and N-acyl ethanolamide
-	concentrations in the hypothalamus of JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rats 174
Figure 5-4	Endocannabinoid and N-acyl ethanolamide
	concentrations in the skeletal muscle of JCR:LA-cp
	rats
Figure 5-5	Endocannabinoid and <i>N</i> -acyl ethanolamide
-	concentrations in the jejunum of JCR:LA- <i>cp</i> rats

Figure 5-6	Incorporation of VA in tissue PL in JCR:LA-cp rats	
	supplemented with VA for 8 wk	180

# List of abbreviations

- AA: arachidonic acid (n6 C20:4)
- AA-5-HT: arachidonoyl-serotonin
- ABCA1: ABC-cassette transporter A1
- ABCG1: ABC-cassette transporter G1
- ABCG5/8: ABC-cassette transporter G1/8
- AEA: N-acylethanolamine N-arachidonoylethanolamide or anandamide
- 1-AG: 1-arachidonoylglycerol
- 2-AG: 2-arachidonoylglycerol
- ACAT1: acyl CoA acyl transferase 1
- ACC-1: acetyl-CoA carboxylase-1
- AGPAT: acyl-glycerol-phosphate acyltransferase
- ALA: alpha linoleic acid (n3 C18:3)
- AMP: adenosine monophosphate
- AMPK: AMP-activated protein kinase
- ANOVA: analysis of variance
- AP-1: activator protein 1
- apo: apolipoprotein
- ASP: Acylation-stimulating protein
- AT: adipose tissue
- AUC: area under the curve
- BBM: brush border membrane
- BCA: bicinchoninic acid
- BW: body weight
- cAMP: cyclic AMP
- C3a: complement factor C3a
- CB: cannabinoid
- CD: control diet
- cDNA: complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
- CE: cholesteryl esters

C/EBPa: CCAAT/ enhancer binding protein

Cept1: choline ethanolamine phosphotransferase-1

CETP: cholesteryl ester transfer protein

CHD: coronary heart disease

CLA: conjugated linoleic acid

CM: chylomicron

CMr: chylomicron remnant

CO2: carbon dioxide consumption

COPII: coat protein complex II

CSF-1: colony-stimulating factor

Ct: cycle threshold

CVD: cardiovascular disease

DBD: DNA binding domain

DAGL: diacylglycerol lipase

DG: diacylglycerol

DGAT: diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase

DHA: docosahexaenoic acid (n3 C22:6)

DHA-5-HT: DHA-serotonin

DIO: diet induced obesity

DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid

DTT: dithiothreitol

EA: elaidic acid

EC: endocannabinoid

ECL: enhanced chemiluminescence

ECS: endocannabinoid system

EDTA: ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

ELISA: enzyme-linked immuno sorbent assay

En: energy

EPA: eicosapentaenoic acid (n3 C20:5)

EPA-5-HT: EPA-serotonin

ER: endoplasmic reticulum

ERAD: ER-associated degradation

FA: fatty acids

FAAH: fatty acid amide hydrolase

FABP4: fatty acid protein-4

FAM: fluorescently labeled probe

FAME: fatty acid methyl esters

FAS: fatty acid synthase

FAT/CD36: fatty acid translocase/cluster determinant 36

FATP4: fatty acid transporter 4

FDA: US Food and Drug Administration

FFA: free fatty acids

FC: free cholesterol

GC: gas chromatography

GLUT: glucose transporter

GPAT: glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase

GPR119: G protein coupled receptor 119

GPR120: G protein-coupled receptor 120

HDL: high density lipoprotein

HDL-C: high density lipoprotein cholesterol

H&E: hematoxylin and eosin staining

HL: hepatic triacylglycerol lipase

HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance

HPLC: high-performance liquid chromatography

HSL: hormone sensitive lipase

HSPG: heparan sulfate proteoglycans

iAUC: incremental area under the curve

IBD: inflammatory bowel disease

IDF: internatiol diabetes federation

IDL: intermediate density lipoprotein

I-FABP: intestine-type fatty acid binding protein

IKK: IkB-kinase

IKK $\beta$ : inhibitory  $\kappa B$  kinase  $\beta$ 

IL: interleukin

IL-1β: interleukin 1 beta

Ing: inguinal adipose tissue

INSIG: insulin induced gene

IRS: insulin receptor substrate

iTFA: industrially produced *trans* fats

JNK: Jun N-terminal kinases

α-KG: alpha ketoglutarate

LA: linoleic acid (n6 C18:2)

LC-APCI-MS: liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization-mass spectrometry

LCAT: (lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase)

LC-MS: liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry

LCPUFA: long chain PUFA

LDL-C: low density lipoprotein cholesterol

LDLR: low density lipoprotein cholesterol receptor or apoB/E receptor

LPL: lipoprotein lipase

LRP: LDL receptor-related protein

LXR: liver X receptor

L-FABP: liver-type fatty acid binding protein

LysoPL: sn-1-monoacyl-lysophospholipids

MAGL: monoacylglycerol lipase

MCP-1: monocyte chemoattractant proteins

Mes: mesenteric adipose tissue

MetS: metabolic syndrome

2-MG: sn-2-monoacylglycerol

MGAT: monoacylglycerol acyltransferase

MRM: multiple reaction monitoring

mRNA: messenger ribonucleic acid

MTP: microsomal triglyceride transport protein

MTT: meal tolerance test

MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids

NaCI: sodium chloride

NAEs: N-acylethanolamines

NAFLD: nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

NAPE: N-acyl-PE

NASH: non-alcoholic steatohepatitis

NCEP-ATPIII: National Cholesterol Education Program-Adult Treatment Panel III

NFkB: nuclear factor kB

NMR: nuclear magnetic resonance

NO: nitric oxide production

NPC1L1: Nieman Pick C 1-like protein 1

OA: oleic acid (C18:1)

OEA: oleoylethanolamine

OFC: oral fat challenge

OAA: oxaloacetate

P-407: poloxamer-407

PAI-1: plasminogen activator inhibitor

PAPH: phosphatidate phosphatase

PBS: phosphate buffered saline

PC: phosphatidylcholine

PCR: polymerase chain reaction

PCTV: prechylomicron transport vesicle

PE: phosphatidylethanolamine

PEA: palmitoylethanolamine

PEPCK: phosphoenolpyruvate carboxikinase

Per: perirenal adipose tissue

pHSL: phosphorylated-hormone sensitive lipase

PHVO: partially hydrogenated vegetable oil

PKB: protein kinase B

PL: phospholipids

PPAR: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor

PPRE: PPAR response elements

P:S: PUFA to SFA ratio

PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids

QTRAP: quatrupolo

RER: rough endoplasmic reticulum

RER: respiratory exchange ratio

RNA: ribonucleic acid

ROS: reactive oxygen species

RT°C: room temperature

rTFA: ruminant derived trans fats

SAS: statistical analysis software

SAT: subcutaneous adipose tissue

SCD: steroyl-CoA desaturase

SDS PAGE: sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SEM: standard error of the mean

SER: smooth endoplasmic reticulum

SFA: saturated fatty acids

SRB1: scanvenger receptor class B1

SREBP1: sterol response element binding protein 1

Sylon BFT: bis (trimethylsilyl) trifluoroacetamide + 1% trimethylchlorosylane

TAK: transforming growth factor-β-activated kinase-1

TC: total cholesterol

T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus

TFA: trans fatty acids

TG: triglyceride

TGH: triacylglycerol hydrolase

TLC: thin layer chromatography

TLR4: toll like receptor 4

TNF- $\alpha$ : tumor necrosis factor alpha

Tris-HCL: tris-hydrochloride

TRL: triglyceride rich lipoprotein

TZD: thiazolidinediones

UCP2: uncoupling protein 2

VA: *trans*-11 vaccenic acid (*trans*11 18:1)

VA+CLA: vaccenic acid plus cis-9, trans-11conjugated linoleic acid

VAT: visceral adipose tissue

VLDL: very low density lipoprotein

VO<sub>2</sub>: oxygen consumption

WAT: white adipose tissue

WHO: World Health Organization

#### **Chapter 1 Literature Review**

#### **Prelude to Thesis**

Trans-11 vaccenic acid (VA) is the most abundant ruminant-derived trans fatty acid in the food chain and has sparked major interest due to mandatory labeling on most packaged foods in North America. VA is also the precursor to endogenous synthesis of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) in ruminants and humans; therefore thought to provide health benefits as a result of this conversion. However, in addition to being an alternative source of CLA, there remains a void of information regarding the independent bioactivity of VA. Studies from our laboratory were the first to describe a novel bioactivity for this fatty acid, in particular its lipid modulating properties. In this thesis we provide new evidence that putative hypolipidemic effects of dietary supplementation with CLA on circulating dyslipidemia and fatty liver are enhanced by the addition of VA in a rat model of metabolic syndrome (the JCR:LA-cp rat). We also show for the first time new and unique properties of VA to beneficially modulate lipid utilization and adipose storage compartments when supplemented on a background diet containing dairy-derived saturated fat (SFA). Additionally, targeted lipidomic analyses from this thesis demonstrate that VA can selectively regulate tissue concentrations of phospholipid-derived signaling messengers called endocannabinoids, providing a potential novel mechanistic explanation of how VA alleviates hepatic lipid accumulation and intestinal inflammation. Collectively, findings from this thesis provide further insights into the beneficial effects of VA and suggest that enriching dairy products with VA (naturally or by fortification) may be used as an approach to maximize health value of ruminant-derived fats (beef and dairy), especially to those individuals with dysfunctional lipid metabolism. Therefore, results from this thesis have potential to be translated for industrial applications. Additionally, findings from this thesis add to the growing literature that supports the need for nutrition

1

guidelines/policies focused on eliminating industrial forms of *trans* fat from processed foods, as opposed to all TFA *per se*.

The introductory sections of this literature review are intended to provide a historical perspective of *trans* fatty acids in the human diet (both from industrial and ruminant sources) and their differential association with cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk. Some of the limitations and implications of current *trans* fat labeling regulations are also discussed below.

## 1.1 Trans Fatty Acids: Historical Perspective and Policy Implications

# 1.1.1 Trans fats in the diet

TFA refer to a class of unsaturated fatty acids with one or more double bonds in the *trans* configuration. Notably, there are two main sources of TFA in our diet; those produced naturally by bacteria present in ruminant animals and found in ruminant-derived products and those produced by partial hydrogenation of vegetable oils (PHVO). It has been estimated that approximately 75-80% of all dietary TFA are derived from industrially produced TFA (iTFA) present in PHVO, while 20-25% are derived from ruminant sources such as dairy products and meats (Alisson et al., 1999). PHVO have been the main source of dietary TFA since the second part of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Incorporation of industrially produced TFA (iTFA) into the food chain was increased substantially when in response to dietary recommendations, food manufacturers needed to replace saturated fatty acids (SFA) from their formulations while maintaining desirable characteristic in foods. Due to their trans configuration, TFA are characterized for having a straight structure (like SFA) resulting in higher melting points, longer shelf life, and greater oxidative stability during deep frying relative to naturally occurring *cis* unsaturated fatty acids. In developed countries, major sources of iTFA include bakery products, deep fried and frozen foods as well as packaged snacks while cooking oils represent the main source of iTFA in developing countries (Mozzafarian *et al.*, 2007). Owing to the presence of TFA in a wide range of commercially available products, it was possible to consume up to 25 g of TFA per day (Stender *et al.*, 2006). It was not until the mid-1980's that strong epidemiological evidence showed dietary *trans* fats to be positively associated with incidence of CVD.

#### 1.1.2 Health implications of *trans fats*

Epidemiological data from prospective cohort and case-control studies conducted in the 80's consistently support the strong associations between iTFA consumption and coronary heart disease (CHD). The Nurses' Health Study (Willett et al., 1993) was the first and largest (85 095) US women) epidemiological study to show a strong positive association between iTFA consumption and CHD. In contrast, a non-significant inverse association was observed with the intake of ruminant-derived trans fats (rTFA). Similar results for the positive association between iTFA intake and CHD were observed in the Boston Area Health Study (Ascherio et al., 1994) and the Finnish men cohort (Pietinen et al., 1997) studies. A meta-analysis by Mozaffarian et al. (2006), which included four prospective cohort studies, concluded that for each 2% (4g, based on a 2000 kcal-diet) increase in energy intake from TFA, there was a 23% higher incidence of myocardial infarction and CHD death. Based on observations from prospective cohort studies, it was estimated that replacement of TFA (7.5% of energy) with butter or canola oil for instance, could result in a 22% or 38% reduction of CHD events, respectively (Mozaffarian and Clarke, 2009). The main physiological effects of TFA as well as the mechanisms by which TFA exacerbate CVD risk have been extensively investigated. Consistent with effects seen in observational studies, in several human clinical trials TFA have been shown to consistently increase low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C), triglyceride and the ratio of LDL-C to high density lipoprotein-cholesterol

3

(HDL-C) (Mozaffarian and Clarke, 2009). Notably, on a per calorie basis TFA have been shown to exert a more deleterious atherogenic lipoprotein profile as compared to SFA (Mensik *et al.*, 2003; Mozaffarian *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, TFA have been shown to affect other non-lipid markers of metabolic syndrome (MetS) and CVD risk including systemic inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, adiposity and insulin resistance.

## 1.1.3 Ruminant *trans* fats

Whereas PHVO have been the main source of dietary TFA in the last few decades, naturally occurring TFA that are derived from ruminant animals such as sheep and cows have been estimated to contribute up to 25% in the Western diet (Alisson et al., 1999). The most predominant rTFA is trans-11 18:1 or vaccenic acid (VA) accounting for up to 70% of total rTFA in dairy products. This differs from the isomeric distribution in iTFA which display non only an assortment of isomers of the 18:1 group but also those of the 16:1, 18:2 and 18:3 groups (De Greyt et al., 1996; Aro et al., 1998). Additionally, *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA, which has been extensively investigated for its purported health benefits, is also formed and found in ruminant-derived fats. Both VA and CLA are produced during the biohydrogenation of linoleic and linolenic acid in the presence of rumen bacteria (Lock and Bauman, 2004). Although CLA is the first intermediate in the pathway, it is only a transitory product and only a small portion of this CLA escapes from the rumen being incorporated into milk and tissues (e.g. meat). In contrast, VA is the major biohydrogenation intermediate that is produced in the rumen and accumulates in the mammary gland and other tissues and therefore it is present in dairy and meat products at higher amounts than CLA. Most of the CLA present in milk fat (over 60%) is derived from endogenous synthesis by  $\Delta 9$ -desaturase (stearoyl-CoA desaturase; SCD) from VA (Griinari et al., 2000). Furthermore, VA is the precursor to endogenous synthesis of the *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA isomer not only in animals but also in humans. It has been estimated that the

conversion rate of dietary VA into *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA is approximately 11% in rodents (Santora *et al.*, 2000) and 20% in humans (Turpeinen *et al.*, 2002; Kuhnt *et al.*, 2006). The synthesis of rTFA in ruminant and tissue compartments is summarized in Figure 1-1.



**Figure 1-1** Biosynthesis of VA and CLA by bacteria in ruminant animals and conversion of VA into CLA by SCD in tissues of animals and humans (Adapted from Griinari and Bauman, 1999; Chinnadurai and Tyagi, 2011). *SCD1 is the rate limiting enzyme in the desaturation reaction responsible for the addition of a double bond into a saturated acyl chain at the*  $\Delta$ 9 *position (Ntambi and Miyazaki, 2004).* 

While considerable evidence supports a positive association between TFA intake and CVD risk, a few prospective cohort studies have actually evaluated the association between rTFA intake and CVD risk and none to date have shown a significant positive association (Willet *et al.*, 1993; Pietinen *et al.*, 1997; Oomen *et al.*, 2001). Rather, a non-significant trend

toward an inverse association has been observed (Willet *et al.*, 1993). Notably, a prospective cohort study in Denmark, a country with typically high per capita dairy intake identified an inverse association between rTFA intake and CHD in women (Jakobsen *et al.*, 2008). Since then, it has been proposed that unlike iTFA, naturally occurring TFA may be protective for health; either due to the low level of consumption or due to structural differences (mainly attributed to putative bioactive properties of CLA). However, some inconsistencies regarding the bioactivity of select isomers of CLA and its low concentration in dairy products have questioned the ongoing hypothesis for the health value of CLA in ruminant-derived fats.

# 1.1.3.1 Conjugated linoleic acid

CLA is a term that refers a group of geometrical and positional isomers of linoleic acid (18:2n-6) with conjugated bonds in either the cis or trans configuration. The group of CLA includes a number of isomers with two of these isomers (cis-9, trans-11 18:2 and trans-10, cis-12 18:2) known to possess bioactivity. Notably, while the cis-9, trans-11 CLA is the predominant CLA isomer found in ruminant-derived fat (90% of all isomers), the trans-10, cis-12 CLA is produced by alkali isomerization of linoleic acid and is only found in natural sources in trace to low amounts. CLA can be produced from safflower oil rich in linoleic acid and thus is commercially available in the supplement form which usually contains 80% of the two isomers (cis-9, trans-11 CLA to trans-10, cis-12 CLA, 1:1 ratio). Supplemental CLA has been accepted as generally safe by the US FDA up to a daily consumption of 3 q and 3-5 q up to 6 months by Health Canada. At the same time, the current Codex definition for trans fat excludes fatty acids that contain conjugated double bonds in the trans configuration (which include all CLA isomers, an issue that will be raised later in this thesis).

Health benefits of CLA have been extensively investigated under experimental conditions and it has been associated with reducing the risk of cancer, atherosclerosis, improving insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and inflammation. However, there has been a growing concern based on scientific evidence suggesting potential adverse effects with the use of supplemental CLA (particularly at high doses). Early experimental studies investigating effects of individual CLA isomers have shown that the *cis*-9, trans-11 CLA is associated with improved insulin sensitivity (Roche et al., 2002), anti-atherogenic effects (Arbonés-Mainar et al., 2006) and improved blood lipid profile (Valeille et al., 2005). Conversely, the trans-10, *cis*-12 CLA isomer has been shown to regulate body weight by reducing adipose tissue mass (Kennedy et al., 2010), but at the same time to cause insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis in mouse models (Roche et al., 2002, Cooper et al., 2008), probably due to increased mobilisation of fatty acids from adipose tissue into other tissues (Kennedy et al., 2010; Obsen et al., 2012). In addition, clinical studies evaluating supplementation of CLA (3 to 20 g/day) have reported adverse effects on blood lipids (Wanders et al., 2010), insulin resistance (Moloney et al., 2004; Raff et al., 2009) as well as inflammation and oxidative stress (Risérus et al., 2004; Steck et al., 2007). A recent study has reported no effect of supplemental CLA on reducing body weight or body fat mass in overweight men, which has also been disappointing considering body weight reduction is one of its major health claims (Joseph et al., 2011). On the other hand, the cis-9, trans-11 CLA isomer from ruminants in the form of moderately enriched dairy products (0.5-1.3 g/day) appears to be associated with neutral to beneficial health outcomes in humans (Tricon et al., 2006; Venkatramanan et al., 2010; Pintus et al., 2012). These data have led to suggestions that the fatty acid profile (as opposed to single components) of enriched dairy products may influence the health value of dairy fat.

7

#### 1.1.3.2 TFA-enriched dairy products

It is generally assumed that the contribution of naturally occurring TFA in a typical diet is low. For instance, rTFA constitute a relatively small portion of the fat in dairy products (2-5%) and beef and lamb (3-9%) (O'Donnell-Megaro et al., 2011; Mendis et al., 2008; Aro et al., 1998). However, the fatty acid composition of ruminant-derived products is highly dependent on feeding practices as well as geographical and seasonal changes. Ruminants that are exclusively pasture fed produce greater levels of VA and cis-9, tran-11CLA compared to those fed indoors (e.g. grain and silage rations) (White et al., 2001; Kraft et al., 2003). Also, the content of rTFA in milk generally increases in the summer as opposed to the winter grazing period (Hydamaka et al., 2012). Thus, the content of rTFA is particularly high in countries with pasture feeding practices. For instance, it has been estimated that rTFA intake represents 63-75% of total TFA in European and Australian diets (Huth, 2007). Furthermore, there has been a growing interest to increase the concentrations of naturally occurring TFA in meat and dairy products. This has been initially motivated by interest in the purported health benefits of consuming CLA-enriched butter, particularly those associated with reducing the risk of cancer (lp et al., 1999; Corl, et al., 2003). However, feeding practices that increase the concentration of CLA in dairy foods also increase the concentration of VA (Cruz Hernandez et al., 2007). For instance, the amount of VA in ruminant sources can range from 1.5 g/100g of fat with a standard feeding regimen to as high as 12 g/100g of fat in VA/CLA enriched dairy products (Bell et al., 2006). Despite VA being the most predominant ruminant-derived fat accounting for up to 3 fold higher amounts than CLA, prior to my thesis, very little was known about its own bioactivity. This in turn has formed the foundation for this thesis to investigate the independent bioactivity of VA.

Emerging evidence from epidemiological and pre-clinical studies suggest that unlike iTFA, rTFA may be benefitial to health. However, as discussed below, current labeling regulations consider all TFA (regardless of the source) to be under the same category of deleterious TFA.

#### 1.1.4 Trans fat regulations

Based on convincing evidence demonstrating that while *trans* fatty acids from PHVO provide no nutritional benefit, rather representing a substantial health risk, some government policies have focused on limiting dietary intake of *trans* fats to as low as possible (Reviewed by Field, 2008). In 2002, the Institute of Medicine and the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP)-ATPIII recommended *trans* fat consumption to be as low as possible in a nutritionally adequate diet. Subsequently, in 2003 the World Health Organization (and then the American Heart Association in 2006) recommended limiting TFA consumption to less than 1% of total energy intake. Additionally, in 2006 the Trans Fat Task Force (co-chaired by Health Canada and the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada), recommended a TFA limit of 5% of total fat in all products sold to consumers and 2% for commercial margarines and spreads. At the same time, regulatory bodies from different countries have proceeded to adopt similar recommendations. In 2003, Denmark was the first country to set a maximum of 2% TFA in all food ingredients (as opposed to whole foods), excluding those of animal origin (Leth et al., 2006). Canada and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) introduced mandatory labeling of TFA for packaged foods and supplements, effective as of December 2005 and January 2006, respectively. Nonetheless, foods with less than 0.2 g of TFA/serving in Canada and 0.5 g of TFA/serving in the United States can be listed as 0 g TFA and can carry the claim to be 'trans fat free'.

As discussed below, implementation of mandatory labeling regulations in North America has resulted in a substantial decline in trans fat intake. However, because current labeling regulations do not distinguish between iTFA and rTFA, a decrease in TFA intake may not be limited to industrial forms but may also impact the intake of TFA from ruminant sources.

## 1.1.5 Dietary intake of industrial trans fats after 2006

An increasing consumer awareness and reformulation of products by food manufacturers have paralleled a decline in TFA intake in the last two decades. It was estimated that in the early 1990's, average daily consumption of TFA in the United States was approximately 6 g (2.6% of energy) with individual consumption varying from 1 to 29 g/day (Allison et al., 1999). Similar intakes of TFA were reported in Canada in 2002 (about 7g/day) (Peng, 2004). In Iran, where PHVO were used extensively for cooking, TFA accounted for 4.2% of all calories consumed (12.3 g/day) between 2001 and 2003 (Mozzafarian et al., 2007). In contrast, in countries where diets have traditionally contained less TFA such as Mediterranean and eastern Asian countries, the estimated average intake of TFA was approximately 1-3 g/day (Craig-Schmidt, 2006). Notably, there has been a worldwide decline of total TFA consumption from an average of 10 g/day to 3-4 g/day in North America (Ratnayake et al., 2004) and northern European countries such as Denmark and the Netherlands (Craig-Schmidt, 2006). It was reported recently in a subset of non-Hispanic white adults in the United States that plasma levels of TFA (both from industrial and ruminant sources) were substantially lower (58%) in 2009 than in 2000 (Vesper, 2012). Thus, with the introduction of labeling regulations in Canada and the United States after 2006, a significant decline in TFA intake is expected in the next few years.

## 1.1.6 Controversies in *trans* fat labeling regulations

Although current labeling regulations represent an effective approach to reduce the availability of deleterious iTFA in the food chain, there appear to be limitations that need to be resolved. There have been some
concerns regarding the limit set by regulatory agencies to claim 'trans fat free' food products (Remig et al., 2010). Allowing all products with less than 0.2 g (in Canada) or 0.5 g (in the United States) of TFA/serving to be labeled as 'trans fat free' can be misleading. Consumers perceive the message on a 'trans fat free' product as 0 g of trans fat in that specific product and therefore interpret this as being healthy. However, under this current labeling regimen, consuming 5 daily servings of foods with close to 0.5 g of TFA per serving would cumulatively exceed the recommended 1% of total energy intake from TFA (which equates to less than 2 g/day). In contrast, this would not be the case for rTFA (dairy plus beef) since their daily intake is usually well below the recommended limit (2g/day). Given the cumulative evidence regarding the health effects of individual CLA isomers (currently excluded from the TFA definition) as well as putative differential effects of ruminant versus industrial TFA, public health and regulatory agencies are now required to consider highlighting the two primary sources of TFA. Indeed, there is a growing body of evidence to indicate that TFA derived from ruminant and industrial sources have differential bioactivity.

Evidence from epidemiological, clinical and pre-clinical studies collectively demonstrates neutral or beneficial health effect of rTFA at normal consumption levels. However, enriching dairy products with rTFA would result in a relatively high daily intake of rTFA possibly exceeding the recommended limit. Furthermore, the SFA content in ruminant-derived fat may be a sufficient reason to limit its intake. Given recent evidence for the health effects of VA and those of CLA, it is plausible to suggest that increasing the proportion of these ruminant trans fats could provide an additional health value to animal-derived fats. Only a few clinical studies have explored these effects and the main findings from these studies are summarized below.

## 1.1.7 Effects of naturally occurring *trans* fats on biomarkers of CVD risk

There are a handful of studies investigating the effects of VA on MetS and CVD risk. Specifically, there have been a few highly controlled clinical intervention trials exploring the potential health benefits of dietary VA-enriched ruminant fat; however no conclusive evidence is currently available. These studies have failed to show consistent improvements in dyslipidemia but it has been proposed that the hypolipidemic activity of rTFA may be limited to study participants that have severe hyperlipidemia. It is also possible that insufficient statistical power may have reduced the ability to detect of treatment effects in these studies.

Some of these clinical studies have investigated the effect of foods (e.g. VA/CLA enriched dairy products *versus* control dairy products) with different fatty acid compositions (e.g. SFA and MUFA) (Pintus et al., 2012; Chardigny et al., 2008; Tardy et al., 2009; Tholstrup et al., 2006). However, different fatty acids (alone or in combination) can exert independent bioactive effects. Therefore, results from these studies cannot be attributed to the effect of increasing VA per se. A few other studies have been actually designed to compare the effect of *cis versus* trans MUFA or the effect of trans MUFA from either ruminant or industrial sources (Motard-Belanger et al., 2008; Lacroix et al., 2012). In these studies, the fatty acid composition of VA/CLA enriched and control dairy products was adjusted and the resulting test diets were matched with respect to SFA. Regardless of the study design, findings so far have suggested that moderate intake of rTFA (<1.5% of energy, 3 g/d), which would be attainable with consumption of a very high-dairy diet, may not significantly affect CVD risk factors at least in healthy individuals. Table 1-1 summarizes evidence from clinical studies that investigated the physiological effects of VA either using VA/CLA enriched dairy products or purified forms of the fatty acid.

While findings from clinical trials are still inconclusive, pre-clinical studies so far suggest that VA (either in the natural or purified form) has lipidlowering effects during conditions of dyslipidemia and MetS. *However*, *whether VA per se provides an additional benefit when found in VA/CLA enriched products remains to be elucidated. Additionally, literature to date has only documented effects of purified VA on a vegetable oil background diet and whether VA can actually provide an additional health value to animal-derived fats is still unknown. Indeed, these questions provided the premise for my thesis. The initial approach for my thesis was to consider the potential impact to health value of VA-containing foods. For example, this could be translated in the development of specialized dairy products (such as cheese and yogurt) that have high concentrations of these natural trans fats.* 

Evidence from studies using VA/CLA enriched dairy products						
Study description	Participants	Intervention		Results	Notes	Ref.
		Treatment	Length			
Randomized double-	Healthy (n=42)	Test: VA-butter (3.6 g/d)	5 wk	VA-butter decreased TC and HDL-	FA composition of	Tholstrup
blind parallel design	(Danish) men	Control: low-VA butter		C. No differences in TC/HDL ratio	diets was not matched.	<i>et al</i> ., 2006
					controlled.	
Randomized- double	Overweight	Test: rTFA (4.8 g/d), iTFA	4 wk	No effects on lipids and lipoproteins	FA composition of	Tardy et
blind parallel design	(French) women	(5.6 g/d); Control: low TFA		or insulin sensitivity	diets was not matched.	<i>al.,</i> 2009
	(n=63)	(0.54 g/day)				
Randomized-double	Healthy (n=40)	Test: rTFA (11-12 g/d, 5%	3 wk,	rTFA increased LDL-C and HDL-C	FA composition of	Chardigny
blind controlled	(French) men	En); <b>Control</b> : iTFA (11-12	1-wk	in women only	diets was not matched.	et al.,
crossover design	and woman	g/d, 5% En)	washout		Basal diets were not	2008
					controlled. High	
					amount of TFA fed.	
Randomized-double	Healthy (n=38)	* <b>High</b> (10.2 g/3.7% En);	4 wk	LDL-C higher after high rTFA diet vs	Moderate rTFA diet	Motard-
blind crossover	(Canadian) men	* <b>Moderate</b> (4.2 g/d, 1.5%		control or moderate rTFA diet. HDL-	has no detrimental	Belanger
design controlled		En); * <b>Low</b> (2.2 g/d, 0.8 %		C lower after high rTFA diet vs	effects. High rTFA diet	et al.,
feeding		En). *From either rTFA or		moderate rTFA diet. No difference	increases CVD risk	2008
		iTFA		between moderate rTFA vs control	markers	
Randomized-double	Healthy young	Test: Moderate (3.7g/d,	4 wk	No effect on TC, LDL-C, apoB,		Lacroix et
blind crossover	(Canadian)	1.5% En); <b>Control</b> : Low (0.9		apoA1, and TG. Small decrease in		<i>al</i> ., 2012
design controlled	women (n=61)	g/d, 0.3% En)		HDL-C in woman with BMI ≥ 25		
feeding						
Randomized-single	Hypercholestero	Test: rTFA (2.8 g/d); Control:	3 wk	rTFA cheese reduced LDL-C vs	Fatty acid composition	Pintus et
blind, controlled	lemic (Italian)	Low rTFA (1 g/d)		control cheese. No effects on	of diets was not	<i>al</i> ., 2012
crossover design	mean and			inflammatory markers	matched.	
	women (n=42)					
Evidence from studies using purified or semi-purified fatty acid						
Randomized parallel	Healthy (n=24)	Test: VA (3g),+t12-18:1 (3	6 wk	No effect on inflammatory markers	VA and t12-18:1 oils	Kuhnt et
design	(German) men	g); <b>Control</b> : Oil (18:1 (50%),		(IL-6, IL-8, TNF-α)	had 60% purity. Basal	<i>al.</i> ,2006
	and women	C16:0, C18:2)			diets were not	
					controlled	

### Table 1-1 Effects of VA on biomarkers or risk factors of CVD and MetS in humans (adapted from Gebauer et al., 2011).

TC, total cholesterol; En, energy; rTFA, includes VA plus other C18:1 trans isomers; FA, fatty acid

## 1.1.8 Synopsis: Understanding the role of VA in ameliorating metabolically aberrant conditions

A major focus for this thesis will be to investigate the effect of VA supplementation on intestinal and hepatic lipid metabolism, lipid utilization and storage during conditions of MetS and insulin resistance. In order to study putative lipid-lowering properties of VA, it is of utmost importance to appreciate the most relevant physiological aspects of basic lipid metabolism. The following literature review is therefore intended to summarize these concepts. Specifically, emphasis has been given on how the liver and the intestine play complementary and coordinated roles in the regulation of lipoprotein metabolism during the transition from the fasted to the fed state. A discussion on how normal lipid functions become aberrant during conditions of MetS and insulin resistance and the implications of this on increased CVD risk is also presented in later Sections. Because of the putative direct lipid-lowering actions of VA in the intestine, particular focus will be on the importance of non-fasting lipemia during insulin resistance and increased CVD risk. Additionally, a review on the fundamental role of insulin on lipid metabolism and how these regulatory effects of insulin become blunted during obesity-induced insulin resistance is also presented in subsequent Sections. This is followed by a summary of the most relevant characteristics of the animal model of MetS used in the dietary intervention studies conducted in this thesis. Finally, in order to study the potential mechanisms of action by which VA may exert its health benefits, a discussion on how bioactive fatty acids differentially regulate lipid metabolism and insulin pathways with respect to major transcription factors is also provided. Novel properties of fatty acids to potentially regulate lipid signaling pathways are also discussed at the end of this review.

### 1.2 Plasma Transport of Dietary and Endogenous lipids

### 1.2.1 Lipoprotein composition and function

Lipoproteins are macromolecules that contain both lipids and proteins to enable the transport of insoluble lipids in the aqueous blood plasma. Each lipoprotein particle consists of a hydrophobic core surrounded by a monolayer surface containing amphipathic lipids and proteins. The hydrophobic core of lipoproteins is comprised of triglycerides (TG) and cholesteryl esters (CE) while the amphipathic surface consist of phospholipids (PL), small amounts of free cholesterol (FC) and proteins (Ginsberg *et al.*, 2005). As shown in Table 1-2, circulating lipoproteins can be differentiated based on density, size and composition. Each lipoprotein contains characteristic apolipoproteins that not only function as structural components but also facilitate respective physiological functions.

	Nascent CM	CM-r	VLDL	LDL	HDL
Density (g/mL)	<0.95	1.006-1.013	0.95-1.006	1.019-1.063	1.063-1.21
Size (nm)	100-1200	45-60	40-70	18-25	5-12
Lipid (%)					
TG	80-95	70	55-80	5-15	5-10
Cholesterol	2-7	13	5-15	40-50	15-25
PL	3-9	11	10-20	15-25	20-30

**Table 1-2** Physical properties of major classes or lipoproteins. Adaptedfrom Ginsberg *et al.*, 2005

CM, chylomicrons, CM-r, chylomicron remnants, LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein.

Apolipoproteins are the proteins on the surface of lipoproteins providing structural stability. They also play critical roles in the regulation of plasma lipids and lipoprotein transport by acting as ligands for cell surface lipoprotein receptors or activating enzymatic activity in the plasma. For instance, the enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL), which catalyzes the hydrolysis of circulating TG, is activated by apoC-II while apoC-III inhibits its activity. Table 1-3 shows the major apolipoproteins (apo), their association with lipoprotein classes and their metabolic functions.

**Table 1-3** Characteristics of major apolipoproteins and their metabolicfunctions. Adapted from Ginsberg *et al.*, 2005

Apolipoprotein	Lipoprotein	Metabolic function
apoA-1	HDL, CM	Structural component of HDL, LCAT activator
apoA-II	HDL, CM	Modulates TG metabolism possibly by reducing lipases activity
apoA-IV	HDL, CM	Unknown, possibly facilitates transfer of apos between HDL and CM
apoA-V	HDL	Associated with lower TG levels; mechanism unknown
apoB-48	СМ	Necessary for the assembly and secretion of CM from the small intestine. Also secreted from
		the liver of rats and mice
apoB-100	VLDL, IDL,	Necessary for the assembly and secretion of
	LDL	VLDL from the liver; ligand for the LDL receptor
apoC-I	CM, VLDL,	May inhibit hepatic uptake of CM, VLDL
	IDL, HDL	remnants
apoC-II	CM, VLDL,	Activator of lipoprotein lipase
	IDL, HDL	
apoC-III	CM, VLDL,	Inhibitor of lipoprotein lipase and of uptake of
	IDL, HDL	CM and VLDL remnant by the liver
apoE	CM, VLDL,	Ligand for binding of several lipoproteins to the
	IDL, HDL	LDL receptor, LRP and proteoglycans
apo(a)	Lp (a)	Composed of LDL, apoB linked covalently to
		apo(a): function unknown but is an independent
		predictor of CVD

CM, chylomicrons, VLDL, very low density lipoprotein; IDL, intermediate density lipoprotein, LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; LCAT; lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase; LRP: LDL receptor-related protein.

#### 1.2.2 Introduction to lipoprotein metabolism

Lipoprotein metabolism involves the transport and redistribution of dietary and endogenous lipids between lipoproteins and tissues in the blood. See Figure 1-2 for a schematic representation of lipoprotein metabolism. Under normal fasting conditions in humans, LDL and HDL are the most abundant circulating lipoproteins in plasma while CM are only found at very small amounts as they are rapidly cleared from the circulation (Sul and Storch, 2006). However, in the presence of compromised metabolic conditions such as insulin resistance, a combination of dyslipidemic characteristics are present and the liver and the intestine play complementary and coordinated roles in regulating these changes. One of the major foci of this thesis will be to investigate whether VA retains its lipid lowering effects on intestinal versus hepatic triglyceride secretion when supplemented on a background diet that includes dairy fat. Therefore a brief review of the key factors regulating basic lipoprotein metabolism will be discussed in this Section. Particularly, special emphasis is on the regulation of assembly and secretion of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL) and their role on delivering dietary and endogenous lipids to peripheral tissues during fasting and post-prandial conditions.



**Figure 1-2** Schematic representation of lipoprotein metabolism under normal physiological conditions (*Adapted from Sul and Storch, 2006*; *Rader and Daugherty*). The intestine absorbs dietary fat and packages it into apoB-48 containing-CM which are transported to peripheral tissues through the blood. The liver also packages lipids onto apoB-100 and secretes VLDL. Both triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL) undergo lipolysis by the enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL), a triglyceride lipase that is bound to the luminal surface of the capillary endothelium of adipose and muscle tissues. Most of the dietary and endogenously produced-fatty acids are taken up locally by these tissues, although some escape 'spill-over' into the circulation. The resulting particles, CM and VLDL remnants (CM-r and IDL, respectively) can be subsequently taken up by tissues, predominantly by the liver through binding to the LDL receptor (LDLR, also called apoB/E receptor) and other receptors. Another lipase, hepatic triacylglycerol lipase (HL), further hydrolyses IDL triglyceride at the endothelial surface of the

liver while transferring apoE to HDL. The resulting LDL particles can be also taken up by the liver through the LDLR at the apoB binding site.

The liver and the intestine can also secrete lipid-free apoA-1, the main apolipoprotein constituent of HDL, independently of VLDL/CM secretion. ApoA-1 recruits FC from these organs via ABC-cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1), thus forming nascent HDL (lipid poor HDL). Nascent HDL particles permeate through the vascular bed to the extravascular fluid of peripheral tissues promoting cholesterol efflux by accepting FC and PL from peripheral tissues, including macrophages, via ABCAI. After continuous lipidation, nascent HDL becomes enlarged into disc-shaped discoidal HDL and re-enters the plasma compartment via the lymph flow. Within the plasma, LCAT (lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase), an enzyme activated by apoA-I, esterifies the FC with a sn-2 fatty acid from phosphatidylcholine, forming mature HDL (Jonas, 2000). Mature HDL also promotes the efflux of cholesterol but through ABC-cassette transporter G1 (ABCG1). The cholesterol in HDL is then returned to the liver both directly through uptake by the scavenger receptor B1 (SRB1) and indirectly via transfer to LDL, VLDL and CM through the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP).

### 1.2.3 Lipid sources for lipoprotein synthesis and secretion

### 1.2.3.1 Dietary and fatty acids released from adipose stores

A major difference between CM and VLDL production is the source of fatty acids used for TG synthesis and lipoprotein production. While diet is the primary source of fatty acids and glycerol synthesis in the ER of the enterocyte, circulating FFA from lipolysis of adipose tissue is the main source of TG synthesis and VLDL production in the liver.

CM secretion from the intestine primarily follows ingestion of a fatcontaining meal; however, native CM particles are also produced and secreted by the intestine at a basal rate during the fasted state. Accordingly, it has been demonstrated that CM production is stimulated not only by increased availability of dietary lipids but also by non-dietary sources of endogenous fatty acids (circulating free fatty acids) (Duez *et al.*, 2008). However, the extent by which these endogenous fatty acids contribute to the TG pool for CM production is not known.

Studies using stable isotope methodologies have provided quantitative evidence for the contribution of fatty acid sources to hepatic lipid secretion in healthy subjects (Barrows and Parks, 2006). During the fasted state, adipose tissue-derived FFA may account for up to 77% to the total TG secreted as VLDL from the liver. In addition to FFA from adipose tissue (44%), dietary lipids from CM lipolysis and their remnants can contribute to approximately 26% of the VLDL-TG pool during the fed state. Thus, under normal physiological conditions, VLDL secretion from the liver occurs during both fasting and post-prandial states.

### 1.2.3.2 De novo synthesized fatty acids

Although the liver has the highest capacity for fatty acid synthesis in humans, the intestine also possesses significant activity. Early studies in lymph cannulated rats demonstrated that during lipid absorption a substantial fraction (>50%) of mesenteric lymphatic TG is derived from endogenously synthesized sources (Shiau *et al.*, 1985). Both CM and VLDL can incorporate newly synthesized (*de novo*) fatty acids using metabolites from dietary carbohydrates.

The synthesis of fatty acids is tightly controlled by hormonal and nutritional conditions, being mainly determined by insulin concentrations. *De novo* lipogenesis is stimulated by feeding, especially if the diet is high in carbohydrates, whereas fasting or high-fat diets inhibit the rate of *de novo* formation. Yet, *de novo* synthesis contributes to a minor extent to the VLDL-TG secreted from the liver under normal physiological conditions

(Barrows and Parks, 2006). Figure 1-3 shows the schematic representation of the pathways involved in the synthesis of fatty acid in the cellular cytoplasm.



**Figure 1-3**. Schematic representation of de novo synthesized fatty acids in the cellular cytoplasm (adapted from Sul, 2006). The enzyme acetyl CoA carboxylase (ACC) catalyzes the conversion of acetyl CoA to malonyl-CoA, the first rate-limiting step in fatty acid synthesis. The activity ACC is allosterically stimulated by citrate. The substrate for fatty acid synthesis, acetyl CoA, is formed from pyruvate during the citric acid cycle in the mitochondria. The inner mitochondrial membrane is impermeable to acetyl CoA. However, increased production of acetyl CoA leads to accumulation of intramitochondrial citrate which unlike acetyl CoA, can be

translocated to the cytosol and then converted back to acetyl CoA. In contrast, ACC activity is allosterically inhibited by long chain acyl CoA, the level of which is decreased during the fed state when fatty acid synthesis is stimulated. Further, the activity of ACC is also regulated by phosphorylation. When cellular energy state is low, AMP-activated protein kinase is allosterically activated by adenosine monophosphate (AMP) that in turn phosphorylates ACC resulting in a decrease in its activity. In addition, ACC is also regulated by changes in protein concentration, which is controlled at the transcriptional level. Insulin and glucose increase whereas glucagon (via cyclic AMP) decreases the rate of its transcription. The second and final committed step in fatty acid synthesis is catalyzed by a multifunctional enzyme complex, fatty acid synthase (FAS) which is responsible for the serial addition of two-carbon fragments to a growing chain until a 16-carbon fatty acid (palmitate) has been formed. The activity and abundance of FAS is also regulated at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional level being higher in the fed and lower in fasting state. Fatty acids from both dietary and de novo sources are subject to further chain elongation and subsequent desaturation by the action of the enzyme SCD1. Fatty acyl CoA are further esterified into TG, an enzymatic reaction catalyzed by monoacylglycerol acyltransferase (MGAT) and diacylglycerol acyltrasnferase (DGAT). OAA, oxaloacetate;  $\alpha$ -KG: alpha ketoglutarate.

## 1.2.4 Synthesis of triglyceride from dietary and endogenous sources and regulatory enzymes

The liver and the intestine synthesize triacylglycerols by two basic pathways; the glycerol phosphate pathway and the monoacylglycerol pathway. The glycerol phosphate pathway is a major source for *de novo* TG synthesis in the liver and is also responsible for all synthesized TG in the intestine when sn-2-monoacylglycerol (2-MG) is not available (for example during fasting conditions). In contrast, the monoacylglycerol pathway predominates in the small intestine and is the major source of TG

synthesis during dietary fat absorption. Figure 1-4 shows the two metabolic pathways, in which the enzymes MGAT and DGAT catalyze two consecutive steps of enzyme reactions in TG biosynthesis. MGAT is mainly expressed in the small intestine while DGAT is expressed in most tissues, including the liver and the intestine (Yen *et al.*, 2008).

MGAT and DGAT play fundamental roles in regulating fat absorption, storage and lipoprotein secretion and have direct implications in obesity, insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis. In the liver, DGAT1 appears to be required for esterifying exogenous fatty acids (circulating FFA from adipose or CM lipolysis) and contributes to increased hepatic TG storage induced by high-fat feeding and prolonged fasting (Villanueva et al., 2009). Studies using genetically modified mice have demonstrated that MGAT2 and DGAT1 have a crucial role in the assimilation of dietary fat in the intestine and subsequent accretion of body fat. MGAT2<sup>-/-</sup> and DGAT1<sup>-/-</sup> mice are protected against developing obesity, glucose intolerance and fatty liver. Interestingly, deficiency of MGAT2 (Yen et al., 2009) does not cause malabsorption but presents a delayed rate of dietary fat uptake into the circulation, shifting the bulk of absorption from the proximal to the distal small intestine. A similar phenotype has been described in the DGAT1<sup>-/-</sup> mouse (Smith *et al.*, 2000) which presents a slower assembly and secretion of CM and results in the accumulation of large neutral lipid droplets in the enterocyte, particularly when acutely or chronically challenged by high amounts of dietary fat (Buhman et al., 2002). Interestingly, while whole body DGAT1<sup>-/-</sup> is resistant to fat accumulation in the liver and adipose tissue, restoring DGAT1 expression in the intestine reverses the resistance to diet-induced fatty liver and obesity (Lee et al., 2010). This study demonstrated that altering the secretion of dietary fat out of the enterocytes subsequently affects the fate of dietary fat in specific tissues, highlighting the importance of CM secretion on dietinduced obesity.

24



Figure 1-4 The metabolic pathways and enzymes for TG synthesis (adapted from Yen et al., 2008). Both pathways use the activated forms of fatty acids, fatty acyl-CoA (synthesized by intracellular acyl-CoA synthases) as acyl donors. In the final reaction of both pathways, a fatty acyl CoA and diacylglycerol (DG) molecule are covalently joined to form TG, a reaction catalyzed by DGAT at the surface of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) bilayer membrane. DG is also used as a substrate for the of phosphatidylcholine synthesis phospholipids, (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE). Newly synthesized TG are then channeled into cytosolic lipid droplets or secreted into nascent lipoproteins. GPAT, glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase; AGPAT, acylglycerol-phosphate acyltransferase; PAPH, phosphatidate phosphatase.

#### 1.2.5 Synthesis and secretion of triglyceride rich lipoproteins

ApoB is the dominant non-exchangable apolipoprotein of CM and VLDL. Measuring apoB secretion is indicative of particle secretion as there is only one apoB molecule per CM or VLDL particle. In humans, apoB-48 is transcribed from the gene for apoB-100 in the small intestine. The apoB mRNA is edited to the truncated apoB-48 form in which the cytosine in position 6666 (CAA) encoding for glycine, is deaminated to a uracil resulting in an in-frame UAA stop codon. The translation to apoB-100 stops at this codon, which is 48% translation of the whole apoB (apoB-100) gene (Chen *et al.*, 1987). With the exception of the human liver, apoB-100 is edited in both the liver and the intestine of a number of species such as mouse and rat. Thus, while apoB-48 is secreted exclusively from the intestine in CM in humans, it is secreted from both organs in rodents.

The synthesis and secretion of intestinal and hepatic-derived TRL requires coordinated synthesis of lipids and a number of intracellular factors that facilitate the transfer of these lipids onto the apoB protein (Lehner et al., 2012). The current model for the core lipidation of apoB-containing lipoproteins proposes a two-step process. In the first step, apoB protein is cotranslationally lipidated while translocated across the rouah endoplasmic reticulum (RER) to form a primordial apoB particle. In the second step, triglyceride-rich lipid droplets lacking apoB are assembled within the lumen of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (SER) of hepatocytes and ribosome poor regions of enterocyte ER. Subsequent fusion of the two particles leads to core expansion of primordial apoB and synthesis of nascent CM or VLDL. These nascent lipoproteins are then exported to the Golgi where they undergo further maturation by acquiring other apolipoproteins on the surface. However, how these other apoproteins are synthesized or sourced in the enterocyte/hepatocyte or incorporated into the CM/VLDL is not known in detail. Then, nascent CM and VLDL are secreted into the mesenteric lymphatic system or the hepatic vein, respectively (Hamilton *et al.*, 1998). See Figures 1-5 and 1-6 for the schematic representation of CM and VLDL synthesis, respectively.



**Figure 1-5** Schematic representation of CM synthesis in the enterocyte. Dietary lipids, mostly TG are emulsified and hydrolyzed within the lumen of the small intestine to fatty acids (FA) and 2-MG by pancreatic TG lipase. Additionally, FC and sn-1-monoacyl-lysophospholipids (LysoPL) mainly from biliary cholesterol and to a lesser extent dietary PL (primarily PC), are also presented to the brush border membrane (BBM) of the enterocyte. These digestion products are efficiently and rapidly absorbed across the BBM, putatively transported into the enterocyte by a number of lipid transporters (CD36/FAT, NPC1L1, SRB1, ABCG5/8). Absorbed lipids are then chaperoned to the ER by intracellular trafficking proteins (L-FABP, I-FABP and FATP4). It has also been proposed that the enterocyte can uptake circulating free fatty acids and cholesterol from the basolateral membrane via CD36/FAT, SRB1 and other transporters. Fatty acids, 2-MG and lysophospholipids are re-esterified into TG and PL by the action of MGAT and DGAT prior to their incorporation into CM. FC is also reesterified into CE in the ER by the action of acyl CoA acyl transferase 1 (ACAT1). These newly synthesized lipids are incorporated onto a single apoB-48 by the action of microsomal triglyceride transport protein (MTP). This particle is subsequently coated by apoA-IV, which then buds from the ER surrounded by a membrane as the prechylomicron transport vesicle (PCTV), an ATP-dependent process facilitated by CD36 and L-FABP. The PCTV translocates to and fuses with the Golgi complex, where apoA-I presumably attaches to the prechylomicron. Then a mature CM containing apoAI, apoA-IV and apoB-48 is secreted in large transport vesicles fusing at the basolateral membrane of the enterocyte.



Figure 1-6 Schematic representation of VLDL synthesis in the hepatocyte (adapted from Xiao et al., 2011). The biosynthesis of VLDL follows similar pathways of CM packaging in the intestine, but hepatic TG may be derived from circulating FFA (main source), lipoprotein remnant uptake and lipid storage pools in the liver. Circulating FFA are preferentially esterified into TG by DGAT1, while triacylglycerol hydrolase (TGH) is involved in the lipolysis of luminal lipid droplets that after re-esterification load onto nascent apoB-containing particles. Hepatic apoB synthesis and secretion is regulated by intracellular degradation. If apoB100 is not lipidated in the ER, it can be co- or post-translationally targeted for degradation via the pathway (ER-associated degradation, ubiguitin-proteasome ERAD) (Fisher et al., 1997). Lipid overload which induces ER stress can also drive apoB100 to proteasomal or non-proteasomal (autophagic; Pan et al., 2008) degradation. In contrast, if core lipids are available (in the absence of ER stress), nascent VLDL buds from the ER membranes in the VLDL

transport vesicles that contain coat protein complex II (COPII), to be transported to the Golgi along the secretory pathway.

The mechanism that controls the synthesis and number of particles secreted from the intestine is not fully understood. However, there is evidence to suggest that similar to hepatic VLDL, CM assembly and secretion is mainly driven by lipid substrate availability. In the absence of sufficient lipid substrates, apoB may be targeted to degradation thus resulting in reduced CM and VLDL secretion (Haidari *et al.*, 2002).

#### 1.2.6 Metabolism of triglyceride rich lipoproteins

As soon as CM and VLDL enter the circulation, they acquire apoCII, apoCIII and apoE from HDL while apoA-I is transferred from nascent CM and VLDL to the HDL. At the same time, the enzyme CETP enables CM and VLDL to take up CE from HDL while donating TG to the HDL. As CM and VLDL circulate in the plasma, core TG are hydrolyzed by LPL present on the capillary of the endothelium of adipose and muscle tissues and FFA and glycerol are released. These lipolytic products can be taken up by the adipose tissue and muscle, where they are used for storage or as energy sources, respectively. Some FFA can also spill-over into the plasma as albumin-bound FFA and circulate back to the liver and the intestine for uptake by free diffusion or via plasma membrane transporters.

The resulting remnant particles following lipolysis (CM-r, small VLDL and IDL) are smaller, TG-poor and enriched in apoE and CE. These remnant particles can be cleared from the plasma by all tissues, but predominantly by the liver through the apoB/E receptors, which have a higher affinity for apoE than apoB. Unlike CM-r, VLDL remnants (IDL) can undergo further lipolysis by HL at the endothelial surface of the liver while transferring apoE to HDL. The resulting LDL particle, lacking of apoE, can be also taken up by the liver through the apoB/E receptor at the apoB binding site.

The apoE-containing lipoproteins (CM-r, small VLDL and IDL) can also be taken up by tissues through binding to the LDL receptor-related protein (LRP), which only recognizes apoE but not apoB. This alternative remnant clearance involves the initial sequestering of remnants by negatively charged surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG), which not only anchor LPL on the capillary of the endothelium but also facilitate the binding of apoE to LRP (Mahley, 1999). However, the metabolism of CM via this alternative pathway was shown to be significantly slower as compared to the LDLR pathway, probably due to slow internalization of remnants (Mortimer *et al.*, 1995).

CM and VLDL share common, saturable metabolic pathways and therefore, compete for LPL and cell surface receptors for removal from the circulation (Brunzell *et al.*, 1973). Postprandially, increased delivery of exogenous dietary lipids promotes hepatic secretion of VLDL (Barrows and Parks, 2006) and delayed clearance of LDL due to increased competition with CM for removal. Therefore, the mechanism by which postprandial lipemia increases CVD risk was thought to be primarily as a consequence of impaired LDL kinetics. However, there is now accumulating evidence that intestinal-derived remnant lipoproteins, including nonfasting postprandial remnants can also promote CVD risk. This risk is substantially increased during compromised metabolic conditions such as insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome.

#### 1.3 Metabolic Syndrome, CVD Risk and Non-fasting Lipids

#### 1.3.1 Introduction

The continuous provision of energy via select macronutrients in the Western diet may differentially contribute to the development of CVD risk. By definition, CVD are a group of disorders of the heart and the vessels and include coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral artery disease, reumathic heart disease, congenital heart disease, deep

vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. Amongst these, stroke and coronary heart disease contribute to the highest rate (up to 78%) of deaths (WHO, 2011). The most common cause of these events is atherosclerosis, which is a condition in which the build-up of lipids on the arteries leads to plaque formation resulting in the narrowing and hardening of the arteries. This ultimately leads to a blockage in the vessels that carry oxygen-rich blood to the heart and the brain.

A significant component of CVD risk can be prevented by addressing risk factors such as tobacco use, unhealthy diet and obesity, physical inactivity, raised blood pressure, diabetes and raised lipids (WHO). Despite significant progress through management of blood lipid levels with dietary changes and pharmacological therapies, CVD remains the leading cause of mortality attributing to approximately 30% of all global deaths (WHO, 2011). Unhealthy diets and physical inactivity clearly remain as the major underlying risk factors of this public health burden.

### 1.3.2 Pathophysiology of the metabolic syndrome

The rise in daily caloric intake and physical inactivity in the last few decades corresponds with a dramatic increase in the prevalence of obesity, type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and metabolic syndrome (MetS) (Wright *et al.*, 2004). The MetS is a clinical condition predisposing affected individuals to the development of T2DM and CVD risk. There are several definitions of the MetS (see Table 1-4 for the diagnostic criteria of the MetS for some of the established definitions). It is important to note that although obesity is one of the main underlying risk factors for the MetS, absolute mass of adiposity does not necessarily account for all metabolic abnormalities (Wildman *et al.*, 2008). Rather than total adiposity, visceral and/or ectopic fat is the core clinical component of the MetS contributing to the development of insulin resistance (Bremer *et al.*, 2012).

Insulin resistance or the resistance of tissues (e.g. skeletal muscle, adipose tissue) to insulin mediated glucose uptake has been postulated to be the fundamental defect during MetS. Further, during insulin resistance a compensatory hyperinsulinemia will be needed in order to maintain glucose homeostasis and tissue uptake. If this compensatory increase is not enough to overcome insulin resistance to allow glucose uptake by tissues, then progression to T2DM will occur (Reaven, 1988).

Insulin resistance underlies a number of the manifestations and cardiovascular complications of T2DM and is considered itself a CVD risk factor (Rader, 2007). See Figure 1-7 for the metabolic risk factors linking insulin resistance and CVD risk. Although individuals with coexisting MetS and diabetes have the highest prevalence of CVD, the risk of CVD begins to increase with insulin resistance even before the onset of diagnosed diabetes (Alexander *et al.*, 2003; Hu *et al.*, 2002). Thus, preventive management of insulin resistance via lifestyle modifications that target visceral adiposity can potentially reduce the progression to T2DM and CVD risk.

A major focus for this thesis will be to investigate the effect of VA supplementation on adipose tissue distribution and ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid accumulation. Additionally, the emphasis of this thesis will be on the putative ability of VA to favourably regulate intestinal lipid metabolism during conditions of insulin resistance and MetS. Therefore, a brief review of the role of non-fasting remnant dyslipidemia in increased CVD risk during the pathophysiology insulin resistance will be discussed in the following Sections.

 Table 1-4 Clinical criteria for the diagnostic of the metabolic syndrome.

International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (Alberti <i>et al.</i> , 2005)	Adult Treatment Panel (ATPIII) (Grundy <i>et al.,</i> 2005)
The patient must have:	Measure (any 3 of 5 criteria constitute diagnosis for MetS):
Elevated waist circumference (as a measure of central obesity) <sup>†</sup> Europids: Men: ≥ 94 cm Women: ≥ 80 cm	<u>Elevated waist circumference</u> Men: ≥ 102 cm Women: ≥ 88 cm
*South Asian and Chinese: Men: ≥ 90 cm Women: ≥ 80 cm	<i>Non-Asian (e.g. White, Black, Hispanic) at increased risk: Men</i> : 94-101 cm <i>Women</i> : 80-87 cm
<i>Japanese</i> : <i>Men</i> : ≥ 85 cm <i>Women</i> : ≥ 90 cm	<i>Asian:</i> <i>Men</i> : ≥ 90 cm <i>Women</i> : ≥ 80 cm
<sup>†</sup> Also for Sub-Saharan Africans, Eastern Mediterranean & Middle East populations	<u>Elevated triglyceride</u> ≥ 1.7 mmol/L (150 mg/dL)
*Also for South & Central Americans Plus any 2 of the following:	<i>Reduced HDL cholesterol (HDL-C)</i> <i>Men:</i> <1.03 mmol/L (40 mg/dL) <i>Women</i> : <1.3 mmol/L (50 mg/dL) or
<u>Elevated triglyceride</u> ≥ 1.7 mmol/L (150 mg/dL), or	On drug treatment for reduced HDL-C
Specific treatment for this lipid abnormality	<u>Elevated blood pressure</u> ≥ 130 mm Hg (systolic) ≥ 85 mm Hg (diastolic)
<u>Reduced HDL- cholesterol (HDL-C)</u> Men: <1.03 mmol/L (40 mg/dL) Women: <1.3 mmol/L (50 mg/dL) or	<u>Elevated fasting glucose</u> ≥ 100 mg/dL or
Specific treatment for this lipid abnormality	On drug treatment for elevated glucose
<u>Elevated blood pressure</u> ≥ 130 mm Hg (systolic) ≥ 85 mm Hg (diastolic)	
<u>Elevated fasting glucose</u> ≥ 5.6 mmol/L (100 mg/dL) or	
Previously diagnosed type 2 diabetes	





### 1.3.3 Non-fasting lipemia as an independent predictor of CVD risk

The dyslipidemia in insulin resistance has been largely attributed to the overproduction of VLDL from the liver; however, there is now accumulating evidence that production of intestinal-derived remnant lipoproteins, including non-fasting postprandial remnants are also significantly elevated during these conditions (Duez *et al.*, 2008b). Physiologically, it is also important to consider the often hyperphagic behavior observed during obesity which contributes to a sustained secretion of CM-associated TG and increased circulating TG levels. Additionally, delayed clearance of these lipoproteins is likely during these

conditions which in turn results in the accumulation of CM-r even in the fasted state (Curtin *et al.*, 1996; Hogue *et al.*, 2007).

#### 1.3.3.1 Indirect effect of TRL on increased CVD risk

The MetS is significantly associated with a 1.5 to 3 fold increased risk of atherosclerotic CVD (Eckel, 2007; Hu et al., 2005). It is important to note that despite the established role of LDL-cholesterol as a CVD risk factor, none of the definitions of MetS include LDL-cholesterol (Table 1-4). Rather, elevated plasma triglyceride is included as a diagnostic criterion suggesting the importance of hypertriglyceridemia as a surrogate marker to evaluate CVD progression. Much of this increase in CVD risk is associated with the presence of a combination of risk factors that include elevated TG, decreased HDL-C and relatively normal concentrations of LDL-C carried in small, dense, LDL particles. This characteristic dyslipidemic profile of decreased HDL-C concentrations and abnormal LDL composition is largely dependent on the metabolism of TRL particles (Howard et al., 2003). For example, increased concentration and impaired clearance of TRL during insulin resistance facilitates the CETP-mediated exchange between CE in HDL/LDL and TG in TRL. This exchange produces CE-depleted and TG-enriched particles which are better substrates for HL. The resulting particles are smaller, denser, atherogenicprone LDL and smaller, denser HDL which are thought to be rapidly cleared from the circulation. At the same time, the acquisition of more CE by TRL, particularly the remnants, makes them more atherogenic as a result of the increased cholesterol load per particle (Mangat et al., 2011).

#### 1.3.3.2 The proposed direct effect of TRL on increased CVD risk

In addition to this indirect influence of TRL metabolism on atherogenic dyslipidemia, significant evidence also supports a direct involvement of elevated TG in the pathogenesis of CVD. Specifically, it has been demonstrated that intestinal-derived TG-rich remnant lipoproteins can

penetrate the arterial tissue and become entrapped within the subendothelial space (Mamo and Wheeler, 1994; Proctor and Mamo, 2003 and 2004), where they can contribute to the formation of foam cells, a hallmark feature of early atherosclerosis (Yu and Mamo, 1997; Tomono et al., 1994; Batt et al., 2004). Furthermore, the postprandial phase is associated with increased inflammation which in turns exacerbates the development of atherosclerosis. It has been proposed that postprandial remnant lipoproteins themselves can activate circulating monocytes, upregulate the expression of endothelial cellular adhesion molecules and facilitate adhesion and migration of inflammatory cells into the subendothelial space, thus inducing macrophage lipid loading and eventually foam cell formation (Klop et al., 2012). In addition, it has been demonstrated that the increased production and arterial retention of cholesterol-rich intestinal-derived remnants in insulin resistance states can contribute to accelerated CVD progression (Mangat et al., 2012). Because humans are in the postprandial state for most of the day, their arteries are thus exposed to this postprandial plasma most of the time. Therefore it has been proposed that postprandial TG values would correlate better with prognosis than fasting values and this has been shown in recent epidemiological studies (discussed in the following Section).

### 1.3.3.3 Evidence for the role of non-fasting triglyceridemia on increased CVD risk

Adjustment for HDL-C usually attenuates the association between hypertriglyceridemia and CVD risk because plasma TG levels are inversely correlated with HDL-cholesterol (HDL-C). Thus, the causal association between plasma TG and CVD progression remains uncertain (Goldberg *et al.*, 2011). However, recent reports from large populationbased studies suggest that non-fasting TG independently predict CVD risk. In the Women's Health Study cohort, non-fasting (as opposed to fasting) TG levels maintained a strong independent association with cardiovascular events after adjusting for measures of insulin resistance and total and HDL cholesterol (Bansal *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, in the Copenhagen cohort study, non-fasting TG was also shown to significantly predict future vascular events in both men and women after a multifactorial analysis (Nordestgaard *et al.*, 2007). In both studies, the greatest non-fasting TG concentrations were associated with a highest risk.

Elevated TG concentrations during insulin resistance and MetS have numerous negative effects that can contribute to the progression of CVD but can be positively influenced by diet and lifestyle interventions. The fatty acid composition in the diet has been shown to affect TRL production and metabolism. Findings from pre-clinical studies suggest that the predominant naturally occurring TFA, VA, can reduce fasting and postprandial hypertriglyceridemia during established symptoms of MetS. However, whether VA would retain its lipid-lowering benefits when supplemented in a background diet that includes dairy-derived SFA is unknown. One of the objectives of my thesis was to investigate the effects of VA on hepatic *versus* intestinal TG secretion in a rat model of the MetS, by using an approach that involves *in vivo* LPL inhibition in both fasting and non-fasting conditions.

## 1.4 Integrated Role of Intestine, Liver and Adipose Tissue in Lipid Metabolism and Metabolic Syndrome

As discussed above, the liver and the intestine play complementary and coordinated roles in regulating lipoprotein metabolism through the assembly and secretion of TRL. Both organs are also responsible for delivering dietary and endogenously synthesized lipids to peripheral tissues such as the skeletal muscle and adipose tissue during fasting and fed conditions. This transition from the fasted to the fed state is tightly regulated by insulin, the action of which is blunted during conditions of obesity-induced insulin resistance. A brief review of how insulin modulates the physiological transition from the fasted to the fasted state and how these regulatory effects of insulin become blunted during obesity and insulin resistance is presented in the following Section.

## 1.4.1 The physiological role of insulin (transition from the fed to the fasted state)

Upon ingestion of carbohydrate, insulin is released from the  $\beta$  cells of the pancreas and activates its receptors on muscle, adipose and liver cells. This results in the modulation of gene expression and protein activity that turns on a variety of enzymatic processes facilitating the transport and storage of nutrients into the cell.

In skeletal muscle and adipose tissue cells, insulin increases the glucose transport by stimulating the translocation of the transporter GLUT4 from intracellular sites to the plasma membrane. Skeletal muscle is the major consumer of postprandial glucose accounting for up to 75% of the insulinstimulated glucose utilization (disposal) while adipose tissue uptake accounts for only a small fraction (Klip and Paquet, 1990). Insulin also promotes the synthesis of glycogen in these tissues which is used locally as an immediate reserve of glucose during fasting conditions.

Glucose uptake in the liver is independent of insulin and is mediated by the GLUT2 glucose transporter. After a meal, high levels of glucose reach the liver via the portal vein. Insulin promotes glycogen synthesis, glycolysis and glucose oxidation by increasing the expression of glucokinase which converts glucose into glucose-6-phosphate (an intermediary product that cannot escape the cell). The quick removal of glucose facilitated by this enzyme is thus the driving force for more hepatic glucose uptake (Vidal-Alabró *et al.*, 2012). Insulin also acts in the liver by diminishing the expression of genes required for gluconeogenesis, mainly phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and glucose-6phosphatase through the Akt/FoxO1 pathway (Brown and Goldstein, 2008). The net result is decreased hepatic glucose output. Conversely, the drop of insulin during the fasted state increases hepatic gluconeogenesis and promotes glycogenolysis.

From the lipid centric view, insulin is central to regulating lipid metabolism postprandially by promoting lipid synthesis and inhibiting lipolysis. In the liver, adipose tissue and presumably the intestine, insulin promotes *de novo* lipogenesis by activating the transcription factor sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1-c (SREBP1-c). This in turn increases the transcription of genes involved in the synthesis and uptake of fatty acids and TG (Chen *et al.*, 2004). Lipogenic enzymes such as ACC and FAS, which use substrates from glucose metabolism, are transcriptionally upregulated by insulin (Foufelle *et al.*, 1996).

In adipose tissue, insulin reduces the activity of hormone sensitive lipase (HSL), the rate-limiting enzyme in adipose tissue lipolysis, resulting in reduced release of FFA into the circulation. In addition to increasing lipid synthesis and esterification, insulin also up-regulates the activity of LPL in adipose tissue while down-regulating its activity in other tissues such as the skeletal muscle (Picard *et al.*, 1999). These tissue-specific differences thus determine the partitioning of lipids between storage and oxidation during the fasted to fed transition. The overall effect of insulin stimulation in adipose tissue is the significant increase in its lipid storage capacity.

#### 1.4.2 The role of adipose tissue in obesity and metabolic syndrome

In the face of chronic overnutrition and physical inactivity that characterize modern lifestyle patterns, excessive expansion of adipose tissue is highly involved in the development of MetS. From an evolutionary point of view, the human body still possesses its ability to respond to alterations in nutrient deprivation and excess through adipocyte proliferation (hyperplasia) and expansion (hypertrophy). However, this adipose tissue remodeling capacity is pathologically accelerated during obesity (Sun *et al.*, 2011).

It has been proposed that pathological expansion of adipose tissue is characterized by a rapid growth of fat pads through enlargement of existing fat cells and a higher degree of macrophage infiltration. Such pathological expansion is associated with a state of chronic grade inflammation that ultimately results in the development of insulin resistance (Sun *et al.*, 2011).

## 1.4.2.1 Anatomic and functional differences between fat depots: links to metabolic risk

The distribution of fat among specific regional depots appears to be more important than the total adipose mass for the developing obesity-associated abnormalities (Neeland *et al.*, 2012). Subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) is located under the skin and has greater energy storage capacity than visceral adipose tissue (VAT). Intra-abdominal fat depots are associated with internal organs and in humans are classified as intraand retroperitoneal. Intra-peritoneal depots are associated with digestive organs and include the omental (associated with the stomach) and mesenteric (associated with the intestine) depots. These visceral fat depots are characterized by the presence of lymphatic nodes where immunocytes (e.g neutrophils, T cells, lymphocytes, macrophages) accumulate contributing to the over-expression of immune-related proteins (Lee and Fried, 2010; Thomou *et al.*, 2010).

In addition to the inherent differences in secretory profiles between fat depots, the adverse metabolic effects of visceral obesity have also been associated with its anatomical location. For instance, it has been proposed that FFA and adipokines from VAT may directly reach the liver via the portal vein. In contrast, FFA released from SAT enter the systemic circulation where directed to the skeletal muscle can be oxidized.

Different adipose tissue depots have distinct endocrine and metabolic properties. Inflammatory cytokines that have been implicated in monocyte/macrophage chemotaxis and activation (e. g. monocyte chemoattractant proteins (MCP)-1 and colony-stimulating factor (CSF)-1) are expressed at higher levels in omental than SAT, presumably leading to the higher macrophage infiltration in this fat depot (Harman-Boehm, *et al.*, 2007). This increased number of resident macrophages in VAT may contribute to the increased pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1) secreted from this fat depot (Lee and Fried, 2010).

The literature also documents that adipocytes in VAT are larger in size and less sensitive to the anti-lipolytic effects of insulin than those in SAT, resulting in a greater lipolytic capacity of visceral fat (Lee and Fried, 2010; Thomou *et al.*, 2010). Table 1-5 summarizes some of the most relevant physiological differences between fat depots.

One of the most potent therapeutic regulators of adipose tissue distribution and size are the insulin sensitizing drugs, thiazolidinediones (TZD) which act by activating the nuclear receptor, peroxisome proliferator receptor-γ in adipose tissue. It has been recently proposed that the lipid-lowering and anti-inflammatory effects of VA may be partially associated with its ability to activate PPAR-γ regulated pathways (Wang *et al.*, 2012; Jaudszus *et al.*, 2012). *However, whether dietary supplementation with VA can affect adipose tissue distribution and size is not known. This led to the rationale in this thesis for investigating the ability of VA to alleviate the putative stimulatory effects of dairy fat on ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipids and visceral adiposity. A more descriptive review of the most relevant concepts regarding PPAR regulation by fatty acids and clinical outcomes of their activation by synthetic ligands is presented in Section 1.6.2.2.* 

42

Table 1-5 Physiological differences between fat depots (adapted from Lee and Fried, 2010; Thomou et al., 2010).

Variable	Subcutaneous (SAT)	Visceral (VAT)	
Fuel storage	Long-term/ protection against lipotoxicity	Short-term/rapid fatty acid release to the liver	
Anatomic constrains	None	Restricted, especially during pregnancy	
Tissue growth	Fat cell number	Fat cell size	
Adipocyte size		Larger than SAT	
Catecholamine-induced	Higher expression of anti-lipolytic α-	Increased number of β-adrenergic receptors and	
lipolysis	adrenergic receptors	blunted $\alpha$ -receptor-mediated decline in cAMP	
		levels; thereby increased lipolysis than SAT	
Insulin-induced lipolysis		Less responsive to anti-lipolytic effects of insulin	
Adipogenic-related	Higher PPAR $\gamma$ and C/EBP $\alpha$ than VAT		
genes			
Lipogenic-related genes		ASP and C3a, SREBP-1c, ACC	
Lipid uptake and lipid	Higher FABP4 (aP2), CD36 and perilipin		
droplet-related genes	than VAT		
Macrophage infiltration		Higher than SAT	
Cytokine and adipokine	Higher leptin mRNA and secretion,	Secrete more pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6,	
secretory profile	adiponectin and IL-10 than VAT	IL-8, TNF-α, PAI-I, MCP-1 and GM-CSF-1	

cAMP, cyclic AMP; FABP4, fatty acid protein-4; ASP, Acylation-stimulating protein (promotes fat cells TG synthesis); C3a, complement factor C3a (post-translational modification leads to ASP generation)

# 1.4.3 The pathophysiology of insulin resistance in obesity and dysfunctional lipid homeostasis

The insulin resistant state is characterized by the inhibition of insulin signaling pathways (Aguirre *et al.*, 2000). Insulin resistance refers to a state in which normal circulating levels of insulin fail to produce its expected physiological effects. As a compensatory mechanism, insulin production is increased from the  $\beta$  cells of the pancreas. However, this compensatory hyperinsulinemia may still be insufficient to trigger adequate signaling in certain pathways, but may increase excessive effects in others. For instance, insulin resistant subjects typically present selective hepatic insulin resistance with impaired glucose homeostasis (through the Akt/FoxO1 pathway) but enhanced insulin-induced hepatic *de novo* lipogenesis (through the SREBP1-c pathway) (Brown and Goldstein, 2008).

Insulin resistance is the underlying metabolic abnormality of the MetS and visceral and/or ectopic fat storage are the core components of the syndrome (Carr *et al.*, 2004; Neeland *et al.*, 2012; Fabbrini *et al.*, 2009). A potential explanation for the obesity-induced insulin resistance is the development of a state of lipotoxicity in insulin sensitive tissues such as the liver and skeletal muscle.

## 1.4.3.1 Increased ectopic lipid accumulation during obesity and insulin resistance

Chronic caloric surplus and subsequent adipose tissue hypertrophy results in the activation of an inflammatory response, which leads to the accumulation of macrophages within this tissue. In the obese state, macrophages produce a number of cytokines (e.g. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) that can act locally in paracrine or autocrine manner to amplify the proinflammatory and insulin resistant state within the adipose tissue. Adipose tissue can also function as an endocrine organ whereby cytokines travel to the liver and skeletal muscle resulting in local inflammation and insulin resistance within these organs (de Luca and Olefsky, 2006).

Hypertrophic adipocytes are also characterized by increased lipolysis during fasting. Some of these FFA are shunted to the liver and stored in lipid droplets while others will be oxidized in other tissues such as skeletal muscle. Furthermore, decreased ability of adipose tissue to appropriately store lipids (FFA) after a meal, as observed by McQuaid et al., 2011 in abdominally obese men, will result in lipid accumulation in non-adipose tissues. This lipid overload, when exceeding the storage and oxidative capacity of the cell, leads to the generation of lipid signaling intermediaries (e.g. diacylglycerol, long-chain fatty acyl CoA and ceramides). These lipid intermediaries activate a number of kinases such as protein kinase C, as well as inhibitory  $\kappa B$  kinase  $\beta$  (IKK $\beta$ ) and nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF $\kappa B$ ), which are also activated by TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6. This in turn results in the serine/threonine phosphorylation of the IRS-1 or Akt/protein kinase B (PKB) which inhibits insulin signaling and cause insulin resistance (Delarue and Magnan, 2007). Conversely, increased oxidation of excess fatty acids may lead to ER stress and increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), both of which may also lead to impaired insulin signaling (Hotamisligil et al., 2010).

Ectopic lipid accumulation in the liver referred to as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the most common form of chronic liver disease and ranges in severity from simple hepatic steatosis with no inflammation, to steatohepatitis (NASH) which can progress to liver cirrhosis. NAFLD is strongly associated with obesity, T2DM and insulin resistance (Lazo and Clark, 2008). However, it is not clear whether insulin resistance is a prerequisite for the development of NAFLD or whether hepatic lipid accumulation precedes insulin resistance. Physiologically, the development of hepatic steatosis is attributed to a mismatch between hepatic lipid uptake and synthesis and lipid export (decreased oxidation or apoB100 secretion). It has been reported in patients with NAFLD that around 60% of TG in the liver arises from circulating FFA (mainly from adipose lipolysis), 26% from de novo lipogenesis and 15% from intestinal-derived CM and their remnants. It was also observed that the lipogenic machinery, which should be repressed during fasting conditions, was already high in the fasted state and failed to further increase postprandially in subjects with NAFLD (Donnelly *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, increased adipose tissue lipolysis, *de novo* lipogenesis and intestinal CM overproduction typically observed in the insulin resistant state can all contribute to increase ectopic lipid accumulation.

Currently, there is no specific drug therapy approved for the treatment of NAFLD (Naniwadekar, 2010). Lifestyle and dietary management, such as those recommended for the MetS, remain the best therapeutic option. Some bioactive fatty acids, such as omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) have been shown to have promising therapeutic effects for the treatment of NAFLD at a dose of 1-2 g per day (Capanni *et al.*, 2006; Zhu *et al.*, 2008). Vaccenic acid has also been shown to significantly decrease hepatic TG accumulation in a rat model of MetS. However, whether VA alleviates the progression of NAFLD during MetS is currently unknown. *This in turn led to the rationale in this thesis for investigating the effects of VA on body fat distribution and NAFLD progression.* 

### 1.4.3.2 Effect of insulin resistance on lipoprotein production and metabolism

### 1.4.3.2.1 Overproduction of TRL during insulin resistance

Hepatic overproduction/secretion of VLDL is considered the primary cause for MetS-associated dyslipidemia (Ginsberg *et al.*, 2006). Studies in both animal and humans models of insulin resistance and T2DM have revealed that in addition to hepatic VLDL, production of intestinally derived apoB48
containing lipoproteins is also significantly increased during these conditions (Duez *et al.*, 2008a).

Insulin has been shown to have an acute direct inhibitory effect on the secretion of hepatic (Reviewed by Lewis and Steiner, 1996) and intestinalderived lipoproteins (Federico et al., 2006) in vitro and in vivo studies; but this effect becomes blunted during chronic hyperinsulinemic and insulinresistance. Evidence indicates that this lipoprotein overproduction in chronic hyperinsulinemia is associated with alterations in insulin signaling pathways in the liver and the intestine. For instance, acute studies in primary cultured hepatocytes (Taghibiglou et al., 2002) and enterocytes (Federico et al., 2006) from fructose-fed hyperinsulinemic hamsters have shown reduced insulin receptor and Akt phosphorylation and increased activation of protein tyrosine phosphatase-1B signaling. Although the underlying mechanisms by which insulin directly suppresses CM production are not fully understood, it appears that insulin inhibits the assembly and secretion of hepatic VLDL by increasing posttranslational degradation of apoB and reducing the expression of MTP (Theriault et al., 1992; Lin *et al.*, 1995).

Experimental evidence has shown that insulin also inhibits hepatic and intestinal TRL production indirectly by suppressing circulating FFA (Lewis et al., 2004; Duez et al., 2008a; Pavlic et al., 2010). This regulatory effect of insulin is blunted with impaired insulin responsiveness. Indeed, increased circulating FFA levels and increased FFA flux to the liver, as observed in insulin resistant states. stimulates hepatic VLDL overproduction (Lewis, 1997; Zhang et al., 2004; Siri et al., 2001; Taghibiglou et al., 2000). Most recently, it has been demonstrated in individuals with T2DM that intestinal-derived CM production is also resistant to the normal acute suppressive effect of insulin (Nogueira et al., 2012). Additionally, increased flux of FFA to the intestine in insulin resistance may also contribute to the overproduction of CM during these conditions. How and to what extent these non-dietary sources of FFA contribute the CM overproduction in insulin resistance is still unknown.

Increased *de novo* lipogenesis in insulin resistance may also provide additional substrate for TRL synthesis by increasing fatty acid/TG pool size. Direct measurement of *de novo* lipogenesis *in vivo* in humans has revealed that although newly formed fatty acids are a quantitatively minor source of VLDL-TG (8%) (Barrows and Parks, 2006), its contribution to VLDL production is significantly increased (up to 23-30%) during obesity and insulin resistance (Donnelly *et al.*, 2005). Although not documented in humans yet, increased intracellular lipids due to enhanced *de novo* lipogenesis in enterocytes was associated with increased intracellular apoB48 and CM oversecretion in the fructose-fed hamster (Haidari *et al.*, 2002).

In obesity and insulin resistance, increased inflammation is associated with elevated circulating levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ). TNF- $\alpha$  was shown to stimulate the overproduction of intestinal apoB48-containing lipoproteins by impairing the insulin signaling cascade in the intestine (Qin, *et al.*, 2007).

The production of TRL can be modulated by diet and the fatty acid composition in the diet has been shown to play a key role in this modulation. Findings from pre-clinical studies suggest that VA can reduce CM secretion in a rat model of MetS. Despite the proposed mechanism of action of VA on activating PPAR regulated pathways, putative benefits of VA to insulin resistance and energy use and storage have not been clear in early studies. Therefore, one of the objectives of this thesis was to investigate whether VA can reduce or neutralize the putative adverse effects of SFA on parameters of MetS. Specifically, we investigated whether VA can favorable modulate adipose tissue distribution, reduce ectopic lipid accumulation and associated lipid secretion from the liver and the intestine.

#### 1.4.3.2.2 Impaired clearance of TRL during insulin resistance

Although increased CM and VLDL secretion is an important mechanism leading to dyslipidemia in insulin resistance, impaired clearance of these particles is also involved (Taskinen *et al.*, 2011). Postprandial LPL activity is likely to be an important factor in the modulation of plasma TG levels after a meal. A reduction in adipose tissue LPL activity has been observed in obese insulin-resistant animal models (Picard *et al.*, 2002) and humans (Ong and kern, 1989). Increased CM particles, as seen in insulin resistance, may compete with VLDL for removal from the circulation. In addition, hepatic uptake of TRL remnants can also be altered due to reduced expression of LDLR (Ginsberg *et al.*, 2006).

As discussed throughout this thesis, a dysfunctional lipid metabolism that characterizes the pathophysiology of insulin resistance and MetS contributes to accelerated CVD progression. In order to develop preventive and ameliorative treatments of disease progression, animal models that mimic human disease processes have been developed (Russell and Proctor, 2006). The JCR:LA-cp rat model has been extensively characterized and shown to spontaneously develop symptoms associated with the MetS and the pre-diabetic state typically observed in humans. The following Section summarizes some of the most relevant characteristics of this animal model that makes it suitable for the type of dietary interventions conducted in this thesis.

# 1.5 The JCR:LA-*cp* Rat, a Model of Insulin Resistance and Metabolic Syndrome

Rats are typically resistant to the development of atherosclerosis. Lipid metabolism of the normal rat (as in mice) is primarily based on HDL, rather than on LDL, as in humans, possibly contributing to resistance to

atherogenesis. Even dietary cholesterol contents as high as 10% w/w are not usually sufficient to create significant hypercholesterolemia. However, a few genetically modified strains of rats that mimic important aspects of abnormal metabolism and CVD seen in humans have been developed (Reviewed extensively by Russell and Proctor, 2006).

The JCR: LA-cp strain of rats is one of a number of strains incorporating the autosomal recessive cp gene first isolated by Koletsky (Koletsky, 1973). The corpulent (cp) trait presents a stop codon in the extracellular domain of the leptin receptor (ObR) leading to a complete absence of the ObR in the plasma membrane of the cp/cp animals. The JCR:LA-cp strain, if homozygous (cp/cp), spontaneously develop symptoms associated with the MetS and the pre-diabetic state typically observed in humans including obesity, insulin resistance and dyslipidemia (Brindley and Russell, 2002). In contrast to other rat models of insulin resistance (e.g. Fatty Zucker rat, Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats, Sand rat), the JCR:LA-cp rat spontaneously develops ischemic lesions of the heart as well as early intimal atherogenesis commonly seen in human coronary arteries (Russell and Amy, 1986ab). Therefore, the JCR:LA-*cp* rat provides an excellent model for insulin resistance, MetS and progression to CVD. Rats that are heterozygous (+/cp) or homozygous normal (+/+) are lean and not distinguishable from their parent strain in any respect.

#### 1.5.1 JCR:LA-cp rat as a model of insulin resistance

Rats of the JCR:LA-*cp* strain are detectably obese at three weeks of age. A modest hyperinsulinemia is present at four weeks of age, which develops rapidly (Brindley and Russell, 2002) as a consequence of the absence of leptin inhibition of insulin release (Emilsson *et al.*, 1997).

The JCR:LA-*cp* rat presents a normal basal turnover of glucose but a profound insulin insensitivity in peripheral tissues (Russell *et al.*, 1994). Despite this profound insulin resistance, the *cp/cp* rat is able to maintain

relative euglycemia, even in the postprandial state, albeit at the expense of very high plasma insulin levels (Russell, 1999). This response resembles the hyperinsulinemia observed in humans following an analogous meal challenge. Despite the high rate of insulin secretion, the *cp/cp* rats do not develop pancreatic  $\beta$  cell failure and the resultant development of insulin-dependent diabetes.

### 1.5.2 JCR:LA-cp rat as a model of fasting and postprandial lipemia

The JCR:LA-*cp* rat presents with classic hypertriglyceridemia and hepatic VLDL over-secretion that is consistent with observations in humans with MetS. Under normal dietary conditions (chow diet), hyperlipidemia is essentially confined to TRL fractions, while elevations of cholesterol are generally marginal compared with lean counterparts. The observed hypersecretion of VLDL in the *cp/cp* rat is thought to be a response of the liver to the large amounts of glucose absorbed by the hyperphagic animals (Russell and Proctor, 2006). In addition, the profound peripheral insulin resistance in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat leads to a diversion of glucose to hepatic TG synthesis and subsequent hepatic VLDL over-secretion. This appears to develop in response to the upregulation of lipogenic factors, including SREBP-1 (Elam *et al.*, 2006).

Most recently, the *cp/cp* rat has been shown to have significant postprandial lipemia, as measured by oral fat challenge experiments and assessment of plasma apoB48 kinetics (Vine *et al.* 2007). The over-production of intestinal-derived nascent CM has also been demonstrated by using lymph cannulation procedures (Hassanali *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009). Thus, the insulin-resistant/hyperinsulinemic state in the *cp/cp* rat is associated with enhanced circulating levels of both hepatic and intestinal-derived lipid particles. This hyperlipidemic profile similar to that of pre-diabetic humans offers a valuable opportunity to study putative lipid-lowering dietary treatments.

# 1.5.3 Use of the JCR:LA-*cp* rat model in nutritionally-balanced studies

The JCR:LA-*cp* rat phenotype of MetS has been extensively characterized together with the type of nutritional studies presented in this thesis. For instance, previous studies by our laboratory have demonstrated that the *cp/cp* phenotype is highly responsive to dietary treatment with bioactive fatty acids including n3-PUFA and VA (Hassanali *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2008 and 2009). Due to the spontaneous development of the MetS in this animal model, no additional dietary manipulation is required in comparison with excessively high fat diets needed for animal models of diet-induced obesity (DIO). This enables accurate control of fatty acid content in all our synthesized diets while the phenotype spontaneously develops. In addition, in this thesis we have conducted intervention study designs that require the phenotype to be well established prior to dietary intervention. *Therefore, the JCR:LA-cp rat is an excellent animal model for this type of dietary intervention approach.* 

# 1.6 Regulation of Lipid Metabolism and Insulin Action by Dietary Fatty Acids

#### 1.6.1 Effect of fatty acids on TRL metabolism

It is well documented that both the amount and type of dietary fat present in a meal can influence postprandial lipid metabolism. In acute studies testing the effect of a single fatty meal, SFA have been shown to cause the most pronounced lipemia, followed by monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), while n-3 PUFA ameliorate this response (Lopez Miranda, *et al.*, 2007). Notably, dietary habits need to be sustained in the long term in order to observe health benefits. An olive meal (36% MUFA) was shown to lead to the formation of a reduced number of similar-sized TRL particles compared to a butter meal (35% SFA) in healthy volunteers, perhaps suggesting a more efficient metabolism of these particles only after chronic intake of olive oil (Perez-Martinez *et al.*, 2011). In contrast, chronic dietary supplementation of n-3 PUFA (4-6 wk) has been shown to efficiency decrease postprandial lipemia mainly due to decreased production of TRL in hypertriglyceridemic men (Harris and Muzio, 1993; Westphal *et al.*, 2000).

The mechanism by which PUFA ameliorate the postprandial TG response seems to be attributable to a diminished production of lipoprotein particles. Levy et al. (2006) showed that fish oil feeding in the Sand rat resulted in decreased CM assembly and apoB48 synthesis, as assessed in cultured jejunal explants incubated with either [14C]-oleic acid or [35S]-methionine, respectively. In this study, reduced secretion of apoB48 was shown to be mediated by post-translational degradation of the newly synthesized apoB48 and occurred subsequently to limited lipid availability (TG, PL and CE). This reduced TG synthesis was associated with decreased activity of MGAT and DGAT. Notably, animals fed the fish oil diet also had reduced body weight gain. Therefore, decreased intestinal lipid availability by fish oil may also be secondary to decreased fatty acid delivery to the intestine or increased  $\beta$  oxidation. Additionally, it has also been reported that fish oil feeding may attenuate postprandial lipemia by inducing a transient lipid accumulation in the enterocytes, which may result in a delayed TG efflux from the intestine into the circulation (Larsen et al., 2003). It is plausible that the same mechanism of action could explain the ability of VA to decrease lymphatic CM secretion in the JCR:LA-cp rat (Wang et al., 2009).

Dietary habits represented by diets rich in SFA and poor in PUFA have been reported in patients with NASH (Musso *et al.*, 2003). Relative to body mass index-matched healthy controls, NASH patients were observed to have a higher postprandial TG response but reduced number of postprandial apoB48 and apoB100 particles. This may suggest impaired secretion of CM and/or VLDL particles during NASH. Indeed, a reduced synthesis rate of hepatic apoB100 has been reported in NASH patients (Charlton *et al.*, 2002). Different fatty acids (including SFA) have been shown to inhibit apoB100 secretion by different pathways. Caviglia *et al.*, (2011) demonstrated that exposure to high doses of oleic acid or palmitic acid *in vitro and in vivo* induced ER stress and inhibited apoB100 secretion, with palmitic acid having a more potent effect because it also increased ceramide production. In contrast, docosahexaenic acid was shown to be the more potent inhibitor of apoB100 acting via stimulation of autophagy.

# 1.6.2 Regulation by transcription factors

### 1.6.2.1 Sterol regulatory element binding proteins

Dietary PUFA are well established as negative regulators of *de novo* lipogenesis via SREBP. The SREBP-1 isoform is more active driving fatty acid synthesis. Thus, SREBP-1 but not SREBP-2, which drives cholesterol synthesis, is subjected to selective feedback inhibition by PUFA. This is because transcription of SREBP-1 is activated by the nuclear liver X receptor (LXR), which antagonized by PUFA (Ou *et al.*, 2001). In addition, fatty acids including oleic acid and PUFA, have been shown to suppress the release of the mature transcriptionally active form of SREBP-1 by inhibiting the proteolytic degradation of insulin-induced gene (INSIG). In contrast, SFA are unable to suppress the proteolytic cleavage activation of SREBP-1 (Lee *et al.*, 2008). Further, PUFA also have the ability to reduce SREBP-1 mRNA levels attributed to the repression of gene transcription rate and mRNA stability (Xu *et al.*, 2001).

### 1.6.2.2 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) constitute a family of nuclear receptors acting as transcription factors upon activation by natural or synthetic ligands. Fatty acids including both SFA and MUFA act as ligands for the various PPAR isoforms, although PUFA tend to be preferred. Given that VA has been recently proposed to act as a natural ligand for PPAR, the focus of this section is to describe the molecular mechanisms of PPAR activation and the downstream physiological effects associated with this activation

#### 1.6.2.2.1 Activation of PPARs and associated physiological effects

Binding of an agonist to the PPAR ligand binding domain (LBD), induces a conformational change in the transactivation domain (activation function 2 or AF2). This initiates the recruitment of co-activators (e.g. cAMP response element-binding protein, PPAR gamma cofactor-1 $\alpha$ ) and release of co-repressors. Upon ligand activation, PPAR heterodimerizes with RXR, another nuclear receptor required for PPAR activity. The PPAR/RXR complex binds to PPAR response elements (PPRE) located in the promoter region of target genes via a DNA binding domain (DBD), and alters coactivator/corepressor dynamics to induce transcription. For instance, the DNA binding of the adipogenic transcription factor CCAAT/ enhancer binding protein (C/EBP $\alpha$ ) is spatially and temporally associated with PPAR $\gamma$  binding, and the two proteins cooperate in inducing the adipogenic gene transcription program in adipose tissue (Astapova and Leff, 2010).

Ligand-dependent activation of PPARs can also negatively regulate gene expression by inhibiting the activity of transcription factors. For instance, PPAR $\gamma$  elicits anti-inflammatory regulations by transrepression of transcription factors such as NF $\kappa$ B and activator protein 1 (AP-1); thus inhibiting the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-2 and TNF- $\alpha$  (Ricote et al. 1998).

There are three current members of the PPAR family: PPAR $\alpha$ , PPAR $\delta$ and PPAR $\gamma$ . Each receptor modulates pathways involved in lipid and glucose metabolism and inflammation, which makes them physiologically

and clinically relevant (Bensinger and Tontonoz, 2008). PPAR $\alpha$  is highly expressed in the liver, heart and skeletal muscle and targets genes involved in fatty uptake, binding and activation, mitochondrial  $\beta$  oxidation, lipoprotein metabolism (Duval et al., 2007). and PPARα is pharmacologically activated by fibrate drugs to lower circulating TG and raise HDL (Barter and Rye, 2008). PPAR $\delta$  is broadly expressed and its pharmacological activation was shown to improve blood lipid profile and hepatic TG accumulation and potentially increase fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle in obese men (Risérus et al., 2008). PPARy has two isoforms,  $-\gamma 1$  and  $-\gamma 2$ . While PPARy1 is widely expressed in tissues such as the intestine, brain, vascular cells and immune cells, PPARy-2 is mainly expressed in adipose tissue. Activation of PPARy in adipose tissue appears to be the mechanism of action for the insulin sensitizing effects of thiazolidinediones (TZD). One of the objectives of this thesis was to investigate the ability of VA to reduce the risk of developing ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) and visceral fat and the MetS when supplemented on a background diet containing dairy derived-SFA. Assuming that VA also acts as a PPARy ligand in adipose tissue, we have hypothesized that VA supplementation will favorably alter adipose tissue distribution and that this will be associated with its ability to attenuate symptoms of MetS including NAFLD progression. A brief review on the metabolic functions and clinical outcomes of PPARy activation provided below.

# 1.6.2.2.2 Metabolic functions and clinical outcomes of PPARγ activation

TZD are chemically synthesized compounds that have been widely used in clinical practice to treat patients with two components of MetS: dyslipidemia and insulin resistance. The insulin-sensitizing TZD family (e.g., pioglitazone, rosiglitazone) is a class of potent PPARγ activators, which improve whole-body insulin sensitivity and inflammatory regulation. Mechanistically, PPAR $\gamma$  activation by TZD has been shown to promote adipogenesis of subcutaneous fat, stimulating the differentiation of preadipocytes into adipocytes. The resulting greater number of smaller adipocytes possess an increased lipid storage capacity (Adams *et al.*, 1997; Festuccia *et al.*, 2009). The remodeling effect of PPAR $\gamma$  activation in SAT is accompanied by enhanced anabolic capacity (e.g. increased fatty acid uptake and esterification) in this fat depot (Laplante *et al.*, 2006; Festuccia *et al.*, 2009). In contrast, visceral adipocytes also become smaller after PPAR $\gamma$  activation which is thought to be mediated by increased lipolysis, fatty acid oxidation and thermogenesis in this tissue, rather than cell recruitment and differentiation (Laplante *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, PPAR $\gamma$  activation by TZD also results in the improvement of adipokine secretory profiles with increased secretion of adiponectin and decreased secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, PAI-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ ) (Sharma and Staels, 2007).

The resulting metabolic effects of PPARγ activation by TZD include enhanced insulin-sensitivity, improved glycemic control, decreased plasma FFA, TG and inflammatory markers and increased adiponectin and HDL-C. Indeed, TZD are among the most effective drugs to reduce plasma FFA concentrations.

#### 1.6.2.2.3 Activation of PPARs by natural ligands

A wide variety of lipids including fatty acyl-CoA species, eicosanoids (prostaglandins and leukotrienes), oxidized fatty acids, and oxidized phospholipids have also been implicated in PPAR activation (Delerive *et al.*, 2000; Forman *et al.*, 1997; Kliewer *et al.*, 1997; Krey *et al.*, 1997). This has led to suggestions that dietary fatty acids and their derivatives can modulate lipid homeostasis by activating PPARs, which in turn act as physiological sensors of lipid levels in cells.

It has been proposed that endogenously synthesized rather than dietaryderived ligands are physiologically more relevant PPAR regulators. A phospholipid with a palmitate and oleate moiety was identified to be a strong ligand for PPARα. It was also demonstrated that the ability of this moiety to activate PPARα downstream targets was dependent on FAS and Cept1 (choline ethanolamine phosphotransferase-1, required for phosphatidylcholine synthesis) (Chakravarthy, *et al.*, 2009). These findings also suggested that different intracellular pools of lipid signaling molecules may determine the activation PPAR regulated pathways. *During the course of my thesis, complementary studies in our group as well as from others have discovered that VA can act as a ligand for PPARs in cell culture studies (Wang et al., 2012; Jaudszus et al., 2012). However, whether this ability of VA to activate PPAR downstream pathways is determined by its processing into lipid signaling molecules is not known.* 

#### 1.6.3 Role of dietary lipids in MetS associated inflammation

The pro-inflammatory effects of SFA are well documented while n-3 PUFA are known to counteract or alleviate these effects. Because dietary fatty acids are transported by TRL, it has been proposed that the composition of these particles may play a key role in the proinflammatory process. It has been shown that TRL isolated after a meal are more proinflammatory when enriched in SFA rather than MUFA or PUFA (Williams *et al.*, 2004). Further, incubation of smooth muscle cells with VLDL rich in palmitic acid isolated from dyslipidemic subjects was shown to significantly increase the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (Ståhlman *et al.*, 2012).

The literature also documents that SFA, specifically palmitic acid may alter critical mechanisms impacting insulin signaling via stimulating inflammatory signaling (Kien, 2009). For instance, SFA but not *cis*-unsaturated fatty acids promote inflammatory activation of macrophages in part mediated by binding of the toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4). This in turn results in the activation of the inflammatory signaling cascades that induce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines resulting in the attenuation of

insulin action (Shi *et al.* 2006). In contrast, activation of the G proteincoupled receptor 120 (GPR120) by n3-PUFA has been shown to be the mechanism responsible for their anti-inflammatory and insulin sensitizing effects (Oh *et al.*, 2010). Figure 1-8 summarizes the regulation of signaling pathways by SFA and n-3 PUFA involved in the development of insulin resistance.



**Figure 1-8** Regulation of inflammatory signaling pathways by SFA and n-3 PUFA that modulate insulin action (*Adapted from Oh et al., 2010; Osborn and Olefsky, 2012*). Activation of TLR4 and the TNF receptors leads to activation of the IKK and JNK kinases, leading to serine phosphorylation of the IRS and increased transcription of inflammatory pathways, which contribute to insulin resistance. In contrast, activation of the GPR120 by the n3-PUFA DHA, inhibits TAK activation with subsequent inhibition of the inflammatory pathway. IKK, IκB-kinase; JNK, Jun N-terminal kinases; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; TAK, transforming growth factor-β-activated kinase-1.

Considering the recent evidence for the health benefits of VA, one of the objectives of my thesis was to investigate whether enriching dairy fat with VA could increase the health value of dairy-derived SFA, specifically during conditions of MetS. Because dairy fat consists of a complex food

matrix (including SFA, MUFA and CLA), it is difficult to discriminate the effects of VA from other bioactive fatty acids. *Therefore, the approach in this thesis was to add purified synthetic VA into dairy fat allowing to carefully control for the fatty acid composition of experimental diets.* 

# 1.7 Proposed mechanisms of action for the health benefits of VA

# 1.7.1 Activation of PPARs by VA

Accumulating evidence from pre-clinical studies suggest that VA (either in the natural or purified form) has lipid-lowering and anti-inflammatory effects during conditions of dyslipidemia and/or MetS (Lock *et al.*, 2005; Bauchart *et al.*, 2007; Basset *et al.*, 2010; Blewett *et al.*, 2009; Ruth *et al.*, 2010; Tyburczy *et al.*, 2009; Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, it was demonstrated recently that VA is a partial agonist to PPAR- $\alpha$  and  $-\gamma$  *in vitro* acting with similar affinity PPAR agonists commonly used for the treatment of dyslipidemia and type-2 diabetes. In that study, VA was shown to suppress cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in a PPAR- $\alpha$  and  $-\gamma$  dependent manner (Wang *et al.*, 2012). Thus, this has provided a potential mechanistic explanation of how VA may exert its hypolipidemic, anti-inflammatory and cardio-protective effects.

VA was shown to ameliorate the atherosclerotic development relative to the iTFA, elaidic acid (EA) in the LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice. These protective effects of VA versus EA on atherosclerosis were independent of changes in plasma cholesterol or TG (Bassett *et al.*, 2010). This has led to the proposal that TFA may be stimulating or ameliorating (in the case of VA) atherosclerosis in a manner independent on cholesterol (Ganguly and Pierce, 2012).

The opposing inflammatory response towards iTFA *versus* rTFA may provide an alternative mechanism. iTFA consumption has been associated with elevated systemic inflammatory responses, including high levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and its receptors, IL-6, MCP-1 and C-reactive protein (Mozaffarian and Willett, 2007). These pro-inflammatory effects of iTFA are likely to account for their adverse effects on CVD (e.g. inflammation and endothelial dysfunction). Indeed, Iwata *et al.*, (2011), investigated the effects of iTFA (EA and linoelaidic acid) *versus* VA on NF $\kappa$ B activation and nitric oxide production (NO) in human endothelial cells. It was found that iTFA but not VA, stimulated NF $\kappa$ B activation (as measured by IL-6 levels, phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  and superoxide production), impaired endothelial insulin signaling and NO production. These effects of iTFA on endothelial dysfunction were also observed by incubation of cells with palmitic acid. Furthermore, VA was shown to normalize inflammatory markers (e.g. IL-2 and TNF $\alpha$ ) in mesenteric lymphatic nodes and splenocytes in a rat model of chronic inflammatory state, the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

The underlying mechanism of action for these anti-inflammatory effects of VA is not known but it could be associated with its ability to activate PPAR $\gamma$ -dependent anti-inflammatory pathways. Indeed, it has been recently reported that VA was able to reduce IL-2 and TNF- $\alpha$  expressing T-helper cells of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in a PPAR $\gamma$  dependent manner. It was concluded that this effect of VA was independent on CLA since no bioconversion was observed in these cells (Jaudszus *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.7.2 Incorporation of VA into cellular membranes

Fatty acids can also regulate cellular activities by altering membrane composition and consequently, affecting membrane biophysical properties. Indeed, Niu *et al.*, (2005) demonstrated that iTFA-derived PL had higher cholesterol membrane affinity than their *cis* analogues. They also found that PL membranes containing iTFA exhibited a higher acyl chain packing order which was associated with reduced membrane receptor activation. The impact of membrane incorporation of SFA, iTFA and VA on cellular activities has been investigated recently. Fournier *et al.*, (2012) showed that EA, palmitic acid and VA were all efficiently incorporated in macrophage membranes. They also found that EA and

palmitic acid but not VA, reduced ABCA-1 mediated cholesterol efflux and that this effect was stronger in cholesterol loaded cells. It was concluded that this opposing effect of EA *versus* VA may be associated with decreased membrane fluidity thereby reducing ATPase activity and the function of the transporter.

Another mechanism of action by which most bioactive long chain PUFA (LCPUFA) have been shown to act is by replacing or interfering with the synthesis/incorporation of arachidonic acid (AA) into membrane PL. This has important biological implications since these AA-containing PL have been shown to function as precursors of signaling molecules (called endocannabinoids) known to control food intake and metabolism. *Given the ability of fatty acids to influence cellular activities by modulating membrane PL composition, one of the latter objectives of this thesis was to investigate whether VA alone or in combination with CLA could alter the concentration of tissue endocannabinoids.* 

# 1.8 Regulation of Endocannabinoids by Dietary Fatty Acids in Health and Disease

Endocannabinoids (EC) are lipid mediators endogenously synthesized from essential fatty acids available from dietary sources. EC exert most of their functions by binding and activating two G protein coupled receptors, cannabinoid receptor 1 (CB1) and 2 (CB2) that are expressed in the brain and peripheral tissues (e. g. liver, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle and the gastrointestinal tract) at various levels depending on the tissue and conditions. Two of the best characterized EC, the *N*-acylethanolamine *N*-arachidonoylethanolamide (Anandamide) and the monoacylglycerol 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG), are metabolic derivatives of the n-6 arachidonic acid (AA; C20:4) in PL. They are also found at various levels depending on the tissue and conditions.

EC are chronically up-regulated in animal models of obesity (both genetically and/or diet induced) (Lo Verme *et al.*, 2009; Izzo *et al.*, 2009 and 2010) or human obesity (Matias *et al.*, 2006). The endocannabinoid system is involved in central energy balance regulation (Cota *et al.*, 2003; Matias *et al.*, 2008a) and its excessive activity leads to increased food intake, weight gain and associated dyslipidemia and insulin resistance. Selective CB1 receptor antagonists have shown to reverse these effects (Di Marzo, 2008b).

The dysregulation of EC during obesity is partially attributed to the alterations in the expression or activity of their biosynthetic and degradative enzymes. Additionally, increased availability of AA in PL due to increased dietary intake of linoleic acid has been causally associated in the development of obesity (Alvheim *et al.*, 2012). Conversely, n3-LCPUFA have been shown to decrease EC concentrations presumably by reducing the amount of their PL biosynthetic precursors. *In this thesis we have proposed that VA may also have similar regulatory effects on tissue EC.* Therefore, a brief review of these concepts will be discussed in the following Section.

#### 1.8.1 Endocannabinoid biosynthesis and regulation

EC are produced enzymatically from cell membrane PL-fatty acid precursors. EC are thought not to be stored but generated on 'demand' in response to physiological or pathological stimuli. It is proposed that once the 'on demand' stimulus initiates their release, EC are taken up by cells via a putative membrane transporter (which may be also involved in their release). Then, EC present in the extracellular space are accumulated by neurons and other cells by facilitated diffusion where they act as local prohomeostatic factors. However, the mechanism that regulates their release and uptake into membranes is not well understood (Pacher *et al.*, 2006; Alger and Kim, 2011). The action of EC on CB receptors and other receptors is terminated intracellularly by specific lipases. The dominant enzyme responsible for inactivation of anandamide is fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH), while monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) is the principal 2-AG hydrolase. Collectively, the CB receptors, endocannabinoids and their biosynthetic or degrading enzymes constitute the endocannabinoid system (ECS).

Figure 1-9 shows the schematic representation of endocannabinoid biosynthesis and degradation.



**Phospholipid Remodeling** 

**Figure 1-9** Schematic representation of endocannabinoid biosynthesis and degradation. A calcium-dependent acyl transferase catalyzes the formation of N-arachydonoyl-phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) from AA and PE. Anandamide is then synthesized from membrane N-acyl-PE (NAPE) precursors through different non-specific lipolytic pathways. 2-AG is generated from DG by diacylglycerol lipase (DAGL) selective for the sn-1 position (Bisogno et al., 2005). DG can be generated from phosphatidylinositol by a specific phospholipase-C (PLC) or phosphatidic acid by phosphatidic acid phosphohydrolase. The inactivation of anandamide and 2-AG occurs intracellularly by several lipases. FAAH, a membrane bound hydrolase, is the primary enzyme hydrolyzing anandamide but can also inactivate 2-AG, while MAGL is the principal 2-AG hydrolase.

#### 1.8.2 Endocannabinoid analogues and their receptors

Oleoylethanolamine (OEA) and palmitoylethanolamine (PEA) are other Nacylethanolamines (NAEs) also produced and hydrolyzed by the same enzymes regulating anandamide synthesis and degradation. These NAEs, which only differ from anandamide by their acyl chain, have also been shown to act as important signaling molecules (Borelli and Izzo, 2009; Godlewski et al., 2009). However, unlike anandamide and 2-AG, OEA and PEA do not activate CB receptors and therefore cannot be considered as EC. Rather, they have shown to activate the nuclear receptor PPAR and the G protein coupled receptor GPR119. For instance, OEA has been shown to induce satiety (Fu et al., 2003) while PEA exerts antiinflammatory effects (Lo Verme et al., 2005) through activation of PPARα. OEA is also considered one of the most potent ligands for the GPR119 which is only weakly activated by PEA (Godlewski et al., 2009). This receptor is highly expressed on L cells of the gastrointestinal tract, where it regulates the release of anti-diabetic peptide glucagon-like peptide-1 upon activation by OEA (Lauferr et al., 2009).

# **1.8.3 Physiological actions of CB receptor activation linking to obesity and MetS**

It has been proposed that an overactive ECS is likely to have a causal role in obesity acting through multiple organ systems. For example, the

intestinal ECS is also involved in energy balance regulation where anandamide is proposed to act as a 'hunger signal', being up-regulated under fasting in normal healthy conditions (Izzo et al., 2010). It has also been shown that the intestinal ECS has a greater capacity to transmit this orexigenic signal in animal models of obesity. For instance, intestinal EC are up-regulated in mice fed a high fat diet and also in fasted and re-fed obese Zucker rats (Izzo et al., 2010). Intriguingly, the intestinal EC, via CB1 or CB2 receptor activation, mediates protective effects in animal models of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (Di Marzo and Izzo, 2006; Storr et al., 2008 and 2009). This is consistent with the known effects of Cannabis in the treatment of enteric inflammatory conditions including IBD (Lal et al., 2011). Consequently, there is also growing interest in the development of therapeutic strategies targeted at blocking local endogenous degradation of EC (mainly via inhibition of FAAH), and thus indirectly activating the protective pathways of the ECS. Interestingly, the FAAH inhibitor, arachidonoyl-serotonin (AA-5-HT), was recently shown to be endogenously present in the ileum and jejunum of the gastrointestinal tract (Verhoeckx et al., 2011).

In the liver, hepatic CB1 receptor increases *de novo* lipogenesis (Osei-Hyiaman, *et al.*, 2005) and contributes to the diet-induced steatosis and associated insulin resistance and dyslipidemia. Interestingly, while liverspecific CB receptor knockout mice develop a similar degree of obesity as that of wild type mice on a high fat diet, they display similar metabolic improvements as those of global knockout mice (Osei-Hyiaman, *et al.*, 2008). These studies led to the proposal that peripheral CB1 receptors could be selectively targeted for the treatment of fatty liver, insulin resistance and associated dyslipidemia. Table 1-6 summarizes the effects of high fat diet feeding on the expression of CB receptors and EC and the physiological actions of CB receptor activation in different tissues. **Table 1- 6** The physiological actions of CB receptor activation in differenttissues (Adaptad from Matias *et al.,* 2008b).

Organ	Effect of CB₁ or CB₂ activation	Effects of HFD	Potential metabolic consequences of HFD
Hypothalamus	↑ Food intake	↑ Anandamide and 2-AG	<ul> <li>↑ Body weight</li> <li>↑ Waist circumference</li> </ul>
Liver	<ul> <li>↑ Lipogenesis</li> <li>↓ AMPK activity (increased ACC)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↑ Anandamide and 2-AG</li> <li>↑ CB₁ receptor</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↑ Dyslipidemia</li> <li>↑ Dyslipoproteinemia</li> <li>↑ Steatosis</li> </ul>
Small Intestine	<ul> <li>↓ Satiety</li> <li>↑ Food assimilation</li> <li>↑ Activation of NO and prostaglandins</li> <li>↑ Relaxation of the lower oesophageal sphincter</li> <li>↓ Gastric acid secretion</li> <li>↓ Intestinal motility</li> <li>↓ Inflammation</li> </ul>	↓ Anandamide	<ul> <li>↓ Ghrelin?</li> <li>↓ Food intake?</li> <li>↑ Inflammation?</li> </ul>
Visceral Adipose Tissue	<ul> <li>↑ Lipogenesis (FAS)</li> <li>↑ PPARγ expression</li> <li>↑ Glucose uptake</li> <li>↓ AMPK activity (increased ACC)</li> <li>↓ Adiponectin</li> </ul>	↑ Anandamide and 2-AG	<ul> <li>↑ Energy storage</li> <li>↑ Dyslipidemia</li> <li>↑ Insulin resistance</li> <li>↑ Waist circumference</li> </ul>
Muscle	<ul> <li>↓ Glucose uptake</li> <li>↓ Glucose oxidation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↑ Anandamide and 2-AG</li> <li>↑ CB₁ receptor</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↑ Insulin resistance</li> <li>↓ Energy expenditure</li> </ul>

AMPK: adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase; NO: nitric oxide production.

# 1.8.4 Regulation of endocannabinoids by dietary fatty acids as an alternative strategy to favourably modulate the endocannabinoid system during obesity and MetS

Pharmacological blockage of CB1 receptor is proven to be effective in treating obesity and associated metabolic abnormalities in clinical trials

(Despres *et al.,* 2005). However, the highly selective CB1 receptor antagonist Rimonabant (SR141716, Acomplia), was withdrawn from the Eurpoean market in 2008 because of psychiatric side effects, including suicidal tendencies (Christensen *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, the development of CB1 antagonists that do no cross the blood –brain barrier has been proposed as an alternative approach to reduce overactivity of the ECS (Di Marzo and Després, 2009). Another possible therapeutic strategy is the inhibition of EC biosynthesis by either modulating biosynthetic or degradative enzymatic pathways or by using nutritional interventions that target the biosynthetic precursor AA (Di Marzo and Després, 2009).

Tissue PL concentrations of AA are dependent upon the competition between dietary intakes of n-6 and n-3 PUFAs. Accordingly, dietary supplementation with the n3-LCPUFA, eicosapentaenoic (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acids (DHA) has been shown to modulate the composition of PL that act as EC precursors and consequently reduce tissue EC levels in animal models (Berger et al., 2001; Watanabe et al., 2003; Batteta et al., 2009; D' Asti et al., 2010; Di Marzo et al., 2010). In contrast, Alvheim et al., (2012) demonstrated that excessive dietary intake of linoleic acid (LA), the precursor of AA, induces EC hyperactivity and has an underlying causal role in the development of obesity in the C57BL/6 mice. This study also showed that the adipogenic effect of LA can be prevented by replacing 1% of energy from LA with EPA and DHA leading to a reduction of the AA-PL pool and thus normalizing the EC tone. Furthermore, levels of the anorectic lipid OEA and the orexigenic lipid anandamide in the intestine have also been found to be opposedregulated through the remodeling of their precursors upon food deprivation (Petersen *et al.*, 2006).

Most recently, it has been shown that tissue incorporation of LCPUFAs not only affects the synthesis of EC but can also stimulate the synthesis of specific n-3 PUFA-derived conjugates with serotonin, a neurotransmitter present in high concentrations in the intestine. Notably, fish oil feeding increased the formation of DHA-serotonin (DHA-5-HT) and EPA-serotonin (EPA-5-HT) in jejunal tissue of mice, both of which were able to inhibit FAAH activity *in vitro* (Verhoeckx *et al.,* 2011).

CLA is also metabolized into LCPUFA by the same pathway as LA (Sébédio *et al.*, 1997; Banni *et al.*, 1999; Banni *et al.*, 2001a). It can be desaturated and elongated into conjugated diene AA (CD 20:4). Notably, VA follows the same metabolic pathways of CLA and therefore can further contribute to the production of CD 20:4 (Banni *et al.*, 2001b). Thus, it is likely that CLA and/or its precursor VA may modulate the composition of PL-derived precursor of EC by competing with LA for desaturation and/or elongation. Indeed, a recent study in hypercholesterolemic subjects has shown that consumption of cheese naturally enriched in VA and CLA can significantly reduce plasma anandamide concentrations (Pintus *et al.*, 2012). However, whether this effect of the enriched cheese is associated with the high content of VA, CLA, their combination or the low SFA content in the dairy product, is not known.

# 1.9 Working Hypothesis and General Objectives of the Thesis

The review of the literature presented in this Chapter led us to the following working hypothesis and three main objectives for this thesis:

#### The overall general working hypothesis for this thesis is:

That VA can synergistically enhance the putative hypolipidemic effects of CLA, and that VA can independently reduce potential detrimental health effects commonly associated with-dairy derived SFA during MetS. Specifically, we hypothesized that VA can favourably modulate integrative physiological pathways of intestinal and hepatic lipid homeostasis, whole body energy utilization and storage and that these effects are convergent with regulation of lipid signaling pathways of the endocannabinoid system.

<u>General Objective 1.</u> To evaluate the synergistic effect of dietary supplementation with purified forms of ruminant *trans* fatty acids, *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA and VA on impaired lipid metabolism in a rat model of the MetS, the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

<u>General Objective 2.</u> To investigate whether enriching dairy fat with synthetic VA (fortification) can favourably modulate energy use and storage and intestinal and hepatic lipid metabolism during conditions of insulin resistance and MetS.

<u>General Objective 3.</u> To explore the independent regulatory effect of VA on lipid-derived signaling molecules (endocannabinoids) known to control energy storage and utilization by acting in peripheral tissues and the brain.

These general objectives are explained in further detail with specific hypotheses and objectives in Chapter 2.

### 1.10. Literature Cited

Adams M, Montague CT, Prins JB, Holder JC, Smith SA, Sanders L, Digby JE, Sewter CP, Lazar MA, Chatterjee VK, O'Rahilly S. Activators of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma have depot-specific effects on human preadipocyte differentiation. J Clin Invest. 1997; 100 (12):3149-53.

Aguirre V, Werner ED, Giraud J, Lee YH, Shoelson SE, White MF. Phosphorylation of Ser307 in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277(2):1531-7.

Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J; IDF Epidemiology Task Force Consensus Group. The metabolic syndrome--a new worldwide definition. Lancet. 2005; 366 (9491):1059-62.

Alger BE, Kim J. Supply and demand for endocannabinoids. Trends Neurosci. 2011; 34(6):304-15.

Allison DB, Egan SK, Barraj LM, Caughman C, Infante M, Heimbach JT. Estimated intakes of trans fatty and other fatty acids in the US population. J Am Diet Assoc. 1999; 99(2):166-174.

Alexander CM, Landsman PB, Teutsch SM, Haffner SM; Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III); National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP). NCEP-defined metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and prevalence of coronary heart disease among NHANES III participants age 50 years and older. Diabetes 2003; 52(5):1210-1214.

Alvheim AR, Malde MK, Osei-Hyiaman D, Lin YH, Pawlosky RJ, Madsen L, Kristiansen K, Frøyland L, Hibbeln JR. Dietary linoleic acid elevates endogenous 2-AG and anandamide and induces obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012; 20(10):1984-94.

Arbonés-Mainar JM, Navarro MA, Guzmán MA, Arnal C, Surra JC, Acín S, Carnicer R, Osada J, Roche HM. Selective effect of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on atherosclerotic lesion development in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Atherosclerosis. 2006;189 (2):318-327.

Aro A, Van Amelsvoort J, Becker W, Van Erp-Baart M, A, Kafatos A, Leth T. Trans fatty acids in dietary fats and oils from 14 European countries: the TRANSFAIR study. J Food Compos Anal. 1998; 11: 137-149.

Artaud-Wild SM, Connor SL, Sexton G, Connor WE. Differences in coronary mortality can be explained by differences in cholesterol and

saturated fat intakes in 40 countries but not in France and Finland. A paradox. Circulation. 1993; 88(6):2771-2779.

Ascherio A, CH Hennekens, JE Buring, C Master, MJ Stampfer and WC Willett. Trans-fatty acids intake and risk of myocardial infarction. Circulation 1994; 89: 94-101.

Astapova O, Leff T. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\gamma$ : a key regulator of adipose tissue formation, remodeling and metabolism. In: Adipose tissue in health and disease. 2010; 285-306

Banni S, Angioni E, Casu V, Melis MP, Carta G, Corongiu FP, Thompson H and Ip C. Decrease in conjugated linoleic acid metabolites as a potential mechanism in cancer risk reduction by conjugated linoleic acid. Carcinogenesis 1999; 20: 1019-1024.

Banni, S.; Carta, G.; Angioni, E.; Murru, E.; Scanu, P.; Melis, M.P.; Bauman, D.E.; Fischer, S.M.; Ip, C.: Distribution of conjugated linoleic acid and metabolites in different lipid fractions in the rat liver. J. Lipid Res. 2001a; 42, 1056-1061.

Banni S, Angioni E, Murru E, Carta G, Melis MP, Bauman D, Dong Y, Ip C. Vaccenic acid feeding increases tissue levels of conjugated linoleic acid and suppresses development of premalignant lesions in rat mammary gland. Nutr Cancer. 2001b; 41(1-2): 91-97.

Bansal S, Buring JE, Rifai N, Mora S, Sacks FM, Ridker PM. Fasting compared with nonfasting triglycerides and risk of cardiovascular events in women. JAMA. 2007 Jul 18;298(3):309-16.

Barrows BR, Parks EJ. Contributions of different fatty acid sources to very low-density lipoprotein-triacylglycerol in the fasted and fed states. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006; 91(4):1446-52.

Barter PJ and Rye K Is there a role for fibrates in the management of dyslipidemia in the metabolic syndrome? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008; 28: 39-46.

Bassett, C. M., A. L. Edel, A. F. Patenaude, R. S. McCullough, D. P. Blackwood, P. Y. Chouinard, P. Paquin, B. Lamarche, and G. N. Pierce. Dietary vaccenic acid has antiatherogenic effects in LDLr-/- mice. *J. Nutr.* 2010; 140: 18–24.

Batetta B, Griinari M, Carta G, Murru E, Ligresti A, Cordeddu L, Giordano E, Sanna F, Bisogno T, Uda S, Collu M, Bruheim I, Di Marzo V, Banni S. Endocannabinoids may mediate the ability of (n-3) fatty acids to reduce

ectopic fat and inflammatory mediators in obese Zucker rats. J Nutr. 2009; 139 (8):1495-501.

Batt KV, Avella M, Moore EH, Jackson B, Suckling KE, Botham KM. Differential effects of low-density lipoprotein and chylomicron remnants on lipid accumulation in human macrophages. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2004; 229 (6):528-37.

Bauchart, D., A. Roy, S. Lorenz, J. M. Chardigny, A. Ferlay, D. Gruffat, J. L. Sébédio, Y. Chilliard, and D. Durand. Butters varying in trans 18:1 and cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid modify plasma lipoproteins in the hypercholesterolemic rabbit. Lipids 2007; 42: 123–133.

Bell JA, Griinari JM, Kennelly JJ. Effect of safflower oil, flaxseed oil, monensin, and vitamin E on concentration of conjugated linoleic acid in bovine milk fat. J Dairy Sci. 2006; 89 (2): 733-748.

Bensinger SJ, Tontonoz P. Integration of metabolism and inflammation by lipid-activated nuclear receptors. Nature. 2008; 454(7203):470-7.

Berger A, Crozier G, Bisogno T, Cavaliere P, Innis S, Di Marzo V. Anandamide and diet: inclusion of dietary arachidonate and docosahexaenoate leads to increased brain levels of the corresponding Nacylethanolamines in piglets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001; 98(11):6402-6.

Berry R, Hydamaka A, Noto A, Kotyk E, Zahradka P and Taylor CG. Grazing Period Variations in Cow Milk Vaccenic Acid (VA) and Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA). J Nutr Food Sci 2012, 2:136.

Bisogno T, Howell F, Williams G, Minassi A, Cascio MG, Ligresti A, Matias I, Schiano-Moriello A, Paul P, Williams EJ, Gangadharan U, Hobbs C, Di Marzo V, Doherty P. Cloning of the first sn1-DAG lipases points to the spatial and temporal regulation of endocannabinoid signaling in the brain. J Cell Biol. 2003; 163(3):463-8.

Blewett, H. J., C. A. Gerdung, M. R. Ruth, S. D. Proctor, and Field, C. J. Vaccenic acid favourably alters immune function in obese JCR:LA-cp rats. *Brit.* J. Nutr. 2009; 102: 526-536.

Borrelli F, Izzo AA. Role of acylethanolamides in the gastrointestinal tract with special reference to food intake and energy balance. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009; 23(1):33-49.

Bremer AA, Mietus-Snyder M, Lustig RH. Toward a unifying hypothesis of metabolic syndrome. Pediatrics. 2012; 129(3):557-70.

Brindley DN, Russell JC. Animal models of insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease: some therapeutic approaches using JCR:LA-*cp* rat. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2002; 4(1):1-10.

Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Selective versus total insulin resistance: a pathogenic paradox. Cell Metab. 2008; 7(2):95-6.

Brunzell JD, Hazzard WR, Porte D, Jr, Bierman EL. Evidence for a common, saturable, triglyceride removal mechanism for chylomicrons and very low density lipoproteins in man. J Clin Invest. 1973; 52:1578-1585.

Buhman KK, Smith SJ, Stone SJ, Repa JJ, Wong JS, Knapp FF Jr, Burri BJ, Hamilton RL, Abumrad NA, Farese RV Jr. DGAT1 is not essential for intestinal triacylglycerol absorption or chylomicron synthesis. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277(28): 25474-9.

Capanni M, Calella F, Biagini MR, Genise S, Raimondi L, Bedogni G, Svegliati-Baroni G, Sofi F, Milani S, Abbate R, Surrenti C, Casini A. Prolonged n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation ameliorates hepatic steatosis in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a pilot study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006; 23(8):1143-51.

Carr DB, Utzschneider KM, Hull RL, Kodama K, Retzlaff BM, Brunzell JD, Shofer JB, Fish BE, Knopp RH, Kahn SE. Intra-abdominal fat is a major determinant of the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III criteria for the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes. 2004; 53 (8):2087-94.

Caviglia JM, Gayet C, Ota T, Hernandez-Ono A, Conlon DM, Jiang H, Fisher EA, Ginsberg HN. Different fatty acids inhibit apoB100 secretion by different pathways: unique roles for ER stress, ceramide, and autophagy. J Lipid Res. 2011 Sep;52(9):1636-51.

Chakravarthy MV, Lodhi IJ, Yin L, Malapaka RR, Xu HE, Turk J, Semenkovich CF. Identification of a physiologically relevant endogenous ligand for PPARalpha in liver. Cell. 2009; 138 (3):476-88.

Chardigny JM, Destaillats F, Malpuech-Brugère C, Moulin J, Bauman DE, Lock AL, Barbano DM, Mensink RP, Bezelgues JB, Chaumont P, Combe N, Cristiani I, Joffre F, German JB, Dionisi F, Boirie Y, Sébédio JL. Do trans fatty acids from industrially produced sources and from natural sources have the same effect on cardiovascular disease risk factors in healthy subjects? Results of the trans Fatty Acids Collaboration (TRANSFACT) study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008; 87(3):558-66.

Charlton M, Sreekumar R, Rasmussen D, Lindor K, Nair KS. Apolipoprotein synthesis in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2002; 35(4):898-904.

Chen G, Liang G, Ou J, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Central role for liver X receptor in insulin-mediated activation of Srebp-1c transcription and stimulation of fatty acid synthesis in liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004; 101(31):11245-50.

Chen SH, Habib G, Yang CY, Gu ZW, Lee BR, Weng SA, Silberman SR, Cai SJ, Deslypere JP, Rosseneu M, Gotto AM, Lee WH, Chan L. Apolipoprotein B-48 is the product of a messenger RNA with an organ-specific in-frame stop codon. Science. 1987; 238 (4825):363-6.

Chinnadurai K, Tyagi A. Conjugated Linoleic Acid: A Milk Fatty Acid with Unique Health Benefit Properties, Soybean and Health. 2011. El-Shemy H. (Ed.). InTech, DOI: 10.5772/19946. Available from: http://www.intechopen.com/books/soybean-and-health/conjugated-linoleicacid-a-milk-fatty-acid-with-unique-health-benefit-properties.

Christensen R, Kristensen PK, Bartels EM, Bliddal H, Astrup A. Efficacy and safety of the weight-loss drug rimonabant: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet. 2007; 370 (9600):1706-13.

Cooper MH, Miller JR, Mitchell PL, Currie DL, McLeod RS. Conjugated linoleic acid isomers have no effect on atherosclerosis and adverse effects on lipoprotein and liver lipid metabolism in apoE-/- mice fed a high-cholesterol diet. Atherosclerosis. 2008; 200 (2):294-302.

Corl BA, Barbano DM, Bauman DE, Ip C. cis-9, trans-11 CLA derived endogenously from trans-11 18:1 reduces cancer risk in rats. J Nutr. 2003; 133 (9):2893-2900.

Cota D, Marsicano G, Tschöp M, Grübler Y, Flachskamm C, Schubert M, Auer D, Yassouridis A, Thöne-Reineke C, Ortmann S, Tomassoni F, Cervino C, Nisoli E, Linthorst ACE, Pasquali R, Lutz B, Stalla GK, Pagotto U. The endogenous cannabinoid system affects energy balance via central orexigenic drive and peripheral lipogenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 2003; 112:423–431.

Craig-Schmidt MC. World-wide consumption of trans fatty acids. Atheroscler Suppl. 2006; 7(2):1-4.

Cruz-Hernandez C, Kramer JKG, Kennelly JJ, Glimm DR, Sorensen BM, Okine EK, Goonewardene LA, Weselake RJ. Evaluating the conjugated linoleic acid and *trans* 18:1 isomers in milk fat of dairy cows fed increasing amounts of sunflower oil and a constant level of fish oil. J Dairy Sci. 2007; 90: 3786-801.

Curtin A, Deegan P, Owens D, Collins P, Johnson A, Tomkin GH. Elevated triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in diabetes. A study of apolipoprotein B-48. Acta Diabetol. 1996; 33(3):205-10.

D'Asti E, Long H, Tremblay-Mercier J, Grajzer M, Cunnane SC, Di Marzo V, Walker CD. Maternal dietary fat determines metabolic profile and the magnitude of endocannabinoid inhibition of the stress response in neonatal rat offspring. Endocrinology. 2010; 151(4):1685-94.

De Greyt W, Radany O, Kellens M and Huyghebaert A. Contribution of trans fatty acids from vegetable oils and margarines to the Belgian diet. Fett/Lipid 1996; 1:30-33.

de Luca C, Olefsky JM. Stressed out about obesity and insulin resistance. Nat Med. 2006; 12(1):41-2; discussion 42.

Delarue J, Magnan C. Free fatty acids and insulin resistance. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2007; 10(2):142-8.

Delerive P, Furman C, Teissier E, Fruchart J, Duriez P, Staels B. Oxidized phospholipids activate PPARalpha in a phospholipase A2-dependent manner. FEBS Lett. 2000; 471, 34–38.

Després JP, Golay A, Sjöström L; Rimonabant in Obesity-Lipids Study Group. Effects of rimonabant on metabolic risk factors in overweight patients with dyslipidemia. N Engl J Med. 2005; 353(20):2121-34.

Di Marzo V, Izzo AA. Endocannabinoid overactivity and intestinal inflammation. Gut. 2006; 55(10):1373-6.

Di Marzo V. CB(1) receptor antagonism: biological basis for metabolic effects. Drug Discov Today. 2008b; 13(23-24):1026-4.

Di Marzo V, Després JP. CB1 antagonists for obesity--what lessons have we learned from rimonabant? Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009; 5(11):633-8.

Di Marzo V, Griinari M, Carta G, Murru E, Ligresti A, Cordeddu L, Giordano E, Bisogno T, Collu M, Batetta B, Uda S, Berge K, Banni S. Dietary krill oil increases docosahexaenoic acid and reduces 2-arachidonoylglycerol but not *N*-acylethanolamine levels in the brain of obese Zucker rats. Int Dairy J 2010; 20: 231-235

Donnelly KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest. 2005; 115 (5):1343-51.

Duez H, Lamarche B, Valéro R, Pavlic M, Proctor S, Xiao C, Szeto L, Patterson BW, Lewis GF. Both intestinal and hepatic lipoprotein production are stimulated by an acute elevation of plasma free fatty acids in humans. Circulation. 2008a; 117(18):2369-2376.

Duez H, Pavlic M, Lewis GF. Mechanism of intestinal lipoprotein overproduction in insulin resistant humans. Atheroscler Suppl. 2008b; 9:33-38.

Duval C, Müller M, Kersten S. PPARalpha and dyslipidemia. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007; 1771(8): 961-71.

Eckel RH. Mechanisms of the components of the metabolic syndrome that predispose to diabetes and atherosclerotic CVD. Proc Nutr Soc. 2007; 66:82-95.

Elam MB, Wilcox HG, Cagen LM, Deng X, Raghow R, Kumar P, Heimberg M, Russell JC. Increased hepatic VLDL secretion, lipogenesis, and SREBP-1 expression in the corpulent JCR:LA-cp rat. J Lipid Res. 2001; 42(12):2039-48.

Emilsson V, Liu YL, Cawthorne MA, Morton NM, Davenport M. Expression of the functional leptin receptor mRNA in pancreatic islets and direct inhibitory action of leptin on insulin secretion. Diabetes. 1997; 46 (2):313-6.

Fabbrini E, Magkos F, Mohammed BS, Pietka T, Abumrad NA, Patterson BW, Okunade A, Klein S. Intrahepatic fat, not visceral fat, is linked with metabolic complications of obesity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009; 106 (36):15430-5.

Federico LM, Naples M, Taylor D, Adeli K.Intestinal insulin resistance and aberrant production of apolipoprotein B48 lipoproteins in an animal model of insulin resistance and metabolic dyslipidemia: evidence for activation of protein tyrosine phosphatase-1B, extracellular signal-related kinase, and sterol regulatory e lement-binding protein-1c in the fructose-fed hamster intestine. Diabetes. 2006; 55(5):1316-1326.

Festuccia WT, Blanchard PG, Turcotte V, Laplante M, Sariahmetoglu M, Brindley DN, Deshaies Y. Depot-specific effects of the PPARgamma agonist rosiglitazone on adipose tissue glucose uptake and metabolism. J Lipid Res. 2009; 50(6):1185-94.

Fisher EA, Zhou M, Mitchell DM, Wu X, Omura S, Wang H, Goldberg AL, Ginsberg HN. The degradation of apolipoprotein B100 is mediated by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and involves heat shock protein 70. J Biol Chem. 1997; 272 (33):20427-34.

Forman BM, Chen J, Evans RM. Hypolipidemic drugs, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and eicosanoids are ligands for peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors alpha and delta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997; 94(9):4312-7. Foufelle F, Girard J, Ferré P. Regulation of lipogenic enzyme expression by glucose in liver and adipose tissue: a review of the potential cellular and molecular mechanisms. Adv Enzyme Regul. 1996; 36:199-226.

Fournier N, Attia N, Rousseau-Ralliard D, Vedie B, Destaillats F, Grynberg A, Paul JL. Deleterious impact of elaidic fatty acid on ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux from mouse and human macrophages. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1821(2):303-12.

Fu J, Gaetani S, Oveisi F, Lo Verme J, Serrano A, Rodríguez De Fonseca F, Rosengarth A, Luecke H, Di Giacomo B, Tarzia G, Piomelli D. Oleylethanolamide regulates feeding and body weight through activation of the nuclear receptor PPAR-alpha. Nature. 2003; 425(6953):90-3.

Ganguly R, Pierce GN. Trans fat involvement in cardiovascular disease. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2012; 56(7):1090-6.

Gebauer SK, Chardigny JM, Jakobsen MU, Lamarche B, Lock AL, Proctor SD, Baer DJ. Effects of ruminant trans fatty acids on cardiovascular disease and cancer: a comprehensive review of epidemiological, clinical, and mechanistic studies. Adv Nutr. 2011; 2 (4):332-354.

Ginsberg HN, Zhang YL, Hernandez-Ono A. Regulation of plasma triglycerides in insulin resistance and diabetes. Arch Med Res. 2005; 36(3):232-40.

Ginsberg HN, Zhang YL, Hernandez-Ono A: Metabolic syndrome: focus on dyslipidemia. Obesity 2006; 14(1), 41S-49S.

Godlewski G, Offertáler L, Wagner JA, Kunos G. Receptors for acylethanolamides-GPR55 and GPR119. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat. 2009; 89(3-4):105-11.

Goldberg IJ, Eckel RH, McPherson R. Triglycerides and heart disease: still a hypothesis?. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011; 31(8):1716-25.

Griinari, J.M and Bauman, D.E. 1999. Biosynthesis of Conjugated Linoleic Acid and its composition, incorporation into meat and milk in ruminants. In: Advances in CLA research. AOCS Press, Champaign, II. pp: 180-200.

Griinari JM, Corl BA, Lacy SH, Chouinard PY, Nurmela KV, Bauman DE. Conjugated linoleic acid is synthesized endogenously in lactating dairy cows by Delta(9)-desaturase. J Nutr. 2000;130 (9): 2285-2291.

Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, Gordon DJ, Krauss RM, Savage PJ, Smith SC Jr, Spertus JA, Costa F; American Heart Association; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. Circulation. 2005; 112(17):2735-52.

Haidari M, Leung N, Mahbub F, Uffelman KD, Kohen-Avramoglu R, Lewis GF, Adeli K. Fasting and postprandial overproduction of intestinally derived lipoproteins in an animal model of insulin resistance. Evidence that chronic fructose feeding in the hamster is accompanied by enhanced intestinal de novo lipogenesis and ApoB48-containing lipoprotein overproduction. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277(35):31646-31655.

Hamilton RL, Wong JS, Cham CM, Nielsen LB, Young SG. Chylomicronsized lipid particles are formed in the setting of apolipoprotein B deficiency. J Lipid Res. 1998; 39(8):1543-57.

Harman-Boehm I, Blüher M, Redel H, Sion-Vardy N, Ovadia S, Avinoach E, Shai I, Klöting N, Stumvoll M, Bashan N, Rudich A. Macrophage infiltration into omental versus subcutaneous fat across different populations: effect of regional adiposity and the comorbidities of obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007; 92 (6):2240-7.

Harris WS, Muzio F. Fish oil reduces postprandial triglyceride concentrations without accelerating lipid-emulsion removal rates. Am J Clin Nutr. 1993; 58(1):68-74.

Hassanali Z, Ametaj BN, Field CJ, Proctor SD, Vine DF. Dietary supplementation of n-3 PUFA reduces weight gain and improves postprandial lipaemia and the associated inflammatory response in the obese JCR:LA-cp rat. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2010; 12 (2):139-47.

Hogue JC, Lamarche B, Tremblay AJ, Bergeron J, Gagné C, Couture P. Evidence of increased secretion of apolipoprotein B-48-containing lipoproteins in subjects with type 2 diabetes. J Lipid Res. 2007; 48 (6):1336-42.

Hotamisligil GS. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and the Inflammatory Basis of Metabolic Disease. Cell. 2010; 140 (6): 900–917.

Howard BV, Ruotolo G, Robbins DC. Obesity and dyslipidemia. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2003 Dec; 32(4):855-67.

Hu FB, Stampfer MJ, Haffner SM, Solomon CG, Willett WC, Manson JF. Elevated risk of cardiovascular disease prior to clinical diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2002; 25: 1129-1134.

Hu G, Qiao Q, Tuomilehto J. The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2005; 1:137-143.

Huth PJ. Do ruminant trans fatty acids impact coronary heart disease risk? Lipid Technol. 2007; 19: 59-62. Ip C, Banni S, Angioni E, Carta G, McGinley J, Thompson HJ, Barbano D, Bauman D. Conjugated linoleic acid-enriched butter fat alters mammary gland morphogenesis and reduces cancer risk in rats. J Nutr. 1999; 129 (12):2135-2142.

Iwata NG, Pham M, Rizzo NO, Cheng AM, Maloney E, Kim F.Trans fatty acids induce vascular inflammation and reduce vascular nitric oxide production in endothelial cells. PLoS One. 2011; 6 (12):e29600.

Izzo AA, Piscitelli F, Capasso R, Aviello G, Romano B, Borrelli F, Petrosino S, Di Marzo V. Peripheral endocannabinoid dysregulation in obesity: relation to intestinal motility and energy processing induced by food deprivation and re-feeding. Br J Pharmacol. 2009; 158(2):451-61.

Izzo AA, Piscitelli F, Capasso R, Marini P, Cristino L, Petrosino S, Di Marzo V. Basal and fasting/refeeding-regulated tissue levels of endogenous PPAR-alpha ligands in Zucker rats. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2010; 18 (1):55-62.

Izzo AA, Sharkey KA. Cannabinoids in the gut: new developments and emerging concepts. Pharmacol Ther. 2010; 126 (1): 21-38.

Jakobsen MU, Overvad K, Dyerberg J, Heitmann BL. Intake of ruminant *trans* fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease. Int J Epidemiol 2008; 37: 173–182.

Jaudszus A, Jahreis G, Schlörmann W, Fischer J, Kramer R, Degen C, Rohrer C, Roth A, Gabriel H, Barz D, Gruen M. Vaccenic acid-mediated reduction in cytokine production is independent of c9,t11-CLA in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012; 1821(10):1316-22.

Jonas A. Lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2000; 1529(1-3):245-256.

Joseph SV, Jacques H, Plourde M, Mitchell PL, McLeod RS, Jones PJ. Conjugated linoleic acid supplementation for 8 weeks does not affect body composition, lipid profile, or safety biomarkers in overweight, hyperlipidemic men. J Nutr. 2011; 141(7):1286-91.

Kennedy A, Martinez K, Schmidt S, Mandrup S, LaPoint K, McIntosh M. Antiobesity mechanisms of action of conjugated linoleic acid. J Nutr Biochem. 2010; 21(3):171-179.

Kien, CL. Dietary interventions for metabolic syndrome: role of modifying dietary fats. Curr. Diab. Rep. 2009; 9: 43-50.

Kliewer SA, Sundseth SS, Jones SA, Brown PJ, Wisely GB, Koble CS, Devchand P, Wahli W, Willson TM, Lenhard JM, Lehmann JM. Fatty acids

and eicosanoids regulate gene expression through direct interactions with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997; 94(9):4318-23.

Klip A, Pâquet MR.Glucose transport and glucose transporters in muscle and their metabolic regulation. Diabetes Care 1990; 13(3):228-43.

Klop B, Proctor SD, Mamo JC, Botham KM, Castro Cabezas M. Understanding postprandial inflammation and its relationship to lifestyle behaviour and metabolic diseases. Int J Vasc Med. 2012; 2012: 947417.

Koletsky S. Obese spontaneously hypertensive rats: A model for the study of atherosclerosis. Exp Mol Pathol. 1973.19:52-60.

Kraft J, Collomb M, Möckel P, Sieber R, Jahreis G. Differences in CLA isomer distribution of cow's milk lipids. Lipids. 2003; 38 (6):657-64.

Krey G, Braissant O, L'Horset F, Kalkhoven E, Perroud M, Parker MG, Wahli W. Fatty acids, eicosanoids, and hypolipidemic agents identified as ligands of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors by coactivator-dependent receptor ligand assay. Mol Endocrinol. 1997; 11(6):779-91.

Kuhnt K, Kraft J, Moeckel P and Jahreis G. Trans-11-18:1 is effectively D9-desaturated compared with trans-12-18:1 in humans. Br J Nutr. 2006; 95 (4): 752–761.

Lacroix E, Charest A, Cyr A, Baril-Gravel L, Lebeuf Y, Paquin P, Chouinard PY, Couture P, Lamarche B. Randomized controlled study of the effect of a butter naturally enriched in trans fatty acids on blood lipids in healthy women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012 Feb; 95 (2):318-25.

Lal S, Prasad N, Ryan M, Tangri S, Silverberg MS, Gordon A, Steinhart H. Cannabis use amongst patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011; 23(10):891-6.

Laplante M, Festuccia WT, Soucy G, Gélinas Y, Lalonde J, Berger JP, Deshaies Y. Mechanisms of the depot specificity of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma action on adipose tissue metabolism. Diabetes. 2006; 55(10):2771-8.

Larsen LF, Marckmann P, Kornerup Hansen A, Bukhave K. Fish oil feeding is associated with an increased accumulation of dietary lipids in enterocytes: results from an in vivo study in rats. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2003; 38(7):712-8.

Lauffer LM, lakoubov R, Brubaker PL. GPR119 is essential for oleoylethanolamide-induced glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion from the intestinal enteroendocrine L-cell. Diabetes. 2009; 58(5):1058-66.

Lazo M, Clark JM. The epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a global perspective. Semin Liver Dis. 2008; 28(4):339-50.

Lee JN, Zhang X, Feramisco JD, Gong Y, Ye J. Unsaturated fatty acids inhibit proteasomal degradation of Insig-1 at a postubiquitination step. J Biol Chem. 2008; 283 (48): 33772-83.

Lee B, Fast AM, Zhu J, Cheng JX, Buhman KK. Intestine-specific expression of acyl CoA:diacylglycerol acyltransferase 1 reverses resistance to diet-induced hepatic steatosis and obesity in Dgat1-/- mice. J Lipid Res. 2010; 51(7):1770-80.

Lee M, Fried SK. Depot-specific biology of adipose tissues: links to fat distribution and metabolic risk. In: Adipose tissue in health and disease. 2010; 285-306.

Lehner R, Lian J, Quiroga AD. Lumenal lipid metabolism: implications for lipoprotein assembly. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012; 32(5):1087-93.

Leth T, Jensen HG, Mikkelsen AA, Bysted A. The effect of the regulation on trans fatty acid content in Danish food. Atheroscler Suppl. 2006; 7(2):53-56.

Levy E, Spahis S, Ziv E, Marette A, Elchebly M, Lambert M, Delvin E. Overproduction of intestinal lipoprotein containing apolipoprotein B-48 in Psammomys obesus: impact of dietary n-3 fatty acids. Diabetologia 2006; 49(8):1937-45.

Lewis GF, Steiner G. Acute effects of insulin in the control of VLDL production in humans. Implications for the insulin-resistant state. Diabetes Care. 1996; 19(4):390-3.

Lewis GF. Fatty acid regulation of very low density lipoprotein production. Curr Opin Lipidol. 1997 Jun;8(3):146-53.

Lewis GF, Naples M, Uffelman K, Leung N, Szeto L, Adeli K. Intestinal lipoprotein production is stimulated by an acute elevation of plasma free fatty acids in the fasting state: studies in insulin-resistant and insulin-sensitized Syrian golden hamsters. Endocrinology. 2004; 145 (11):5006-12.

Lo Verme J, La Rana G, Russo R, Calignano A, Piomelli D. The search for the palmitoylethanolamide receptor. Life Sciences 2005; 77: 1685–1698.

LoVerme J, Duranti A, Tontini A, Spadoni G, Mor M, Rivara S, Stella N, Xu C, Tarzia G, Piomelli D. Synthesis and characterization of a peripherally restricted CB1 cannabinoid antagonist, URB447, that reduces feeding and body-weight gain in mice. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2009 Feb 1;19(3):639-43.
Lin MC, Gordon D, Wetterau JR. Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) regulation in HepG2 cells: insulin negatively regulates MTP gene expression. J Lipid Res. 1995; 36(5):1073-81.

Lock AL, Bauman DE. Modifying milk fat composition of dairy cows to enhance fatty acids beneficial to human health. Lipids. 2004; 39(12):1197-1206.

Lock, A. L., C. A. Horne, D. E. Bauman, and A. M. Salter. Butter naturally enriched in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid alters tissue fatty acids and improves the plasma lipoprotein profile in cholesterol-fed hamsters. J. Nutr. 2005; 135: 1934–1939.

Lopez-Miranda J, Williams C, Lairon D. Dietary, physiological, genetic and pathological influences on postprandial lipid metabolism. Br J Nutr. 2007; 98(3):458-73.

Mahley RW, Ji ZS. Remnant lipoprotein metabolism: key pathways involving cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and apolipoprotein E. J Lipid Res. 1999; 40 (1):1-16.

Mamo JC, Wheeler JR. Chylomicrons or their remnants penetrate rabbit thoracic aorta as efficiently as do smaller macromolecules, including lowdensity lipoprotein, high-density lipoprotein, and albumin. Coron Artery Dis. 1994 Aug;5(8):695-705.

Mangat R, Su JW, Lambert JE, Clandinin MT, Wang Y, Uwiera RR, Forbes JM, Vine DF, Cooper ME, Mamo JC, Proctor SD. Increased risk of cardiovascular disease in type 1 diabetes: increased arterial exposure to remnant lipoproteins leads to enhanced deposition of cholesterol and binding to glycated extracellular matrix proteoglycans. Diabet Med. 2011; 28:61-72.

Mangat R, Warnakula S, Borthwick F, Hassanali Z, Uwiera RR, Russell JC, Cheeseman CI, Vine DF, Proctor SD. Arterial Retention of Remnant Lipoproteins Ex Vivo Is Increased in Insulin Resistance Because of Increased Arterial Biglycan and Production of Cholesterol-Rich Atherogenic Particles That Can Be Improved by Ezetimibe in the JCR:LA-cp Rat. J Am Heart Assoc. 2012 Oct; 1(5):e003434.

Matias I, Vergoni AV, Petrosino S, Ottani A, Pocai A, Bertolini A and Di Marzo V. Regulation of hypothalamic endocannabinoid levels by neuropeptides and hormons involved in food intake and metabolism: Insulin and melanocortins. Neuropharmacology 2008; 54: 206-212.

Matias I, Petrosino S, Racioppi A, Capasso R, Izzo AA, Di Marzo V. Dysregulation of peripheral endocannabinoid levels in hyperglycemia and obesity: Effect of high fat diets. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2008b; 286(1-2 Suppl 1):S66-78.

Matias I, Gonthier MP, Orlando P, Martiadis V, De Petrocellis L, Cervino C, Petrosino S, Hoareau L, Festy F, Pasquali R, Roche R, Maj M, Pagotto U, Monteleone P, Di Marzo V. Regulation, function, and dysregulation of endocannabinoids in models of adipose and beta-pancreatic cells and in obesity and hyperglycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006; 91: 3171-3180.

McQuaid SE, Hodson L, Neville MJ, Dennis AL, Cheeseman J, Humphreys SM, Ruge T, Gilbert M, Fielding BA, Frayn KN, Karpe F. Downregulation of adipose tissue fatty acid trafficking in obesity: a driver for ectopic fat deposition? Diabetes. 2011; 60(1):47-55.

Mendis S, Cruz-Hernandez C, Ratnayake WMN. Fatty acid profile of Canadian dairy products with special attention to the *trans*-octadecenoic acid and conjugated linoleic acid isomers. J AOAC Intl. 2008; 91(4): 811-819.

Moloney F, Yeow TP, Mullen A, Nolan JJ, Roche HM. Conjugated linoleic acid supplementation, insulin sensitivity, and lipoprotein metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004; 80(4):887-95.

Mortimer BC, Beveridge DJ, Martins IJ, Redgrave TG. Intracellular localization and metabolism of chylomicron remnants in the livers of low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice and apoE-deficient mice. Evidence for slow metabolism via an alternative apoE-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem. 1995; 270 (48):28767-76.

Motard-Bélanger A, Charest A, Grenier G, Paquin P, Chouinard Y, Lemieux S, Couture P, Lamarche B. Study of the effect of trans fatty acids from ruminants on blood lipids and other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008; 87 (3):593-9.

Mozaffarian D, Katan MB, Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Trans fatty acids and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2006; 354 (15):1601-1613.

Mozaffarian D, Willett WC. Trans fatty acids and cardiovascular risk: a unique cardiometabolic imprint? Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2007; 9 (6):486-93.

Mozaffarian D, Abdollahi M, Campos H, Houshiarrad A, Willett WC. Consumption of trans fats and estimated effects on coronary heart disease in Iran. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007; 61(8):1004-1010.

Mozaffarian D, Clarke R. Quantitative effects on cardiovascular risk factors and coronary heart disease risk of replacing partially hydrogenated vegetable oils with other fats and oils. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2009; 63 Suppl 2:S22-33.

Musso G, Gambino R, De Michieli F, Cassader M, Rizzetto M, Durazzo M, Fagà E, Silli B, Pagano G. Dietary habits and their relations to insulin resistance and postprandial lipemia in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2003; 37(4):909-16.

Naniwadekar AS. Nutritional recommendations for patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: an evidence based review. Nutrion issues in gastroenterology, series #82. 2010 http://www.medicine.virginia.edu/clinical/departments/medicine/divisions/di gestive-health/nutrition-supportteam/nutritionarticles/NaniwadekarArticle.pdf

Neeland IJ, Turer AT, Ayers CR, Powell-Wiley TM, Vega GL, Farzaneh-Far R, Grundy SM, Khera A, McGuire DK, de Lemos JA. Dysfunctional adiposity and the risk of prediabetes and type 2 diabetes in obese adults. JAMA. 2012; 308(11):1150-9.

Niu SL, Mitchell *DC*, Litman BJ.Trans fatty acid derived phospholipids show increased membrane cholesterol and reduced receptor activation as compared to their cis analogs. Biochemistry. 2005; 44(11):4458-65.

Nogueira JP, Maraninchi M, Béliard S, Padilla N, Duvillard L, Mancini J, Nicolay A, Xiao C, Vialettes B, Lewis GF, Valéro R. Absence of acute inhibitory effect of insulin on chylomicron production in type 2 diabetes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012; 32(4):1039-1044.

Nordestgaard BG, Benn M, Schnohr P, Tybjaerg-Hansen A. Nonfasting triglycerides and risk of myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, and death in men and women. JAMA. 2007 Jul 18;298(3):299-308.

Ntambi JM, Miyazaki M. Regulation of stearoyl-CoA desaturases and role in metabolism. Prog Lipid Res. 2004; 43(2):91-104.

Obsen T, Faergeman NJ, Chung S, Martinez K, Gobern S, Loreau O,

Wabitsch M, Mandrup S, McIntosh M. Trans-10, cis-12 conjugated linoleic

acid decreases de novo lipid synthesis in human adipocytes. J Nutr Biochem. 2012; 23(6):580-590.

O'Donnell-Megaro A. M., Barbano D. M. and Bauman D. E. Survey of the fatty acid composition of retail milk in the United States including regional and seasonal variations J. Dairy Sci. 2011; 94: 59–65.

Oh DY, Talukdar S, Bae EJ, Imamura T, Morinaga H, Fan W, Li P, Lu WJ, Watkins SM, Olefsky JM. GPR120 is an omega-3 fatty acid receptor mediating potent anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects. Cell. 2010; 142(5):687-98.

Ong JM, Kern PA. Effect of feeding and obesity on lipoprotein lipase activity, immunoreactive protein, and messenger RNA levels in human adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. 1989; 84 (1):305-11.

Oomen Claudia M, Marga C Ocké, Edith J M Feskens, Marie-Agnes J van Erp-Baart, Frans J Kok, Daan Kromhout. Association between trans fatty acid intake and 10-year risk of coronary heart disease in the Zutphen Elderly Study: a prospective population-based study. Lancet 2001; 357: 746–751.

Osborn O, Olefsky JM.The cellular and signaling networks linking the immune system and metabolism in disease. Nat Med. 2012; 18 (3):363-74.

Osei-Hyiaman D, DePetrillo M, Pacher P, Liu J, Radaeva S, Bátkai S, Harvey-White J, Mackie K, Offertáler L, Wang L, Kunos G. Endocannabinoid activation at hepatic CB1 receptors stimulates fatty acid synthesis and contributes to diet-induced obesity. J Clin Invest. 2005; 115 (5):1298-305.

Osei-Hyiaman D, Liu J, Zhou L, Godlewski G, Harvey-White J, Jeong WI, Bátkai S, Marsicano G, Lutz B, Buettner C, Kunos G. Hepatic CB1 receptor is required for development of diet-induced steatosis, dyslipidemia, and insulin and leptin resistance in mice. J Clin Invest. 2008;118 (9):3160-9.

Ou J, Tu H, Shan B, Luk A, DeBose-Boyd RA, Bashmakov Y, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Unsaturated fatty acids inhibit transcription of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c (SREBP-1c) gene by antagonizing ligand-dependent activation of the LXR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001; 98 (11):6027-32.

Pacher P, Bátkai S, Kunos G. The endocannabinoid system as an emerging target of pharmacotherapy. Pharmacol Rev. 2006;58 (3):389-462.

Pan M, Maitin V, Parathath S, Andreo U, Lin SX, St Germain C, Yao Z, Maxfield FR, Williams KJ, Fisher EA. Presecretory oxidation, aggregation, and autophagic destruction of apoprotein-B: a pathway for late-stage quality control. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105 (15):5862-7.

Pavlic M, Xiao C, Szeto L, Patterson BW, Lewis GF. Insulin acutely inhibits intestinal lipoprotein secretion in humans in part by suppressing plasma free fatty acids. Diabetes. 2010; 59(3):580-587.

Perez-Martinez P, Ordovas JM, Garcia-Rios A, Delgado-Lista J, Delgado-Casado N, Cruz-Teno C, Camargo A, Yubero-Serrano EM, Rodriguez F, Perez-Jimenez F, Lopez-Miranda J. Consumption of diets with different type of fat influences triacylglycerols-rich lipoproteins particle number and size during the postprandial state. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2011; 21(1):39-45.

Petersen G, Sørensen C, Schmid PC, Artmann A, Tang-Christensen M, Hansen SH, Larsen PJ, Schmid HH, Hansen HS. Intestinal levels of anandamide and oleoylethanolamide in food-deprived rats are regulated through their precursors. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2006; 1761(2):143-50; discussion 141-2.

Picard F, Naïmi N, Richard D, Deshaies Y. Response of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase to the cephalic phase of insulin secretion. Diabetes. 1999; 48(3):452-9.

Picard F, Boivin A, Lalonde J, Deshaies Y. Resistance of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase to insulin action in rats fed an obesity-promoting diet. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2002; 282 (2):E412-8.

Pietinen P, Ascherio A, Korhonen P, Hartman AM, Willett WC, Albanes D, Virtamo J. Intake of Fatty Acids and Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in a Cohort of Finnish Men. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1997; 145: 876-887.

Pintus S, Murru E, Carta G, Cordeddu L, Batetta B, Accossu S, Pistis D, Uda S, Elena Ghiani M, Mele M, Secchiari P, Almerighi G, Pintus P, Banni S. Sheep cheese naturally enriched in α-linolenic, conjugated linoleic and vaccenic acids improves the lipid profile and reduces anandamide in the plasma of hypercholesterolaemic subjects. Br J Nutr. 2012 [Epub ahead of print].

Proctor SD, Mamo JC. Intimal retention of cholesterol derived from apolipoprotein B100- and apolipoprotein B48-containing lipoproteins in carotid arteries of Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003; 23 (9):1595-1600.

Proctor SD, Vine DF, Mamo JC. Arterial permeability and efflux of apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins assessed by in situ perfusion and three-dimensional quantitative confocal microscopy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004; 24(11):2162-2167.

Qin B, Qiu W, Avramoglu RK, Adeli K. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces intestinal insulin resistance and stimulates the overproduction of intestinal apolipoprotein B48-containing lipoproteins. Diabetes. 2007; 56 (2):450-61.

Rader DJ, Daugherty A. Translating molecular discoveries into new therapies for atherosclerosis. Nature 2008; 451(7181):904-13.

Raff M, Tholstrup T, Toubro S, Bruun JM, Lund P, Straarup EM, Christensen R, Sandberg MB, Mandrup S. Conjugated linoleic acids reduce body fat in healthy postmenopausal women. J Nutr. 2009;139 (7):1347-52.

Rader DJ. Effect of insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and intra-abdominal adiposity on the development of cardiovascular disease and diabetes mellitus. Am J Med. 2007; 120 (3A): S12-S18.

Reaven GM. Banting Lecture 1988: role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 1988; 37: 1595-1607.

Ricote M, Li AC, Willson TM, Kelly CJ, Glass CK. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\gamma$  is a negative regulator of macrophage activation. Nature 1998; 391:79–82.

Risérus U, Sprecher D, Johnson T, Olson E, Hirschberg S, Liu A, Fang Z, Hegde P, Richards D, Sarov-Blat L, Strum JC, Basu S, Cheeseman J, Fielding BA, Humphreys SM, Danoff T, Moore NR, Murgatroyd P, O'Rahilly S, Sutton P, Willson T, Hassall D, Frayn KN, Karpe F. Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) delta promotes reversal of multiple metabolic abnormalities, reduces oxidative stress, and increases fatty acid oxidation in moderately obese men. Diabetes. 2008; 57 (2):332-9.

Risérus U, Smedman A, Basu S, Vessby B. Metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid in humans: the Swedish experience. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;79 (6 Suppl):1146S-1148S.

Remig V, Franklin B, Margolis S, Kostas G, Nece T, Street JC. Trans fats in America: a review of their use, consumption, health implications, and regulation. J Am Diet Assoc. 2010 Apr;110(4):585-592.

Roche HM, Noone E, Sewter C, Mc Bennett S, Savage D, Gibney MJ, O'Rahilly S, Vidal-Puig AJ. Isomer-dependent metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid: insights from molecular markers sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c and LXRalpha. Diabetes. 2002; 51(7):2037-2044.

Russell JC, Amy RM. Early atherosclerotic lesions in a susceptible rat model: the LA/N-corpulent rat. Atherosclerosis 1986a; 60: 119–29.

Russell JC, Amy RM. Myocardial and vascular lesions in the LA/Ncorpulent rat. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1986b; 64: 1272–80.

Russell JC, Graham S, Hameed M.Abnormal insulin and glucose metabolism in the JCR:LA-corpulent rat. Metabolism. 1994; 43(5): 538-43.

Russell JC, Graham SE, Dolphin PJ. Glucose tolerance and insulin resistance in the JCR:LA-corpulent rat: effect of miglitol (Bay m1099). Metabolism. 1999; 48(6):701-6.

Russell JC, Proctor SD.Small animal models of cardiovascular disease: tools for the study of the roles of metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Pathol. 2006; 15(6):318-30.

Ruth, M. R., Y. Wang, H. Yu, S. D. Goruk, M. J. Reaney, S. D. Proctor, D. F. Vine, and C. J. Field. Vaccenic and elaidic acid modify plasma and splenocyte membrane phospholipids and mitogen-stimulated cytokine production in obese insulin resistant JCR: LA-cp rats. Nutrients. 2010; 2: 181-197.

Santora JE, Palmquist DL, Roehrig KL. Trans-vaccenic acid is desaturated to conjugated linoleic acid in mice. J Nutr. 2000 Feb;130(2):208-15.

Sébédio, J.L.; Juaneda, P.; Dobson, G.; Ramilison, I.; Martin, J.C.; Chardigny, J.M.; Christie, W.W.: Metabolites of conjugated isomers of linoleic acid (CLA) in the rat. Biochim. Biophys. Acta; 1997, 1345, 5-10.

Sharma AM, Staels B. Review: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and adipose tissue--understanding obesity-related changes in regulation of lipid and glucose metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007; 92(2):386-95.

Shi H, Kokoeva MV, Inouye K, Tzameli I, Yin H, Flier JS.TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 2006; 116(11):3015-25.

Shiau YF, Popper DA, Reed M, Umstetter C, Capuzzi D, Levine GM. Intestinal triglycerides are derived from both endogenous and exogenous sources. Am J Physiol 1985; 248: G164-9.

Siri P, Candela N, Zhang YL, Ko C, Eusufzai S, Ginsberg HN, Huang LS. Post-transcriptional stimulation of the assembly and secretion of triglyceride-rich apolipoprotein B lipoproteins in a mouse with selective deficiency of brown adipose tissue, obesity, and insulin resistance. J Biol Chem. 200; 276(49):46064-46072.

Smith SJ, Cases S, Jensen DR, Chen HC, Sande E, Tow B, Sanan DA, Raber J, Eckel RH, Farese RV Jr. Obesity resistance and multiple mechanisms of triglyceride synthesis in mice lacking Dgat. Nat Genet. 2000; 25(1):87-90.

Ståhlman M, Pham HT, Adiels M, Mitchell TW, Blanksby SJ, Fagerberg B, Ekroos K, Borén J. Clinical dyslipidaemia is associated with changes in the lipid composition and inflammatory properties of apolipoprotein-B-

containing lipoproteins from women with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 2012; 55(4):1156-66.

Steck SE, Chalecki AM, Miller P, Conway J, Austin GL, Hardin JW, Albright CD, Thuillier P. Conjugated linoleic acid supplementation for twelve weeks increases lean body mass in obese humans. J Nutr. 2007; 137(5):1188-93.

Stender S, Dyerberg J, Astrup A. High levels of industrially produced trans fat in popular fast foods. N Engl J Med. 2006; 354 (15):1650-1652.

Storr MA, Keenan CM, Emmerdinger D, Zhang H, Yüce B, Sibaev A, Massa F, Buckley NE, Lutz B, Göke B, Brand S, Patel KD, Sharkey KA. Targeting endocannabinoid degradation protects against experimental colitis in mice: involvement of CB1 and CB2 receptors. J Mol Med (Berl). 2008; 86(8):925-36.

Storr MA, Keenan CM, Zhang H, Patel KD, Makriyannis A, Sharkey KA. Activation of the cannabinoid 2 receptor (CB2) protects against experimental colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009; 15(11):1678-85.

Sul HS. Metabolism of fatty acids, acylglycerols, and sphingolipids. In: Stipanuk MH. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Biochemical, physiological, molecular aspects of human nutrition. 2006; 449-491.

Sul HS, Storch J. Cholesterol and lipoproteins: synthesis, transport and metabolism. In: Stipanuk MH. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Biochemical, physiological, molecular aspects of human nutrition. 2006; 492-517.

Sun K, Kusminski CM, Scherer PE. Adipose tissue remodeling and obesity. J Clin Invest. 2011; 121 (6): 2094-2101.

Taghibiglou C, Carpentier A, Van Iderstine SC, Chen B, Rudy D, Aiton A, Lewis GF, Adeli K. Mechanisms of hepatic very low density lipoprotein overproduction in insulin resistance. Evidence for enhanced lipoprotein assembly, reduced intracellular ApoB degradation, and increased microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in a fructose-fed hamster model. J Biol Chem. 2000; 275(12):8416-25.

Taghibiglou C, Rashid-Kolvear F, Van Iderstine SC, Le-Tien H, Fantus IG, Lewis GF, Adeli K: Hepatic very low density lipoprotein-ApoB overproduction is associated with attenuated hepatic insulin signaling and overexpression of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B in a fructose-fed hamster model of insulin resistance. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277: 793-803.

Tardy AL, Lambert-Porcheron S, Malpuech-Brugère C, Giraudet C, Rigaudière JP, Laillet B, Leruyet P, Peyraud JL, Boirie Y, Laville M,

Michalski MC, Chardigny JM, Morio B. Dairy and industrial sources of trans fat do not impair peripheral insulin sensitivity in overweight women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009; 90 (1):88-94.

Taskinen MR, Adiels M, Westerbacka J, Söderlund S, Kahri J, Lundbom N, Lundbom J, Hakkarainen A, Olofsson SO, Orho-Melander M, Borén J. Dual metabolic defects are required to produce hypertriglyceridemia in obese subjects. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011; 31:2144-2150.

Theriault A, Cheung R, Adeli K. Expression of apolipoprotein B in vitro in cell-free lysates of HepG2 cells: evidence that insulin modulates ApoB synthesis at the translational level. Clin Biochem. 1992; 25(5):321-3.

Tholstrup T, Raff M, Basu S, Nonboe P, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM. Effects of butter high in ruminant trans and monounsaturated fatty acids on lipoproteins, incorporation of fatty acids into lipid classes, plasma C-reactive protein, oxidative stress, hemostatic variables, and insulin in healthy young men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 83(2):237-43.

Thomou T, Tchkonia T, Kirkland JL. Cellular and molecular basis of functional differences among fat depots. In Adipose tissue in health and disease. 2010; 21-48

Tomono S, Kawazu S, Kato N, Ono T, Ishii C, Ito Y, Shimizu M, Shimoyama M, Nakano T, Nakajima K. Uptake of remnant like particles (RLP) in diabetic patients from mouse peritoneal macrophages. J Atheroscler Thromb. 1994; 1(2):98-102.

Tricon S, Burdge GC, Jones EL, Russell JJ, El-Khazen S, Moretti E, Hall WL, Gerry AB, Leake DS, Grimble RF, Williams CM, Calder PC, Yaqoob P. Effects of dairy products naturally enriched with cis-9,trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid on the blood lipid profile in healthy middle-aged men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 83 (4):744-753.

Turpeinen AM, Mutanen M, Aro A, Salminen I, Basu S, Palmquist DL, Griinari JM. Bioconversion of vaccenic acid to conjugated linoleic acid in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002 Sep;76(3):504-510.

Tyburczy, C., C. Major, A. L. Lock, F. Destaillats. P. Lawrence, J. T. Brenna, A. M. Salter, and D. E. Bauman. Individual trans octadecenoic acids and partially hydrogenated vegetable oil differentially affect hepatic lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in golden Syrian hamsters. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 257-263.

Valeille K, Férézou J, Amsler G, Quignard-Boulangé A, Parquet M, Gripois D, Dorovska-Taran V, Martin JC. A cis-9,trans-11-conjugated linoleic acidrich oil reduces the outcome of atherogenic process in hyperlipidemic hamster. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005; 289 (2):H652-659. Venkatramanan S, Joseph SV, Chouinard PY, Jacques H, Farnworth ER, Jones PJ. Milk enriched with conjugated linoleic acid fails to alter blood lipids or body composition in moderately overweight, borderline hyperlipidemic individuals. J Am Coll Nutr. 2010; 29(2):152-159.

Verhoeckx KC, Voortman T, Balvers MG, Hendriks HF, M Wortelboer H, Witkamp RF. Presence, formation and putative biological activities of N-acyl serotonins, a novel class of fatty-acid derived mediators, in the intestinal tract. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011; 1811(10):578-86.

Vesper HW, Kuiper HC, Mirel LB, Johnson CL, Pirkle JL. Levels of plasma trans-fatty acids in non-Hispanic white adults in the United States in 2000 and 2009. JAMA. 2012; 307(6): 562-563.

Chinnadurai K, Tyagi A. Conjugated Linoleic Acid: A Milk Fatty Acid with Unique Health Benefit Properties, Soybean and Health. 2011. El-Shemy H. (Ed.). InTech, DOI: 10.5772/19946. Available from: http://www.intechopen.com/books/soybean-and-health/conjugated-linoleicacid-a-milk-fatty-acid-with-unique-health-benefit-properties.

Vidal-Alabró A, Méndez-Lucas A, Semakova J, Gómez-Valadés AG, Perales JC. Liver Glucokinase and Lipid Metabolism, Dyslipidemia - From Prevention to Treatment, 2012. Kelishadi R, (Ed.). InTech, DOI: 10.5772/29856. Available from: http://www.intechopen.com/books/dyslipidemia-from-prevention-totreatment/liver-glucokinase-and-lipid-homeostasis

Villanueva CJ, Monetti M, Shih M, Zhou P, Watkins SM, Bhanot S, Farese RV Jr. Specific role for acyl CoA:Diacylglycerol acyltransferase 1 (Dgat1) in hepatic steatosis due to exogenous fatty acids. Hepatology. 2009; 50(2):434-42.

Vine DF, Takechi R, Russell JC, Proctor SD. Impaired postprandial apolipoprotein-B48 metabolism in the obese, insulin-resistant JCR:LA-cp rat: increased atherogenicity for the metabolic syndrome. Atherosclerosis. 2007; 190 (2):282-90.

Wanders AJ, Brouwer IA, Siebelink E, Katan MB. Effect of a high intake of conjugated linoleic acid on lipoprotein levels in healthy human subjects. PLoS One. 2010; 5 (2):e9000.

Wang Y, Lu J, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Vine DF, Field CF and Proctor SD. *Trans*-11 Vaccenic Acid Dietary Supplementation Induces Hypolipidemic Effects in JCR:LA-*cp* Rats. J Nutr. 2008; 138 (11): 2117-2122.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Wright DC, Vine DF, Field CJ, Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid

reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR:LA-cp rats. J Nutr. 2009; 139(11): 2049-2054.

Wang, Y, M. M. Jacome-Sosa, M.R. Ruth, J. Shen, M. J. Reaney, S. L. Scott, M. E. Dugan, H. D. Anderson, C. J. Field, S. D. Proctor and D. F. Vine. The intestinal bioavailability of vaccenic acid and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$  and - $\gamma$  in a rodent model of dyslipidemia and the metabolic syndrome. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2012; 56: 1234-1246.

Watanabe S, Doshi M, Hamazaki T. n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) deficiency elevates and n-3 PUFA enrichment reduces brain 2arachidonoylglycerol level in mice. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2003; 69 (1):51-9.

Westphal S, Orth M, Ambrosch A, Osmundsen K, Luley C.Postprandial chylomicrons and VLDLs in severe hypertriacylglycerolemia are lowered more effectively than are chylomicron remnants after treatment with n-3 fatty acids. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000; 71(4):914-20.

White SL, Bertrand JA, Wade MR, Washburn SP, Green JT Jr, Jenkins TC. Comparison of fatty acid content of milk from Jersey and Holstein cows consuming pasture or a total mixed ration. J Dairy Sci. 2001; 84(10):2295-301.

Wildman RP, Muntner P, Reynolds K, McGinn AP, Rajpathak S, Wylie-Rosett J, Sowers MR. The obese without cardiometabolic risk factor clustering and the normal weight with cardiometabolic risk factor clustering: prevalence and correlates of 2 phenotypes among the US population (NHANES 1999-2004). Arch Intern Med. 2008; 168(15):1617-1624.

Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Colditz GA, Speizer FE, Rosner BA, Sampson LA, Hennekens CH. Intake of trans fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease among women (Nurses Health Study). Lancet 1993; 341: 581-85.

Williams CM, Maitin V, Jackson KG. Triacylglycerol-rich lipoprotein-gene interactions in endothelial cells. Biochem Soc Trans. 2004; 32 (Pt 6):994-8.

Wright JD, Kennedy-Stephenson J, Wang CY, McDowell MA, Johnson CL. Centers for Disease Control. Trends in intake of energy and macronutrients - United States, 1971-2000. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2004; 53(4):80–82.

Xiao C, Hsieh J, Adeli K, Lewis GF. Gut-liver interaction in triglyceride-rich lipoprotein metabolism. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2011; 301(3): E429-446.

Xu J, Teran-Garcia M, Park JH, Nakamura MT, Clarke SD. Polyunsaturated fatty acids suppress hepatic sterol regulatory elementbinding protein-1 expression by accelerating transcript decay. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:9800-9807.

Yen CL, Stone SJ, Koliwad S, Harris C, Farese RV Jr. Thematic review series: glycerolipids. DGAT enzymes and triacylglycerol biosynthesis. J Lipid Res. 2008; 49(11):2283-301.

Yen CL, Cheong ML, Grueter C, Zhou P, Moriwaki J, Wong JS, Hubbard B, Marmor S, Farese RV Jr. Deficiency of the intestinal enzyme acyl CoA:monoacylglycerol acyltransferase-2 protects mice from metabolic disorders induced by high-fat feeding. Nat Med. 2009; 15(4):442-446.

Yu KC, Mamo JC. Regulation of cholesterol synthesis and esterification in primary cultures of macrophages following uptake of chylomicron remnants. Biochem Mol Biol Int. 1997; 41(1):33-39.

Zhang YL, Hernandez-Ono A, Ko C, Yasunaga K, Huang LS, Ginsberg HN Regulation of hepatic apolipoprotein B-lipoprotein assembly and secretion by the availability of fatty acids. I. Differential response to the delivery of fatty acids via albumin or remnant-like emulsion particles. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279(18):19362-74.

Zhu FS, Liu S, Chen XM, Huang ZG, Zhang DW. Effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids from seal oils on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease associated with hyperlipidemia. World J Gastroenterol. 2008; 14 (41):6395-400.

#### **Chapter 2 Rationale: Objectives and Hypotheses**

#### 2.1 Rationale and introduction to research hypothesis

Trans-11 vaccenic acid (VA) is the most abundant ruminant derived trans fatty acid in the food chain; however, in addition to being acknowledged as an alternative source of CLA, there remains limited information regarding its own bioactivity. Studies using VA/CLA enriched butter in different animal models of CVD were the first to suggest that unlike iTFA, VA may actually improve CVD risk factors (Lock et al., 2005; Bassett et al; 2010; Bauchart et al., 2007). Previous studies from our laboratory as well as from others (using purified forms of VA), have suggested a novel bioactivity for this fatty acid, in particular its hypolipidemic and antiinflammatory modulating properties (Wang et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008; Bassett et al., 2010; Tyburczy et al., 2009; Herrera-Meza et al., 2013; Blewett et al., 2009). However, whether VA per se provides an additional benefit when found in VA/CLA enriched products remains to be elucidated. Consistent with this rationale, the first objective of my thesis was to investigate whether VA can synergistically enhance the putative hypolipidemic effects of CLA.

Given the growing evidence for the health effects of VA, one logical approach would be to produce VA enriched animal-derived foods that could provide an additional health benefit. However, dairy products are also the predominant source of SFA in the diet, which according to current dietary recommendations (Lichtenstein *et al.*, 2006; Health Canada Dietary Recommendation Guidelines), may be sufficient reason to limit their consumption. Whether VA could independently reduce or *'neutralize'* putative adverse effects commonly associated with dairy-derived SFA is currently unknown and therefore, we aimed to investigate novel bioactive properties of VA on a background diet resembling that typically found in the food chain.

During the course of my thesis, complementary studies in our group as well as from others, revealed that VA can act as a ligand for PPAR $\alpha$  and  $\gamma$  in cell culture studies (Wang *et al.*, 2012; Jaudszus *et al.*, 2012), which has provided a potential mechanistic explanation on how VA may improve blood lipids and the pro-inflammatory state during conditions of MetS. Despite the proposed mechanism of action, putative benefits of VA to insulin resistance and/or energy use/storage were not determined. This rationale led me to investigate whether VA could favourably modulate whole body energy utilization, storage and/or intestinal and hepatic lipid homeostasis when supplemented on a background diet containing dairy-derived fat.

To explore alternative hypotheses related to our current understanding of the mechanisms of action for VA, we further investigated a potential regulatory effect on convergent lipid signaling pathways. The endocannaninoid system has been shown to play a predominant role in the control of energy balance and lipid homestasis. The ability of long chain fatty acids to alter membrane phospholipid composition has led to propose their use as modulators of the endocannabinoid system (Calder, 2006; Banni and Di Marzo, 2010). Indeed, it has been shown recently that bioactive long chain fatty acids derived from diet are incorporated into plasma membrane phospholipids and potentially replace or interfere with the synthesis of PL-derived lipid signaling molecules, including endocannabinoids (Berger et al., 2001; D'Asti et al., 2010; Watanabe et al., 2003; Alvheim et al., 2012). However, the incorporation of VA into membrane phospholipids and potential effects on endocannabinoid pathways remains unknown.

Notably, a recent clinical trial in hypercholesterolemic subjects provided the first evidence that a dairy product naturally enriched in VA and CLA significantly reduces plasma concentrations of the endocannabinoid anandamide after three weeks of intervention (Pintus *et al.*, 2012). However, the direct effect of VA on endocannabinoid modulation was not able to be determined in this study. Indeed, this question provides the premise for one of the final objectives of my thesis, as described below.

#### The overall general working hypothesis for this thesis is:

That VA can synergistically enhance the putative hypolipidemic effects of CLA and that VA can independently reduce potential detrimental health effects commonly associated with-dairy derived SFA during MetS. Specifically, we hypothesized that VA can favourably modulate integrative physiological pathways of intestinal and hepatic lipid homeostasis, whole body energy utilization and storage and that these effects are convergent with regulation of lipid signaling pathways of the endocannabinoid system.

The primary objectives of this study were to investigate the ability of naturally occurring *trans* VA to enhance putative hypolipidemic effects of CLA. Additionally, we investigated whether VA can reduce *ectopic* (hepatic and intestinal) lipids and *visceral adiposity* and *dysfunctional intestinal and hepatic lipid metabolism during MetS*, when supplemented on a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA. We also explored novel regulatory effects of VA on lipid signaling pathways of the endocannabinoid system convergent with these metabolic benefits. The general approach for this thesis was to use a rat model of MetS and to apply physiological and targeted lipidomic analyses to answer these questions.

In order to test the working hypothesis, the following general and specific objectives were proposed for thesis.

# 2.2 Thesis Objectives and Hypothesis

# Chapter 3: Increased hypolipidemic benefits of conjugated linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA *cp* rat

<u>General Objective 1.</u> To evaluate the synergistic effect of dietary supplementation with purified forms of ruminant *trans* fatty acids, *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA and VA on impaired lipid metabolism in a rat model of the MetS, the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Dietary supplementation with both *trans* fatty acids (VA+CLA) that are naturally present in ruminant-derived fat, provide an additional lipid-lowering effect in comparison to supplementation with CLA alone.

## Specific objectives

1 *(i)* To determine if adding VA to CLA in the diet favorably affects body weight/composition or caloric intake compared to supplementation with CLA alone.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Supplementation with both VA and CLA increases the putative beneficial effects of CLA on body composition without altering body weight or food intake.

<u>Expected Outcome:</u> After supplementation with either CLA alone or in combination with VA (VA+CLA) for 16 weeks, it is expected that the VA+CLA diet will have a greater effect on improving body composition, particularly hepatic TG accumulation, relative to diet supplemented with CLA only.

1 *(ii)* To assess the increased health benefit of adding VA to a diet supplemented with CLA on plasma dyslipidemia and insulin resistance.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Adding VA to a diet supplemented with CLA further increases putative lipid-lowering benefits compared to a diet supplemented with CLA alone.

<u>Expected Outcome:</u> It is expected that supplementation with VA will increase the purported hypolipidemic effects of supplementation with CLA alone in the JCR:LA-cp rat.

The results from these series of experiments are presented in Chapter 3. Data from this Chapter have been published (see Jacome-Sosa *et al.*, 2010). Chapter 4 Diets enriched in *trans*-11 vaccenic acid attenuate ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid storage and increase energy utilization in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

<u>General Objective 2.</u> To investigate whether enriching dairy fat with synthetic VA (fortification) can favourably modulate energy use and storage and intestinal and hepatic lipid metabolism during conditions of insulin resistance and MetS.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Fortifying a diet containing a typical 'dairy-like' fatty acid profile with VA will increase its nutritional value on parameters of MetS including visceral adiposity, insulin resistance, NAFLD progression and lipid over-secretion from the liver and the intestine.

#### Specific objectives

2 (*i*) To assess whether fortification with VA can favourably attenuate putative stimulatory effects of dairy-derived SFA on visceral fat accumulation.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Fortification of dairy fat with VA ameliorates putative fat accretion effects of dairy-derived SFA.

<u>Expected Outcome</u>: It is expected that adding synthetic VA to dairy fat will ameliorate total fat mass and ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid accumulation and that these effects are partially associated with increased energy utilization.

2 *(ii)* To determine whether fortifying dairy fat with VA alleviates the putative stimulatory effects of SFA on insulin resistance and NAFLD progression.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Fortifying dairy fat with VA can attenuate putative SFAinduced exacerbation of insulin resistance and NAFLD. <u>Expected Outcome:</u> Adding VA to dairy fat will be able to mitigate/attenuate exacerbated insulin resistance and NAFLD progression during MetS.

2 *(iii)* To investigate whether VA will retain its lipid-lowering effects on hepatic and intestinal TG secretion when supplemented on a background diet that includes SFA from dairy fat.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Fortifying dairy fat with VA mitigates putative stimulatory effects of dairy-derived SFA on hepatic and intestinal TG secretion.

<u>Expected Outcome</u>: Fortification of dairy fat with VA can reduce hepatic (fasting) and intestinal (post-prandial) TG secretion relative to a diet containing dairy fat without VA.

2 *(iv)* To validate the PPAR mechanism of action for the lipid-lowering effects of VA in the liver and the intestine when supplemented on a background diet that includes SFA from dairy fat.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> VA exerts its lipid-lowering effects by regulating hepatic and intestinal genes involved in lipid synthesis and/or PPAR-dependent oxidative pathways.

<u>Expected Outcome:</u> It is expected that VA will reduce the mRNA expression of genes involved in lipid synthesis and increase the expression of PPAR-downstream targets in the liver and the intestine.

The results from these series of experiments are presented in Chapter 4 and have been submitted for publication. Chapter 5: Metabolic effects of *trans*-11 vaccenic acid are associated with its ability to exert tissue specific regulation of endocannabinoids in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat

<u>General Objective 3.</u> To explore the independent regulatory effect of VA on lipid-derived signaling molecules (endocannabinoids) known to control energy storage and utilization by acting in peripheral tissues and the brain.

<u>Hypothesis</u>: The metabolic benefits of VA are convergent with its ability to regulate tissue EC concentrations in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

#### **Specific objectives**

3 *(i)* To investigate the independent effects of VA and CLA or their combination on regulating the concentration of EC in peripheral tissues and the brain.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Dietary supplementation with VA alone or in combination with CLA can favourably regulate the concentrations of tissue EC.

<u>Expected Outcome</u>: It is expected that VA alone or in combination with CLA can regulate tissue EC concentrations converging with its metabolic effects.

3 *(ii)* To investigate whether dietary supplementation with VA alone or in combination with CLA can directly influence tissue concentrations of EC by altering the composition of their membrane PL precursors.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> VA and/or CLA are efficiently incorporated into tissue PL thereby interfering with the synthesis of PL-derived EC.

<u>Expected Outcome</u>: Incorporation of VA and/or CLA in membrane PL will result in a concomitant decrease of EC biosynthetic precursors.

The results from these series of experiments are presented in Chapter 5.

## 2.3 Literature cited

Alvheim AR, Malde MK, Osei-Hyiaman D, Lin YH, Pawlosky RJ, Madsen L, Kristiansen K, Frøyland L, Hibbeln JR. Dietary linoleic acid elevates endogenous 2-AG and anandamide and induces obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012; 20(10):1984-94.

Banni S, Di Marzo V. Effect of dietary fat on endocannabinoids and related mediators: consequences on energy homeostasis, inflammation and mood. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2010; 54 (1):82-92.

Bassett CM, Edel AL, Patenaude AF, McCullough RS, Blackwood DP, Chouinard PY, Paquin P, Lamarche B, Pierce GN. Dietary vaccenic acid has antiatherogenic effects in LDLr-/- mice. J Nutr. 2010; 140 (1):18-24.

Batetta B, Griinari M, Carta G, Murru E, Ligresti A, Cordeddu L, Giordano E, Sanna F, Bisogno T, Uda S, Collu M, Bruheim I, Di Marzo V, Banni S. Endocannabinoids may mediate the ability of (n-3) fatty acids to reduce ectopic fat and inflammatory mediators in obese Zucker rats. J Nutr. 2009; 139 (8):1495-501.

Bauchart D, Roy A, Lorenz S, Chardigny JM, Ferlay A, Gruffat D, Sébédio JL, Chilliard Y, Durand D. Butters varying in trans 18:1 and cis-9,trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid modify plasma lipoproteins in the hypercholesterolemic rabbit. Lipids. 2007; 42 (2):123-33.

Berger A, Crozier G, Bisogno T, Cavaliere P, Innis S, Di Marzo V. Anandamide and diet: inclusion of dietary arachidonate and docosahexaenoate leads to increased brain levels of the corresponding Nacylethanolamines in piglets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001; 98(11):6402-6.

Blewett, H. J., C. A. Gerdung, M. R. Ruth, S. D. Proctor, and Field, C. J. Vaccenic acid favourably alters immune function in obese JCR:LA-cp rats. Brit. J. Nutr. 2009; 102: 526-536.

Calder PC. n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 83:S1505–S1519.

D'Asti E, Long H, Tremblay-Mercier J, Grajzer M, Cunnane SC, Di Marzo V, Walker CD. Maternal dietary fat determines metabolic profile and the magnitude of endocannabinoid inhibition of the stress response in neonatal rat offspring. Endocrinology. 2010; 151(4):1685-94.

Di Marzo V, Griinari M, Carta G, Murru E, Ligresti A, Cordeddu L, Giordano E, Bisogno T, Collu M, Batetta B, Uda S, Berge K, Banni S.

Dietary krill oil increases docosahexaenoic acid and reduces 2arachidonoylglycerol but not *N*-acylethanolamine levels in the brain of obese Zucker rats. Int Dairy J 2010; 20: 231-235

Herrera-Meza MS, Mendoza-López MR, García-Barradas O, Sanchez-Otero MG, Silva-Hernández ER, Angulo JO, Oliart-Ros RM. Dietary anhydrous milk fat naturally enriched with conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid modify cardiovascular risk biomarkers in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 2013; [Epub ahead of print]

Jaudszus A, Jahreis G, Schlörmann W, Fischer J, Kramer R, Degen C, Rohrer C, Roth A, Gabriel H, Barz D, Gruen M. Vaccenic acid-mediated reduction in cytokine production is independent of c9,t11-CLA in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012; 1821(10):1316-22.

Lichtenstein AH, Appel LJ, Brands M, Carnethon M, Daniels S, Franch HA, Franklin B, Kris-Etherton P, Harris WS, Howard B, Karanja N, Lefevre M, Rudel L, Sacks F, Van Horn L, Winston M, Wylie-Rosett J. American Heart Association Nutrition Committee. Diet and lifestyle recommendations revision 2006: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Nutrition Committee. Circulation. 2006; 114(1): 82-96.

Lock AL, Horne CA, Bauman DE, Salter AM. Butter naturally enriched in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid alters tissue fatty acids and improves the plasma lipoprotein profile in cholesterol-fed hamsters. J Nutr. 2005; 135(8): 1934-1939.

Pintus S, Murru E, Carta G, Cordeddu L, Batetta B, Accossu S, Pistis D, Uda S, Elena Ghiani M, Mele M, Secchiari P, Almerighi G, Pintus P, Banni S. Sheep cheese naturally enriched in  $\alpha$ -linolenic, conjugated linoleic and vaccenic acids improves the lipid profile and reduces anandamide in the plasma of hypercholesterolaemic subjects. Br J Nutr. 2012; 24:1-10.

Tyburczy C, Major C, Lock AL, Destaillats F. Lawrence P, Brenna JT, Salter AM, and Bauman DE. Individual trans octadecenoic acids and partially hydrogenated vegetable oil differentially affect hepatic lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in golden Syrian hamsters. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 257-263.

Wang Y, Lu J, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Vine DF, Field CJ, and Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid dietary supplementation induces hypolipidemic effects in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2008; 138: 2117-2122.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Wright DC, Vine DF, Field CJ, and Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid

reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 2049-2054.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Shen J, Reaney MJ, Scott SL, Dugan ME, Anderson HD, Field CJ, Proctor SD, and Vine DF. The intestinal bioavailability of vaccenic acid and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$  and - $\gamma$  in a rodent model of dyslipidemia and the metabolic syndrome. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2012; 56: 1234-1246.

Watanabe S, Doshi M, Hamazaki T. n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) deficiency elevates and n-3 PUFA enrichment reduces brain 2arachidonoylglycerol level in mice. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2003; 69 (1):51-9.

# Chapter 3 Increased hypolipidemic benefits of conjugated linoleic acid in combination with vaccenic acid in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat

The research described in this Chapter has been published as a manuscript (Please see **Appendix 'A'**).

## 3.1 Introduction

Conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) refers to diverse positional and geometrical isomers of linoleic acid and its numerous health related effects have been extensively investigated. CLA was first described as a potent anticarcinogenic component and more recently has been associated with improving dyslipidemia, insulin sensitivity and the pro-inflammatory state related to obesity and the metabolic syndrome (Wahle *et al.*, 2004; Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2006). However, some animal studies (specifically those using mouse models), in addition to a handful of clinical trials, have indicated that the major isomers found in CLA mixtures (*cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA and *trans*-10, *cis*-12 CLA) are responsible for different physiological effects (Taylor and Zahradka, 2004; Terpstra, 2004; Park and Pariza, 2007; Risérus *et al.*, 2002).

CLA is found naturally in ruminant-derived lipids and *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA is the major natural isoform, accounting for about 80-90% of the total CLA isomers (Mendis *et al.*, 2008). *Trans*-11 vaccenic acid (VA) is the precursor to endogenous synthesis of the *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA isomer in rats (Santora *et al.*, 2000; Corl *et al.*, 2003) and humans (Turpeinen *et al.*, 2002), and is the predominant isomer of the total *trans* fatty acids found in ruminant-derived fats such as dairy and meat products. We have shown previously that unlike industrially produced *trans* fatty acids, VA has lipid-lowering properties associated with reduced hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in the obese and insulin resistant JCR:LA-*cp* rat (Wang *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, our observations indicate that VA has

neutral effects under normolipidemic conditions and induces hypotriglyceridemic effects under conditions of dyslipidemia (Wang et al., 2008). We also observed that VA supplementation for 16 weeks had a greater potential to influence lipoprotein metabolism (Wang et al., 2009) compared to a shorter term feeding (Wang et al., 2008). These findings are supported by several clinical (Tholstrup et al., 2006; Motard-Belanger et al., 2008; Chardigny et al., 2008) and animal studies (Lock et al., 2005; Roy et al., 2007; Bauchart et al., 2007; Tyburczy et al., 2009; Bassett et al., 2010) showing that dietary trans fats derived from ruminants have either neutral or beneficial effects on cardiovascular disease risk factors compared to industrially produced *trans* fats.

As a result of the increasing evidence associating CLA and more recently VA with health benefits, there has been a growing interest to increase the concentrations of these natural *trans* fats in meat and dairy products (Bauman *et al.*, 2000; Lock and Bauman 2004; Jones *et al.*, 2005; Cruz-Hernandez *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, both VA and CLA (*cis*-9, *trans*-11) can account for more than 15% of the total fat in naturally enhanced dairy products (Lock and Bauman, 2004) which could provide an additional health value to animal-derived fats. Consequently, in this study we hypothesized that chronic supplementation with both CLA and VA would enhance the lipid lowering effects to improve whole body lipid metabolism. Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of dietary supplementation with purified forms of both *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA and VA on impaired lipid metabolism in an established animal model of the metabolic syndrome, the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

## 3.2 Research Design and Methods

## 3.2.1 Animals and diets

All experimental procedures were approved by the University of Alberta Animal Ethics Committee and conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Twenty four male obese JCR:LA-*cp* rats (*cp/cp*) were raised in our established breeding colony at the University of Alberta as previously described (Vine *et al.*, 2007). At 3 wk of age, rats were transferred from the isolated breeding colony areas to an individually ventilated caging environment (TecniplastTM, Exton PA, USA) and had access to a standard rat chow diet (5001, PMI Nutrition International) (see *Figure 3-1*).



**Figure 3-1** Changes in body weight throughout the study and schematic representation of the experimental design. Rats (n=8) were fed a standard chow diet prior to the study (from 3-8 wk of age). Then, control and experimental diets were provided for 16 wk. An oral fat challenge test (OFC) and a meal tolerance test (MTT) were conducted on different rats (n=4 in each test).

At 8 wk of age, rats (n = 8) were randomized and assigned to one of three diets for 16 wk (control and experimental diets) and had free access to food and water. Age and weight matched lean littermates (n = 8) were fed the control diet to mimic cholesterol/high fat feeding under normolipidemic conditions. Food intake and body weight (BW) were monitored weekly throughout the study. At 23 wk of age, a meal tolerance test (MTT) as previously described (Russell et al., 1987), was performed in four randomly chosen rats from control and treatment groups in order to determine plasma glucose and insulin concentrations after a meal. We also performed an oral fat challenge test (OFC), as previously described (Vine *et al.*, 2007) in four additional rats from each group. At the end of the treatment period (24 wk of age), rats were fasted overnight and anesthetized using isofluorane anesthesia. Plasma was sampled from the left ventricle and heart, liver and fat pads were excised, weighted and immediately frozen at -80°C until analysis. Adipose fatty acid composition was measured from total triglyceride on the epidydimal fat pad as previously described (Wang et al., 2008).

Three iso-caloric diets were prepared with a constant polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio (P:S) of 0.4. A control diet (CD) was supplemented (w/w) with 1% cholesterol and contained 42% of energy from carbohydrate, 23.7% from protein and 34.3% from fat. Experimental diets were prepared by adjusting the lipid composition of the CD to provide 1.0% w/w of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA alone (CLA) or both 1% of VA and 1% w/w of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA (VA+CLA). Semi-purified *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA (G-c9t11 80:20) containing 59.8% of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA and 14.4% of *trans*-10, *cis*-12 CLA was kindly provided by Lipid Nutrition. The amount of CLA and VA (1% w/w) was chosen based on previous studies allowing for metabolic sufficiency while maintaining a normal dietary fatty acid proportion (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009; Tholstrup *et al.*, 2006; Raff *et al.*, 2006). Purified VA was synthesized by a chemical alkali

109

isomerisation from linoleic acid-rich vegetable oil (Swain, 1949). The diet mixture was extruded into pellets, dried at RT and stored at 4°C. Fatty acid composition of the three diets was confirmed by gas chromatograph analysis (Cruz-Hernandez *et al.*, 2007) of the fat blend samples (*Table 3-1*).

# 3.2.2 Plasma biochemical components

The concentration of biochemical parameters in fasting plasma from lean and obese groups were assessed using commercially available enzymatic colorimetric assays. Triglyceride (TG) (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 998-40391, 0.01 mmol/L minimum), total cholesterol (TC) (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 993-00404, 0.002 mmol/L minimum), LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 993-00404, 0.03-10.4 mmol/L) and nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA) (HR Series NEFA-HR, catalog no. 999-34691, Wako Diagnostics) were measured using direct colorimetric chemical enzymatic reactions. Plasma glucose was measured as per the glucose oxidase method (Diagnostic Chemical, catalog no. 220-32, 0.03-33.3 mmol/L) and plasma was determined using commercially available enzymatic insulin immunoassays for rodents (Ultrasensitive rat insulin ELISA, Mercodia, catalog no. 80-INSRTU-E01, 0.03-1.0 pmol/L). Samples were analyzed in triplicate using assay kits from a single lot and performed in a single batch.

Fatty acid	Control diet (CD)	CLA diet	VA+CLA diet
C16:0	9.1	8.5	9.1
C18:0	47.3	46.9	44.3
18:1 <i>t-</i> 11 (VA)	ND	ND	5.6
18:1 <i>c-</i> 9 (OA)	17.3	11.4	10.5
18:1 <i>c-</i> 11	ND	0.5	0.5
C18:2 n6 (LA)	23.3	23.4	20.4
C18:3 n3 (ALA)	1.6	1.7	1.6
CLA <i>c-</i> 9, <i>t-</i> 11	0	5.2	3.9
CLA <i>t</i> -10, <i>c</i> -12	ND	1.1	0.8
other CLA	ND	0.3	0.3
Summary			
$\Sigma$ total SFA <sup>2</sup>	57.2	56.3	54.2
∑ C12:0, C14:0, C16:0 <sup>3</sup>	9.1	8.5	9.1
∑ <i>ci</i> s MUFA <sup>4</sup>	17.4	12.0	11.1
∑ PUFA <sup>5</sup>	25.0	25.1	22.0
∑ n-6 PUFA	23.4	23.4	22.0
∑ n-3 PUFA	1.6	1.7	1.6
P:S ratio <sup>6</sup>	0.4	0.4	0.4
∑ CLA	0.0	6.6	5.0

 Table 3-1 Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of control and

 experimental diets

<sup>1.</sup> No detectable

<sup>2</sup> Sum of all saturated fatty acids

<sup>3</sup>Sum of lauric, myristic and palmitic acids

<sup>4</sup> *cis* MUFA, sum of all monounsaturated excepting *trans* fatty acids

<sup>5</sup> Sum of all polyunsaturated fatty acids excepting CLA

<sup>6</sup> Ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids

# 3.2.3 Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG

Liver and adipose tissue samples (0.5 g) were homogenized in 200 µL lysis buffer [PBS (pH 7.4) with 1.5% TritonX-100 and 1% protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma)] and hepatic TG levels were determined by a commercially available enzymatic colorimetric assay (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 998-40391, 0.01 mmol/L minimum), using an aliquot of the whole homogenate and adjusting by the protein concentration of the homogenate. The remainder of the homogenate was centrifuged at 700 g for 15 min and the supernatant was collected and stored at -80C for western blot and citrate synthase activity analysis.

## 3.2.4 Hepatic and adipose tissue citrate synthase activity

Citrate synthase activity in liver and adipose tissue samples was determined using a commercially available kit from Sigma (catalog no. CS0720). The coefficient of variation of this assay in our laboratory is < 10%. The citrate synthase activity was expressed as µmol/min/g protein.

# 3.2.5 Relative protein abundance of lipogenic enzymes

Hepatic acetyl-CoA carboxylase-1 (ACC-1) and fatty acid synthase (FAS) were determined by western blot analysis. Briefly, proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis on 3–8% Tris-acetate polyacrylamide gels (InVitrogen), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane and incubated with an anti-ACC-1 rabbit polyclonal (catalog no. 3662, Cell Signaling Technology®), anti-FAS mouse monoclonal (catalog no. sc-55580, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.) and anti- $\beta$ -actin mouse polyclonal (1:5000; catalogue no. ab8226; abcam®, St Louis, MO, USA) antibodies. Detection was achieved using an anti-rabbit and anti-mouse secondary antibodies and the ECL advance detection system (Amersham Biosciences). ACC-1 and FAS relative abundance were normalized based on the respective  $\beta$ -actin protein mass (internal control).

# 3.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the Graph pad Prism software, version 4.0. Data was tested for normal distribution and one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc tests were used to identify differences among both lean and obese controls and treatment groups (CLA and VA+CLA). Post-prandial glucose and insulin metabolism as well as post-prandial TG response were assessed by area under the curve (AUC) analysis. Fasting concentrations of these parameters were further subtracted from the total AUC to yield the incremental area under the curve (iAUC). Results are

expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM and the level of significance was set at P<0.05.

## 3.3 Results

# 3.3.1 Food intake, body weight and body composition

Obese rats fed the combination of VA+CLA showed increased food intake compared to those obese rats fed either the CD or CLA diet. Paradoxically, the VA+CLA fed rats showed reduced body weight (P<0.001) compared to the CLA group (*Table 3-2*). Despite the higher body weight of rats fed the CLA diet as compared to obese control, no difference was observed in absolute and relative heart weights or fat pad deposition (P>0.05), as measured by the amount of absolute and relative perirenal and inguinal fat pad weights compared with the obese rats fed the CD (*Table 3-2*). In contrast, feeding either the CLA or the VA+CLA diet resulted in a lower absolute liver weight by 15% and 26%, respectively, and both diets reduced the ratio of liver weight to total body weight by 22% as compared to obese rats fed the CD (P<0.001).

	Dietary groups				
	Lean control	Obese control	Obese CLA	Obese VA+CLA	
Food intak	e				
(g/day)	19.7±0.3 <sup>c</sup>	32.4±0.5 <sup>b</sup>	31.4±0.6 <sup>b</sup>	36.1±0.6*** <sup>a</sup>	
BW/16 wk (g)	384±8.2 <sup>c</sup>	646±9.3 <sup>b</sup>	702±17.9 <sup>a</sup> *	624±9.5 <sup>b</sup>	
Heart (g)	$0.89 \pm 0.0^{b}$	1.19±0.0 <sup>a</sup>	1.26±0.0 <sup>a</sup>	1.23±0.0 <sup>a</sup>	
weight, %BW	0.23±0.0 <sup>a</sup>	0.18±0.0 <sup>b</sup>	0.18±0.0 <sup>b</sup>	$0.20 \pm 0.0^{b}$	
Liver (g)	9.1±0.4 <sup>d</sup>	23.1±0.7 <sup>a</sup>	19.7±0.6*** <sup>b</sup>	17.2±0.3*** <sup>c</sup>	
weight, %BW	2.4±0.1 <sup>c</sup>	3.6±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	2.8±0.1*** <sup>b</sup>	2.8±0.0*** <sup>b</sup>	
Perirenal AT <sup>1</sup> (g	g) 1.3±0.1 <sup>c</sup>	7.4±0.4 <sup>ab</sup>	8.6±0.8 <sup>a</sup>	6.7±0.4 <sup>b</sup>	
weight, %BW	0.33±0.0 <sup>b</sup>	1.2±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	1.2±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	1.1±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	
Inguinal AT (g)	1.4±0.2 <sup>b</sup>	17.9±1.1 <sup>a</sup>	18.5±1.0 <sup>a</sup>	15.7±1.0 <sup>a</sup>	
weight, %BW	0.36±0.0 <sup>b</sup>	2.8±0.2 <sup>a</sup>	2.6±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	2.5±0.1 <sup>a</sup>	

 Table 3-2
 Food intake, body weight and body composition of rats in

 dietary groups

Values are means ± SEM, n=8. Means in the same row with different letters are significantly different; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001.

AT<sup>1</sup>= Adipose tissue

#### 3.3.2 Citrate synthase activity in liver and adipose tissue

The activity of citrate synthase in liver and adipose tissue is shown in *Figure 3-2*. There was a higher (P<0.001) citrate synthase activity in liver and inguinal adipose tissue after feeding either CLA or VA+CLA diets as compared to lean and obese rats fed the CD. Interestingly, the citrate synthase activity in liver and adipose tissue did not differ between lean and obese rats fed the CD (P>0.05).



**Figure 3-2** Citrate synthase activity in liver, perirenal and inguinal adipose tissue. Values are mean ± SEM, n=8. Means with different symbol are significantly different as compared to obese control; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001. Means with different letters are significantly different among control (lean and obese) and obese treated groups (CLA and VA+CLA). AT, adipose tissue.

#### 3.3.3 Fatty acid profile in epididymal adipose tissue triglyceride

The fatty acid composition in adipose tissue triglyceride was shown to directly reflect the dietary fatty acid composition as shown in **Table 3-3**. Obese rats fed with the CLA and VA+CLA diets had a markedly increased proportion of the *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA isomer relative to the obese control group. The content of this isomer, expressed as a percentage of total fatty acids was different between the treated groups. The CLA diet showed the greatest incorporation of the cis-9, trans-11 CLA isomer (70 fold greater than control group) compared to the VA+CLA diet, which was only 46 fold higher than the obese control group. Rats fed VA+CLA diet showed a greater incorporation of *trans*-11 18:1 (VA) compared to CLA and obese control rats (p < 0.001). Interestingly, rats fed the VA+CLA diet had lower proportions of linoleic acid (18:2 n6),  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (18:3 n3) and arachidonic acid (20:4 n6).

#### 3.3.4 Fasting plasma lipid, glucose and insulin concentrations

As shown in **Table 3-4**, fasting plasma TG, TC and LDL-C were significantly lower in obese rats fed either the CLA or the VA+CLA diet, as compared to the CD. However, feeding the VA+CLA diet further reduced plasma FFA concentration relative to the CLA fed rats and lowered TG and LDL-C concentrations not different from lean rats fed the CD (P>0.05). The CLA or VA+CLA diet lowered fasting insulin to that comparable of lean rats (P>0.05) and reduced total insulin concentration (AUC) after the MTT (P<0.05). There was no statistical difference between groups for either glucose metabolism (fasting or iAUC) or the relative change (iAUC) in insulin.

Dietary groups				
Lean control	Obese control	Obese CLA	Obese VA+CLA	
13.9±0.71 <sup>a</sup>	6.36±0.14 <sup>b</sup>	5.47±0.07 <sup>b</sup>	6.31±0.17 <sup>b</sup>	
0.05±0.01 <sup>b</sup>	0.02±0.00 <sup>b</sup>	0.08±0.00 <sup>b</sup>	1.72±0.06*** <sup>a</sup>	
28.4±0.14 <sup>d</sup>	37.9±0.56 <sup>a</sup>	32.7±0.32*** <sup>c</sup>	35.2±0.49** <sup>b</sup>	
35.76±0.22 <sup>a</sup>	20.51±0.24 <sup>b</sup>	20.15±0.25 <sup>b</sup>	15.06±0.52*** <sup>c</sup>	
1.2±0.03 <sup>a</sup>	0.91±0.02 <sup>b</sup>	0.96±0.02 <sup>b</sup>	0.47±0.06*** <sup>c</sup>	
0.05±0.01 <sup>°</sup>	0.04±0.01 <sup>c</sup>	2.85±0.04*** <sup>a</sup>	1.91±0.09*** <sup>b</sup>	
0.45±0.01 <sup>a</sup>	0.33±0.25 <sup>b</sup>	0.32±0.01 <sup>b</sup>	0.22±0.0** <sup>c</sup>	
	Lean control $13.9\pm0.71^{a}$ $0.05\pm0.01^{b}$ $28.4\pm0.14^{d}$ $35.76\pm0.22^{a}$ $1.2\pm0.03^{a}$ $0.05\pm0.01^{c}$ $0.45\pm0.01^{a}$	DietaryLean controlObese control $13.9\pm0.71^{a}$ $6.36\pm0.14^{b}$ $0.05\pm0.01^{b}$ $0.02\pm0.00^{b}$ $28.4\pm0.14^{d}$ $37.9\pm0.56^{a}$ $35.76\pm0.22^{a}$ $20.51\pm0.24^{b}$ $1.2\pm0.03^{a}$ $0.91\pm0.02^{b}$ $0.05\pm0.01^{c}$ $0.04\pm0.01^{c}$ $0.45\pm0.01^{a}$ $0.33\pm0.25^{b}$	Dietary groups           Lean control         Obese control         Obese CLA           13.9±0.71°         6.36±0.14°         5.47±0.07°           0.05±0.01°         0.02±0.00°         0.08±0.00°           28.4±0.14°         37.9±0.56°         32.7±0.32***°           35.76±0.22°         20.51±0.24°         20.15±0.25°           1.2±0.03°         0.91±0.02°         0.96±0.02°           0.05±0.01°         0.03±0.25°         0.32±0.01°	

**Table 3-3** Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of triglyceride in

 epididymal adipose tissue

Values are mean ±SEM, n=8. Means in the same row with different symbol are significantly different as compared to obese control; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001. Means in the same row with different letter are significantly different among control (lean and obese) and obese treated groups (CLA and VA+CLA). Long chain n3 PUFA were not detectable.

	Dietary groups			
	Lean control	Obese control	Obese CLA	Obese VA+CLA
TG (mmol/L)	0.47±0.0 <sup>c</sup>	3.28±0.4 <sup>a</sup>	2.05±0.3* <sup>b</sup>	1.4±0.1*** <sup>bc</sup>
FFA (mmol/L)	0.20±0.02 <sup>c</sup>	$0.48 \pm 0.02^{ab}$	0.57±0.03 <sup>a</sup>	$0.42 \pm 0.05^{b}$
TC (mmol/L)	2.26±0.0 <sup>c</sup>	6.18±0.4 <sup>a</sup>	4.22±0.2*** <sup>b</sup>	4.92±0.2** <sup>b</sup>
LDL-C (mmol/L)	0.97±0.1 <sup>c</sup>	2.28±0.2 <sup>a</sup>	1.56±0.1** <sup>b</sup>	1.2±0.1*** <sup>bc</sup>
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)	5.94±0.08	6.81±0.4	5.94±0.36	6.75±0.72
Glucose iAUC (mmol/L.h)	45.19±4.5	52.22±7.8	70.25±14.7	42.7±33.05
Fasting insulin (µIU/L)	73.41±27.4 <sup>b</sup>	629.2±165.3 <sup>a</sup>	216±13.6* <sup>b</sup>	372.8±98.24 <sup>ab</sup>
Insulin AUC (µIU/L.h)	8739±1566 <sup>c</sup>	40437±4384 <sup>ª</sup>	24548±3465 <sup>*b</sup>	23001±2744* <sup>b</sup>
Insulin iAUC (µIU/L.h)	4452±1464	11805±7603	11585±3885	4451±3015
Liver TG (mmol/g protein)	2.2±0.3 <sup>d</sup>	21.2±1.0 <sup>a</sup>	16.6±1.1* <sup>b</sup>	12.1±1.3*** <sup>c</sup>

 Table 3-4 Fasting plasma lipid concentrations, glucose and insulin AUC after MTT and hepatic TG

Plasma lipid and liver TG values are mean ±SEM, n=8. Insulin AUC is mean ±SEM, n=4. Means in the same raw with different symbol are significantly different as compared to obese control; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001. Means in the same raw with different letter are significantly different among control (lean and obese) and obese treated groups (CLA and VA+CLA).
#### 3.3.5 Post-prandial plasma TG response

Obese rats had a higher post-prandial plasma TG response (iAUC) compared to lean rats following an OFC (*Figure 3-3*). AUC analysis showed an improved total TG concentration (P<0.05) over the 10-h post-prandial period in rats fed either the CLA or VA+CLA diet ( $35 \pm 5$  and  $38 \pm 8$  mmol/L.h, respectively), compared to obese rats fed the CD ( $62 \pm 5$  mmol/L.h). However, the post-prandial iAUC for TG was not different between obese control and obese treatment groups (CLA and VA+CLA).



**Figure 3-3** Post-prandial triglyceride response following an oral fat challenge. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=4. AUC differ relative to obese rats fed the CD; <sup>b</sup>P<0.05, <sup>c</sup>P<0.001. iAUC differ relative to obese rats fed the CD; \*\*\*P<0.001.

# 3.3.6 Liver TG concentration and relative abundance of hepatic lipogenic enzymes

Liver TG concentration was higher in obese control rats compared to lean control rats. However, feeding the CLA diet resulted in a liver triglyceride concentration that was 22% lower than the obese rats fed the CD (*Table 3-4*). Interestingly, the VA+CLA diet further lowered liver TG concentration by 43% and 27% as compared to obese control and CLA groups, respectively. In addition, CLA and VA+CLA diets resulted in significantly lower hepatic ACC-1 protein abundance relative to obese control (34% and 38%, respectively) and was normalized to concentrations similar to lean rats fed the CD (P>0.05) (*Figure 3-4A, B*). The relative abundance of hepatic FAS protein did not differ between the obese groups (P>0.05) (*Figure 3-4A, C*).



**Figure 3-4** Effects of CLA and VA+CLA on hepatic protein abundance of lipogenic enzymes. Western blots of hepatic lipogenic enzymes (A), and relative abundance of ACC-1 (B) and FAS (C). Values are mean ± SEM, n=8. Means with different symbol are significantly different as compared to obese rats fed the CD; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001. Means with different letter are significantly different among control (lean and obese) and obese treated groups (CLA and VA+CLA).

### 3.4 Discussion

# 3.4.1 Combination of VA+CLA increases food intake and decreases liver weight

Dyslipidemia and insulin resistance are common features associated with cardiovascular disease and the metabolic syndrome. The homozygous obese (*cp/cp*), JCR:LA-*cp* rat, has a complete absence of the leptin receptor. As a consequence, the JCR:LA-*cp* rat spontaneously develops hyperphagia and obesity, associated dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, and macro-and micro-vascular dysfunction (Russell and Proctor, 2006; Elam *et al.*, 2001; Russell *et al.*, 2007). In the present study, we used this unique animal model to evaluate hypolipidemic effects of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA in combination with VA. Obese rats fed the CLA diet had a higher final body weight relative to obese control rats. However, this was not associated with an increase in fat deposition. *Cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA has been observed to regulate metabolic pathways involved in fatty acid oxidation as well as energy production and thermogenesis (Choi *et al.*, 2004; Ryder *et al.*, 2001; Rodriguez *et al.*, 2002 Choi *et al.*, 2007); therefore we investigated whether combination VA+CLA might promote fatty acid oxidation.

# 3.4.2 CLA and VA+CLA increase the enzymatic activity of a marker of mitochondrial oxidative capacity in liver and adipose tissue

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)-agonists, such as thiazolidenediones (TZDs), are effective drugs for the treatment of type 2 diabetes by inducing adipogenesis as well as increasing the uptake and metabolism of free fatty acids in adipose tissue. Increased mitochondrial oxidative capacity of white adipose tissue has been observed after treatment with TZD (Bogacka *et al.*, 2005; Rong *et al.*, 2007). CLA is a natural PPAR ligand (Moya-Camarena *et al.*, 1999; Wargent *et al.*, 2005; Brown *et al.*, 2003) and has been observed to promote fatty acid oxidation

(Choi et al., 2007) or TG synthesis in adipose tissue contributing to lower circulating FFA and TG concentrations (Roche et al., 2002). We observed a significant increase in citrate synthase activity in liver and inguinal adipose tissue following supplementation with either CLA or VA+CLA diet but not in perirenal adipose tissue. Interestingly, citrate synthase activity was not different between lean and obese control rats. It has been reported that insulin resistance is associated with an increase in muscle mitochondrial content and oxidative capacity (Turner et al., 2007; Hancock et al., 2008; Hoeks et al., 2008). Similarly, it has been demonstrated that mitochondrial biogenesis increases during adipose tissue differentiation (Wilson-Fritch et al., 2003). Therefore, it can be proposed that JCR:LA-cp rats maintain similar mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation relative to lean rats but during increased dietary lipid consumption, it is insufficient to prevent TG deposition. Treatment with CLA or VA+CLA may stimulate mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and in turn this may contribute to improvements in liver and adipose tissue metabolism in the JCR:LA-cp rat.

# 3.4.3 CLA and VA are similarly incorporated in adipose tissue triglyceride

It is well established that the fatty acid composition of adipose tissue is dependent on dietary intake. However, endogenous synthesis of fatty acids, fatty acid transport and inter-conversion processes (elongation and desaturation) are also significant contributing factors to the composition of adipose tissue (Hodson *et al.*, 2008). As expected, supplementation with *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA (CLA diet) and VA (VA+CLA diet) increased the proportion of these fatty acids in adipose tissue from obese rats. We also wish to note that the endogenous synthesis of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA from VA may have also occurred in this study. In both humans and animals, the conversion of dietary VA to CLA has been reported to be at a rate of approximately 12-19% (Santora et al., 2000; Turpeinen et al., 2002). We

also note that the dietary ratio of VA:CLA in this study was ~1.5:1, respectively (*Table 3-1*) and that the resultant incorporation of these fatty acids into adipose tissue was found to be 1:1 following supplementation (*Table 3-3*). While we cannot infer a rate of conversion from VA to CLA *per se* from this data, it would support that previously published.

# 3.4.4 Combined dietary VA+CLA has a greater effect to reduce dyslipidemia and hepatic steatosis

One of the most striking effects of the combined treatment (VA+CLA) in the present study was the reduction in hepatic TG concentration. The improvement in fasting lipid parameters by VA+CLA diet (i.e. TG and LDL-C) suggest an additional benefit with the combination diet and is consistent with previous observations that dietary VA has lipid lowering properties independent from CLA (Wang *et al.*, 2009). We also wish to note that both diets (CLA and VA+CLA) consistently contained 0.15 w/w of the *trans*-10, *cis*-12 CLA isomer, which is also known for its hypolipidemic properties.

ACC-1 and FAS are two key lipogenic enzymes involved in the synthesis of fatty acids and subsequent TG synthesis. TG is then either stored as lipid droplets within the hepatocyte, secreted into the blood compartment as VLDL or hydrolyzed via oxidation (Postic and Girard, 2008). It is plausible that reduced hepatic lipogenesis may contribute (at least in part) to reduced hepatic TG in rats fed either the CLA or VA+CLA diet, which is supported by a lower hepatic ACC-1 protein abundance relative to obese rats fed the CD. We have reported previously that VA may act in part via ACC-1 and FAS pathways resulting in reduced VLDL secretion to decrease circulating concentrations of plasma TG and LDL-C (Wang *et al.*, 2009). However, in conditions of insulin resistance, hepatic steatosis is thought to be caused by an increased free fatty acid flux from adipose tissue into the liver (Lewis *et al.*, 2002). As discussed above, rats fed the

combined treatment (VA+CLA) showed lower circulating FFA concentrations compared to rats fed the CLA diet alone. We propose that reduced FFA may also contribute to a further decrease in hepatic TG. In of ACC addition, activation is regulated by phosphorylation/dephosphorylation (Abu-Elheiga et al., 2000) and thus, it may be possible that CLA and VA+CLA diets may differently regulate post-translational modifications of ACC-1.

In conclusion, results in this study confirm hypolipidemic effects of chronic supplementation with *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA alone or in combination with *trans*-11 VA in the dyslipidemic and insulin resistant JCR:LA-*cp* rat. Our data also support the hypothesis that a dietary formulation enriched with both CLA and VA may further enhance their hypolipidemic properties, particularly during conditions of hypertriglyceridemia, hypercholesterolemia and/or hepatic steatosis.

### 3.5 Literature cited

Abu-Elheiga L, Brinkley WR, Zhong L, Chirala SS, Woldegiorgis, Wakil SJ. The subcellular localization of acetyl-CoA carboxylase 2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 2000; 97:1444-1449.

Bassett CMC, Edel AL, Patenaude AF, McCullough RS, Blackwood DP, Chouinard PW, Paquin P, Lamarche B, Pierce GN. Dietary Vaccenic Acid Has Antiatherogenic Effects in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> Mice. J Nutr 2010; 140:18-24.

Bauman DE, Barbano DM, Dwyer DA, Griinari JM. Technical note: Production of butter with enhanced conjugated linoleic acid for use in biomedical studies with animal models. J Dairy Sci 2000; 83:2422-2425.

Bauchart D, Roy A, Lorenz S, Chardigny JM, Ferlay A, Gruffat D, Se´be´dio JL, Chilliard Y, Durand D. Butters varying in trans 18:1 and cis-9, trans-11conjugated linoleic acid modify plasma lipoproteins in the hypercholesterolemic rabbit. Lipids 2007; 42:123-33.

Bhattacharya A, Banu J, Rahman M, Causey J, Fernandes G. Biological effects of conjugated linoleic acids in health and disease. J Nutr Biochem 2006; 17:789-810.

Bogacka I, Xie H, Bray GA, Smith SR. Pioglitazone induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human subcutaneous adipose tissue in vivo. Diabetes 2005; 54:1392-1399.

Brown JM, Boysen MS, Jensen SS, Morrison RF, Storkson J, Lea-Currie R, Pariza M, Mandrup S, McIntosh MK. Isomer-specific regulation of metabolism and PPAR gamma signaling by CLA in human preadipocytes. J Lipid Res 2003; 44:1287–300.

Cruz-Hernandez C, Kramer JKG, Kennelly JJ, Glimm DR, Sorensen BM, Okine EK, Goonewardene LA, Weselake RJ. Evaluating the conjugated linoleic acid and trans 18:1 isomers in milk fat of dairy cows fed increasing amounts of sunflower oil and a constant level of fish oil. J Dairy Sci 2007; 90:3786-3801.

Chardigny JM, Destaillats F, Malpuech-Brugère C, Moulin J, Bauman DE, Lock AL, Barbano DM, Mensink RP, Bezelgues JB, Chaumont P, Combe N, Cristiani I, Joffre F, German JB, Dionisi F, Boirie Y, Sébédio JL. Do trans fatty acids from industrially produced sources and from natural sources have the same effect on cardiovascular disease risk factors in healthy subjects? Results of the trans Fatty Acids Collaboration (TRANSFACT) study. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 87:558-66. Corl BA, Barbano DM, Bauman DE, Ip C. Cis-9, trans-11 CLA derived endogenously from trans-11 18:1 reduces cancer risk in rats. J Nutr 2003; 133: 2893-2900.

Choi JS, Jung MH, Park HS, Song J. Effect of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on insulin resistance and mRNA levels of genes regulating energy metabolism in high-fat–fed rats. Nutrition 2004; 20:1008-1017.

Choi JS, Koh I, Jung MH, Song J. Effects of three different conjugated linoleic acid preparations on insulin signalling, fat oxidation and mitochondrial function in rats fed a high-fat diet. Brit J Nutr 2007; 98:264-275.

Elam MB, Wilcox HG, Cagen LM, Deng X, Raghow R, Kumar P, Heimberg M, Russell JC. Increased hepatic VLDL secretion, lipogenesis, and SREBP-1 expression in the corpulent JCR:LA-cp rat. J Lipid Res 2001; 42:2039-2048.

Hancock CR, Han DH, Chen M, Terada S, Yasuda T, Wright DC, Holloszy JO. High-fat diets cause insulin resistance despite an increase in muscle mitochondria. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008; 105:7815–7820.

Hodson L, Skeaff CM, Fielding BA. Fatty acid composition of adipose tissue and blood in humans and its use as a biomarker of dietary intake. Progress in Lipid Research 2008; 47: 348-380.

Hoeks J, Briedé JJ, de V ogel J, Schaart G, Nabben M, Moonen-Kornips E, Hesselink MK, Schrauwen P. Mitochondrial function, content and ROS production in rat skeletal muscle: effect of high-fat feeding. FEBS let 2008; 582:510-516.

Jones EL, Kohen C, Jones AK, Lupoli B, Grandison AS, Beever DE, Williams CM, Calder PC, Yaqoob P. Chemical, physical, and sensory properties of dairy products enriched with conjugated linoleic acid. J Dairy Sci. 2005; 88: 2923-2937.

Lewis GF, Carpentier A, Adeli K, Giacca A. Disordered fat storage and mobilization in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Endocr Rev 2002; 23: 201-229.

Lock AL, Bauman DE. Modifying milk fat composition of dairy cows to enhance fatty acids beneficial to human health. Lipids 2004; 39:1197-1206.

Lock AL, Horne CAM, Bauman DE, Salter AM. Butter naturally enriched in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid alters tissue fatty acids and improves the plasma lipoprotein profile in cholesterol-fed hamsters. J Nutr 2005; 135:1934-1939. Mendis S, Cruz-Hernandez C, Ratnayake WMN. Fatty acid profile of Canadian dairy products with special attention to the trans-octadecenoic acid and conjugated linoleic acid isomers. J AOAC Int 2008; 9:811-819.

Motard-Belanger A, Charest A, Grenier G, Paquin P, Chouinard Y, Lemieux S, Couture P, Lamarche B. Study of the effect of trans fatty acids from ruminants on blood lipids and other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2008; 87:593-9.

Moya-Camarena AY, Vanden-Heuvel JP, Blanchard SG, Leesnitzer LA, Belury MA, Conjugated linoleic acid is a potent naturally occurring ligand and activator of PPARα. J Lipid Res 1999; 40:1426-1433.

Park Y, Pariza MW. Mechanisms of body fat modulation by conjugated linoleic acid (CLA). Food Res Int 2007; 40: 311-323.

Postic C, Girard J. The role of the lipogenic pathway in the development of hepatic steatosis. Diabetes & Metabolism 2008; 34: 643-648.

Raff M, Tholstrup T, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM, Wijnberg N. Diets rich in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid have no effect on blood pressure and isobaric arterial elasticity in healthy young men. J Nutr 2006; 136: 992-997.

Risérus U, Basu S, Jovinge S, Fredrikson GN, Ärnlöv J, Vessby B. Supplementation with conjugated linoleic acid causes isomer-dependent oxidative stress and elevated C-Reactive Protein. A potential link to fatty acid–induced insulin resistance. Circulation 2002; 106:1925-1929.

Roche HM, Noone E, Sewter C, Mc Bennett S, Savage D, Gibney MJ, O'Rahilly S, Vidal-Puig AJ. Isomer-dependent metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid: insights from molecular markers sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c and LXRalpha. Diabetes 2002; 51:2037-2044.

Rodriguez E, Ribot J, Palou A. Trans-10, cis-12, but not cis-9, trans-11 CLA isomer, inhibits brown adipocyte thermogenic capacity. Am J Physiol Regulatory Integrative Comp Physiol 2002; 282:R1789–R1797.

Rong JX, Qiu Y, Hansen MK, Zhu L, Zhang V, Xie M, Okamoto Y, Mattie MD, Higashiyama H, Asano S, Strum JC, Ryan TE. Adipose mitochondrial biogenesis is suppressed in db/db and high-fat diet–fed mice and improved by rosiglitazone. Diabetes 2007; 56:1751–1760.

Roy A, Chardigny JM, Bauchart D, Ferlay A, Lorenz S, Durand D, Gruffat D, Faulconnier Y, Sébédio J-L, Chilliard Y. Butters rich either in trans-10-C18:1 or in trans-11-C18:1 plus cis-9, trans-11 CLA differentially affect plasma lipids and aortic fatty streak in experimental atherosclerosis in rabbits. Animal 2007; 1:467-476.

Russell JC, Ahuja SK, Manickavel V, Rajotte RV, Amy RM. Insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance in the atherosclerosis-prone LA/N corpulent rat. Arteriosclerosis 1987; 7:620–626.

Russell JC, Proctor SD. Small animal models of cardiovascular disease: tools for the study of the roles of metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Pathol 2006; 15:318-330.

Russell, JC, Kelly SE, Proctor SD: The JCR:LA-cp Rat. An animal model of the metabolic syndrome exhibiting micro- and macro-vascular disease. In Animal Models of Diabetes. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Edited by Shafrir E. Boca Raton: CRC Press 2007; 157-183.

Ryder JW, Portocarrero CP, Song XM, Cui L, Yu M, Combatsiaris T, Galuska D, Bauman DE, Barbano DM, Charron MJ, Zierath JR, Houseknecht KL. Isomer-specific antidiabetic properties of conjugated linoleic acid improved glucose tolerance, skeletal muscle insulin action, and UCP-2 gene expression. Diabetes 2001; 50:1149-1157.

Santora JE, Palmquist DL, Roehrig KL. Trans-vaccenic acid is desaturated to conjugated linoleic acid in mice. J Nutr 2000; 130: 208-215.

Swain MLBB. Formation of traces of conjugated tetraenoic and trienoic constitutents in autoxidized linolenic and linoleic acids and vegetable oils during alkali-isomerization. JAOCS 1949; 26:272–277.

Taylor CG, Zahradka P. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid and insulin sensitivity and resistance in rodent models. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 79 (suppl):1164S-1168S.

Terpstra AHM. Effect of conjugated linoleic acid on body composition and plasma lipids in human: an overview of the literature. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 79:352-361.

Tholstrup T, Raff M, Basu S, Nonboe P, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM. Effects of butter high in ruminant trans and monounsaturated fatty acids on lipoproteins, incorporation of fatty acids into lipid classes, plasma C-reactive protein, oxidative stress, hemostatic variables, and insulin in healthy young men. Am J Clin Nutr 2006; 83:237-43.

Turner N, Bruce CR, Beale SM, Hoehn KL, So T, Rolph MS, Cooney GJ. Excess lipid availability increases mitochondrial fatty acid oxidative capacity in muscle: evidence against a role for reduced fatty acid oxidation in lipid-induced insulin resistance in rodents. Diabetes 2007; 56:2085– 2092. Turpeinen AM, Mutanen M, Aro A, Salminen I, Basu S, Palmquist DL, Griinari JM. Bioconversion of vaccenic acid to conjugated linoleic acid in humans. Am J Clin Nutri 2002; 76: 504-510.

Tyburczy C, Major C, Lock AL, Destaillats F, Lawrence P, Brenna JT, Salter AM, Bauman DE. Individual trans octadecenoic acids and partially hydrogenated vegetable oil differentially affect hepatic lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in golden syrian hamsters. J Nutr 2009; 139:257-263.

Vine DF, Takechi R, Russell JC, Proctor SD. Impaired postprandial apolipoprotein-B48 metabolism in the obese, insulin-resistant JCR:LA-cp rat: increased atherogenicity for the metabolic syndrome. Atherosclerosis 2007; 190:282-290.

Wahle KW, Heys SD, Rotondo D. Conjugated linoleic acids: are they beneficial or detrimental to health? Prog Lipid Res 2004; 43:553-87.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Wright DC, Vine DF, Field CF, Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR: LA-cp rats. J Nutr 2009; 139: 2049–2054.

Wang Y, Lu J, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Vine DF, Field CF, Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid dietary supplementation induces hypolipidemic effects in JCR:LA-cp rats. J Nutr 2008; 138:2117-2122.

Wargent E, Sennitt MV, Stocker C, Mayes AE, Brown L, O'dowd J, Wang S, Einerhand AW, Mohede I, Arch JRS, Cawthorne MA. Prolonged treatment of genetically obese mice with conjugated linoleic acid improves glucose tolerance and lowers plasma insulin concentration: possible involvement of PPAR activation. Lipids Health Dis 2005; 4:3-16.

Wilson-Fritch L, Burkart A, Bell G, Mendelson K, Leszyk J, Nicoloro S, Czeck M, Corvera S. Mitochondrial biogenesis and remodeling during adipogenesis and in response to the insulin sensitizer rosiglitazone. Mol Cell Biol 2003; 23:1085-1094.

Chapter 4 Diets enriched in *trans*-11 vaccenic acid attenuate ectopic (hepatic and intestinal) lipid storage and increase energy utilization in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

This chapter is presented in the format of manuscript that has been prepared for publication.

#### 4.1 Introduction

*Trans*-11 vaccenic acid (VA) is the predominant *trans* fatty acid (TFA) in the food chain accounting for up to 70% of total TFA in ruminant derived fats (Lock and Bauman, 2004; Cruz Hernandez *et al.*, 2007). It is produced naturally by bacterial bio-hydrogenation of dietary unsaturated fatty acids in ruminant animals and is found in products such as beef, lamb and dairy. VA is also the precursor to endogenous synthesis of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) in animals and humans (Palmquist *et al.*, 2005). Thus, VA can be endogenously converted to CLA with purported health benefits in animal models and humans (Banni *et al.*, 2001; Turpeinen *et al.*, 2002). However, in addition to being acknowledged as a potential source of CLA, there remains a void of information regarding the independent bioactivity of VA *per se*.

Studies using VA-enriched butter in different animal models of cardiovascular disease (CVD) were the first to provide insights into its lipid lowering effects (Lock *et al.*, 2005; Bauchart *et al.*, 2007; Bassett *et al.*, 2010). There is now accumulating evidence that suggests dietary supplementation of purified synthetic VA can improve fasting and post-prandial dyslipidemia and the pro-inflammatory state in animal models of CVD and the metabolic syndrome (MetS) (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2008; Blewett *et al.*, 2009; Ruth *et al.*, 2010; Tyburczy *et al.*, 2009). Most recently, it has been demonstrated that synthetic VA is a partial agonist to peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPAR- $\alpha$  and  $-\gamma$ ) *in vitro*,

acting with similar affinity to PPAR agonists commonly used for the treatment of dyslipidemia and type-2 diabetes (Wang *et al.*, 2012). Despite this proposed mechanism of action, putative benefits of VA to insulin resistance and energy use and storage have not been clear in these early studies.

Dairy products are the predominant (natural) source of VA in the food chain, yet conversely are also characterized by a high proportion of select saturated fatty acids (SFA) including; myristic (C14:0), palmitic (C16:0) and stearic (C18:0) acid; as well as a high proportion of the monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA), oleic acid (C18:1). While contentious, SFA have historically been associated with negative effects on health. For instance, high SFA intake is associated with insulin resistance and postprandial normolipidemic patients with lipemia in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) (Musso et al., 2003). The literature also documents that replacing SFA (specifically palmitic acid) with polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) (Mozaffarian et al., 2010) or low-fat dairy products (Ohlsson, 2010) lowers LDL/HDL cholesterol and total/HDL cholesterol ratios. Given the recent evidence for the health effects of VA, the logical approach would be to produce VA enriched animal-derived foods that could provide an additional health benefit. However, literature so far has only documented effects of purified synthetic VA on a vegetable oil background diet (Wang et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008; Blewett et al., 2009; Ruth et al., 2010; Tyburczy et al., 2009). In this study we investigated whether supplementation of dairy fat with synthetic VA (fortification) could increase the putative health value of dairy-derived SFA specifically during conditions of MetS. Additionally, we used a systemic approach to determine the effects of VA-supplemented dairy fat on energy utilization and metabolic abnormalities in a rodent model of NAFLD and the MetS, the JCR:LA-cp rat.

132

#### 4.2 Materials and methods

#### 4.2.1 Animals and diets

Rats of the JCR:LA-cp strain that are homozygous for the corpulent trait (cp/cp) have a complete absence of the leptin receptor in the plasma membrane and spontaneously develop symptoms associated with the MetS and the pre-diabetic state typically observed in humans; including obesity, insulin resistance and dyslipidemia (Russell and Proctor, 2006). Heterozygous rats (+/?) from the same strain are lean and metabolically normal and were used as controls. Male JCR:LA-cp rats were raised in our established breeding colony at the University of Alberta as previously described (Vine et al., 2007). At 8 weeks (wk) of age, rats were randomized and assigned to either control diet (CD) or CD supplemented with VA for 8 wk and had free access to food and water. Age and weight matched lean littermates were fed the CD to represent normal metabolic conditions. Food consumption and body weight were monitored weekly throughout the study. For the purpose of this study, the term MetS will be used to define rats of the JCR:LA-cp strain fed the CD while those rats fed the CD supplemented with VA will be defined as MetS+VA. All tests were done on the same batch of animals except for the *in vivo* hepatic and intestinal TG secretion experiments, which were performed on a separate group of animals.

The CD was prepared by adding 1% w/w cholesterol and 15% w/w of fat to an 85% basal mix diet (Harlan laboratories, TD.06206) and contained 42% of energy from carbohydrate, 23.7% of energy from protein and 34.3% of energy from fat. The fat portion of the diet was adjusted by using predominantly SFA from dairy fat (*Supp. Table 4-1-Appendix 'B'*), thus reflecting the typical composition of a western diet. The VA diet was prepared by adjusting the fatty acid composition (replacing oleic acid by VA) of the CD to provide 1.0% w/w of VA. Both diets had a constant PUFA to SFA ratio of 0.4 and a constant n6 to n3 PUFA ratio of 8. Purified VA was synthesized by chemical alkali isomerization from linoleic acid-rich vegetable oil (Swain, 1949). Fatty acid composition of diets was confirmed by gas chromatograph analysis (Cruz Hernandez *et al.*, 2007) of the fat blend samples (*Supp. Table 4-2- Appendix 'B'*). Animal care and experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal care and approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee - Livestock.

# 4.2.2 Body composition analysis

Body composition was assessed non-invasively at baseline and every subsequent wk by NMR for small animals (Minispec LF90 Body Composition Analyzer, Bruker, Germany). Body weight (BW) was assessed prior to measurements to calculate fat mass percentage. After sacrifice, visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue depots were excised and weighed to determine body fat distribution.

# 4.2.3 Adipocyte size of visceral and inguinal depots

Sections (5  $\mu$ m) were prepared from paraffin-embedded fat pads of MetS and MetS+VA rats (n=5) and subjected to hematoxylin and eosin staining using standard procedures. Histology sections were viewed at 10X magnification and images obtained with a Westover Digital AMID-1 [D] microscope. The cell area ( $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) of 130 adipocytes per rat was measured with the open-source image analysis software (ImageJ, National Institutes of Health, <u>http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij</u>).

# 4.2.4 Assessment of energy expenditure by indirect calorimetry

Oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>) and respiratory exchange ratio (RER) were measured by indirect calorimetry in rats at the end of the study. Rats were fed *ad libitum* the control and experimental diets and were maintained under 12 hr light and dark cycles beginning at 6:00 pm and 6:00 am, respectively. Rats were acclimatized for 24 hr before recording and measurements of VO<sub>2</sub> were recorded every 14 min over 24 hr using the Oxymax System (Columbus Instruments, Columbus, OH). To adjust for metabolic body size, VO<sub>2</sub> was then expressed in mL/h/kg of body weight<sup>0.75</sup>. The RER equals volumes of CO<sub>2</sub> released by volumes of O<sub>2</sub> consumed.

# 4.2.5 Meal tolerance test (MTT) and the post-prandial response of insulin and glucose

Insulin and glucose concentrations were measured in conscious, unrestrained rats after consuming a standard test meal (Lab diet 5001, PMI Nutrition International, Brentwood, MO) in order to mimic an oral glucose tolerance test in humans as described previously (Russell *et al.*, 1987). Briefly, 0.5 mL of blood was taken from the tip of the tail as t=0 min after an overnight fasting. Rats (n=6) were then given 5 g of the test meal. Timing was started when 50% of the test meal had been consumed and two additional samples of blood were taken at 30 and 60 minutes following the initial consumption of the food pellet. The homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) index was used as an estimate of insulin resistance. The HOMA-IR index was calculated as fasting insulin ( $\mu$ U/mL) x fasting glucose concentrations (mg/dL)/405 (Levy *et al.*, 1998).

### 4.2.6 Liver histology

Sections (5  $\mu$ m) were prepared from paraffin-embedded liver portions and subjected to hematoxylin and eosin staining using standard procedures. Slides from lean, MetS and MetS+VA rats (n=5-6) were blindly scored for steatosis, hepatocellular ballooning and portal and lobular inflammation by an independent veterinary pathologist as previously described (Brunt *et al.*, 1999). The NAFLD activity score was determined by adding the scores

for steatosis, ballooning and lobular inflammation and was used to assess the progression of NAFLD (Kleiner *et al.*, 2005; Brunt, 2007).

### 4.2.7 Tissue homogenization

Adipose tissue, intestine and liver samples were harvested after an overnight fast (16hr). Samples of the small intestine were washed with PBS and a two centimeter section from the middle of jejunum was cut. Samples (0.25 g) were homogenized in 500 µL of homogenization buffer (10 mM Tris-HCL, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT and 1% protease inhibitor cocktail (P8340, Sigma Aldrich). Protein concentration of the homogenate was measured colorimetrically with a BCA<sup>TM</sup> Protein Assay Kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA).

# 4.2.8 Quantification of phosphorylated hormone sensitive lipase (pHSL) protein

Phosphorylation of HSL Ser<sup>660</sup> was detected in adipose tissue homogenates by Western blotting. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis on 3–8% Tris-acetate polyacrylamide gels (InVitrogen), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane and incubated with an anti-pHSL (Ser 660) rabbit polyclonal (1:2000; catalogue no. 4126; Cell Signaling, Technology®) antibody. Detection was achieved using an anti-rabbit secondary antibody and the ECL advance detection system (Amersham Biosciences). Equal loading of total HSL was confirmed using an anti-HSL rabbit polyclonal (1:1000; catalogue no. 4107; Cell Signaling, Technology®) antibody. Results are expressed as a ratio of pHSL to total HSL protein.

# 4.2.9 Quantification of intestinal and hepatic lipids

The mass of intestinal and hepatic TG and cholesteryl esters (CE) was determined by gas chromatography as described previously (Sahoo *et al.*,

2004) in tissues collected after an overnight fast. Briefly, lipids from tissue homogenate (0.5 mg protein) were extracted by the Folch method (Folch *et al.*, 1957) in the presence of tridecanoylglycerol as the internal standard. Extracted lipid samples were derivatized with Sylon BFT (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA) and analyzed by gas chromatography (Agilent Technologies, 6890 Series equipped with a flame ionization detector; Palo Alto, CA). The concentration of each lipid class was adjusted by the protein concentration of the tissue homogenate.

### 4.2.10 Hepatic and intestinal gene expression

An array of target genes (n=44) involved in lipid synthesis, oxidation and transport were measured by performing real time-PCR using a quantitative 'high-throughput' method (Deminice *et al.*, 2011) in tissues harvested following an overnight fast.

Total RNA was isolated from frozen segments of both the liver and intestine using TRIzol<sup>®</sup> (Invitrogen, Canada) as described in the manufacturer's protocol and reversed transcribed into cDNA. Forty-eight gene assays (44 target genes + 4 housekeeping genes) and cDNA samples were loaded into separate wells on a 48.48 format Chip gene expressionassay (Fluidigm). Target gene expression was detected by qPCR (40 amplification cycles) using the Fluidigm Biomark system. Relative mRNA expression for each target gene was normalized to the housekeeping genes,  $\beta$ -actin (Actb) and 36b4 (Arbp) and quantified using the comparative cycle threshold (Ct) method. Data was expressed as a fold change in mRNA expression relative to MetS control rats <sup>(2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct)</sup>. All assays were performed in triplicate.

### 4.2.11 Assessment of hepatic and intestinal TG secretion in vivo

Hepatic and intestinal TG secretion *in vivo* was conducted in a separate group of rats. Hydrolysis of plasma lipoprotein TG was inhibited by an

intraperitoneal injection of poloxamer-407 (P-407) in fasted rats (14 hr overnight fast). P-407 is a non-ionic detergent that inhibits mainly lipoprotein lipase, reducing the enzymatic activity by 95% three hours following administration (Johnston, 2004). For the hepatic TG secretion study, blood samples were collected from the tip of the tail and plasma obtained before (0 hr) and 1, 2, 3 and 4 hr after the P-407 injection. An aliquot of plasma was frozen for assessing TG by a commercially available colorimetric method (Wako Chemicals USA, Inc.).

In the case of the intestinal TG secretion study, following the P-407 injection (30 minutes), rats were oral gavaged with 10 uCi [<sup>3</sup>H] triolein in 500  $\mu$ L of olive oil. Blood samples were then collected and plasma obtained at 0 h (before P-407 administration) and 1, 2, 3 and 4 hr after the oral gavage. An aliquot of plasma was frozen for assessing radioactivity by liquid scintillation counting as described below.

### 4.2.12 Plasma lipid extraction and radioactivity counting

Total lipids were extracted from plasma samples by the Folch method and separated by TLC using heptane/isopropyl ether/acetic acid (60:40:4, by vol) to separate neutral lipids, as described previously (Lehner and Vance, 1999). The lipid classes were visualized by exposure to iodine vapor, the bands were scraped and the associated radioactivity was determined by liquid scintillation counting. Radioactive counts in TG were expressed as dpm per milliliter of plasma.

### 4.2.13 Plasma biochemical assays

The concentrations of select biochemical variables in fasting plasma from lean and MetS groups were assessed using commercially available enzymatic colorimetric assays. TG (Wako Chemicals USA, Inc.) were measured using direct colorimetric chemical enzymatic reactions. Plasma insulin (Insulin (Rat) Ultrasensitive EIA, AIPCO Immunoassays, 80 INSRTU-E01) was determined using commercially available enzymatic immunoassays for rodents and plasma glucose was measured as per the glucose oxidase/peroxidase method (Genzyme Diagnostics P.E.I. Inc.). Samples were analyzed in triplicate using assay kits from a single lot and performed in one batch.

### 4.2.14 Statistical analysis

All results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical comparisons between groups were analyzed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test when experiments included more than two groups (Graph Pad Prism 5.0, USA). Changes in plasma TG concentrations over time (*in vivo* secretion studies) were analyzed via two-way ANOVA (variables: treatment and time) (SAS 9.2, USA). Two-way ANOVA and two-tailed, unpaired Student *t* tests also followed by Tukey's post hoc test, were used as indicated. Post-prandial glucose and insulin metabolism were assessed by area under the curve (AUC) analysis. Fasting concentrations of these parameters were further subtracted from the total AUC to yield the incremental area under the curve (iAUC). The level of significance was set at P<0.05.

### 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 VA decreases total body fat mass and favorably alters fat distribution and adipocyte size

In the present study, enrichment of dairy fat with VA did not affect food intake or body weight relative to CD in MetS rats (*Supp. Figure 4-1-Appendix 'B'*). However, body composition analysis by NMR revealed that MetS+VA rats had a modest but significant reduction in total body fat mass (6%, P<0.01) relative to control MetS rats after 4 wk of feeding (*Figure 4-1A*). Furthermore, VA supplementation resulted in changes in body fat distribution as assessed by dissection of truncal fat depots during

sacrifice (Figure 4-1B). MetS+VA rats had lower mesenteric (17%, P<0.001) but higher inguinal fat mass (29%, P<0.001) relative to control MetS rats. In addition to this selective adipose re-distribution effect, VA reduced adipocyte size in both visceral and inguinal fat pads by 44 and 37%, respectively relative to CD (P<0.001, Figure 4-2), which is reminiscent of PPARy-induced adipose differentiation and improved function (Johnson et al., 2007). Interestingly, total white adipose tissue (WAT) was not different (P>0.05) between MetS groups suggesting that the reduction in total fat mass by VA may be associated with decreased ectopic fat accumulation. Indeed, VA was also observed to reduce liver weight (13.2%, P<0.001) as compared to CD. It is important to note that we did not quantify the lipid mass in extra hepatic organs such as pancreas, heart and muscle. However, the lower total fat mass observed in VA-fed rats could not be atributed to decreased hepatic lipid storage only. Therefore, for the purpose of this thesis we have defined the decrease in total fat mass as "reduced ectopic lipid accumulation".



**Figure 4-1** Body composition of lean (open squares), MetS (open circles) and MetS+VA rats (black circles); A) total fat mass assessed by NMR (% BW) throughout the study and B) liver and adipose tissue weight assessed during sacrifice. Values are means, with standard errors (SEM) represented by vertical bars (n=8). Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. Mes, mesenteric; Per, perirenal; Ing, inguinal; WAT, white adipose tissue.



**Figure 4-2** Representative images of visceral (Panel A and B) and inguinal (Panel C and D) adipocytes (magnification 10X) and the respective adipocyte size distributions (Panel E and F) of MetS and MetS+VA rats (n=5). Mean adipocyte size values ( $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) of MetS+VA group differ relative to those of control MetS rats (\*P<0.001) as assessed by two-tailed, unpaired Student *t* test and a non-parametric test (Mann-Whitney test). In (E) and (F), error bars denote maximum and minimum of size distribution.

#### 4.3.2 VA decreases the active form of HSL in adipose tissue

The protein expression of pHSL, the active form of the rate-limiting enzyme in adipose tissue lipolysis, was significantly reduced (25%; P<0.01) in the adipose of MetS+VA rats relative to control MetS rats (*Figure 4-3*).



**Figure 4-3** Protein abundance of the active form of HSL (pHSL) was assessed via immunoblot analysis. pHSL protein was measured in the adipose tissue of MetS and MetS+VA groups and expressed as a ratio of pHSL to total HSL. A representative blot and graph, presented as a measure of arbitrary units, are shown. Values are means, with standard errors (SEM) represented by vertical bars (n=5). Mean values of the MetS+VA group were significantly different from those of the control MetS group (\*P<0.05) as assessed two-tailed, unpaired Student *t* tests.

#### 4.3.3 Enrichment of dairy fat with VA increases energy expenditure

Total energy expenditure was measured by indirect calorimetry at the end of the study to determine whether decreased total fat mass by VA was associated with increased metabolic rate. Results confirmed increased total energy expenditure in MetS+VA rats relative to control MetS rats, as measured by oxygen consumption (*Figure 4-4*). This modest increase in oxygen consumption cannot be explained by lean mass which did not differ between MetS and MetS+VA rats (*Supp. Figure 4-2-Appendix 'B'*).



**Figure 4-4** Oxygen consumption of lean (open squares), MetS (open circles) and MetS+VA rats (black circles). Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

Interestingly, increased metabolic rate in MetS+VA rats was concomitant with higher RER (*Figure 4-5*), indicating increased whole body glucose utilization over lipid as a substrate for oxidation for energy production. It is noteworthy that the indirect calorimetric analysis was performed in rats fed *ad-libitum*, suggesting increased fuel availability (mainly glucose) in the hyperphagic JCR:LA-*cp* rats. Since glucose oxidation is positively associated with glucose disposal rates (Galgani *et al.*, 2008a), an increase in RER in MetS+VA rats relative to control MetS rats may be explained by an improvement in glucose uptake capacity.



В



**Figure 4-5** RER (Panel A) of lean (open squares), MetS (open circles) and MetS+VA rats (black circles) and means ±SEM over a 24 hr period (Panel B), n=8. Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

Α

# 4.3.4 VA decreases fasting insulin and improves glucose response after a meal

Previous studies using the JCR:LA-*cp* rat have shown no effect of VA on insulin or glucose metabolism (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009). In the present study, enrichment of dairy fat with VA in MetS rats resulted in a significant reduction in fasting insulin concentrations relative to CD (P<0.001) (*Figure 4-6A*). This was consistent with lower total insulin concentrations after the MTT (P<0.05), as determined by the analysis of total area under the curve (AUC) (*Figure 4-6B*).

Post-prandial incremental changes in plasma insulin concentrations (iAUC, P>0.05) (*Figure 4-6C*) or total glucose concentrations (AUC, P>0.05) (*Figure 4-7B*) did not differ between MetS or MetS+VA rats. However, MetS+VA rats had lower post-prandial glucose response relative to control MetS rats (iAUC, P<0.05) (*Figure 4-7A and 4-7C*). Notably, MetS+VA rats showed a lower HOMA-IR index relative to control MetS rats (*Figure 4-7D*) suggesting improved whole body insulin resistance.



**Figure 4-6** Post-prandial insulin (Panel A) response after a MTT of lean (open squares), MetS (open circles) and MetS+VA rats (black circles) and the corresponding AUC (Panel B) and iAUC (Panel C). MetS+VA rats had lower Bfasting insulin concentrations (Panel A; p<0.001). Values are means, with standard errors (SEM) represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

n

Lean

MetS

MetS+VA



Α





**Figure 4-7** Post-prandial glucose (Panel A) response after a MTT of lean (open squares), MetS (open circles) and MetS+VA rats (black circles) and the corresponding AUC (Panel B) and iAUC (Panel C). The HOMA-IR index (Panel D) was calculated as fasting insulin ( $\mu$ U/mL) x fasting glucose concentrations (mg/dL)/405. Values are means, with standard errors (SEM) represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

### 4.3.5 VA attenuates the progression of NAFLD

Enrichment of dairy fat with VA prevented the hepatic accumulation of lipids, an effect that was clearly evident in the hematoxylin and eosin stained histological sections (*Figure 4-8A*). Histopathological analysis revealed that MetS+VA rats had decreased steatosis (42%, P<0.01) and NAFLD activity scores (34%, P<0.01) as compared to control MetS rats (*Figures 4-8B and 4-8C*). There was no significant difference (P>0.05) in inflammation or hepatocellular ballooning between MetS and MetS+VA rats (Data not shown).



**Figure 4-8** Progression of NAFLD in lean, MetS and MetS+VA rats. Liver sections were stained with H&E and histopathologically graded for B) steatosis and C) NAFLD activity scores; A) Original magnification 20 X. Values are means ±SEM, n=5. Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

# 4.3.6 VA affects intestinal and hepatic lipid deposition, but has a unique opposing effect on the regulation of mRNA expression for select genes

The effect of VA on reducing lipid accumulation in peripheral tissues was confirmed by quantitative analysis of intestinal and hepatic lipids. Results revealed that VA decreased intestinal TG to the level of lean rats (P>0.05) and by 43% (P<0.001) relative to control MetS rats. Hepatic TG and CE were also decreased in MetS+VA rats (68 and 76.5%, respectively, P<0.001) relative to control MetS rats (*Table 1*).

 Table 4-1 Intestinal and hepatic lipid composition

	Lean	MetS	MetS+VA
Intestinal TG (µg/g protein)	$93.2 \pm 16.2^{a}$	193.2 ± 43.8 <sup>b</sup>	$109.7 \pm 7.7^{a}$
Intestinal CE (µg/g protein)	$15.2 \pm 0.8$	12.6 ± 1.4	16.2 ± 1.1
Hepatic TG (µg/g protein)	$47.5 \pm 4.0^{a}$	$385.8 \pm 44.3^{\circ}$	$123.3 \pm 24.8^{b}$
Hepatic CE (µg/g protein)	29.0 ± 3.7 <sup>a</sup>	145.3 ± 23.1 <sup>b</sup>	34.1± 2.1 <sup>a</sup>

Values are means  $\pm$  SEM, n=8. Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05). Tissues from lean, MetS and Met+VA were collected after an overnight fasting (16 hr); TG, triglyceride; CE, cholesteryl ester.

expression analysis demonstrated opposing transcriptional Gene regulation by VA in the intestine and the liver (Figure 4-9A and 4-9B). VA was observed to down-regulate the expression of genes involved in de *novo* lipogenesis, SREBP1 and its downstream target FAS in the intestine but not in the liver, relative to CD (P<0.05). The mRNA expression of genes involved in intestinal/hepatic fatty acid oxidation and transport were not affected by the dietary treatment (Supp. Table 4-3 and 4-4- Appendix (B), except UCP2, which was decreased in the intestine and I-FABP which was increased in the liver of MetS+VA relative to control MetS rats. With regard to the mRNA expression of genes involved in TG synthesis and secretion, VA was observed to up-regulate DGAT2 in the liver relative to CD (P<0.05). Interestingly, VA down-regulated the mRNA expression of apoA1, the main apolipoprotein constituent of HDL in the intestine while up-regulating its expression in the liver as compared to CD (P<0.05). Conversely, the expression of SRB1, the receptor that mediates HDLdependent cholesterol efflux was higher in the liver and the intestine of MetS+VA relative to control MetS rats (P<0.05).



**Figure 4-9** Intestinal (Panel A) and hepatic (Panel B) mRNA expression of genes involved in lipid synthesis, oxidation and transport that were regulated by VA. Values are means  $\pm$ SEM, n=5. Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

# 4.3.7 Enrichment of dairy fat with VA significantly reduces hepatic and intestinal TG secretion

Results from the functional secretion studies revealed that MetS+VA rats had a decreased hepatic (27% lower) and intestinal (39% lower) TG secretion relative to control MetS rats at time 4 hr post-injection of the lipase inhibitor P-407 (P<0.05). Interestingly, MetS+VA rats had similar (P>0.05) intestinal TG secretion relative to lean rats (*Figure 410A and 4-10B*).



Figure 4-10 TG secretion after injection of the lipase inhibitor (P-407). Differences between groups in the TG secretion in vivo study were analyzed using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. A) Hepatic TG secretion was assessed during fasting conditions. Means of MetS (open circles) versus MetS+VA (black circles) were significantly different at 4 hr after P-407 injection (P<0.05); B) Intestinal TG secretion was assessed after an oral gavage of [<sup>3</sup>H] triolein in olive oil following lipase inhibition. Mean values of MetS and MetS+VA rats differ at 4 hr after gavage (P<0.05). Means of MetS+VA versus lean rats (open squares) did not differ (p>0.05). Values in the TG secretion in vivo study are means ±SEM, n=3. Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05).

В

#### 4.4 Discussion

# 4.4.1 Improved insulin sensitivity by VA may be associated with body fat re-distribution and decreased ectopic fat accumulation

The lipid centric hypothesis of obesity proposes that insulin resistance is causally related to peripheral ectopic fat accumulation and subsequent lipid toxicity (Galgani et al., 2008b). Longstanding evidence also suggests that dietary SFA can cause insulin resistance via pleiotropic mechanisms (Reviewed by Kien, 2009; Sacks and Katan, 2002). However, results from the present study demonstrate that VA can favorably attenuate dairy derived SFA-induced whole body insulin resistance in the JCR:LA-cp rat (Figure 4-6 and Figure 4-7). Improved whole body insulin resistance by VA was concomitant with an increase in RER (*Figure 4-5*), suggesting an improved (whole body) capacity to match fuel oxidation to fuel availability, a condition that is blunted in insulin resistant and type 2 diabetic subjects (Galgani et al., 2008a; Galgani et al., 2008b). Furthermore, enrichment of dairy fat with VA also decreased the active form of HSL in adipose tissue (Figure 4-3), a known effect of insulin action (Langin et al., 1996). Therefore, it is plausible that an increase in insulin sensitivity by VA prevents activation and subsequent lipolytic activity of HSL. We hypothesize that these insulin-sensitizing effects of VA may be associated with its potential to bind and activate PPARy regulated pathways in adipose tissue. Indeed, we have recently demonstrated that VA has similar affinity to PPARy relative to the insulin sensitizer pioglitazone (Wang et al., 2012), a thiazolidinedione class drug that exerts its effects via PPARy activated pathways in adipose tissue. Consistent with findings from this study, Mohankumar et al., (2012) have recently shown that VA reduces adipocyte size in fa/fa Zucker rats. Therefore, it is plausible that activation of PPARy by VA preferentially in inguinal adipose tissue may ameliorate adipose lipid storage capacity, thereby partitioning lipids from other insulin sensitive tissues (such as the liver).
# 4.4.2 Enrichment of dairy fat with VA decreases hepatic and intestinal lipid accumulation and results in opposing transcriptional control in the liver and the intestine

VA has recently been shown to reduce fasting and post-prandial triglyceridemia and to lower hepatic TG (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009; Chaper 3). The lipid lowering properties of VA have been recently attributed to its potential in functionally activating both PPAR $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  regulated pathways (Wang *et al.*, 2012); however, putative benefits to insulin resistance and mechanisms of energy use and storage have not been clear. In this study we have shown for the first time the beneficial effects of VA on the progression of NAFLD. Specifically, we have demonstrated that enrichment of dairy fat with VA alleviates the putative stimulatory effects of SFA on hepatic steatosis and NAFLD progression (*Figure 4-8*). Considering that free fatty acids derived from adipose tissue are the main contributors to excessive hepatic lipid accumulation (Donnelly *et al.*, 2005), it is plausible that the action of VA in adipose tissue via PPAR $\gamma$  may alleviate NAFLD under these dietary conditions.

Hepatic steatosis can also occur as an imbalance between lipid availability (lipid synthesis) and disposal (oxidation of fatty acids or VLDL secretion) (Ferré *et al.*, 2010). We hypothesized that VA may further exert its effects by regulating endogenous synthesis and/or oxidative pathways. However, gene expression analysis revealed that reduced hepatic lipid accumulation by VA could not be explained at the transcriptional level (*Figure 4-9, Supp. Table 4-4- Appendix 'B'*). With the exception of the upregulation of hepatic PPARα targets, apoA1 and SRB1 (Jay and Ren, 2007; Duval *et al.*, 2007), our data suggests that reduced hepatic lipid accumulation by VA is independent of PPARα-mediated lipid oxidation. Interestingly, previous findings have demonstrated lower protein expression of hepatic lipogenic enzymes and upregulated hepatic citrate synthase activity in JCR:LA-*cp* rats fed VA (Wang *et al.*, 2008) or VA/CLA (Chapter 3)

supplemented diets. We therefore propose that VA may regulate *de novo* lipid synthesis and fatty acid turnover at a functional level but this may result in a compensatory transcriptional response by the liver.

In contrast to our hepatic observations, decreased intestinal TG accumulation by VA can potentially be explained by a lower mRNA expression of SREBP-1 and its lipogenic target gene FAS (*Figure 4-9*). During insulin resistance, SREBP-1 is thought to remain insulinresponsive (Wu et al., 2012), and in the present study, VA improved whole body insulin resistance (decreased fasting insulin; *Figure 4-6*) that may result in the reduced levels of intestinal SREBP-1 mRNA (Figure 4-9). Furthermore, VA also lowered intestinal mRNA expression of UCP2, a mitochondrial uncoupling protein that has also been shown to be induced by high-fat feeding (Schrauwen et al., 2001). Interestingly, in addition to its thermoregulatory uncoupling function, UCP2 has been demonstrated to attenuate oxidative damage (Deng et al., 2012; Collins et al., 2005) and its expression is up-regulated during conditions of oxidative stress (Echtay et al., 2002; Lee et al., 1999; Horimoto 2004). We speculate that normalization of intestinal UCP2 by VA to the level of healthy lean rats may be an adaptive response to lower high fat feeding-induced oxidative stress milieu.

## 4.4.3 Enrichment of dairy fat with VA significantly improves intestinal and hepatic TG secretion

VA has been shown to exert lipid-lowering effects without altering body fat distribution or insulin metabolism in previous studies (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009; Tyburczy *et al.*, 2009; Chaper 3). In this study we provide evidence that enrichment of dairy fat with VA improves insulin resistance and reduces TG secretion from both the liver and the intestine (*Figure 4-10*). Specifically, we have shown that VA normalizes intestinal TG secretion to the level of healthy lean control rats. These striking effects

of VA on intestinal lipid metabolism could possibly be due to decreased lipid synthesis (by the intestine) and/or intestinal TG accumulation. It is noteworthy that gene expression and intestinal lipid mass were measured in tissue collected after an overnight fast and this may not necessarily reflect the physiological status in response to a lipid load. However, cumulative evidence suggests that increased intestinal TG accumulation due to impaired intestinal *de novo* lipogenesis is associated with exacerbated lipoprotein synthesis resulting in post-prandial dyslipidemia (Zoltowska *et al.*, 2003; Haidari *et al.*, 2002; Federico *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, the resulting TG peak in response to a meal is largely determined by the metabolic priming of the enterocyte during fasting conditions.

In conclusion, enrichment of dairy fat with VA alleviates exacerbated symptoms of the MetS and the pre-diabetic state in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat. Specifically, these results suggest that VA exerts pleiotropic effects on the intestinal and adipose lipid metabolism which may further beneficially remodel the liver during NAFLD. Collectively, findings from this study provide further insights into the beneficial effects of VA and suggest that enriching dairy products with VA (naturally or by fortification) may be used as an approach to increase health value of dairy-derived fats, especially to those individuals with MetS.

### 4.5 Literature cited

Banni S, Angioni E, Murru E, Carta G, Melis MP, Bauman D, Dong Y, and Ip C. Vaccenic acid feeding increases tissue levels of conjugated linoleic acid and suppresses development of premalignant lesions in rat mammary gland. Nutr. Cancer. 2001; 41: 91-97.

Bassett CM, Edel AL, Patenaude AF, McCullough RS, Blackwood DP, Chouinard PY, Paquin P, Lamarche B, and Pierce GN. Dietary vaccenic acid has antiatherogenic effects in LDLr-/- mice. J. Nutr. 2010; 140: 18–24.

Bauchart D, Roy A, Lorenz S, Chardigny JM, Ferlay A, Gruffat D, Sébédio JL, Chilliard Y, and Durand D. Butters varying in trans 18:1 and cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid modify plasma lipoproteins in the hypercholesterolemic rabbit. Lipids 2007; 42: 123–133.

Blewett, H. J., C. A. Gerdung, M. R. Ruth, S. D. Proctor, and Field, C. J. Vaccenic acid favourably alters immune function in obese JCR:LA-cp rats. Brit. J. Nutr. 2009; 102: 526-536.

Brunt EM, Janney CG, Di Bisceglie AM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, and Bacon BR. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a proposal for grading and staging the histological lesions. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 1999; 94: 2467-2474.

Brunt EM. Pathology of fatty liver disease. Modern Pathol. 2007; 20: S40–S48.

Collins P, Jones C, Choudhury S, Damelin L, and Hodgson H. Increased expression of uncoupling protein 2 in HepG2 cells attenuates oxidative damage and apoptosis. Liver Int. 2005; 25: 880–887.

Cruz-Hernandez C, Kramer JKG, Kennelly JJ, Glimm DR, Sorensen B. M, Okine EK, Goonewardene LA, and Weselake RJ. Evaluating the conjugated linoleic acid and trans 18:1 isomers in milk fat of dairy cows fed increasing amounts of sunflower oil and a constant level of fish oil. J. Dairy Sci. 2007; 90: 3786-3801.

Deminice R, da Silva RP, Lamarre SG, Brown C, Furey GN, McCarter SA, Jordao AA, Kelly KB, King-Jones K, Jacobs RL, Brosnan ME, and Brosnan JT. Creatine supplementation prevents the accumulation of fat in the livers of rats fed a high-fat diet. J. Nutr. 2011; 10: 1799-1804.

Deng S, Yang Y, Han Y, Li X, Zhang Z, and Wang Y. UCP2 inhibits ROSmediated apoptosis in A549 under hypoxic conditions. PLoS One 2012; 7: e30714. Donnelly KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, and Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J. Clin. Invest. 2005; 115: 1343–1351.

Duval C, Müller M, and Kersten S. PPARalpha and dyslipidemia. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 2007; 1771: 961-971.

Echtay KS, Murphy MP, Smith RA, Talbot DA, and Brand MD. Superoxide activates mitochondrial uncoupling protein 2 from the matrix side. Studies using targeted antioxidants. J. Biol. Chem. 2002; 277: 47129–4735.

Federico LM, Naples M, Taylor D, and Adeli K. Intestinal insulin resistance and aberrant production of apolipoprotein B48 lipoproteins in an animal model of insulin resistance and metabolic dyslipidemia. Diabetes 2006; 55: 1316–1326.

Ferré P, and Foufelle F. Hepatic steatosis: a role for de novo lipogenesis and the transcription factor SREBP-1c. Diabetes, Obes. Metab. 2010; 12: 83–92.

Folch J, Lees M, and Sloane Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 1957; 226: 497-509.

Galgani JE, Heilbronn LK, Azuma K, Kelley DE, Albu JB, Pi- Sunyer X, Smith SR, Ravussin E; Look AHEAD Adipose Research Group. Metabolic flexibility in response to glucose is not impaired in people with type 2 diabetes after controlling for glucose disposal rate. Diabetes 2008a; 57: 841–845.

Galgani JE, Moro C, and Ravussin E. Metabolic flexibility and insulin resistance. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab 2008b; 295: E1009–E1017.

Haidari M, Leung N, Mahbub F, Uffelman KD, Kohen-Avramoglu R, Lewis GF, and Adeli K. Fasting and postprandial overproduction of intestinally derived lipoproteins in an animal model of insulin resistance. J. Biol. Chem. 2002; 277: 31646–31655.

Horimoto M, Resnick MB, Konkin TA, Routhier J, Wands JR, and Baffy G. Expression of Uncoupling Protein-2 in Human Colon Cancer. Clin. Cancer Res. 2004; 10: 6203–6207.

Jay MA, and Ren J. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) in metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr. Diabetes Rev. 2007; 3: 33-39.

Johnston TP. The P-407-induced murine model of dose-controlled hyperlipidemia and atherosclerosis: a review of findings to date. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2004; 43: 595-606.

Johnson JA, Trasino SE, Jr. Ferrante AW, and Vasselli JR. Prolonged decrease of adipocyte size after rosiglitazone treatment in high- and low-fat-fed rats. Obesity 2007; 15: 2653-2663.

Kien CL. Dietary interventions for metabolic syndrome: role of modifying dietary fats. Curr. Diab. Rep. 2009; 9: 43-50.

Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, Behling C, Contos MJ, Cummings OW, Ferrell LD, Liu YC, Torbenson MS, Unalp-Arida A, Yeh M, McCullough AJ, Sanyal AJ. Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Clinical Research Network. Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2005; 41: 1313-1321.

Langin D, Holm C, and Lafontan M. Adipocyte hormone-sensitive lipase: a major regulator of lipid metabolism. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 1996; 55 (1B): 93-109.

Lee FY, Li Y, Zhu H, Yang S, Lin HZ, Trush M, and Diehl AM. Tumor necrosis factor increases mitochondrial oxidant production and induces expression of uncoupling protein-2 in the regenerating mice [correction of rat] liver. Hepatology 1999; 29: 677–687.

Lehner R, and Vance DE. Cloning and expression of a cDNA encoding a hepatic microsomal lipase that mobilizes stored triacylglycerol. Biochem. 1999; J. 343: 1-10.

Levy JC, Matthews DR, Hermans MP. Correct homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) evaluation uses the computer program. Diabetes Care. 1998; 21(12):2191-2.

Lock AL, and Bauman DE. Modifying milk fat composition of dairy cows to enhance fatty acids beneficial to human health. Lipids 2004; 39: 1197–1206.

Lock AL, Horne CA, Bauman DE, and Salter AM. Butter naturally enriched in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid alters tissue fatty acids and improves the plasma lipoprotein profile in cholesterol-fed hamsters. J. Nutr. 2005; 135: 1934–1939.

Mohankumar SK, Hanke D, Siemens L, Cattini A, Enns J, Shen J, Reaney M, Zahradka P, and Taylor CG. Dietary supplementation of trans-11-vaccenic acid reduces adipocyte size but neither aggravates nor attenuates obesity-mediated metabolic abnormalities in fa/fa Zucker rats. Br J Nutr. 2012; [Epub ahead of print].

Mozaffarian D, Micha R, and Wallace S. Effects on coronary heart disease of increasing polyunsaturated fat in place of saturated fat: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS Med. 2010; 7: e1000252.

Musso G, Gambino R, De Michieli F, Cassader M, Rizzetto M, Durazzo M, Fagà E, Silli B, and Pagano G. Dietary habits and their relations to insulin resitance and postprandial in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2003; 37: 909-916.

Ohlsson L. Dairy products and plasma cholesterol levels. Food Nutr. Res. 2010; 54: 5124.

Palmquist DL, Lock AL, Shingfield KJ, and Bauman DE. Biosynthesis of conjugated linoleic acid in ruminants and humans. Adv. Food Nutr. Res. 2005; 50: 179–217.

Russell JC, Ahuja SK, Manickavel V, Rajotte RV, and Amy RM. Insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance in the atherosclerosis-prone LA/N corpulent rat. Arteriosclerosis 1987; 7: 620–626.

Russell JC, and Proctor SD. Small animal models of cardiovascular disease: tools for the study of the roles of metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc. Pathol. 2006; 15: 318-330.

Ruth MR, Wang Y, Yu H, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Proctor SD, Vine DF, and Field CJ. Vaccenic and elaidic acid modify plasma and splenocyte membrane phospholipids and mitogen-stimulated cytokine production in obese insulin resistant JCR: LA-cp rats. Nutrients 2010; 2: 181-197.

Sacks FM, and Katan M. Randomized clinical trials on the effects of dietary fat and carbohydrate on plasma lipoproteins and cardiovascular disease. Am. J. Med. 2002; 113: 13S-24S.

Sahoo D, Trischuk TC, Chan T, Drover VA, Ho S, Chimini G, Agellon LB, Agnihotri R, Francis GA, and Lehner R. ABCA1-dependent lipid efflux to apolipoprotein A-I mediates HDL particle formation and decreases VLDL secretion from murine hepatocytes. J. Lipid Res. 2004; 45: 1122-1131.

Schrauwen P, Hoppeler H, Billeter R, Bakker AH, Pendergast DR. Fiber type dependent upregulation of human skeletal muscle UCP2 and UCP3 mRNA expression by high-fat diet. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab.Disord. 2001; 25: 449–456.

Swain MLBB. Formation of traces of conjugated tetraenoic and trienoic constitutents in autoxidized linolenic and linoleic acids and vegetable oils during alkali-isomerization. JAOCS. 1949; 26: 272-277.

Turpeinen AM, Mutanen M, Aro A, Salminen I, Basu S, Palmquist DL, and Griinari JM. Bioconversion of vaccenic acid to conjugated linoleic acid in humans. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2002; 76: 504-510.

Tyburczy C, Major C, Lock AL, Destaillats F. Lawrence P, Brenna JT, Salter AM, and Bauman DE. Individual trans octadecenoic acids and partially hydrogenated vegetable oil differentially affect hepatic lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in golden Syrian hamsters. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 257-263.

Vine DF, Takechi R, Russell JC, and Proctor SD. Impaired postprandial apolipoprotein-B48 metabolism in the obese, insulin-resistant JCR: LA-cp rat: increased atherogenicity for the metabolic syndrome. Atherosclerosis 2007; 190: 282-290.

Wang Y, Lu J, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Vine DF, Field CJ, and Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid dietary supplementation induces hypolipidemic effects in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2008; 138: 2117-2122.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Wright DC, Vine DF, Field CJ, and Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 2049-2054.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Shen J, Reaney MJ, Scott SL, Dugan ME, Anderson HD, Field CJ, Proctor SD, and Vine DF. The intestinal bioavailability of vaccenic acid and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$  and - $\gamma$  in a rodent model of dyslipidemia and the metabolic syndrome. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2012; 56: 1234-1246.

Wu X, Chen K, and Williams KJ. The role of pathway-selective insulin resistance and responsiveness in diabetic dyslipoproteinemia. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 2012; 23: 334-344.

Zoltowska M, Ziv E, Delvin E, Sinnett D, Kalman R, Garofalo C, Seidman E, and Levy E. Cellular aspects of intestinal lipoprotein assembly in Psammomys obesus: a model of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 2003; 52: 2539-2545.

# Chapter 5 Metabolic effects of *trans*-11 vaccenic acid are associated with its ability to exert tissue specific regulation of endocannabinoids in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat

This chapter is presented in the format of manuscript that has been prepared for publication.

#### 5.1 Introduction

Trans-11 18:1 (vaccenic acid or VA) is the most abundant ruminantderived *trans* fatty acid (rTFA) in the food chain and has sparked major interest due to mandatory labeling of all trans fat on foods in North America. VA is also the precursor to endogenous synthesis of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA), the first rTFA to be recognized as having numerous health-related effects. Interestingly, a growing body of evidence from studies in animal models has suggested a novel bioactivity for VA independent of its conversion to CLA, specifically its ability to attenuate complications observed in the metabolic syndrome (MetS), including dyslipidemia, fatty liver disease and low-grade inflammation (Wang et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009; Blewett et al., 2009; Chapter 4). It has been recently proposed that the lipid-lowering and anti-inflammatory effects of VA may be partially associated with its ability to ligand activate PPAR-y regulated pathways (Wang et al., 2012; Jaudszus et al., 2012), particularly in adipose tissue (Chapter 4). In general, bioactive long chain fatty acids also act by modifying the composition of membrane phospholipids (PL) and potentially replace or interfere with the synthesis of PL-derived lipid signaling molecules including endocannabinoids (Calder, 2006; Banni and Di Marzo, 2010). However, the degree to which VA is incorporated into membrane phospholipids and potential effects on endocannabinoid pathways remains unknown.

Endocannabinoids (EC) are endogenous lipids that modulate appetite behavior and energy metabolism through activation of cananabinoid (CB) receptors in the brain and peripheral tissues. The most common EC include *N*-arachidonoylethanolamide (Anandamide, AEA) and 2arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG), and these are derivatives of arachidonic acid (AA; C20:4, n-6) in PL and have been shown to be modulated in response to dietary polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) intake (Berger *et al.*, 2001; D'Asti *et al.*, 2010; Watanabe *et al.*, 2003; Alvheim *et al.*, 2012). Given the pathophysiological role of an overactive endocannabinoid system (ECS) in obesity, hepatic steatosis and associated insulin resistance and dyslipidemia (Di Marzo *et al.*, 2001; Osei-Hyiaman *et al.*, 2005; Osei-Hyiaman *et al.*, 2008), nutritional interventions that target the EC pathways and the biosynthetic precursor AA, could be used as potential therapeutic strategies.

A recent study in hypercholesterolemic subjects provided the first evidence that a dairy product naturally enriched with VA and CLA, decreases plasma concentrations of anandamide in a dose-dependent manner (Pintus et al., 2012). However, the direct effect of VA on EC biosynthesis was not able to be determined in this study. Furthermore. given the bioactive properties of VA to favourably modulate whole body energy metabolism (Chapters 3 and 4), we proposed to explore novel regulatory effects of VA on tissue EC as a potential mechanism of action for these metabolic effects. In order to address the specific role of dietary VA alone or in combination with CLA in EC metabolism we supplemented the diets of an established rodent model of MetS (the JCR:LA-cp rat) with these bioactive long chain fatty acids, and examined tissue concentrations of CB receptor ligands anandamide and 2-AG, the biosynthetic precursor AA in membrane PL, and the two bioactive non-CB receptor ligands and anandamide analogues, *N*-oleoylethanolamide (OEA) and Npalmitoylethanolamide (PEA).

#### 5.2 Materials and Methods

#### 5.2.1 Animals and diets

Rats of the JCR:LA-*cp* strain that are homozygous for the corpulent trait (*cp/cp*) have a complete absence of the leptin receptor in the plasma membrane and spontaneously develop symptoms associated with the MetS and the pre-diabetic state typically observed in humans; including obesity, insulin resistance and dyslipidemia (Russell and Proctor, 2006). Male JCR:LA-*cp* rats were raised in our established breeding colony at the University of Alberta as previously described (Vine *et al.*, 2007). At 8 weeks (wk) of age, rats (n=5) were randomized and assigned to one of four diets (control and experimental diets) for 8 wk and had free access to food and water.

The control diet was prepared as described previously (Chapter 4). Experimental diets were prepared by adjusting the fatty acid composition (replacing oleic acid by either VA, CLA or VA+CLA) of the control diet to provide approximately 1% w/w of VA (VA), 1% w/w of cis-9, trans-11 CLA (CLA) or both 1% w/w of VA + 0.5% w/w of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA (VA+CLA). Control and experimental diets were iso-caloric and had a constant PUFA to SFA ratio of 0.4 and a constant n6 to n3 PUFA ratio of 8. Purified VA was synthesized by chemical alkali isomerization from linoleic acid-rich vegetable oil (Swain, 1949). Semi-purified cis-9, trans-11 CLA (G-c9t11 80:20) containing 59.8% of cis-9, trans-11 CLA and 14.4% of trans-10, cis-12 CLA was kindly provided by Lipid Nutrition. Fatty acid composition of diets was confirmed by gas chromatograph analysis (Cruz-Hernandez et al., 2007) of the fat blend samples (Table 5-1). After sacrifice, samples of the hypothalamus, skeletal muscle, visceral adipose tissue (VAT), liver, and jejunal segments of the intestine were excised and snap frozen at -80°C until analysis. Animal care and experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal care and

approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee-Livestock.

	Dietary groups							
Fatty acid (g/100 FAME*)	Control	VA	CLA	VA+CLA				
C12:0	1.0	1.2	1.2	2.1				
C14:0	3.6	4.2	4.4	7.6				
C14:1	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.7				
C16:0	19.0	18.1	17.7	22.6				
C16:1	1.2	1.0	1.0	1.1				
C18:0	11.0	10.9	10.6	7.7				
C18:1 trans-9	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.2				
C18:1 trans-11 (VA)	1.3	8.8	1.0	8.8				
C18:1 <i>cis</i> -9 (oleic acid)	35.6	27.9	26.3	17.3				
C18:1 <i>cis</i> -11	1.9	1.4	1.3	0.8				
C18:2 n6	13.7	13.9	13.6	12.7				
C18:3 n3	1.7	1.7	1.7	1.7				
cis9, trans11 CLA	0.2	0.3	8.8	4.1				
Summaries								
∑SFA	37.5	37.6	37.3	45.2				
∑C12:0, C14:0, C16:0	23.6	23.5	23.3	32.2				
PUFA	15.6	15.8	15.4	14.4				
<i>cis</i> MUFA	40.0	31.6	29.8	20.5				
<i>trans</i> MUFA	4.2	11.4	3.0	10.7				
n6	13.8	13.8	13.8	13.8				
n3	1.7	1.7	1.7	1.7				
n6:n3 ratio	7.9	7.9	7.9	7.9				
PUFA:SFA ratio	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3				

Table 5-1 Fatty acid composition of control and experimental diets<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are expressed as percentage of fatty acids; \*FAME, fatty acid methyl esters

#### 5.2.2 Tissue lipid extraction

Tissues (0.2-0.3 g) were homogenized and total lipids extracted with chloroform/methanol (2:1, v/v) containing internal deuterated standards for anandamide (AEA), 2-AG, OEA and PEA to quantify for recovery efficiency ([<sup>2</sup>H]<sub>8</sub>-AEA, 20 ng/mL), ([<sup>2</sup>H]<sub>5</sub>-2-AG, 200 ng/mL), ([<sup>2</sup>H]<sub>2</sub>-OEA, 20 ng/mL) and ([<sup>2</sup>H]<sub>4</sub>PEA, 20 ng/mL) (Cayman Chemical, MI, USA). This mixture was washed with 0.25 volume of 0.9% KCl according to the Folch procedure (Folch, 1957) to separate the phases. Samples were centrifuged and the lipid containing lower phase was transferred to clean tubes and evaporated to dryness under a stream of nitrogen at room temperature. After lipid extraction from tissue samples, lipid classes were separated by solid phase extraction using commercial silica cartridges Strata SI-1 (Phenomenex, Torrance, USA). Samples were reconstituted in 500 µL of chloroform, vortexed and loaded to the column following by washing with 10 mL of chloroform to elute neutral lipids. The fractions containing endocannabinoids were then eluted with 10 mL chloroform/methanol (9:1, v/v), evaporated to dryness under nitrogen and reconstituted in methanol until analysis by LC/MS. The fractions containing phospholipids (PL) were eluted with 10 mL methanol and stored at -20 °C until further preparation for fatty acid analysis. Recovery of endocannabinoids in the chloroform/methanol (9:1, v/v) eluates was confirmed by LC/MS and estimated to be higher than 90%. Purity of the PL fraction was confirmed by thin layer chromatography (TLC) using heptane/isopropyl ether/acetic acid (60:40:4, by vol) as previously described (Lehner and Vance, 1999).

#### 5.2.3 Analysis of endocannabinoids and ananadamide analogues

Samples were analyzed by liquid chromatography/atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry (LC-APCI-MS) using an Agilent 1200 series HPLC coupled to a 3200 QTRAP mass spectrometer (AB

SCIEX; Concord, ON, Canada). LC separation was performed through an Ascentis Express C18 column (7.5 cm x 2.1 mm, 2.7µm particle size) at a flow rate of 300 mL/min. Two mobile phases were used: A) methanol with 0.2% formic acid and B) 50 mM ammonium formate, pH 3. The gradient elution method started at 85% A from 0-0.1 min; then the mobile phase A linearly increased to 95% from 0.1-2 min and held for 2 additional min (2.1-4 min). Then, the mobile phase returned to 85% A and held at this composition for 6 min equilibrium time prior to the next injection. The mass spectrometer was operated in the multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) scan mode under positive ionization. Nitrogen was used as curtain gas, drying and nebulizing gas. Anandamide, 2-AG, OEA and PEA in their protonated forms  $[M+H]^+$  were identified as peaks with the appropriate m/zvalues and quantified by comparison with its external synthetic standards ran under the same conditions. The MRM transitions monitored were as follows: AEA m/z 348 $\rightarrow$ 62; AEA-d8 m/z 356 $\rightarrow$ 62; 2-AG m/z 379 $\rightarrow$ 287; 2-AG-d5 m/z 384 $\rightarrow$ 287; PEA m/z 300 $\rightarrow$ 62; PEA-d4 m/z 304 $\rightarrow$ 62; OEA m/z326 $\rightarrow$ 62; OEA-d2 *m*/*z* 328 $\rightarrow$ 62 or 310. The linear range for calibration curves were 5 to 500 ng/mL for AEA, PEA and OEA and 0.1 to 10 µg/mL for 2-AG. Since 2-AG and 1-AG undergo rapid isomerization (Zoerner et al., 2011), results for 2-AG were reported as the sum of the individual peaks of 2-AG + 1-AG.

#### 5.2.4 Fatty acid analysis in PL

PL fractions were transesterified using 0.5 N methanolic base (metallic sodium in methanol), (Sigma-Aldrich) at 80°C for 15 min forming fatty acid methyl esters (FAME). The FAME were flushed with N<sub>2</sub> and stored at  $-35^{\circ}$ C until analysis and fatty acids were separated by GC/FID (Varian 3900, Mississauga, ON) using a 100-m CP-Sil 88 fused-silica capillary column (100 m x 0.25 mm i.d. x 0.2 µm film thickness; Varian Inc., Mississauga, ON) as previously described (Cruz-Hernandez *et al.*, 2007). The FAME were identified by comparison with retention times of

commercial GC reference FAME standards (FAME mix #463 and CLA FAME #UC-59M) from Nu-Chek Prep Inc.

A detailed description of the procedures used in these two Sections is included in *Appendix 'C'*.

## 5.2.5 Measurement of fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) protein expression in the jejunum

Proteins from jejunal mucosa homogenates were separated by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis on Tris-acetate polyacrylamide gels (3–8%, InVitrogen), transferred to a PVF membrane and incubated with anti-FAAH1 rabbit polyclonal (1:1000; catalogue no. 9179; Cell Signaling, Technology®) and anti- $\beta$ -actin mouse polyclonal (1:5000; catalogue no. ab8226; Abcam®, St Louis, MO, USA) antibodies as previously described (Lu *et al.*, 2011). Detection was achieved using anti-rabbit and anti-murine secondary antibodies and the ECL advance detection system (Amersham Biosciences). Results are expressed as a ratio of target protein: $\beta$ -actin protein.

### 5.2.6 Measurement of pro-inflammatory genes in the jejunum

Total RNA was isolated from frozen segments of jejunal mucosa using TRIzol<sup>®</sup> (Invitrogen, Canada) as described in the manufacturer's protocol and reversed transcribed into complementary DNA using MultiScribe Reverse transcriptase (High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The expression of CB<sub>1</sub>, FAAH, and the pro-inflammatory cytokines; tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ) relative to the housekeeping gene *Actb* ( $\beta$ -actin) was assessed by quantitative real-time PCR, using the StepOne<sup>TM</sup> Plus Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems) and StepOne<sup>TM</sup> Software (version 2). PCR contained complementary DNA template, 100 nM of commercially available, pre-mixed target-specific

primers and Taqman® FAM<sup>TM</sup>-labelled probe (Applied Biosystems) for CB<sub>1</sub>, FAAH, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and *Actb*. Thermal cycling conditions were as follows: 95°C for 20 s, followed by forty cycles of 95°C for 1 s and 60°C for 20 s. Relative mRNA expression for each target gene was normalized to *Actb* mRNA and quantified using the comparative cycle threshold (Ct) method. Data was expressed as ratio of target mRNA expression relative to  $\beta$ -actin. All assays were performed in triplicate.

### 5.2.7 Statistical analysis

All results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical comparisons between dietary groups were analyzed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. The level of significance was set at P<0.05 (Graph Pad Prism 5.0, USA).

### 5.3 Results

# 5.3.1 Dietary supplementation with VA alone or in combination with CLA decreases the concentration of 2-AG and anandamide analogues (OEA and PEA) in the liver and VAT

Supplementation with VA, CLA or VA+CLA for 8 wk significantly reduced 2-AG concentrations in the liver (81%, P<0.001; 49%, P<0.05 and 71%, P<0.001, respectively) relative to control diet. Interestingly, VA or VA+CLA (but not CLA) also resulted in decreased (P<0.001) concentrations of OEA (to not detectable levels) and PEA (-57% and -56%, respectively) in this tissue as compared to control (*Figure 5-1*).

VA and VA+CLA (but not CLA) significantly (P<0.05) reduced the concentrations of 2-AG (-86% and -87%, respectively) and OEA (-59%, P<0.05 and -74%, P<0.01, respectively) in VAT as compared to control *(Figure 5-2)*.

In contrast, dietary supplementation with VA, CLA or VA+CLA did not affect EC concentrations (anandamide and 2-AG) in the hypothalamus (*Figure 5-3*) or skeletal muscle (*Figure 5-4*) relative to control diet (P>0.05). All dietary treatments (VA, CLA and VA+CLA) significantly reduced (P<0.01) the concentrations of OEA (-20%, -19% and -17%, respectively) while only VA reduced the concentration of PEA (21%, P<0.05) in the skeletal muscle relative to control (*Figure 5-4*). Collectively, results from this study suggest that there were no additive effects of combining VA with CLA on reducing EC concentrations in liver and VAT.

# 5.3.2 Supplementation with VA increases the concentration of anandamide and anandamide analogues (OEA and PEA) in the jejunum

Dietary supplementation with VA (but not CLA or VA+CLA) significantly increased jejunal concentrations of the EC anandamide (3.8 fold, P<0.05) and its analogues OEA (1.7 fold, P<0.05) and PEA (1.9 fold, P<0.01) (*Figure 5-5*). It is important to mention that dietary VA has not been reported to alter food intake in previous studies using different animal models (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009; Mohankumar *et al.*, 2012; Tyburczy *et a*., 2009). Therefore, it is unlikely that increased anandamide concentrations in the jejunum (following VA treatment) would result in an appetite stimulatory effect as a result of CB receptor activation by anandamide in the intestine.









**Figure 5-2** Endocannabinoid and *N*-acyl ethanolamide concentrations in VAT of JCR:LA-*cp* rats following dietary supplementation with VA, CLA or VA+CLA. Values are means +/- SEM, represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ (p<0.05).





**Figure 5-3** Endocannabinoid and *N*-acyl ethanolamide concentrations in the hypothalamus of JCR:LA-*cp* rats following dietary supplementation with VA, CLA or VA+CLA. Values are means +/- SEM, represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ (p<0.05).



**Figure 5-4** Endocannabinoid and *N*-acyl ethanolamide concentrations in the skeletal muscle of JCR:LA-*cp* rats following dietary supplementation with VA, CLA or VA+CLA. Values are means +/- SEM, represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ (p<0.05).



**Figure 5-5** Endocannabinoid and *N*-acyl ethanolamide concentrations in the jejunum of JCR:LA-*cp* rats following dietary supplementation with VA, CLA or VA+CLA. Values are means +/- SEM, represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ (p<0.05).

## 5.3.3 Effects of dietary supplementation with VA, CLA or their combination on tissue PL fatty acid composition

We analyzed tissue PL fatty acid composition to determine whether changes in tissue EC (anandamide and 2-AG) and N-acyl ethanolamides (OEA and PEA) were due to alterations in the availability of their biosynthetic precursors in membrane PL (Table 5-2). Interestingly, we found that VA supplementation increased the EC precursor, AA in liver (30%, P<0.001) and skeletal muscle (11%, P<0.05) PL compared to control diet. VA+CLA fed-rats also had increased amounts of AA (20%) in liver PL relative to control rats (P<0.01). The incorporation of AA in VAT, jejunal and hypothalamus PL was not affected by any experimental diet (VA, CLA or VA+CLA) relative to control (P>0.05). VA and VA+CLA fed rats had lower concentrations of the OEA precursor, oleic acid (-35% and -40%, respectively) while VA-fed rats only had lower amounts of the PEA precursor, palmitic acid (-21%) in liver PL relative to control rats (P<0.001). CLA and VA+CLA fed rats had lower (P<0.001) amounts of oleic acid (-15% and -17%, respectively) in VAT PL, while only VA+CLA rats had lower concentrations of oleic acid (-33%, P<0.01) in jejunal PL relative to control rats. Collectively, findings from fatty acid analysis in tissue PL suggest that the regulatory effect of VA on tissue EC could not be explained by changes in their biosynthetic membrane PL precursor (AA).

We also looked at the PL incorporation of VA and CLA in all tissues analyzed. VA and VA+CLA fed-rats had higher (P<0.001) concentrations of VA in skeletal muscle (12 fold), liver (3.2 fold), VAT (4.8 fold) and jejunal (3.8 fold) PL compared with rats fed the control diet. However, VA was not detected in the hypothalamus irrespective of dietary treatment. Consistent with previous reports (Santora *et al.*, 2000), CLA was not detected in tissues of VA-fed rats, suggesting limited incorporation of CLA (produced from VA desaturation) into tissue PL. Furthermore, CLA was only incorporated in the liver, VAT and jejunal PL of CLA fed-rats and to a lesser extent in the liver and VAT PL of rats fed the VA+CLA diet (P<0.05).

## 5.3.4 The magnitude of incorporation of VA in membrane PL is tissue-dependent

To associate the tissue-specific effects of VA with its magnitude of incorporation, we conducted a comparison of VA in tissue membrane PL (*Figure 5-6*). VA was efficiently incorporated in VAT (1.8 g/100 g fatty acids), followed by the liver (1.6 g/100 g fatty acids), jejunum (1.5 g/100 g fatty acids) and skeletal muscle (1.5 g/100 g fatty acids). VA was not detected in hypothalamic membrane PL.

	Cor	Control VA		CLA		VA+CLA				
Fatty acids (g/100 g total fatty acids)	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM		
Liver										
16:0	16.4 <sup>b</sup>	±0.7	12.9 <sup>a</sup>	±0.3	15.7 <sup>b</sup>	±0.4	14.6 <sup>ab</sup>	±0.5		
<i>cis</i> 9 18:1 (OA)	6.0 <sup>b</sup>	±0.3	3.9 <sup>a</sup>	±0.1	5.2 <sup>b</sup>	±0.2	3.6 <sup>a</sup>	±0.1		
trans11-VA	0.2 <sup>a</sup>	±0.1	1.6 <sup>c</sup>	±0.0	0.7 <sup>b</sup>	±0.0	1.6 <sup>c</sup>	±0.1		
<i>cis</i> 9, <i>trans</i> 11-CLA	ND	_	ND	_	0.6 <sup>b</sup>	±0.0	0.3 <sup>a</sup>	±0.0		
20:4 <i>n</i> 6 (AA)	19.7 <sup>a</sup>	±0.7	25.2 <sup>b</sup>	±0.5	18.5 <sup>ª</sup>	±0.7	24.2 <sup>b</sup>	±0.6		
VAT										
16:0	10.8	±1.2	9.5	±0.1	11.3	±1.3	10.3	±0.1		
<i>cis</i> 9 18:1 (OA)	11.8 <sup>b</sup>	±0.3	11.6 <sup>b</sup>	±0.2	10.0 <sup>a</sup>	±0.2	9.8 <sup>a</sup>	±0.2		
trans11-VA	0.4 <sup>a</sup>	±0.1	1.8 <sup>c</sup>	±0.0	0.7 <sup>b</sup>	±0.1	1.9 <sup>c</sup>	±0.0		
<i>cis</i> 9, <i>trans</i> 11-CLA	ND	_	ND	_	0.8 <sup>b</sup>	±0.1	0.6 <sup>a</sup>	±0.0		
20:4 <i>n</i> 6 (AA)	15.0	±1.3	13.9	±0.2	14.5	±0.9	14.1	±0.3		
Hypothalamus										
16:0	17.6	±0.3	17.1	±0.3	17.2	±0.4	18.2	±0.4		
<i>cis</i> 9 18:1 (OA)	21.4	±0.3	21.9	±0.2	21.0	±0.7	20.7	±0.6		
trans11-VA)	ND	—	ND	_	ND	_	ND	_		
<i>cis</i> 9, <i>trans</i> 11-CLA	ND	—	ND	_	ND	_	ND	_		
20:4 <i>n</i> 6 (AA)	9.9	±0.2	9.6	±0.2	10.2	±0.5	10.3	±0.6		
Muscle										
16:0	19.8	±1.9	21.3	±0.7	21.0	±0.6	17.1	±0.8		
<i>cis</i> 9 18:1 (OA)	5.3	±0.4	5.3	±0.4	5.7	±0.4	4.6	±0.4		
trans11-VA	0.1 <sup>a</sup>	±0.1	1.0 <sup>b</sup>	±0.0	0.1 <sup>a</sup>	±0.1	1.2 <sup>b</sup>	±0.1		
<i>cis</i> 9, <i>trans</i> 11-CLA	ND	—	ND	—	ND	—	ND	—		
20:4 <i>n</i> 6 (AA)	11.7 <sup>a</sup>	±0.3	13.0 <sup>b</sup>	±0.3	11.8 <sup>ab</sup>	±0.4	10.8 <sup>a</sup>	±0.3		
Jejunum										
16:0	13.2	±0.5	11.6	±0.3	13.0	±0.3	12.5	±0.8		
<i>cis</i> 9 18:1 (OA)	8.3 <sup>b</sup>	±0.1	7.2 <sup>ab</sup>	±0.4	7.7 <sup>b</sup>	±0.6	5.6 <sup>a</sup>	±0.4		
trans11-VA	0.4 <sup>a</sup>	±0.0	1.5 <sup>°</sup>	±0.1	0.6 <sup>a</sup>	±0.1	1.4 <sup>c</sup>	±0.1		
<i>cis</i> 9, <i>trans</i> 11-CLA	ND	—	ND	—	0.5	±0.0	ND	—		
20:4 <i>n</i> 6 (AA)	14.5	±0.6	18.3	±1.5	14.7	±1.5	20.0	±1.6		
OA, oleic acid; AA, arachidonic acid; ND, not detectable. Values are										
means, with $\pm$ standard errors (SEM), n=5. Values are means +/- SEM,										
n=5. Means in a raw with superscripts without a common letter differ,										
P<0.05.										

 Table 5-2 PL fatty acid composition in tissues of JCR:LA-cp rats fed

 control or experimental diets for 8 wk.



**Figure 5-6** Incorporation of VA in tissue PL in JCR:LA-*cp* rats supplemented with VA for 8 wk. Values are means +/- SEM, represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ, P<0.05.

# 5.3.5 Dietary supplementation with VA alters the mRNA and protein expression of FAAH but does not affect the mRNA expression of CB<sub>1</sub> receptor in the jejunum

To determine whether selective increase of jejunal anandamide, OEA and PEA by VA could be associated with degradative pathways common to these three *N*-acyl ethanolamides, we measured the expression of FAAH, the primary enzyme hydrolyzing anandamide, OEA and PEA. Interestingly, VA and VA+CLA fed rats had higher jejunal mRNA expression of FAAH compared to the control group (1.4 fold, P<0.05 and 1.6 fold, P<0.01, respectively). In contrast, the protein abundance of this enzyme was reduced in VA fed-rats only (-34%, P<0.05) (*Figure 5-7A, 5-7B and 5-7C*). Collectively, these results suggest that VA may act in the intestine by reducing the degradation of anandamide, OEA and PEA via selective inhibition of FAAH activity in this tissue. We also found that VA



tended to lower jejunal mRNA expression of  $CB_1$  relative to the other diets; however, this did not reach statistical significance (P>0.05) (*Figure 5-7 D*).

**Figure 5-7** Jejunal mRNA expression of FAAH and CB<sub>1</sub> and protein abundance of FAAH in JCR:LA-cp rats fed control or experimental diets for 8 wk. The mRNA expression for FAAH (A) and CB<sub>1</sub> (D) is relative to the housekeeping gene  $\beta$ -actin. A representative blot (B) and graph (C) for FAAH relative protein abundance are shown. Values are means +/- SEM, represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ, P<0.05.

## 5.3.6 Dietary supplementation with VA reduced the mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the jejunum

The endocannabinoid system (ECS) is upregulated in human inflammatory bowel diseases and experimental models of colitis and colorectal cancer growth (Guagnini et al., 2006; D'Argenio et al., 2007; Massa et al., 2004; Ligresti et al., 2003). During these conditions, an overactive ECS is proposed to be an adaptive response to counteract the consequences of inflammation, such as T cell-mediated aberrant immune response (D'Argenio et al., 2007). Therefore, we wanted to explore whether the increase in jejunal anandamide we observed was associated with intestinal inflammation. Consistent with previous results from dietary VA supplementation in JCR:LA-cp rats (Blewett et al., 2009), the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF $\alpha$  (*Figure 5-8A*) and IL-1 $\beta$ (Figure 5-8B)) was significantly lower in rats fed the VA supplemented diet compared with the control rats (-80% and -64%, respectively; P<0.05).



**Figure 5-8** Jejunal mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in JCR:LA-*cp* rats fed control or experimental diets for 8 wk. The expression of TNF- $\alpha$  (A) and IL-1 $\beta$  (B) is relative to the housekeeping gene  $\beta$ -actin. Values are means +/- SEM, represented by vertical bars (n=5). Means without a common letter differ, P<0.05.

#### 5.4 Discussion

## 5.4.1 Dietary supplementation with VA reduces liver and VAT 2-AG without altering the availability of PL biosynthetic precursor

Several studies have linked the ECS to obesity and associated metabolic abnormalities in animal models as well as in humans. Upregulation of the ECS either by increased receptor expression and/or increased EC levels has been shown to lead to insulin resistance, fatty liver disease and dyslipidemia in animal models of obesity (Starowicz *et al.*, 2008; Osei-Hyiaman *et al.*, 2005; Alvheim *et al.*, 2012). Increased plasma EC concentrations have been found to be positively correlated with visceral fat mass and waist circumference in humans (Engeli *et al.*, 2005; Bluher *et al.*, 2006; Cote *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, the ECS has been proposed as a critical target for the treatment of abdominal obesity and associated metabolic abnormalities in the MetS. While pharmacological blockade of

the CB1 receptor with Rimonabant has shown clinical success, the adverse psychiatric side effects associated with this drug have led to its withdrawal as a treatment option (Christensen *et al.*, 2007). Recently, a causal role of dietary-induced EC dysregulation associated with an increased availability of AA in membrane PL in the development of obesity has also been reported (Alvheim *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, nutritional interventions that target the EC biosynthetic precursor AA, have been proposed as alternative therapeutic strategies. In this study, we targeted lipidomic analyses of the brain and peripheral tissues to explore putative differences in the EC, anandamide and 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) following dietary VA treatment. We also analyzed two non-CB receptor ligands, the *N*-acyl ethanolamides OEA and PEA which only differ from anandamide by their acyl chain and have shown to induce satiety (Fu *et al.*, 2003; Schwartz *et al.*, 2008) and exert anti-inflammatory effects through activation of PPARα receptor (Lo Verme *et al.*, 2005).

To our knowledge this is the first report to demonstrate that dietary supplementation with VA can effectively decrease liver and VAT 2-AG concentrations in a rat model of MetS (*Figure 5-1 and 5-2*). Our findings resemble those reported for n3-long chain (LC)-PUFA (in the form of krill oil) in the Zucker *fa/fat* rat (Batteta *et al.*, 2009) and may also suggest a putative mechanism of action for the ability of VA to decrease hepatic lipid accumulation and TG secretion previously shown in JCR:LA-*cp* rats (Chapter 4). The rationale for this hypothesis is that CB receptor activation in the liver and VAT leads to increased *de novo* lipogenesis and visceral adiposity (Osei-Hyiaman *et al.*, 2005; Osei-Hyiaman *et al.*, 2009; Chapter 4). However, effects of VA on tissue EC concentrations cannot be explained by changes in AA levels in membrane PL but rather due to incorporation of VA (*Table 5-2*). In addition, findings from the present study suggest a potential regulatory effect of VA on the biosynthetic or

184

degradative enzymatic pathways controlling EC concentrations in the liver and VAT of JCR:LA-*cp* rats.

## 5.4.2 Effects of VA on tissue EC concentrations are associated with its incorporation into tissue PL

Previous studies in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat have shown that the lipid-lowering effects of CLA are enhanced by the addition of VA when compared to dietary supplementation with CLA alone (Chapter 3). In this study we provide evidence that VA *per se* can independently reduce tissue 2-AG concentrations corresponding with its magnitude of incorporation into tissue PL when compared to CLA (*Table 5-2*). Our findings have also revealed that effects of VA on EC concentrations depends on the tissue and parallel the extent of VA incorporation into respective tissue membrane PL (*Figure 5-6*). However further studies are needed to determine the mechanism of how incorporation of VA into tissue PL mediates a lowering of EC concentrations in liver and VAT.

## 5.4.3 VA increases jejunal anandamide and anandamide analogues associated with a down-regulation of FAAH protein expression

We have observed that VA re-equilibrates intestinal and hepatic lipid homeostasis while exerting different transcriptional regulation in both organs, as reflected in mRNA levels of SREBP1 and FAS (Chapter 4). In this study we found a consistent effect of VA on decreasing EC concentrations in the liver and VAT. In contrast, jejunal concentrations of anandamide and its analogues (OEA and PEA) were selectively increased following VA treatment alone (*Figure 5-5*). This selective increase of jejunal *N*-acyl ethanolamides by VA could not be explained by changes in their biosynthetic PL precursor AA but was associated with a reduction in protein expression of their hydrolyzing enzyme, FAAH (*Figure 5-7A, 5-7B and 5-7C*).

To the best of our knowledge this is the first study to show that VA can exert a selective effect on EC concentrations in the intestine. Interestingly, feeding n-3 LCPUFA is associated with an increase in the FAAH inhibitor, arachidonoyl-serotonin (AA-5-HT) and other jejunal LCPUFA-serotonins (also capable of inhibiting FAAH activity *in vitro*) in mice (Verhoeckx *et al.,* 2011). Therefore, it is plausible that VA supplementation may stimulate the formation of intestinal-specific lipid mediators that regulate FAAH activity and further studies are needed to elucidate the exact mechanisms.

Anandamide is found to be increased in human intestinal inflammatory diseases and is proposed to be an adaptive response to counteract the inflammatory milieu during these conditions (Ligresti et al., 2003; Guagnini et al., 2006; D'Argenio et al., 2007). In contrast to the pathological role of the ECS in the liver and VAT (Starowicz et al., 2008; Osei-Hyiaman et al., 2005; Alvheim et al., 2012), CB1 or CB2 receptor activation by anandamide has been shown to reduce macroscopic damage scores of colonic inflammation in animal models of colitis (Massa et al., 2004; Storr et al., 2008; Storr et al., 2009). Additionally, the N-acyl ethanolamide PEA has also been shown to exert anti-inflammatory effects (reduction or proinflammatory cytokine production) through activation of PPARα (Di Paola et al., 2012). We therefore examined the mRNA expression of two key inflammatory markers, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in the intestine to explore a potential association with the increased anandamide and PEA concentrations observed in the jejunum. Indeed, dietary VA supplementation significantly reduced the mRNA expression of the proinflammatory cytokines, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  (*Figure 5-8*). These findings are consistent with previous effects of dietary VA in the JCR:LA-cp rodent model of MetS (Blewett et al., 2009) and provide further evidence for the independent anti-inflammatory effects of VA. It is likely that these effects may be mediated by VA activation of PPARγ-regulated anti-inflammatory pathways (Jaudszus et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012). Alternatively, the potential ability of VA to decrease EC degradation (via inhibition of FAAH) in the intestine may offer an additional mechanistic explanation for the anti-inflammatory effects of VA and this warrants further investigation. The rationale for this hypothesis is based on reports that targeting the ECS (via inhibition of FAAH) has therapeutic potential in the treatment of inflammatory diseases (Storr et al., 2008; Storr *et al.*, 2009).

In conclusion, dietary supplementation with VA effectively reduces liver and VAT 2-AG concentrations corresponding with its previously observed properties to beneficially modulate lipid storage compartments. We have also provided further evidence that VA can act independently of CLA, which seems to be associated with its incorporation into tissue PL. Additionally, the present findings delineate a unique regulation of VA on jejunal anandamide and its *N*-acyl ethanolamide analogues that cannot be explained by changes in their biosynthetic PL precursors. Rather, our results suggest a selective inhibitory effect of VA on the activity of FAAH in the intestine. Collectively, findings from this study have provided a potential novel mechanism of action for the health benefits of VA and highlight the need for further investigations to explore the efficacy of VA on intestinal inflammatory diseases.

### 5.5 Literature cited

Alvheim AR, Malde MK, Osei-Hyiaman D, Lin YH, Pawlosky RJ, Madsen L, Kristiansen K, Frøyland L, Hibbeln JR. Dietary linoleic acid elevates endogenous 2-AG and anandamide and induces obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012; 20(10):1984-94.

Banni S, Di Marzo V. Effect of dietary fat on endocannabinoids and related mediators: consequences on energy homeostasis, inflammation and mood. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2010; 54 (1):82-92.

Batetta B, Griinari M, Carta G, Murru E, Ligresti A, Cordeddu L, Giordano E, Sanna F, Bisogno T, Uda S, Collu M, Bruheim I, Di Marzo V, Banni S. Endocannabinoids may mediate the ability of (n-3) fatty acids to reduce ectopic fat and inflammatory mediators in obese Zucker rats. J Nutr. 2009; 139 (8):1495-501.

Berger A, Crozier G, Bisogno T, Cavaliere P, Innis S, Di Marzo V. Anandamide and diet: inclusion of dietary arachidonate and docosahexaenoate leads to increased brain levels of the corresponding Nacylethanolamines in piglets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 May 22; 98(11):6402-6.

Blewett, H. J., C. A. Gerdung, M. R. Ruth, S. D. Proctor, and Field, C. J. Vaccenic acid favourably alters immune function in obese JCR:LA-cp rats. *Brit.* J. Nutr. 2009; 102: 526-536.

Blüher M, Engeli S, Klöting N, Berndt J, Fasshauer M, Bátkai S, Pacher P, Schön MR, Jordan J, Stumvoll M. Dysregulation of the peripheral and adipose tissue endocannabinoid system in human abdominal obesity. Diabetes. 2006; 55(11): 3053-60.

Calder PC. n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 83:S1505–S1519.

Christensen R, Kristensen PK, Bartels EM, Bliddal H, Astrup A. Efficacy and safety of the weight-loss drug rimonabant: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet. 2007; 370 (9600):1706-13.

Cote M, Matias I, Lemieux I, Petrosino S, Almeras N, Despres JP, Di Marzo V. Circulating endocannabinoid levels, abdominal adiposity and related cardiometabolic risk factors in obese men. Int J Obes (Lond). 2007; 31: 692–9.

Cruz-Hernandez, C., J. K. G. Kramer, J. J. Kennelly, D. R. Glimm, B. M. Sorensen, E. K. Okine, L. A. Goonewardene, and R. J. Weselake. Evaluating the conjugated linoleic acid and trans 18:1 isomers in milk fat

of dairy cows fed increasing amounts of sunflower oil and a constant level of fish oil. J. Dairy Sci. 2007; 90: 3786-3801.

D'Argenio G, Petrosino S, Gianfrani C, Valenti M, Scaglione G, Grandone I, Nigam S, Sorrentini I, Mazzarella G, Di Marzo V. Overactivity of the intestinal endocannabinoid system in celiac disease and in methotrexate-treated rats. J Mol Med (Berl). 2007; 85 (5): 523-530.

D'Asti E, Long H, Tremblay-Mercier J, Grajzer M, Cunnane SC, Di Marzo V, Walker CD. Maternal dietary fat determines metabolic profile and the magnitude of endocannabinoid inhibition of the stress response in neonatal rat offspring. Endocrinology. 2010; 151(4):1685-94.

Di Marzo V, Goparaju SK, Wang L, Liu J, Bátkai S, Járai Z, Fezza F, Miura GI, Palmiter RD, Sugiura T, Kunos G. Leptin-regulated endocannabinoids are involved in maintaining food intake. Nature. 2001; 410 (6830): 822-825.

Di Paola R, Impellizzeri D, Torre A, Mazzon E, Cappellani A, Faggio C, Esposito E, Trischitta F, Cuzzocrea S. Effects of palmitoylethanolamide on intestinal injury and inflammation caused by ischemia-reperfusion in mice. J Leukoc Biol. 2012; 91(6):911-20.

Engeli S, Böhnke J, Feldpausch M, Gorzelniak K, Janke J, Bátkai S, Pacher P, Harvey-White J, Luft FC, Sharma AM, Jordan J. Activation of the peripheral endocannabinoid system in human obesity. Diabetes. 2005; 54(10):2838-43.

Folch, J., M. Lees, and G. H. Sloane Stanley. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 1957; 226: 497-509.

Fu J, Gaetani S, Oveisi F, Lo Verme J, Serrano A, Rodríguez De Fonseca F, Rosengarth A, Luecke H, Di Giacomo B, Tarzia G, Piomelli D. Oleylethanolamide regulates feeding and body weight through activation of the nuclear receptor PPAR-alpha. Nature. 2003; 425(6953):90-3.

Guagnini F, Valenti M, Mukenge S, Matias I, Bianchetti A, Di Palo S, Ferla G, Di Marzo V, Croci T. Neural contractions in colonic strips from patients with diverticular disease: role of endocannabinoids and substance P. Gut. 2006; 55(7):946-953.

Jaudszus A, Jahreis G, Schlörmann W, Fischer J, Kramer R, Degen C, Rohrer C, Roth A, Gabriel H, Barz D, Gruen M. Vaccenic acid-mediated reduction in cytokine production is independent of c9,t11-CLA in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012; 1821(10):1316-22. Lehner R, Vance DE. Cloning and expression of a cDNA encoding a hepatic microsomal lipase that mobilizes stored triacylglycerol. Biochem J. 343: 1-10.

Ligresti A, Bisogno T, Matias I, De Petrocellis L, Cascio MG, Cosenza V, D'argenio G, Scaglione G, Bifulco M, Sorrentini I, Di Marzo V. Possible endocannabinoid control of colorectal cancer growth. Gastroenterology. 2003; 125 (3): 677-687.

Lo Verme J, Fu J, Astarita G, La Rana G, Russo R, Calignano A, Piomelli D. The nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha mediates the anti-inflammatory actions of palmitoylethanolamide. Mol Pharmacol. 2005; 67(1):15-9.

Lu J, Borthwick F, Hassanali Z, Wang Y, Mangat R, Ruth M, Shi D, Jaeschke A, Russell JC, Field CJ, Proctor SD, Vine DF. Chronic dietary n-3 PUFA intervention improves dyslipidaemia and subsequent cardiovascular complications in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat model of the metabolic syndrome. Br J Nutr. 2011; 105(11):1572-82.

Massa F, Marsicano G, Hermann H, Cannich A, Monory K, Cravatt BF, Ferri GL, Sibaev A, Storr M, Lutz B. The endogenous cannabinoid system protects against colonic inflammation. J Clin Invest. 2004; 113(8): 1202–1209.

Mohankumar, S. K., D. Hanke, L. Siemens, A. Cattini, J. Enns, J. Shen, M. Reaney, P. Zahradka, and C. G. Taylor. Dietary supplementation of trans-11-vaccenic acid reduces adipocyte size but neither aggravates nor attenuates obesity-mediated metabolic abnormalities in fa/fa Zucker rats. Br J Nutr. 2012. [Epub ahead of print].

Osei-Hyiaman D, DePetrillo M, Pacher P, Liu J, Radaeva S, Bátkai S, Harvey-White J, Mackie K, Offertáler L, Wang L, Kunos G. Endocannabinoid activation at hepatic CB1 receptors stimulates fatty acid synthesis and contributes to diet-induced obesity. J Clin Invest. 2005; 115 (5):1298-305.

Osei-Hyiaman D, Liu J, Zhou L, Godlewski G, Harvey-White J, Jeong WI, Bátkai S, Marsicano G, Lutz B, Buettner C, Kunos G. Hepatic CB1 receptor is required for development of diet-induced steatosis, dyslipidemia, and insulin and leptin resistance in mice. J Clin Invest. 2008; 118 (9):3160-9.

Pagano C, Pilon C, Calcagno A, Urbanet R, Rossato M, Milan G, Bianchi K, Rizzuto R, Bernante P, Federspil G, Vettor R. The endogenous cannabinoid system stimulates glucose uptake in human fat cells via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and calcium-dependent mechanisms. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007; 92(12):4810-9.
Pintus S, Murru E, Carta G, Cordeddu L, Batetta B, Accossu S, Pistis D, Uda S, Elena Ghiani M, Mele M, Secchiari P, Almerighi G, Pintus P, Banni S. Sheep cheese naturally enriched in  $\alpha$ -linolenic, conjugated linoleic and vaccenic acids improves the lipid profile and reduces anandamide in the plasma of hypercholesterolaemic subjects. Br J Nutr. 2012; 24:1-10.

Russell, JC, SD. Proctor. Small animal models of cardiovascular disease: tools for the study of the roles of metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc. Pathol. 2006; 15: 318-330.

Santora JE, Palmquist DL, Roehrig KL.Trans-vaccenic acid is desaturated to conjugated linoleic acid in mice. J Nutr. 2000; 130 (2):208-215.

Schwartz GJ, Fu J, Astarita G, Li X, Gaetani S, Campolongo P, Cuomo V, Piomelli D. The lipid messenger OEA links dietary fat intake to satiety. Cell Metab. 2008; 8 (4):281-8.

Starowicz KM, Cristino L, Matias I, Capasso R, Racioppi A, Izzo AA, Di Marzo V. Endocannabinoid dysregulation in the pancreas and adipose tissue of mice fed with a high-fat diet. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008; 16: 553–65.

Storr MA, Keenan CM, Emmerdinger D, Zhang H, Yüce B, Sibaev A, Massa F, Buckley NE, Lutz B, Göke B, Brand S, Patel KD, Sharkey KA. Targeting endocannabinoid degradation protects against experimental colitis in mice: involvement of CB1 and CB2 receptors. J Mol Med (Berl). 2008 Aug;86(8):925-36.

Storr MA, Keenan CM, Zhang H, Patel KD, Makriyannis A, Sharkey KA. Activation of the cannabinoid 2 receptor (CB2) protects against experimental colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009; 15(11):1678-85.

Swain, M. L. B. B., Formation of traces of conjugated tetraenoic and trienoic constitutents in autoxidized linolenic and linoleic acids and vegetable oils during alkali-isomerization. JAOCS. 1949; 26: 272-277.

Tyburczy, C., C. Major, A. L. Lock, F. Destaillats. P. Lawrence, J. T. Brenna, A. M. Salter, and D. E. Bauman. Individual trans octadecenoic acids and partially hydrogenated vegetable oil differentially affect hepatic lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in golden Syrian hamsters. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 257-263.

Verhoeckx KC, Voortman T, Balvers MG, Hendriks HF, M Wortelboer H, Witkamp RF. Presence, formation and putative biological activities of Nacyl serotonins, a novel class of fatty-acid derived mediators, in the intestinal tract. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011; 1811(10):578-86.

Vine, D. F., R. Takechi, J. C. Russell, and S. D., Proctor. Impaired postprandial apolipoprotein-B48 metabolism in the obese, insulin-resistant

*JCR: LA*-cp rat: increased atherogenicity for the metabolic syndrome. Atherosclerosis. 2007; 190: 282-290.

Wang, Y., J. Lu, M. R. Ruth, S. D. Goruk, M. J. Reaney, D. R. Glimm, D. F. Vine, C. J. Field, and S. D. Proctor. Trans-11 vaccenic acid dietary supplementation induces hypolipidemic effects in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2008; 138: 2117-2122.

Wang, Y., M. M. Jacome-Sosa, M. R. Ruth, S. D. Goruk, M. J. Reaney, D. R. Glimm, D. C. Wright, D. F. Vine, C. J. Field, and S. D. Proctor. Trans-11 vaccenic acid reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 2049-2054.

Wang, Y, M. M. Jacome-Sosa, M.R. Ruth, J. Shen, M. J. Reaney, S. L. Scott, M. E. Dugan, H. D. Anderson, C. J. Field, S. D. Proctor and D. F. Vine. The intestinal bioavailability of vaccenic acid and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$  and - $\gamma$  in a rodent model of dyslipidemia and the metabolic syndrome. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2012; 56: 1234-1246.

Watanabe S, Doshi M, Hamazaki T. n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) deficiency elevates and n-3 PUFA enrichment reduces brain 2arachidonoylglycerol level in mice. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2003; 69 (1):51-9.

Zoerner AA, Gutzki FM, Batkai S, May M, Rakers C, Engeli S, Jordan J, Tsikas D. Quantification of endocannabinoids in biological systems by chromatography and mass spectrometry: a comprehensive review from an analytical and biological perspective. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011; 1811(11):706-723.

#### **Chapter 6 Final Discussion**

#### 6.1 Summary of Findings

# 6.1.1 VA enhances the lipid-lowering effects of CLA during conditions of abnormal lipid metabolism.

Experiments in Chapter 3 (published in Nutrition and Metabolism, 2010) were essential to validate that VA has lipid-lowering effects independent from the bioactivity of CLA *per se.* Indeed, during the course of this thesis, complementary mechanistic studies have been published by our group, as well as studies by other groups affirming these conclusions (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2012; Bassett *et al.*, 2010; Tyburczy *et al.*, 2009; Herrera-Meza *et al.*, 2013). Results from my studies in this chapter provide evidence that both 'ruminant' *trans* fatty acids (rTFA, VA+CLA) can act synergistically to improve abnormal lipid metabolism. The rationale for the synergistic effects of VA and CLA is based on the fact that VA is the only source for endogenous synthesis of CLA in the human body and can additionally facilitate mechanisms of action of CLA.

One of the more interesting findings from this Chapter also included the observation that the combination of both VA and CLA stimulated food intake in our animal model, yet beneficially lowered body weight and decreased hepatic lipid accumulation, as compared to control diets. These observations were key to the need for studies to assess the indirect calorimetric and body composition experiments in Chapter 4, leading to the hypotheses that VA may favourably promote whole body energy utilization and storage.

One potential clinical translational consideration that emerged from Chapter 3 findings was enriching dairy products with both rTFA (VA and CLA) may provide an additional health benefit during abnormal metabolic conditions, such as the metabolic syndrome. However, this finding went against current dogma regarding the adverse benefits of trans fats and was different to effects observed with other dairy-derived fatty acids, such as SFA. SFA's have historically been associated with negative health effects, although this remains contentious (Mente *et al.*, 2009; Siri-Tarino *et al.*, 2010; Howard *et al.*, 2010; Micha and Mozaffarian, 2010). Of course, rTFAs are an integral part of dairy fat, and one of the caveats of studies performed in Chapter 3, is that vegetable oils (not animal or other dairy fats) were used to carefully balance the fatty acid profile of experimental diets. While this experimental approach was needed to understand the select bioactive properties of VA and CLA *per se*, it did not represent the conditions in which these rTFAs are found naturally in foods.

In order to consider further the potential implication of findings from Chapter 3 and how this data might relate to rTFA found in the food matrix (i.e. dairy products), it was important to validate the bioactive properties of VA using a control diet which was more reflective of the regular consumption of rTFA in foods in the diet. Consequently, one of the main objectives of Chapter 4 was to generate custom butter oil isolates in order to carefully balance diets (with and without VA) by using a control diet that contained these animal derived fats.

The overall findings from Chapter 4 confirmed that enriching dairy products with VA (either naturally or by fortification) was a sound approach to maximize the health value of dairy-derived fats and this has significant relevance to the agriculture food and livestock sector.

## 6.1.2 Adding VA to a background diet containing dairy-derived SFA alleviates abnormal lipid metabolism

Findings from experiments in Chapter 4 demonstrated that enriching dairyderived fat with VA (akin to product fortification) resulted in additional improvement in lipid abnormalities compared to low-VA containing dairy derived fat. Moreover, the findings also revealed *novel* properties of VA to favorably modulate adipose storage compartments while simultaneously reducing ectopic lipid accumulation in the liver and the intestine. Indeed, we were also surprised when the indirect calorimetric studies showed VA enriched diets increased metabolic rate concomitant with an increased preference of whole body glucose utilization as a substrate for oxidation.

Another key finding from Chapter 4 was the extent to which both the liver and intestine became involved in re-equilibrating lipid homeostasis in the presence of VA. Our data suggest an intriguing opposing transcriptional regulation between both the intestine and the liver. We have defined this observation as the gut-liver-adipose axis, where the interplay of these organs in lipid metabolism requires further investigation (such as experiments conducted under 'fasted' versus 'fed' conditions described below in Sections 6.1.2.1 and 6.3.2).

In contrast to our original hypothesis, results from Chapter 4 suggested that reduced lipid accumulation in the liver following dietary VA enrichment was likely to be independent of PPARα-mediated lipid oxidation. These observations emphasized that VA may modulate energy use and storage by alternative pathways and led us to propose a mechanism of action convergent with these metabolic effects. Considering the documented ability of long chain fatty acids to regulate lipid-derived messengers, such as endocannabinoids, involved in energy metabolism, we proposed that VA's activity may also resemble these regulatory effects. Therefore, in Chapter 5, we targeted lipidomic analyses of the brain and peripheral tissues to explore putative differences in endocannabinoids following dietary VA treatment (see Chapter 5, summary section 6.1.3).

#### 6.1.2.1 Effect of fasted versus fed states on intestinal lipid secretion

In chapter 4, *in vivo* 'secretion experiments' were designed to determine the lipid-lowering effects of VA on hepatic *versus* intestinal TG secretion during *fasting* and *fed* conditions, respectively. However, gene expression and tissue lipid mass measurements were conducted in tissues (both liver and intestine) collected after an overnight fast. Therefore, these quantitative analyses are only reflective of the physiological status during the fasted state.

Future studies are therefore needed to elucidate the tissue-specific effects of VA during both fasted and fed state. For example, measuring intestinal lipid storage and lipid synthesis during the fed state may yield an explanation for the effects of VA on decreased CM-apoB48 and CM-TG secretion. For instance, it has been proposed that attenuation of postprandial lipemia by fish oil feeding, specifically LCPUFA 22:5 and 22:6 n-3, can be explained by decreased CM assembly (due to limited lipid synthesis/availability) in the fasted state (Levy et al., 2006), or by a citoplasmic accumulation of lipids in the enterocytes during fed conditions (Larsen et al., 2003). It is therefore plausible to suggest that reduced intestinal lipid accumulation by VA in the fasted state (as observed in the studies described in Chapter 4), may induce a transient citoplasmic lipid accumulation in enterocytes in the fed state; that ultimately might explain delayed CM/TG secretion by the intestine into the circulation. This might be the connecting link between gut-liver-adipose axis since it is known that delayed CM secretion results in partitioning of dietary fat towards oxidation rather than towards storage (while protecting against fatty liver) (Yen et al., 2009).

#### 6.1.2.2 Effect of fasted versus fed states on fuel oxidation

I also wish to point out that the indirect calorimetric experiments (Chapter 4) were performed in rats fed *ad libitum;* therefore, the hyperphagic condition of our rat model suggests that animals had increased fuel availability (mainly carbohydrate) during these measurements. We found that VA feeding increased the preference of glucose utilization for oxidation (increased RER), and since glucose oxidation is positively

associated with the rate of glucose disposal (Galgani *et al.*, 2008), we proposed that the increased RER in VA-fed rats could be associated with improved glucose uptake capacity (insulin sensitivity). Indeed, VA-fed rats presented with reduced fasting insulin and post-prandial glucose concentrations after a meal tolerance test, suggestive of improved insulin sensitivity compared to controls. Based on these findings, it is conceivable that VA may act by improving the normal physiological response to match fuel oxidation to fuel availability during fasted and fed conditions. Whether VA can directly increase the ability of skeletal muscle to switch between glucose and fat oxidation in response to nutrient availability and other hormonal signals (also called metabolic flexibility (Kelley and Mandarino, 2000) is unknown. Measuring energy expenditure and fuel oxidation in the fasted *versus* fed state may offer a line of investigation to determine the insulin-sensitizing effects of VA and associated reduced ectopic lipid accumulation.

For example, if VA can improve metabolic flexibility we should be able to observe an increase in whole body energy expenditure and fatty acid oxidation (over glucose) following an overnight fast. Perhaps, this may help explain the reduced hepatic lipid accumulation we observed in overnight-fasted rats (Chapter 4). In contrast, in the fed state, we might anticipate VA-fed rats (presumably more insulin sensitive) to display increased energy expenditure with a preference towards increased glucose utilization (over lipid) as a fuel. To complement this approach, it might be interesting to use non-invasive magnetic resonance techniques (e.g. magnetic resonance imaging) to monitor intrahepatic or intramuscular lipid content while conducting these experiments in the fed and fasted state. These additional experiments may provide evidence that increasing glucose uptake and oxidation in skeletal muscle of VA-fed rats (in the fed state, for instance), may explain the decreased availability of glucose as a substrate for hepatic *de novo* TG synthesis and subsequent hepatic lipid storage. Measuring the insulin-activated signaling pathways

197

in response to a carbohydrate meal would further provide evidence for the insulin sensitizing effects of VA in skeletal muscle.

## 6.1.3 VA exerts a selective regulation of tissue endocannabinoids that is associated with its metabolic effects

Experiments in Chapter 5 have revealed interesting and novel properties of VA to potentially regulate lipid signaling pathways involved in the endocannabinoid system that is convergent with our metabolic observations. Results presented herein have shown that VA can substantially reduce endocannabinoid (EC) concentrations in the liver and visceral adipose tissue (VAT), which may help explain the benefits of VA on adipose storage compartments and hepatic lipid accumulation (described in Chapter 4). However, these regulatory effects of VA on tissue EC (2-AG and anandamide) did not correspond with changes in the phospholipid (PL) precursors (arachidonic acid-containing PL). This suggests VA mediated regulation of EC may be at the level of mRNA and protein expression, and activity of the biosynthetic or degradative enzyme pathways. Surprisingly, VA was also shown to differentially regulate EC and anandamide analogues in the intestine *compared to* VAT and liver. In contrast to the liver and VAT, VA was shown to increase the concentrations of anandamide and its analogues, PEA and OEA, concomitant with decreased abundance of the enzyme responsible for their degradation (fatty acid amide hydrolase, FAAH). Based on the literature, we have proposed these findings may explain the antiinflammatory properties of VA in this organ.

Collectively, findings presented in Chapter 5 have shown for the first time that VA can effectively regulate tissue endocannabinoid concentrations and this may have potential therapeutic applications. Results support a selective activation of protective pathways of the endocannabinoid system (ECS) in the intestine, and highlight the need for further investigation to explore the efficacy of VA on intestinal inflammatory diseases. For example, results have led to discussions on the plausibility of VA-derived lipid mediators with capacity to inhibit the activity of intestinal FAAH, which would help ameliorate inestinal inflammation. The future directions of this work are discussed in more detail in Section 6.2.3.

# 6.1.4 Summary of the pleiotropic effects and proposed mode of action of VA

I have introduced data that spans a number of metabolic pathways encompassing regulation of lipid metabolism (e.g. absorption, partitioning, and storage), energy expenditure and fatty acid bioactivity in multiple organs. These observations are highly reflective of a complex interaction between physiological pathways and the following diagram (Figure 6-1) was generated to provide an overview of the effects of VA in different pathways that were studied in this thesis. In particular, it demonstrates the pathophysiology of the metabolic syndrome and the modes of action of VA that were discovered in my thesis research.



**Figure 6-1** The pleiotropic metabolic effects of VA during MetS. Obesity, insulin resistance and physical inactivity are underlying risk factors for the MetS. The continuous provision of energy via select macronutrients (e.g. TFA and SFA) that characterize western food intake patterns further exacerbate the risk for CVD in individuals with MetS. Enriching dairy fat (containing SFA) with VA may improve the ability of adipose tissue (subcutaneous) to appropriately store excess energy away from peripheral tissues such as the liver. VA supplementation may also act to reduce the absorption of TG from the intestine and reduce classic metabolic risk factors such as visceral fat deposition, insulin resistance and dyslipidemia. The efficient incorporation of VA into membrane PL and its processing into bioactive lipid signaling molecules (e.g. PPAR activators, regulators of EC metabolism) may provide a potential mechanistic explanation for VA's physiological effects.

#### **6.2 Future Directions**

#### 6.2.1 Effects of VA on energy metabolism in diet-induced obesity

Studies conducted in this thesis have uncovered novel properties of a common ruminant trans fatty acid (trans-11 vaccenic acid [VA]) to modulate whole body energy metabolism in the JCR:LA-cp rodent model which has a leptin receptor defect and renders it prone to the metabolic syndrome. It is also important to acknowledge that many of the same bioactive properties of VA reported by this thesis have also been reported by other groups using different animal models, including LDL knockout mice, spontaneously hypertensive rats and the Syrian golden hamster (Bassett et al., 2010; Herrera-Meza et al., 2013; Tyburczy et al., 2009). It would also be pertinent to explore this regulatory effect of VA in an animal model of diet induced obesity (DIO). For example, feeding a high fatpalatable diet in a DIO animal model would lead to increased food intake and body weight which may be attenuated by increased energy expenditure in VA-supplemented animals. It is also possible that VAsupplemented animals may not be fully protected against obesity but rather might exhibit a more favorable body composition. Furthermore, given that leptin suppresses insulin secretion (Cases et al., 2001) and lipogenic enzymes such as SCD-1 (Biddinger et al., 2006), the leptin receptor defect in the JCR:LA-cp rat may prevent complete normalization (act as conounding factor) of hyperinsulinemia and lipogenesis following VA treatment. Therefore, using a DIO animal model (with functional leptin receptor) would further clarify effects of VA on insulin resistance and/or lipidogenesis in different dietary conditions.

## 6.2.2 Effects of VA on adipose tissue in *in vitro* studies and an adipose tissue-specific PPARy knock out mice model

VA has been shown to activate PPARy-regulated pathways *in vitro* (Wang *et al.*, 2012; Jaudszus *et al.*, 2012). The results shown in Chapter 4 of this thesis have suggested *in vivo* activation of PPARy in adipose tissue (adipose re-distribution, and decreased adipocyte size) in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat. Therefore, it would be worthwhile to investigate the effects of VA on adipose tissue remodeling. *In vitro* studies using primary and/or secondary cultures of adipocytes may be useful to study the direct effects of VA on macrophage infiltration and the associated inflammatory response as well as markers of adipose tissue differentiation and browning. This could provide direct support to the proposed PPARy-induced healthy remodeling of adipose tissue by VA.

In chapter 4, I discussed that VA may improve the ability of adipose tissue to appropriately store lipids away from insulin sensitive tissues (such as the liver), possibly by activating PPARy-downstream pathways in adipose tissue. To confirm that beneficial effects of VA on NAFLD progression are due to PPARy activation in adipose tissue *per se*, an adipose tissuespecific PPARy knock out mice model could be particularly useful. If this hypothesis is correct, knock out mice would exhibit increased lipid deposition in both the liver and skeletal muscle, resulting in increased insulin resistance following VA treatment compared to VA-fed wild type mice.

Based on reports in the literature that CM production can be stimulated by plasma FFA (Duez *et al.*, 2008; Nogueira *et al.*, 2012), this experimental design could also contribute to our understanding of the involvement of adipose tissue-induced intestinal CM secretion and the role of VA on modulating interactive crosstalk between these organs.

#### 6.2.3 Potential role of VA in alleviating inflammatory bowel diseases

One of the most novel findings from this thesis is that VA has differential regulation in the intestine *versus* VAT and liver on EC and this is convergent with its beneficial metabolic and physiological effects. However, this regulatory effect of VA could not be explained by changes in biosynthetic membrane PL precursors of EC. Rather, findings have suggested a selective inhibitory effect of VA on the activity of the fatty acid ethanolamide hydrolyzing enzyme (fatty acid amide hydrolase, FAAH) in the intestine. Given the protective role of the anandamide against intestinal inflammation (D'Argenio *et al.*, 2007; Storr *et al.*, 2008) and colorectal cancer growth (Ligresti *et al.*, 2003), an approach to decrease EC degradation (via inhibition of FAAH activity) in the intestine (by VA) has potential therapeutic implications in intestinal inflammatory diseases.

It is plausible that the conjugation of VA into bioactive lipid signaling molecules (e.g vaccenyl-ethanolamide or vaccenyl-serotonin (VA-5-HT)) could provide a potential mechanistic explanation for such effects of VA in the intestine. The rationale for this hypothesis is that the FAAH inhibitor arachidonoyl-serotonin (AA-5-HT) and its fatty acid analogues with similar bioactivity can be endogenously synthesized in tissues with high contents of serotonin (such as the intestine) (Verhoeckx *et al.*, 2011). For instance, a novel class of LCPUFA-serotonins with capacity to inhibit FAAH activity *in vitro*, were found to be induced by fish oil feeding in mice (Verhoeckx *et al.*, 2011). It is conceivable that VA feeding could stimulate the formation of intestinal-specific lipid mediators with capacity to regulate FAAH activity.

To confirm the efficacy of VA on intestinal inflammatory diseases, investigating the role of VA in cell proliferation and inflammation using the Caco-2 cell line and IBD mice models may be particularly useful. Using CB receptor agonist/antagonists (local infusion for the *in vivo* studies) and/or FAAH inhibitors in these experimental models would elucidate whether anti-inflammatory effects of VA in the intestine are related to activation of protective pathways of the endocannabinoid system. Furthermore, including PPARα and PPARγ antagonists in these experiments would provide evidence for alternative anti-inflammatory properties of VA via PPAR activation.

Quantifying putative VA-derived mediators (e.g. vaccenyl-ethanolomide or vaccenyl-serotonin (VA-5-HT)) and investigating their biological activities would require the development of custom made compounds.

#### 6.3 Significance and Impact of Thesis Findings

#### 6.3.1 VA and lipid lowering effects in humans

Currently, there is sufficient evidence to suggest that rTFA intake of up to 4 g/day is safe and has neutral effects in normolipidemic conditions (Tholstrup et al., 2006; Chardigny et al., 2008; Motard-Belanger et al., 2008; Lacroix et al., 2012). The putative beneficial effects of rTFA in dyslipidemic individuals warrant further investigation via randomized clinical controlled trials. However, clinical dose-response studies are first needed in order to determine beneficial effects on blood lipids. Indeed, a recent study in hypercholesterolemic subjects has shown that consumption of cheese (90g/d) naturally enriched in VA and CLA significantly reduced plasma endocannabinoid and LDL-C concentrations after three weeks of intervention (Pintus et al., 2012). These effects were only observed with a 90 g/d (~2.8 g/d rTFA) but not with a 45 g/d (~1.4 g/d rTFA) intake of cheese, suggesting a dose-dependent effect. Furthermore, dose-dependent studies with synthetic forms of VA should also be conducted in order to determine hypolidemic effects and potential side effects. To this end, using large animal models may provide better suitability for translation of findings to human consumption of VA enriched foods and synthetic VA.

#### 6.3.2 Potential therapeutic use of VA in NAFLD

It is clear from the studies presented in this thesis, at least in a rodent model of obesity and insulin resistance, that VA has potent beneficial and therapeutic effects in NAFLD. Currently, dietary modifications and exercise remain the best therapeutic options for preventing the progression of NAFLD (Naniwadekar, 2010). Therefore, bioactive properties of VA to improve hepatic and visceral adiposity as well as insulin resistance are very promising and warrant randomized controlled clinical trials to determine the effectiveness of VA in this metabolic disease. Outcomes that could be measured in NAFLD patients to determine the effectiveness of VA to reatment could include hepatic enzymes (such as AST and ALT) or hepatic TG content by imaging technologies such as proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (Browning *et al.*, 2004).

It is also important to note that the underlying mechanisms of action of VA in NAFLD *per se* remain unclear. VA was shown in Chapter 4 to reduce hepatic lipid accumulation but this observation was not explained at the transcriptional level and was independent of PPARα-mediated lipid oxidation. For instance, VA feeding did not affect the expression of genes involved in lipid synthesis or oxidation such as SREBP1, FAS and CPT1α (to mention a few) in the liver. However, previous findings (Wang *et al.*, 2009) have demonstrated lower protein expression of hepatic lipogenic enzymes (FAS and ACC-1) in our animal model. Therefore, these observations have led to propose that VA may regulate *de novo* lipid synthesis at a functional level but this may result in a compensatory transcriptional response by the liver.

Considering the pleiotropic effects of VA, physiological studies using tracer and multi-compartmental modeling technologies would also provide a better understanding of the beneficial regulatory effects of VA in NAFLD.

205

For instance, measuring hepatic *de novo* lipogenesis and fatty acid oxidation while tracing the flow of lipids from the intestine and adipose tissue *in vivo* (such as those studies performed by Donnelly *et al.*, 2005), would delineate the physiological mechanisms that potentially contribute to alleviate NAFLD progression following VA treatment.

# 6.3.3 Potential implications of thesis findings in the development of novel foods

One of the major findings from studies presented in Chapter 5 is VA can significantly modulate tissue EC concentrations and these effects are associated with the level of incorporation of VA into tissue PL. Similar intake of CLA did not produce the same extent of incorporation of CLA into PL, nor did CLA have the same bioactivity on modulating EC concentrations. There have been studies to suggest that the bioactivity of fatty acids may depend on the chemical form in which they are administered (e.g. PL versus TG) (Rossmeisl et al., 2012; Batteta et al., 2009). This property may determine the extent of incorporation into cell membrane PL and the subsequent processing of fatty acids into bioactive lipid signaling molecules leading to differential physiological effects (Rossmeisl et al., 2012). For instance, krill oil (n3-long chain PUFA in the PL form) has been shown to be more effective than fish oil (n3-long chain PUFA in the TG form) in modulating tissue EC and improving parameters of MetS in the Zucker rat (Batteta et al., 2009) and DIO mice (Rossmeisl et al., 2012). Therefore, it is possible that administration of VA in the FFA form may enhance its bioactivity. Whether VA should be supplemented in the FFA or TG form is an important consideration for potential applications in the development of novel foods (discussed in the following Section).

#### 6.3.3.1 Nutraceuticals and fortified foods

The chemical form in which VA is administered may have a direct impact on its bioactivity, and therefore this needs to be considered for potential industrial applications. For example, in the experiments in Chapter 5, rTFA were administered as FFA or TG, and exhibited differential incorporation into PL. Therefore, it could be speculated that VA as FFA may be more bioactive that VA in the TG form. However, the bitter taste typically associated with FFA may render food fortification with VA in the FFA form undesirable. Perhaps, encapsulation, nanoparticle technology or emulsification methods of VA in the FFA form may be a suitable approach to prevent the off-taste at high concentrations (Onwulata, 2012). Alternatively, esterification of VA in the PL form may be preferable for food fortification, as this may prevent undesirable sensory characteristics while increased bioavailability and bioactivity. maintaining However, development of novel foods that include purified forms of VA may be unfeasible to date, as this requires specialized technologies for mass production of VA. Perhaps, the putative synergistic actions of nutrient components in foods as they are found naturally (as opposed to isolated components) (Jacobs et al. 2012), may be more important to consider when developing novel foods. A more practical and perhaps nutritionallypreferable option may be to increase the concentrations of VA and CLA in ruminant-derived products by natural processes such as modified feeding practices (Mele et al., 2011) or technological approaches such as dry fractionation (O'shea et al., 2000). The development of naturally enriched VA and CLA products may also avoid food and drug regulatory hurdles compared to the use of purified VA fortification in food products.

#### 6.3.3.2 Naturally enriched dairy products

The fatty acid composition of meat and dairy products can be modified by feeding practices allowing new opportunities for the health value of

animal-derived fats and food products (Dewhurst et al., 2006; Mele, 2009; Mele et al., 2011; Aldai et al., 2010). Ruminants that are exclusively pasture fed (and/or supplemented with seeds) produce 'healthier' milk and dairy products with less cholesterol-elevating SFA (such as myristic and palmitic acids), and greater levels of omega-3 fatty acids, VA and CLA compared to those grain fed (White et al., 2001; Kraft et al., 2003; Mele et al., 2011). The significance of such enrichment has been confirmed by a recent study in Italy, showing that a naturally enriched cheese can improve plasma lipid profile (reducing LDL-C) in hypercholesterolemic subjects (Pintus et al., 2012). To our knowledge this has been the first randomized controlled trial to show acute lipid benefits of naturally enriched dairy products. Additional well controlled randomized clinical trials have shown neutral effects of rTFA intake (< 4 g/day); however, these studies were conducted in healthy subjects (Tholstrup et al., 2006; Chardigny et al., 2008; Motard-Belanger et al., 2008; Lacroix et al., 2012). These observations support the hypothesis that the hypolipidemic activity of rTFA may be limited to but also beneficial to study participants with existing hyperlipidemia. Another important finding from the referred study (Pintus et al., 2012) is that supplementation with synthetic CLA at a dose comparable to that attainable from its daily intake with the enriched cheese, did not provide the same benefits. Therefore, the changes detected with the enriched cheese could not be attributed to CLA per se. It is important to note that the fatty acid composition of the enriched and control cheese diets was not matched with respect to SFA. Therefore the results from the study by Pintus et al. (2012) provide evidence for a potential synergistic action of VA and CLA along with the reduced SFA content in the enriched cheese. Whether increasing the ratio of VA to SFA in animal-derived fat can provide an additional value in dyslipidemic populations warrants further investigation and randomized controlled trials.

Results from this thesis support the concept that the ratio of VA to SFA in dairy foods may be important for health and hypolipidemic properties *in* 

*vivo*. However, important considerations are needed before such enriched animal-derived products are produced in large-scale and are available in the food supply (as discussed below).

#### 6.3.4 Implications on current labeling regulations and policies

From an evolutionary perspective, rTFA from meat and dairy produce have been in the human food supply for as long as animals have been consumed and domesticated. Population-based studies to date have shown no harm associated with the consumption of rTFA (Willett *et al.*, 1993; Ascherio *et al.*, 1994; Pietinen *et al.*, 1997; Oomen *et al.*, 2001; Jakobsen *et al.*, 2008). Based on the discussion above, a naturally enriched dairy product may be considered as a 'healthier' alternative choice to attain the 2 servings/day recommended in a nutritionallyadequate diet (Health Canada Dietary Recommendation Guidelines). However, the enrichment process cannot be placed into practice until nutrition guidelines and policies support rTFA enrichment (Mapike *et al.*, 2012).

It is important to note that the current international definition of TFA does currently acknowledge the distinctive health effects of TFA derived from ruminant and industrial food sources. This definition includes all fatty acids containing *trans* double bond (s) except CLA and was established by the Codex Alimentarius to guide nutritional and legislatorial regulations to reduce TFA consumption. The successful implementation of food-labeling regulations in North America (FDA, 2006; Health Canada, 2005) has resulted in a significant decline in TFA intake (Vesper *et al.*, 2012). However, because rTFA (other than CLA) remain included on food labels in North America, a decrease in TFA intake may not be limited to industrial forms but may also impact the intake of TFA from ruminant sources.

# 6.3.4.1 Considerations for labeling TFA based on the source as opposed to all TFA *per se*

The enrichment of dairy products has further complicated the recommendations to minimize total TFA intake. Enriching dairy products would result in a relatively high cumulative daily intake of rTFA which may result in exceeding the recommended limit for total TFA by Health Canada (2 g/day). For example, the test cheese used in the study by Pintus et al., (2012) provided a daily intake of 2.8 g rTFA which would exceed the current recommendations in Canada. A serving (50 g) of this cheese would contain approximately 1.6 g of rTFA. Therefore, a dairy product derived from grass-fed/supplemented ruminant animals could not be labeled as trans fat free and this may be perceived as detrimental in health value. In this context, there have been some recent discussions as to whether unprocessed whole-fat dairy products should be excluded from the current Codex TFA definition. However, potential detrimental effects associated with supplemental CLA (synthetic forms) have resulted in concerns regarding the correctness of excluding CLA from the TFA definition, which has further complicated these discussions.

Regarding CLA, it has been consistently documented that supplemental and ruminant sources of CLA have different bioactivity (Wanders *et al.*, 2010; Moloney *et al.*, 2004; Raff *et al.*, 2009; Risérus *et al.*, 2004; Steck *et al.*, 2007; Arbonés-Mainar *et al.*, 2006; Roche *et al.*, 2002; Valeille *et al.*, 2005; Pintus *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, it could also be argued that different sources of CLA should be considered separately with respect to health regulations and/or nutritional guidelines. Furthermore, the profile of fatty acids from industrial and ruminant food sources is inherently different in terms of isomer distribution and absolute abundance. Collectively, labeling TFA based on the source as opposed to all TFA *per se* would potentially minimize confusion for public health messaging and food labeling, particularly in Canada. The results from this thesis are consistent with previous pre-clinical studies suggesting that VA, the most abundant rTFA, possesses potent therapeutic properties that are important to consider under metabolically abnormal conditions. Indeed, these findings are consistent with those reported by Pintus *et al.*, (2012) that suggest VA may be beneficial to those with hypercholesterolemia. Therefore, findings from this thesis have contributed to the growing literature that supports the need for nutrition guidelines/policies focused on eliminating industrial forms of *trans* fat from processed foods, as opposed to all TFA *per se*, in particular natural ruminant TFA.

#### 6.4 Literature cited

Aldai N., Dugan MER., Juarez M., Martinez A., Osoro K. Double-muscling caracter influences the trans-18:1 and conjugated linoleic acid profiles in concentrate-fed yearling bulls. Meat Science 2010; 85 (1): 59-65.

Arbonés-Mainar JM, Navarro MA, Guzmán MA, Arnal C, Surra JC, Acín S, Carnicer R, Osada J, Roche HM. Selective effect of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on atherosclerotic lesion development in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Atherosclerosis. 2006;189 (2):318-327.

Ascherio A, CH Hennekens, JE Buring, C Master, MJ Stampfer and WC Willett. Trans-fatty acids intake and risk of myocardial infarction. Circulation 1994; 89: 94-101.

Bassett CM, Edel AL, Patenaude AF, McCullough RS, Blackwood DP, Chouinard PY, Paquin P, Lamarche B, and Pierce GN. Dietary vaccenic acid has antiatherogenic effects in LDLr-/- mice. J. Nutr. 2010; 140: 18–24.

Batetta B, Griinari M, Carta G, Murru E, Ligresti A, Cordeddu L, Giordano E, Sanna F, Bisogno T, Uda S, Collu M, Bruheim I, Di Marzo V, Banni S. Endocannabinoids may mediate the ability of (n-3) fatty acids to reduce ectopic fat and inflammatory mediators in obese Zucker rats. J Nutr. 2009; 139 (8):1495-501.

Biddinger SB, Miyazaki M, Boucher J, Ntambi JM, Kahn CR. Leptin suppresses stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 by mechanisms independent of insulin and sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c. Diabetes. 2006; 55 (7): 2032-41.

Browning JD, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins R, Nuremberg P, Horton JD, Cohen JC, Grundy SM, Hobbs HH. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis in an urban population in the United States: impact of ethnicity. Hepatology. 2004; 40(6):1387-95.

Cases JA, Gabriely I, Ma XH, Yang XM, Michaeli T, Fleischer N, Rossetti L, Barzilai N. Physiological increase in plasma leptin markedly inhibits insulin secretion in vivo. Diabetes. 2001; 50 (2):348-52.

Chardigny JM, Destaillats F, Malpuech-Brugère C, Moulin J, Bauman DE, Lock AL, Barbano DM, Mensink RP, Bezelgues JB, Chaumont P, Combe N, Cristiani I, Joffre F, German JB, Dionisi F, Boirie Y, Sébédio JL. Do trans fatty acids from industrially produced sources and from natural sources have the same effect on cardiovascular disease risk factors in healthy subjects? Results of the trans Fatty Acids Collaboration (TRANSFACT) study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008; 87(3):558-66.

D'Argenio G, Petrosino S, Gianfrani C, Valenti M, Scaglione G, Grandone I, Nigam S, Sorrentini I, Mazzarella G, Di Marzo V. Overactivity of the intestinal endocannabinoid system in celiac disease and in methotrexate-treated rats. J Mol Med (Berl). 2007; 85 (5): 523-530.

Dewhurst RJ, Shingfield KJ, Lee MRF., Scollan ND. (2006). Increasing the concentrations of beneficial polyunsaturated fatty acids in milk produced by dairy cows in high-forage systems. Anim Feed Sci and Tech. 2006; 131 (3):168-206.

Donnelly KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest. 2005; 115 (5):1343-51.

Duez H, Lamarche B, Valéro R, Pavlic M, Proctor S, Xiao C, Szeto L, Patterson BW, Lewis GF. Both intestinal and hepatic lipoprotein production are stimulated by an acute elevation of plasma free fatty acids in humans. Circulation. 2008; 117(18):2369-2376.

Galgani JE, Heilbronn LK, Azuma K, Kelley DE, Albu JB, Pi- Sunyer X, Smith SR, Ravussin E; Look AHEAD Adipose Research Group. Metabolic flexibility in response to glucose is not impaired in people with type 2 diabetes after controlling for glucose disposal rate. Diabetes. 2008; 57: 841–845.

Herrera-Meza MS, Mendoza-López MR, García-Barradas O, Sanchez-Otero MG, Silva-Hernández ER, Angulo JO, Oliart-Ros RM. Dietary anhydrous milk fat naturally enriched with conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid modify cardiovascular risk biomarkers in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 2013; [Epub ahead of print] Howard BV, Curb JD, Eaton CB, Kooperberg C, Ockene J, Kostis JB, Pettinger M, Rajkovic A, Robinson JG, Rossouw J, Sarto G, Shikany JM, Van Horn L. Low-fat dietary pattern and lipoprotein risk factors: the Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010; 91 (4):860-74.

Jacobs DR, Tapsell LC, Temple NJ. Food synergy: the key to balancing the nutrition research effort. Public Health Rev 2012; 33: 1–23.

Jakobsen MU, Overvad K, Dyerberg J, Heitmann BL. Intake of ruminant *trans* fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease. Int J Epidemiol 2008; 37: 173–182.

Jaudszus A, Jahreis G, Schlörmann W, Fischer J, Kramer R, Degen C, Rohrer C, Roth A, Gabriel H, Barz D, Gruen M. Vaccenic acid-mediated reduction in cytokine production is independent of c9,t11-CLA in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012; 1821(10):1316-22.

Kelley DE, Mandarino LJ. Fuel selection in human skeletal muscle in insulin resistance: a reexamination. Diabetes. 2000; 49 (5):677-83.

Kraft J, Collomb M, Möckel P, Sieber R, Jahreis G. Differences in CLA isomer distribution of cow's milk lipids. Lipids. 2003;38 (6):657-64.

Lacroix E, Charest A, Cyr A, Baril-Gravel L, Lebeuf Y, Paquin P, Chouinard PY, Couture P, Lamarche B. Randomized controlled study of the effect of a butter naturally enriched in trans fatty acids on blood lipids in healthy women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012 Feb; 95 (2):318-25.

Larsen LF, Marckmann P, Kornerup Hansen A, Bukhave K. Fish oil feeding is associated with an increased accumulation of dietary lipids in enterocytes: results from an in vivo study in rats. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2003; 38(7):712-8.

Levy E, Spahis S, Ziv E, Marette A, Elchebly M, Lambert M, Delvin E. Overproduction of intestinal lipoprotein containing apolipoprotein B-48 in Psammomys obesus: impact of dietary n-3 fatty acids. Diabetologia 2006; 49(8):1937-45.

Ligresti A, Bisogno T, Matias I, De Petrocellis L, Cascio MG, Cosenza V, D'argenio G, Scaglione G, Bifulco M, Sorrentini I, Di Marzo V. Possible endocannabinoid control of colorectal cancer growth. Gastroenterology. 2003; 125 (3): 677-687.

Lo Verme J, Gaetani S, Fu J, Oveisi F, Burton K, Piomelli D. Regulation of food intake by oleoylethanolamide. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2005; 62(6):708-16.

Mapiye C, Aldai N, Turner TD, Aalhus JL, Rolland DC, Kramer JK, Dugan ME.The labile lipid fraction of meat: from perceived disease and waste to health and opportunity. Meat Sci. 2012; 92(3):210-20.

Mele M. Designing milk fat to improve healthfulness and functional properties of dairy products: from feeding strategies to a genetic approach. It J Anim Sci. 2009; 8: 365-373.

Mele M, Contarini G, Cercaci L, Serra A, Buccioni A, Povolo M, Conte G, Funaro A, Banni S, Lercker G, Secchiari P. Enrichment of Pecorino cheese with conjugated linoleic acid by feeding dairy ewes with extruded linseed: Effect on fatty acid and triglycerides composition and on oxidative stability. Int Dairy J. 2011; 21: 365-372.

Mente A, de Koning L, Shannon HS, Anand SS. A systematic review of the evidence supporting a causal link between dietary factors and coronary heart disease. Arch Intern Med 2009; 169:659–669.

Moloney F, Yeow TP, Mullen A, Nolan JJ, Roche HM. Conjugated linoleic acid supplementation, insulin sensitivity, and lipoprotein metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004; 80(4):887-95.

Micha R, Mozaffarian D. Saturated fat and cardiometabolic risk factors, coronary heart disease, stroke, and diabetes: a fresh look at the evidence. Lipids 2010; 45:893–905.

Motard-Bélanger A, Charest A, Grenier G, Paquin P, Chouinard Y, Lemieux S, Couture P, Lamarche B. Study of the effect of trans fatty acids from ruminants on blood lipids and other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008; 87 (3):593-9.

Naniwadekar AS. Nutritional recommendations for patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: an evidence based review. Nutrion issues in gastroenterology, series #82. 2010 http://www.medicine.virginia.edu/clinical/departments/medicine/divisions/di gestive-health/nutrition-support-

team/nutritionarticles/NaniwadekarArticle.pdf

Nogueira JP, Maraninchi M, Béliard S, Padilla N, Duvillard L, Mancini J, Nicolay A, Xiao C, Vialettes B, Lewis GF, Valéro R. Absence of acute inhibitory effect of insulin on chylomicron production in type 2 diabetes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012; 32(4):1039-1044.

Onwulata CI. Encapsulation of new active ingredients. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol. 2012; 3: 183-202.

Oomen Claudia M, Marga C Ocké, Edith J M Feskens, Marie-Agnes J van Erp-Baart, Frans J Kok, Daan Kromhout. Association between trans fatty

acid intake and 10-year risk of coronary heart disease in the Zutphen Elderly Study: a prospective population-based study. Lancet 2001; 357: 746–751.

O'shea M, Devery R, Lawless F, Keogh K, Stanton C. Enrichment of the conjugated linoleic acid content of bovine milk fat by dry fractionation. Int Dairy J. 2000; 10 (4): 289-294.

Pietinen P, Ascherio A, Korhonen P, Hartman AM, Willett WC, Albanes D, Virtamo J. Intake of Fatty Acids and Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in a Cohort of Finnish Men. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1997; 145: 876-887.

Pintus S, Murru E, Carta G, Cordeddu L, Batetta B, Accossu S, Pistis D, Uda S, Elena Ghiani M, Mele M, Secchiari P, Almerighi G, Pintus P, Banni S. Sheep cheese naturally enriched in α-linolenic, conjugated linoleic and vaccenic acids improves the lipid profile and reduces anandamide in the plasma of hypercholesterolaemic subjects. Br J Nutr. 2012 [Epub ahead of print].

Raff M, Tholstrup T, Toubro S, Bruun JM, Lund P, Straarup EM, Christensen R, Sandberg MB, Mandrup S. Conjugated linoleic acids reduce body fat in healthy postmenopausal women. J Nutr. 2009;139 (7):1347-52.

Risérus U, Smedman A, Basu S, Vessby B. Metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid in humans: the Swedish experience. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;79 (6 Suppl):1146S-1148S.

Roche HM, Noone E, Sewter C, Mc Bennett S, Savage D, Gibney MJ, O'Rahilly S, Vidal-Puig AJ. Isomer-dependent metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid: insights from molecular markers sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c and LXRalpha. Diabetes. 2002; 51(7):2037-2044.

Rossmeisl M, Jilkova ZM, Kuda O, Jelenik T, Medrikova D, Stankova B, Kristinsson B, Haraldsson GG, Svensen H, Stoknes I, Sjövall P, Magnusson Y, Balvers MG, Verhoeckx KC, Tvrzicka E, Bryhn M, Kopecky J. Metabolic effects of n-3 PUFA as phospholipids are superior to triglycerides in mice fed a high-fat diet: possible role of endocannabinoids. PLoS One. 2012; 7(6):e38834.

Siri-Tarino PW, Sun Q, Hu FB, Krauss RM. Meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies evaluating the association of saturated fat with cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2010; 91: 535–46.

Steck SE, Chalecki AM, Miller P, Conway J, Austin GL, Hardin JW, Albright CD, Thuillier P. Conjugated linoleic acid supplementation for

twelve weeks increases lean body mass in obese humans. J Nutr. 2007; 137(5):1188-93.

Storr MA, Keenan CM, Emmerdinger D, Zhang H, Yüce B, Sibaev A, Massa F, Buckley NE, Lutz B, Göke B, Brand S, Patel KD, Sharkey KA. Targeting endocannabinoid degradation protects against experimental colitis in mice: involvement of CB1 and CB2 receptors. J Mol Med (Berl). 2008; 86(8):925-36.

Tholstrup T, Raff M, Basu S, Nonboe P, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM. Effects of butter high in ruminant trans and monounsaturated fatty acids on lipoproteins, incorporation of fatty acids into lipid classes, plasma C-reactive protein, oxidative stress, hemostatic variables, and insulin in healthy young men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 83(2):237-43.

Touriño C, Oveisi F, Lockney J, Piomelli D, Maldonado R.FAAH deficiency promotes energy storage and enhances the motivation for food. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010; 34 (3):557-68.

Tyburczy C, Major C, Lock AL, Destaillats F. Lawrence P, Brenna JT, Salter AM, and Bauman DE. Individual trans octadecenoic acids and partially hydrogenated vegetable oil differentially affect hepatic lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in golden Syrian hamsters. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 257-263.

Valeille K, Férézou J, Amsler G, Quignard-Boulangé A, Parquet M, Gripois D, Dorovska-Taran V, Martin JC. A cis-9,trans-11-conjugated linoleic acidrich oil reduces the outcome of atherogenic process in hyperlipidemic hamster. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005; 289 (2):H652-659.

Verhoeckx KC, Voortman T, Balvers MG, Hendriks HF, M Wortelboer H, Witkamp RF. Presence, formation and putative biological activities of N-acyl serotonins, a novel class of fatty-acid derived mediators, in the intestinal tract. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011; 1811(10):578-86.

Vesper HW, Kuiper HC, Mirel LB, Johnson CL, Pirkle JL. Levels of plasma trans-fatty acids in non-Hispanic white adults in the United States in 2000 and 2009. JAMA. 2012; 307(6): 562-563.

Wanders AJ, Brouwer IA, Siebelink E, Katan MB. Effect of a high intake of conjugated linoleic acid on lipoprotein levels in healthy human subjects. PLoS One. 2010; 5 (2):e9000.

Wang Y, Lu J, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Vine DF, Field CJ, and Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid dietary supplementation induces hypolipidemic effects in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2008; 138: 2117-2122.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Wright DC, Vine DF, Field CJ, and Proctor SD. Trans-11 vaccenic acid reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR:LA-cp rats. J. Nutr. 2009; 139: 2049-2054.

Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Shen J, Reaney MJ, Scott SL, Dugan ME, Anderson HD, Field CJ, Proctor SD, and Vine DF. The intestinal bioavailability of vaccenic acid and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$  and - $\gamma$  in a rodent model of dyslipidemia and the metabolic syndrome. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2012; 56: 1234-1246.

White SL, Bertrand JA, Wade MR, Washburn SP, Green JT Jr, Jenkins TC. Comparison of fatty acid content of milk from Jersey and Holstein cows consuming pasture or a total mixed ration. J Dairy Sci. 2001; 84(10):2295-301.

Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Colditz GA, Speizer FE, Rosner BA, Sampson LA, Hennekens CH. Intake of trans fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease among women (Nurses Health Study). Lancet 1993; 341: 581-85.

Yen CL, Cheong ML, Grueter C, Zhou P, Moriwaki J, Wong JS, Hubbard B, Marmor S, Farese RV Jr. Deficiency of the intestinal enzyme acyl CoA:monoacylglycerol acyltransferase-2 protects mice from metabolic disorders induced by high-fat feeding. Nat Med. 2009; 15(4):442-446.

#### RESEARCH



Open Access

# Increased hypolipidemic benefits of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 conjugated linoleic acid in combination with *trans*-11 vaccenic acid in a rodent model of the metabolic syndrome, the JCR:LA-*cp* rat

M Miriam Jacome-Sosa<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Jing Lu<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Ye Wang<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Megan R Ruth<sup>2,3</sup>, David C Wright<sup>2,3</sup>, Martin J Reaney<sup>4</sup>, Jianheng Shen<sup>4</sup>, Catherine J Field<sup>2,3</sup>, Donna F Vine<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Spencer D Proctor<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

#### Abstract

**Background:** Conjugated linoleic acid (*cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA) and *trans*-11 vaccenic acid (VA) are found naturally in ruminant-derived foods. CLA has been shown to have numerous potential health related effects and has been extensively investigated. More recently, we have shown that VA has lipid-lowering properties associated with reduced hepatic lipidogenesis and chylomicron secretion in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat. The aim of this study was to evaluate potential additional hypolipidemic effects of purified forms of CLA and VA in an animal model of the metabolic syndrome (the JCR:LA-*cp* rat).

**Methods:** Twenty four obese JCR:LA-*cp* rats were randomized and assigned to one of three nutritionally adequate iso-caloric diets containing 1% w/w cholesterol and 15% w/w fat for 16 wk: 1) control diet (CD), 2) 1.0% w/w *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA (CLA), 3) 1.0% w/w VA and 1% w/w *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA (VA+CLA). Lean rats were fed the CD to represent normolipidemic conditions.

**Results:** Fasting plasma triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol concentrations were reduced in obese rats fed either the CLA diet or the VA+CLA diet as compared to the obese control group (p < 0.05, p < 0.001; p < 0.01; p < 0.01; p < 0.01, p < 0.01, p < 0.01, respectively). The VA+CLA diet reduced plasma TG and LDL-cholesterol to the level of the normolipidemic lean rats and further decreased nonesterified fatty acids compared to the CLA diet alone. Interestingly, rats fed the VA+CLA diet had a higher food intake but lower body weight than the CLA fed group (P < 0.05). Liver weight and TG content were lower in rats fed either CLA (p < 0.05) or VA +CLA diets (p < 0.001) compared to obese control, consistent with a decreased relative protein abundance of hepatic acetyl-CoA carboxylase in both treatment groups (P < 0.01). The activity of citrate synthase was increased in liver and adipose tissue of rats fed, CLA and VA+CLA diets (p < 0.001) compared to obese control, suggesting increased mitochondrial fatty acid oxidative capacity.

**Conclusion:** We demonstrate that the hypolipidemic effects of chronic *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA supplementation on circulating dyslipidemia and hepatic steatosis are enhanced by the addition of VA in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

#### Introduction

Conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) is a term that refers to diverse positional and geometrical isomers of linoleic acid and its numerous health related effects have been extensively investigated. CLA was first described as a potent anti-carcinogenic component and more recently

\* Correspondence: spencer.proctor@ualberta.ca

has been associated with improving dyslipidemia, insulin sensitivity and the pro-inflammatory state related to obesity and the metabolic syndrome [1,2]. However, some animal studies (specifically those using mouse models), in addition to a handful of clinical trials, have indicated that the major isomers found in CLA mixtures (*cis-9, trans-11* CLA and *trans-10, cis-12* CLA) are responsible for different physiological effects [1-10].



© 2010 Jacome-Sosa et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

CLA is found naturally in ruminant-derived lipids and cis-9, trans-11 CLA is the major natural isoform, accounting for about 80-90% of the total CLA isomers [11]. Trans-11 vaccenic acid (VA) is the precursor to endogenous synthesis of the cis-9, trans-11 CLA isomer in rats [12,13] and humans [14], and is the predominant isomer of the total trans fatty acids found in ruminantderived fats such as dairy and meat products. We have shown previously that unlike industrially produced trans fatty acids, VA has lipid-lowering properties associated with reduced hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in the obese and insulin resistant JCR:LA-cp rat [15]. Interestingly, our observations indicate that VA has neutral effects under normolipidemic conditions and induces hypotriglyceridemic effects under conditions of dyslipidemia [16]. We also observed that VA supplementation for 16 weeks had a greater potential to influence lipoprotein metabolism [15] compared to a shorter term feeding [16]. These findings are supported by several clinical [17-19] and animal studies [20-24] showing that dietary *trans* fats derived from ruminants have either neutral or beneficial effects on cardiovascular disease risk factors compared to industrially produced trans fats.

As a result of the increasing evidence associating CLA and more recently VA with health benefits, there has been a growing interest to increase the concentrations of these natural trans fats in meat and dairy products [25-28]. Interestingly, both VA and CLA (cis-9, trans-11) can account for more than 15% of the total fat in naturally enhanced dairy products [26] which could provide an additional health value to animal-derived fats. Consequently, in this study we hypothesized that chronic supplementation with both CLA and VA would enhance the lipid lowering effects to improve whole body lipid metabolism. Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of dietary supplementation with purified forms of both cis-9, trans-11 CLA and VA on impaired lipid metabolism in an established animal model of the metabolic syndrome, the JCR:LA-cp rat.

#### Materials and methods

#### Animals and diets

All experimental procedures were approved by the University of Alberta Animal Ethics Committee and conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Twenty four male obese JCR:LA-cp rats (cp/cp) were raised in our established breeding colony at the University of Alberta as previously described [29]. At 3 wk of age, rats were transferred from the isolated breeding colony areas to an individually ventilated caging environment (TecniplastTM, Exton PA, USA) and had access to a standard rat chow diet (5001, PMI Nutrition International) (see

Additional file 1). At 8 wk of age, rats (n = 8) were randomized and assigned to one of three diets for 16 wk (control and experimental diets) and had free access to food and water. Age and weight matched lean littermates (n = 8) were fed the control diet to mimic cholesterol/high fat feeding under normolipidemic conditions. Food intake and body weight (BW) were monitored weekly throughout the study. At 23 wk of age, a meal tolerance test (MTT) as previously described [30], was performed in four randomly chosen rats from control and treatment groups in order to determine plasma glucose and insulin concentrations after a meal. We also performed an oral fat challenge test (OFC), as previously described [29] in four additional rats from each group. At the end of the treatment period (24 wk of age), rats were fasted overnight and anesthetized using isofluorane anesthesia. Plasma was sampled from the left ventricle and heart, liver and fat pads were excised, weighted and immediately frozen at -80°C until analysis. Adipose fatty acid composition was measured from total triglyceride on the epidydimal fat pad as previously described [16].

Three iso-caloric diets were prepared with a constant polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acid ratio (P:S) of 0.4. A control diet (CD) was supplemented (w/w) with 1% cholesterol and contained 42% of energy from carbohydrate, 23.7% from protein and 34.3% from fat. Experimental diets were prepared by adjusting the lipid composition of the CD to provide 1.0% w/w of cis-9, trans-11 CLA alone (CLA), both 1% of VA and 1% w/w of cis-9, trans-11 CLA (VA+CLA). Semi-purified cis-9, trans-11 CLA (G-c9t11 80:20) containing 59.8% of cis-9, trans-11 CLA and 14.4% of trans-10, cis-12 CLA was kindly provided by Lipid Nutrition. The amount of CLA and VA (1% w/w) was chosen based on previous studies allowing for metabolic sufficiency while maintaining a normal dietary fatty acid proportion [15-17,31]. Purified VA was synthesized by a chemical alkali isomerisation from linoleic acid-rich vegetable oil [32]. The diet mixture was extruded into pellets, dried at RT°C and stored at 4°C. Fatty acid composition of the three diets was confirmed by gas chromatograph analysis [28] of the fat blend samples (Table 1).

#### Plasma biochemical components

The concentration of biochemical parameters in fasting plasma from lean and obese groups were assessed using commercially available homogenous, enzymatic colorimetric assays. Triglyceride (TG) (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 998-40391, 0.01 mmol/L minimum), Total cholesterol (TC) (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 993-00404, 0.002 mmol/L minimum), LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 993-00404, 0.03-10.4 mmol/L)

Table 1 Fatty acid composition (% of total fatty acids) of control and experimental diets

Fatty acid	Control diet (CD)	CLA diet	VA+CLA diet	
C16:0	9.1	8.5	9.1	
C18:0	47.3	46.9	44.3	
18:1 <i>t</i> -11 (VA)	ND	ND	5.6	
18:1 <i>c-</i> 9 (OA)	17.3	11.4	10.5	
18:1 <i>c</i> -11	ND	0.5	0.5	
C18:2 n6 (LA)	23.3	23.4	20.4	
C18:3 n3 (ALA)	1.6	1.7	1.6	
CLA <i>c-</i> 9, <i>t-</i> 11	0	5.2	3.9	
CLA <i>t</i> -10, <i>c</i> -12	ND	1.1	0.8	
other CLA	ND	0.3	0.3	
Summary				
$\Sigma$ total SFA <sup>2</sup>	57.2	56.3	54.2	
∑ C12:0, C14:0, C16:0 <sup>3</sup>	9.1	8.5	9.1	
$\Sigma$ cis MUFA <sup>4</sup>	17.4	12.0	11.1	
∑ PUFA <sup>5</sup>	25.0	25.1	22.0	
∑ n-6 PUFA	23.4	23.4	22.0	
∑ n-3 PUFA	1.6	1.7	1.6	
P/S ratio <sup>6</sup>	0.4	0.4	0.4	
ΣCLA	0.0	6.6	5.0	

<sup>1.</sup> No detectable

<sup>2</sup> Sum of all saturated fatty acids

<sup>3</sup> Sum of lauric, myristic and palmitic acids

<sup>4</sup> cis MUFA, sum of all monounsaturated excepting trans fatty acids

<sup>5</sup> Sum of all polyunsaturated fatty acids excepting CLA

<sup>6</sup> Ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids

and nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA) (HR Series NEFA-HR, catalog no. 999-34691, Wako Diagnostics) were measured using direct colorimetric chemical enzymatic reactions. Plasma glucose was measured as per the glucose oxidase method (Diagnostic Chemical, catalog no. 220-32, 0.03-33.3 mmol/L) and plasma insulin was determined using commercially available enzymatic immunoassays for rodents (Ultrasensitive rat insulin ELISA, Mercodia, catalog no. 80-INSRTU-E01, 0.03-1.0 pmol/L). Samples were analyzed in triplicate using assay kits from a single lot and performed in one single batch.

#### Tissue homogenization and hepatic TG

Liver and adipose tissue samples (0.5 g) were homogenized in 200  $\mu$ L lysis buffer [PBS (pH 7.4) with 1.5% TritonX-100 and 1% protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma)] and and hepatic TG levels were determined by a commercially available enzymatic colorimetric assay (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, catalog no. 998-40391, 0.01 mmol/L minimum), using an aliquot of the whole homogenate and adjusting by the protein concentration of the homogenate [15]. The remainder of the homogenate was centrifuged at 700 g for 15 min and the supernatant was collected and stored at -80C for western blot and citrate synthase activity analysis.

#### Hepatic and adipose tissue citrate synthase activity

Citrate synthase activity in liver and adipose tissue samples was determined using a commercially available kit from Sigma (catalog no. CS0720). The coefficient of variation of this assay in our laboratory is < 10%. The citrate synthase activity was expressed as  $\mu$ mol/min/g protein.

#### Relative protein abundance of lipogenic enzymes

Hepatic acetyl-CoA carboxylase-1 (ACC-1) and fatty acid synthase (FAS) were determined by western blot analysis as described elsewhere [33] with few modifications [15]. ACC-1 and FAS relative abundance were normalized based on the respective  $\beta$ -actin protein mass (internal control).

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the Graph pad Prism software, version 4.0. Data was tested for normal distribution and one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc tests were used to identify differences among both lean and obese controls and treatment groups (CLA and VA+CLA). Post-prandial glucose and insulin metabolism as well as post-prandial TG response were assessed by area under the curve (AUC) analysis. Fasting concentrations of these parameters were further subtracted from the total AUC to yield the incremental area under the curve (iAUC). Results are expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM and the level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

#### Results

#### Food intake, body weight and body composition

Obese rats fed the combination of VA+CLA showed increased food intake compared to those obese rats fed either the CD or CLA diet. Paradoxically, the VA+CLA fed rats showed reduced body weight (p < 0.001) compared to the CLA group (Table 2). Despite the higher body weight of rats fed the CLA diet as compared to obese control, no difference was observed in absolute and relative heart weights or fat pad deposition (p > p)0.05), as measured by the amount of absolute and relative perirenal and inguinal fat pad weights compared with the obese rats fed the CD (Table 2). In contrast, feeding either the CLA or the VA+CLA diet resulted in a lower absolute liver weight by 15% and 26%, respectively, and both diets reduced the ratio of liver weight to total body weight by 22% as compared to obese rats fed the CD (p < 0.001).

#### Citrate synthase activity in liver and adipose tissue

The activity of citrate synthase in liver and adipose tissue is shown in Figure 1. There was a higher (p < 0.001) citrate synthase activity in liver and inguinal adipose

	Dietary groups			
	Lean control	Obese control	Obese CLA	Obese VA+CLA
Food intake (g/day)	19.7 ± 0.3 <sup>c</sup>	$32.4 \pm 0.5^{b}$	$31.4 \pm 0.6^{b}$	$36.1 \pm 0.6^{***a}$
BW/16 wk (g)	$384 \pm 8.2^{\circ}$	$646 \pm 9.3^{b}$	$702 \pm 17.9^{a_{*}}$	$624 \pm 9.5^{b}$
Heart (g)	$0.89 \pm 0.0^{b}$	$1.19 \pm 0.0^{a}$	$1.26 \pm 0.0^{a}$	$1.23 \pm 0.0^{a}$
weight, %BW	$0.23 \pm 0.0^{a}$	$0.18 \pm 0.0^{b}$	$0.18 \pm 0.0^{b}$	$0.20 \pm 0.0^{b}$
Liver (g)	9.1 ± 0.4d	$23.1 \pm 0.7^{a}$	$19.7 \pm 0.6^{***b}$	17.2 ± 0.3*** <sup>c</sup>
weight, %BW	$2.4 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$	$3.6 \pm 0.1^{a}$	$2.8 \pm 0.1^{***b}$	$2.8 \pm 0.0^{***b}$
Perirenal FP <sup>1</sup> (g)	$1.3 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$	$7.4 \pm 0.4^{ab}$	$8.6 \pm 0.8^{a}$	$6.7 \pm 0.4^{b}$
weight, %BW	$0.33 \pm 0.0^{b}$	$1.2 \pm 0.1^{a}$	$1.2 \pm 0.1^{a}$	$1.1 \pm 0.1^{a}$
Inguinal FP (g)	$1.4 \pm 0.2^{b}$	$17.9 \pm 1.1^{a}$	$18.5 \pm 1.0^{a}$	$15.7 \pm 1.0^{a}$
weight, %BW	$0.36 \pm 0.0^{b}$	$2.8 \pm 0.2^{a}$	$2.6 \pm 0.1^{a}$	$2.5 \pm 0.1^{a}$

Table 2 Food intake, body weight and body composition of rats in dietary groups

Values are means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 8. Means in the same raw with different symbol are significantly different as compared to obese control; \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001. Means in the same raw with different letter are significantly different among control (lean and obese) and obese treated groups (CLA and VA+CLA). FP<sup>1</sup>= Fat pad

tissue after feeding either CLA or VA+CLA diets as compared to lean and obese rats fed the CD. Interestingly, the citrate synthase activity in liver and adipose tissue did not differ between lean and obese rats fed the CD (p > 0.05).

#### Fatty acid profile in epididymal adipose tissue triglyceride

The fatty acid composition in adipose tissue triglyceride was shown to directly reflect the dietary fatty acid composition as shown in Table 3. Obese rats fed with the CLA and VA+CLA diets had a markedly increased proportion of the *cis-9*, *trans-11* CLA isomer relative to the obese control group. The content of this isomer, expressed as a percentage of total fatty acids was different between the treated groups. The CLA diet showed the greatest incorporation of the cis-9, trans-11 CLA isomer (70 fold greater than control group) compared to the VA+CLA diet, which was only 46 fold higher than the obese control group. Rats fed VA+CLA diet showed a greater incorporation of *trans*-11 18:1 (VA) compared to CLA and obese control rats (p < 0.001). Interestingly, rats fed the VA+CLA diet had lower proportions of linoleic acid (18:2 n6),  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (18:3 n3) and arachidonic acid (20:4 n6).

#### Fasting plasma lipid, glucose and insulin concentrations

As shown in Table 4, fasting plasma TG, TC and LDL-C were significantly lower in obese rats fed either the CLA or the VA+CLA diet, as compared to the CD. However, feeding the VA+CLA diet further reduced plasma NEFA concentration relative to the CLA fed rats and lowered TG and LDL-C concentrations not different from lean rats fed the CD (p > 0.05). The CLA or VA+CLA diet lowered fasting insulin to that comparable of lean rats (p > 0.05) and reduced total insulin concentration (AUC) after the MTT (p < 0.05). There was no



Table 3 Fatty acid composition (%	of total fatty acids) of trigly	ceride in epididymal adipose tissue
-----------------------------------	---------------------------------	-------------------------------------

	Dietary groups			
	Lean control	Obese control	Obese CLA	Obese VA+CLA
Fatty acid				
C18:0	$13.91 \pm 0.71^{a}$	$6.36 \pm 0.14^{b}$	$5.47 \pm 0.07^{b}$	$6.31 \pm 0.17^{b}$
C18:1 <i>t</i> -11 (VA)	$0.05 \pm 0.01^{b}$	$0.02 \pm 0.00^{b}$	$0.08 \pm 0.00^{b}$	$1.72 \pm 0.06^{***a}$
C18:1 <i>c</i> -9	$28.37 \pm 0.14^{d}$	$37.9 \pm 0.56^{a}$	32.72 ± 0.32*** <sup>⊂</sup>	35.21 ± 0.49** <sup>b</sup>
C18:2 n6	$35.76 \pm 0.22^{a}$	$20.51 \pm 0.24^{b}$	$20.15 \pm 0.25^{b}$	15.06 ± 0.52*** <sup>c</sup>
C18:3 n3	$1.2 \pm 0.03^{a}$	$0.91 \pm 0.02^{b}$	$0.96 \pm 0.02^{b}$	0.47 ± 0.06*** <sup>℃</sup>
CLA <i>c</i> -9, <i>t</i> -11	$0.05 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$0.04 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$2.85 \pm 0.04^{***a}$	1.91 ± 0.09*** <sup>b</sup>
C20:4 n6	$0.45 \pm 0.01^{a}$	$0.33 \pm 0.25^{b}$	$0.32 \pm 0.01^{b}$	$0.22 \pm 0.0^{**c}$

Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 8. Means in the same raw with different symbol are significantly different as compared to obese control; \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001. Means in the same raw with different letter are significantly different among control (lean and obese) and obese treated groups (CLA and VA+CLA). Long chain n3 PUFA were not detectable.

statistical difference between groups for either glucose metabolism (fasting or iAUC) or the relative change (iAUC) in insulin.

#### Post-prandial plasma TG response

Obese rats had a higher post-prandial plasma TG response (iAUC) compared to lean rats following an OFC (Figure 2). AUC analysis showed an improved total TG concentration (p < 0.05) over the 10-h post-prandial period in rats fed either the CLA or VA+CLA diet ( $35 \pm 5$  and  $38 \pm 8$  mmol/L.h, respectively), compared to obese rats fed the CD ( $62 \pm 5$  mmol/L.h). However, the post-prandial iAUC for TG was not different between obese control and obese treatment groups (CLA and VA +CLA).

## Liver TG concentration and relative abundance of hepatic lipogenic enzymes

Liver TG concentration was higher in obese control rats compared to lean control rats. However, feeding the CLA diet resulted in a liver triglyceride concentration that was 22% lower than the obese rats fed the CD (Table 4). Interestingly, the VA+CLA diet further lowered liver TG concentration by 43% and 27% as compared to obese control and CLA groups, respectively. In addition, CLA and VA+CLA diets resulted in significantly lower hepatic ACC-1 protein abundance relative to obese control (34% and 38%, respectively) and was normalized to concentrations similar to lean rats fed the CD (p > 0.05) (Figure 3A, B). The relative abundance of hepatic FAS protein did not differ between the obese groups (p > 0.05) (Figure 3A, C).

#### Discussion

### Combination of VA+CLA increases food intake and decreases liver weight

Dyslipidemia and insulin resistance are common features associated with cardiovascular disease and the metabolic syndrome. The homozygous obese (cp/cp), JCR:LA-cp rat, has a complete absence of the leptin receptor. As a consequence, the JCR:LA-cp rat spontaneously develops hyperphagia and obesity, associated dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, and macro-and microvascular dysfunction [34-36]. In the present study, we

Table 4 Fasting plasma lipid concen	trations, glucose and insulin	AUC after MTT and hepatic TG
-------------------------------------	-------------------------------	------------------------------

	Dietary groups			
	Lean control	Obese control	Obese CLA	Obese VA+CLA
TG (mmol/L)	$0.47 \pm 0.0^{\circ}$	$3.28 \pm 0.4^{a}$	$2.05 \pm 0.3^{*b}$	$1.4 \pm 0.1^{***bc}$
NEFA (mmol/L)	$0.20 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	$0.48 \pm 0.02^{ab}$	$0.57 \pm 0.03^{a}$	$0.42 \pm 0.05^{b}$
TC (mmol/L)	$2.26 \pm 0.0^{\circ}$	$6.18 \pm 0.4^{a}$	$4.22 \pm 0.2^{***b}$	$4.92 \pm 0.2^{**b}$
LDL-C (mmol/L)	$0.97 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$	$2.28 \pm 0.2^{a}$	$1.56 \pm 0.1^{**b}$	$1.2 \pm 0.1^{***bc}$
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)	5.94 ± 0.08	6.81 ± 0.4	5.94 ± 0.36	6.75 ± 0.72
Glucose iAUC (mmol/L.h)	45.19 ± 4.5	52.22 ± 7.8	70.25 ± 14.7	42.7 ± 33.05
Fasting insulin (µIU/L)	73.41 ± 27.4 <sup>b</sup>	$629.2 \pm 165.3^{a}$	216 ± 13.6* <sup>b</sup>	$372.8 \pm 98.24^{ab}$
Insulin AUC (µIU/L.h)	8739 ± 1566 <sup>c</sup>	40437 $\pm$ 4384 $^{\rm a}$	24548 ± 3465* <sup>b</sup>	23001 ± 2744 <sup>*b</sup>
Insulin iAUC (µIU/L.h)	4452 ± 1464	11805 ± 7603	11585 ± 3885	4451 ± 3015
Liver TG (mmol/g protein)	$2.2 \pm 0.3^{d}$	$21.2 \pm 1.0^{a}$	16.6 ± 1.1* <sup>b</sup>	12.1 ± 1.3*** <sup>c</sup>

Plasma lipid and liver TG values are mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 8. Insulin AUC is mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 4. Means in the same raw with different symbol are significantly different as compared to obese control; \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001. Means in the same raw with different letter are significantly different among control (lean and obese) and obese treated groups (CLA and VA+CLA).



used this unique animal model to evaluate hypolipidemic effects of *cis-9*, *trans-*11 CLA in combination with VA. Obese rats fed the CLA diet had a higher final body weight relative to obese control rats. However, this was not associated with an increase in fat deposition. *Cis-9*, *trans-*11 CLA has been observed to regulate metabolic pathways involved in fatty acid oxidation as well as energy production and thermogenesis [37-40]; therefore we investigated whether combination VA +CLA might promote fatty acid oxidation.

## CLA and VA+CLA promote mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation in liver and adipose tissue

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)-agonists, such as thiazolidenediones (TZDs), are effective drugs for the treatment of type 2 diabetes by inducing adipogenesis as well as increasing the uptake and metabolism of free fatty acids in adipose tissue. Increased mitochondrial oxidative capacity of white adipose tissue has been observed after treatment with TZD [41,42]. CLA is a natural PPAR ligand [43-45] and has been observed to promote fatty acid oxidation [40] or TG synthesis in adipose tissue contributing to lower circulating NEFA and TG concentrations [7]. We observed a significant increase in citrate synthase activity in liver and inguinal adipose tissue following supplementation with either CLA or VA+CLA diet but not in perirenal adipose tissue. Interestingly, citrate synthase activity was not different between lean and obese control rats. It has been reported that insulin resistance is associated with an increase in muscle mitochondrial content and oxidative capacity [46-48]. Similarly, it has been demonstrated that mitochondrial biogenesis increases during adipose tissue differentiation [49]. Therefore, it can be proposed that JCR:LA-cp rats maintain similar mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation relative to lean rats but during increased dietary lipid consumption, it is insufficient to prevent TG deposition. Treatment with CLA or VA+CLA may stimulate mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and in turn this may contribute to improvements in liver and adipose tissue metabolism in the JCR:LA-*cp* rat.

## Incorporation of CLA and VA in adipose tissue triglyceride

It is well established that the fatty acid composition of adipose tissue is dependent on dietary intake. However, endogenous synthesis of fatty acids, fatty acid transport and inter-conversion processes (elongation and desaturation) are also significant contributing factors to the composition of adipose tissue [50]. As expected, supplementation with cis-9, trans-11 CLA (CLA diet) and VA (VA+CLA diet) increased the proportion of these fatty acids in adipose tissue from obese rats. We also wish to note that the endogenous synthesis of cis-9, trans-11 CLA from VA may have also occurred in this study. In both humans and animals, the conversion of dietary VA to CLA has been reported to be at a rate of approximately 12-19% [12 and 14]. We also note that the dietary ratio of VA:CLA in this study was ~1.5:1, respectively (Table 1) and that the resultant incorporation of these fatty acids into adipose tissue was found to be 1:1 following supplementation (Table 3). While we cannot infer a rate of conversion from VA to CLA per se from this data, it would support that previously published.

## Combined dietary VA+CLA has a greater effect to reduce dyslipidemia and hepatic steatosis

One of the most striking effects of the combined treatment (VA+CLA) in the present study was the reduction



in hepatic TG concentration. The improvement in fasting lipid parameters by VA+CLA diet (i.e. TG and LDL-C) suggest an additional benefit with the combination diet and is consistent with previous observations that dietary VA has lipid lowering properties independent from CLA [15]. We also wish to note that both diets (CLA and VA+CLA) consistently contained 0.15 w/w of the *trans*-10, *cis*-12 CLA isomer, which is also known for its hypolipidemic properties.

ACC-1 and FAS are two key lipogenic enzymes involved in the synthesis of fatty acids and subsequent TG synthesis. TG is then either stored as lipid droplets within the hepatocyte, secreted into the blood compartment as VLDL or hydrolyzed via oxidation [51]. It is plausible that reduced hepatic lipogenesis may contribute (at least in part) to reduced hepatic TG in rats fed either the CLA or VA+CLA diet, which is supported by a lower hepatic ACC-1 protein abundance relative to obese rats fed the CD. We have reported previously that VA may act in part via ACC-1 and FAS pathways resulting in reduced VLDL secretion to decrease circulating concentrations of plasma TG and LDL-C [15]. However, in conditions of insulin resistance, hepatic steatosis is thought to be caused by an increased free fatty acid flux from adipose tissue into the liver [52]. As discussed above, rats fed the combined treatment (VA+CLA) showed lower circulating NEFA concentrations compared to rats fed the CLA diet alone. We propose that reduced NEFA may also contribute to a further decrease in hepatic TG. In addition, activation of ACC is regulated by phosphorylation/dephosphorylation [53] and thus, it may be possible that CLA and VA+CLA diets may differently regulate post-translational modifications of ACC-1.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, results in this study confirm hypolipidemic effects of chronic supplementation with *cis-9*, *trans-*11 CLA alone or in combination with *trans-*11 VA in the dyslipidemic and insulin resistant JCR:LA-*cp* rat. Our data also support the hypothesis that a dietary formulation enriched with both CLA and VA may further enhance their hypolipidemic properties, particularly during conditions of hypertriglyceridemia, hypercholesterolemia and/or hepatic steatosis.

#### Additional material

Additional file 1: Changes in body weight throughout the study and schematic representation of the experimental design. Rats (n = 8) were fed a standard chow diet prior to the study (from 3-8 wk of age). Then, control and experimental diets were provided for 16 wk. An oral fat challenge test (OFC) and a meal tolerance test (MTT) were conducted on different rats (n = 4 in each test).

#### List of abbreviations

ACC-1: acetyl-CoA carboxylase-1; AUC: area under the curve; iAUC: incremental area under the curve; CD: control diet; CLA: *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA; FAS: fatty acid synthase; MTT: meal tolerance test; NEFA: nonesterified fatty acid; OFC: oral fat challenge; TC: total cholesterol; TG: triglyceride; VA: *trans*-11 vaccenic.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank Kristina MacNaughton, Sue Goruk and Sharon Sokolik for their excellent technical assistance associated with this project.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Metabolic and Cardiovascular Diseases Laboratory, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, T6G 2P5, Canada. <sup>2</sup>Alberta Institute for Human Nutrition, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, T6G 2P5, Canada. <sup>3</sup>Alberta Diabetes Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, T6G 2P5, Canada. <sup>4</sup>Department of Applied Microbiology and Food Science, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, S7N 5A8, Canada.

#### Authors' contributions

MMJS, JL, CJF, DFV, and SDP contributed to research design; MJR and JS provided essential reagents; MMJS, JL, YW, MRR and DCW conducted research and analyzed data; MMJS, CJF, DFV, and SDP contributed to the writing of the manuscript; MMJS and SDP had primary responsibility for the final content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### **Competing interests**

Funds for this work were supported in part by the Dairy Farmers of Canada, Alberta Livestock Industry Development Fund and the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada. MMJS is supported by a scholarship from the National Council of Mexico for Science and Technology (CONACyT). SDP is supported by a New Investigator Award from HSFC. The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### Received: 1 April 2010 Accepted: 16 July 2010 Published: 16 July 2010

#### References

- Wahle KW, Heys SD, Rotondo D: Conjugated linoleic acids: are they beneficial or detrimental to health? Prog Lipid Res 2004, 43:553-87.
- Bhattacharya A, Banu J, Rahman M, Causey J, Fernandes G: Biological effects of conjugated linoleic acids in health and disease. J Nutr Biochem 2006, 17:789-810.
- Taylor CG, Zahradka P: Dietary conjugated linoleic acid and insulin sensitivity and resistance in rodent models. Am J Clin Nutr 2004, 79(suppl):1164S-1168S.
- Terpstra AHM: Effect of conjugated linoleic acid on body composition and plasma lipids in human: an overview of the literature. Am J Clin Nutr 2004, 79:352-361.
- Tricon S, Burdge GC, Williams CM, Calder PC, Yaqoob P: The effects of conjugated linoleic acid on human health-related outcomes. *Proc Nutr* Soc 2005, 64:171-182.
- 6. Park Y, Pariza MW: Mechanisms of body fat modulation by conjugated linoleic acid (CLA). Food Res Int 2007, 40:311-323.
- Roche HM, Noone E, Sewter C, Mc Bennett S, Savage D, Gibney MJ, O'Rahilly S, Vidal-Puig AJ: Isomer-dependent metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid: insights from molecular markers sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c and LXRalpha. *Diabetes* 2002, 51:2037-2044.
- Risérus U, Basu S, Jovinge S, Fredrikson GN, Ärnlöv J, Vessby B: Supplementation with conjugated linoleic acid causes isomerdependent oxidative stress and elevated C-Reactive Protein. A potential link to fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. *Circulation* 2002, 106:1925-1929.
- Javadi M, Beynen AC, Hovenier R, Lankhorst A, Lemmens AG, Terpstra AHM, Geelen MJH: Prolonged feeding of mice with conjugated linoleic acid increases hepatic fatty acid synthesis relative to oxidation. J Nutr Biochem 2004, 15:680-687.
- 10. Cooper MH, Miller JL, Mitchell PL, Currie DL, McLeod RS: Conjugated linoleic acid isomers have no effect on atherosclerosis and adverse

effects on lipoprotein and liver lipid metabolism in apoE-/-mice fed a high cholesterol diet. *Atherosclerosis* 2008, **200**:294-302.

- Mendis S, Cruz-Hernandez C, Ratnayake WMN: Fatty acid profile of Canadian dairy products with special attention to the *trans*octadecenoic acid and conjugated linoleic acid isomers. J AOAC Int 2008, 9:811-819.
- 12. Santora JE, Palmquist DL, Roehrig KL: **Trans-vaccenic acid is desaturated to conjugated linoleic acid in mice.** *J Nutr* 2000, **130**:208-215.
- Corl BÅ, Barbano DM, Bauman DE, Ip C: Cis-9, trans-11 CLA derived endogenously from trans-11 18:1 reduces cancer risk in rats. J Nutr 2003, 133:2893-2900.
- Turpeinen AM, Mutanen M, Aro A, Salminen I, Basu S, Palmquist DL, Griinari JM: Bioconversion of vaccenic acid to conjugated linoleic acid in humans. Am J Clin Nutri 2002, 76:504-510.
- Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Wright DC, Vine DF, Field CF, Proctor SD: Trans-11 vaccenic acid reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR: LA-cp rats. J Nutr 2009, 139:2049-2054.
- Wang Y, Lu J, Ruth MR, Goruk SD, Reaney MJ, Glimm DR, Vine DF, Field CF, Proctor SD: Trans-11 vaccenic acid dietary supplementation induces hypolipidemic effects in JCR:LA-cp rats. J Nutr 2008, 138:2117-2122.
- 17. Tholstrup T, Raff M, Basu S, Nonboe P, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM: Effects of butter high in ruminant *trans* and monounsaturated fatty acids on lipoproteins, incorporation of fatty acids into lipid classes, plasma C-reactive protein, oxidative stress, hemostatic variables, and insulin in healthy young men. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2006, **83**:237-43.
- Motard-Belanger A, Charest A, Grenier G, Paquin P, Chouinard Y, Lemieux S, Couture P, Lamarche B: Study of the effect of *trans* fatty acids from ruminants on blood lipids and other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2008, 87:593-9.
- Chardigny JM, Destaillats F, Malpuech-Brugère C, Moulin J, Bauman DE, Lock AL, Barbano DM, Mensink RP, Bezelgues JB, Chaumont P, Combe N, Cristiani I, Joffre F, German JB, Dionisi F, Boirie Y, Sébédio JL: Do trans fatty acids from industrially produced sources and from natural sources have the same effect on cardiovascular disease risk factors in healthy subjects? Results of the trans Fatty Acids Collaboration (TRANSFACT) study. Am J Clin Nutr 2008, 87:558-66.
- Lock AL, Horne CAM, Bauman DE, Salter AM: Butter naturally enriched in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid alters tissue fatty acids and improves the plasma lipoprotein profile in cholesterol-fed hamsters. J Nutr 2005, 135:1934-1939.
- Roy A, Chardigny JM, Bauchart D, Ferlay A, Lorenz S, Durand D, Gruffat D, Faulconnier Y, Sébédio J-L, Chilliard Y: Butters rich either in *trans*-10-C18:1 or in *trans*-11-C18:1 plus *cis*-9, *trans*-11 CLA differentially affect plasma lipids and aortic fatty streak in experimental atherosclerosis in rabbits. *Animal* 2007, 1:467-476.
- Bauchart D, Roy A, Lorenz S, Chardigny JM, Ferlay A, Gruffat D, Sébédio JL, Chilliard Y, Durand D: Butters varying in *trans* 18:1 and cis-9, *trans*-11conjugated linoleic acid modify plasma lipoproteins in the hypercholesterolemic rabbit. *Lipids* 2007, 42:123-33.
- Tyburczy C, Major C, Lock AL, Destaillats F, Lawrence P, Brenna JT, Salter AM, Bauman DE: Individual trans octadecenoic acids and partially hydrogenated vegetable oil differentially affect hepatic lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in golden syrian hamsters. J Nutr 2009, 139:257-263.
- Bassett CMC, Edel AL, Patenaude AF, McCullough RS, Blackwood DP, Chouinard PW, Paquin P, Lamarche B, Pierce GN: Dietary Vaccenic Acid Has Antiatherogenic Effects in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> Mice. J Nutr 2010, 140:18-24.
- Bauman DE, Barbano DM, Dwyer DA, Griinari JM: Technical note: Production of butter with enhanced conjugated linoleic acid for use in biomedical studies with animal models. J Dairy Sci 2000, 83:2422-2425.
- Lock AL, Bauman DE: Modifying milk fat composition of dairy cows to enhance fatty acids beneficial to human health. *Lipids* 2004, 39:1197-1206.
- Jones EL, Kohen C, Jones AK, Lupoli B, Grandison AS, Beever DE, Williams CM, Calder PC, Yaqoob P: Chemical, physical, and sensory properties of dairy products enriched with conjugated linoleic acid. J Dairy Sci 2005, 88:2923-2937.
- Cruz-Hernandez C, Kramer JKG, Kennelly JJ, Glimm DR, Sorensen BM, Okine EK, Goonewardene LA, Weselake RJ: Evaluating the conjugated linoleic acid and *trans* 18:1 isomers in milk fat of dairy cows fed

increasing amounts of sunflower oil and a constant level of fish oil. J Dairy Sci 2007, 90:3786-3801.

- 29. Vine DF, Takechi R, Russell JC, Proctor SD: Impaired postprandial apolipoprotein-B48 metabolism in the obese, insulin-resistant JCR:LA-*cp* rat: increased atherogenicity for the metabolic syndrome. *Atherosclerosis* 2007, **190**:282-290.
- Russell JC, Ahuja SK, Manickavel V, Rajotte RV, Amy RM: Insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance in the atherosclerosis-prone LA/N corpulent rat. *Arteriosclerosis* 1987, 7:620-626.
- Raff M, Tholstrup T, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM, Wijnberg N: Diets rich in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid have no effect on blood pressure and isobaric arterial elasticity in healthy young men. J Nutr 2006, 136:992-997.
- 32. Swain MLBB: Formation of traces of conjugated tetraenoic and trienoic constitutents in autoxidized linolenic and linoleic acids and vegetable oils during alkali-isomerization. *JAOCS* 1949, **26**:272-277.
- Qin Y, Dalen KT, Gustafsson JA, Nebb HI: Regulation of hepatic fatty acid elongase 5 by LXRalpha-SREBP-1c. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2009, 1791:140-147.
- Russell JC, Proctor SD: Small animal models of cardiovascular disease: tools for the study of the roles of metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Pathol* 2006, 15:318-330.
- Elam MB, Wilcox HG, Cagen LM, Deng X, Raghow R, Kumar P, Heimberg M, Russell JC: Increased hepatic VLDL secretion, lipogenesis, and SREBP-1 expression in the corpulent JCR:LA-cp rat. J Lipid Res 2001, 42:2039-2048.
- Kelly SE, Proctor SD: The JCR:LA-cp Rat: An animal model of the metabolic syndrome exhibiting micro-and macro-vascular disease. Animal Models of Diabetes Boca Raton: CRC PressShafrir E , 2 2007, 157-183.
- Choi JS, Jung MH, Park HS, Song J: Effect of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on insulin resistance and mRNA levels of genes regulating energy metabolism in high-fat-fed rats. *Nutrition* 2004, 20:1008-1017.
- Ryder JW, Portocarrero CP, Song XM, Cui L, Yu M, Combatsiaris T, Galuska D, Bauman DE, Barbano DM, Charron MJ, Zierath JR, Houseknecht KL: Isomer-specific antidiabetic properties of conjugated linoleic acid improved glucose tolerance, skeletal muscle insulin action, and UCP-2 gene expression. *Diabetes* 2001, 50:1149-1157.
- Rodriguez E, Ribot J, Palou A: Trans-10, cis-12, but not cis-9, trans-11 CLA isomer, inhibits brown adipocyte thermogenic capacity. Am J Physiol Regulatory Integrative Comp Physiol 2002, 282:R1789-R1797.
- Choi JS, Koh I, Jung MH, Song J: Effects of three different conjugated linoleic acid preparations on insulin signalling, fat oxidation and mitochondrial function in rats fed a high-fat diet. *Brit J Nutr* 2007, 98:264-275.
- Bogacka I, Xie H, Bray GA, Smith SR: Pioglitazone induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human subcutaneous adipose tissue in vivo. *Diabetes* 2005, 54:1392-1399.
- Rong JX, Qiu Y, Hansen MK, Zhu L, Zhang V, Xie M, Okamoto Y, Mattie MD, Higashiyama H, Asano S, Strum JC, Ryan TE: Adipose mitochondrial biogenesis is suppressed in *db/db* and high-fat diet-fed mice and improved by rosiglitazone. *Diabetes* 2007, 56:1751-1760.
- Moya-Camarena AY, Vanden-Heuvel JP, Blanchard SG, Leesnitzer LA, Belury MA: Conjugated linoleic acid is a potent naturally occurring ligand and activator of PPARα. J Lipid Res 1999, 40:1426-1433.
- 44. Wargent E, Sennitt MV, Stocker C, Mayes AE, Brown L, O'dowd J, Wang S, Einerhand AW, Mohede I, Arch JRS, Cawthorne MA: Prolonged treatment of genetically obese mice with conjugated linoleic acid improves glucose tolerance and lowers plasma insulin concentration: possible involvement of PPAR activation. *Lipids Health Dis* 2005, 4:3-16.
- Brown JM, Boysen MS, Jensen SS, Morrison RF, Storkson J, Lea-Currie R, Pariza M, Mandrup S, McIntosh MK: Isomer-specific regulation of metabolism and PPAR gamma signaling by CLA in human preadipocytes. J Lipid Res 2003, 44:1287-300.
- Turner N, Bruce CR, Beale SM, Hoehn KL, So T, Rolph MS, Cooney GJ: Excess lipid availability increases mitochondrial fatty acid oxidative capacity in muscle: evidence against a role for reduced fatty acid oxidation in lipid-induced insulin resistance in rodents. *Diabetes* 2007, 56:2085-2092.
- Hancock CR, Han DH, Chen M, Terada S, Yasuda T, Wright DC, Holloszy JO: High-fat diets cause insulin resistance despite an increase in muscle mitochondria. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008, 105:7815-7820.
- Hoeks J, Briedé JJ, de V ogel J, Schaart G, Nabben M, Moonen-Kornips E, Hesselink MK, Schrauwen P: Mitochondrial function, content and ROS production in rat skeletal muscle: effect of high-fat feeding. *FEBS let* 2008, 582:510-516.
- Wilson-Fritch L, Burkart A, Bell G, Mendelson K, Leszyk J, Nicoloro S, Czeck M, Corvera S: Mitochondrial biogenesis and remodeling during adipogenesis and in response to the insulin sensitizer rosiglitazone. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003, 23:1085-1094.
- Hodson L, Skeaff CM, Fielding BA: Fatty acid composition of adipose tissue and blood in humans and its use as a biomarker of dietary intake. *Progress in Lipid Research* 2008, 47:348-380.
- 51. Postic C, Girard J: The role of the lipogenic pathway in the development of hepatic steatosis. *Diabetes & Metabolism* 2008, **34**:643-648.
- Lewis GF, Carpentier A, Adeli K, Giacca A: Disordered fat storage and mobilization in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Endocr Rev* 2002, 23:201-229.
- Abu-Elheiga L, Brinkley WR, Zhong L, Chirala SS, Wakil SJ: The subcellular localization of acetyl-CoA carboxylase 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000, 97:1444-1449.

#### doi:10.1186/1743-7075-7-60

**Cite this article as:** Jacome-Sosa *et al.*: **Increased hypolipidemic benefits** of *cis*-9, *trans*-11 conjugated linoleic acid in combination with *trans*-11 vaccenic acid in a rodent model of the metabolic syndrome, the JCR: LA-cp rat. Nutrition & Metabolism 2010 7:60.

## Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

BioMed Central

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

#### Appendix 'B'

Supp.	Table	4-1	Fat	com	position	of	designed	control	and	VA	diets

Fat ingredient	Control diet	VA diet
	g/kg of o	diet
Butter	48.75	57.3
Sunflower oil	14.25	21.6
Flaxseed	3.75	3.9
Fully hydrogenated canola oil	6.75	6.6
Olive oil	52.5	28.5
Lard	24	19.4
Vaccenic acid	0	12.66

Butter fat was processed from local milk provided by the Dairy Research and Technology Center, University of Alberta. VA was chemically synthesized by alkali isomerisation from linoleic acid-rich vegetable oil. Values are expressed as g per kg of diet.

Fatty acid	Control diet	VA diet
	g/100 F	AME*
C12:0	1.0	1.2
C14:0	3.6	4.2
C14:1	0.3	0.4
C16:0	19.0	18.1
C16:1	1.2	1.0
C18:0	11.0	10.9
C18:1 trans-9	0.5	0.5
C18:1 trans-11 (VA)	1.3	8.8
C18:1 <i>cis</i> -9 (oleic acid)	35.6	27.9
C18:1 <i>cis</i> -11	1.9	1.4
C18:2 n6	13.7	13.9
C18:3 n3	1.7	1.7
cis9, trans11 CLA	0.2	0.3
Summaries		
∑SFA	37.5	37.6
∑C12:0, C14:0, C16:0	23.6	23.5
PUFA	15.6	15.8
<i>ci</i> sMUFA	40.0	31.6
<i>trans</i> MUFA	4.2	11.4
n6	13.8	13.8
n3	1.7	1.7
n6:n3 ratio	7.9	7.9
PUFA:SFA ratio	0.4	0.4

Supp. Table 4-2 Fatty acid composition of control and VA diets<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Values are expressed as percentage of fatty acids

\*FAME, fatty acid methyl esters

Supp. Table 4-3 Expression of genes known to affect intestinal lipic
synthesis, oxidation and transport. Values are the fold change in mRNA
expression relative to MetS control rats

	Lean	MetS	MetS+VA
Transcription factors			
PPARα	$0.78 \pm 0.07$	1.05 ± 0.13	0.85 ± 0.10
PPARγ	1.28±0.27	1.16±0.26	1.24±0.14
LXRα	$0.80 \pm 0.05$	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	$0.84 \pm 0.07$
LXRβ	1.01 ± 0.15	1.05 ± 0.13	$0.99 \pm 0.09$
SREBP2	1.12 ± 0.11	1.02 ± 0.10	$0.99 \pm 0.07$
FA synthesis and oxid	dation		
FAT/CD36	1.12 ± 0.19	$1.03 \pm 0.11$	0.85 ± 0.05
FATP1	$1.29 \pm 0.30$	$1.03 \pm 0.11$	0.87 ± 0.08
FATP4	0.85 ± 0.11	$1.02 \pm 0.08$	1.03 ± 0.05
L-FABP	0.69 0.04	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	1.12 ± 0.05
I-FABP	$1.00 \pm 0.13$	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	$0.99 \pm 0.07$
ACLY	$1.08 \pm 0.14$	$1.00 \pm 0.03$	$0.88 \pm 0.09$
ME1	$0.62 \pm 0.08^{a}$	$1.01 \pm 0.05$ <sup>b</sup>	0.95 ± 0.09 <sup>b</sup>
ACC	1.15 ± 0.17	$1.00 \pm 0.03$	$0.93 \pm 0.09$
SCD1	$0.08 \pm 0.03^{a}$	1.17 ± 0.28 <sup>b</sup>	0.87 ± 0.15 <sup>b</sup>
ΑΜΡΚα	$0.93 \pm 0.10$	$1.02 \pm 0.08$	$1.00 \pm 0.08$
CPT1α	0.87 ± 0.10	$1.01 \pm 0.08$	$0.97 \pm 0.07$
ACOX1	0.83 ± 0.11	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	$0.96 \pm 0.08$
MCAD	$0.84 \pm 0.05$	$1.01 \pm 0.05$	$0.95 \pm 0.05$
LCAD	$0.79 \pm 0.05$	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	1.10 ± 0.08
VLCAD	0.83 ± 0.11	1.01 ± 0.07	1.13 ± 0.07
Lipid synthesis			
MGAT1	$1.50 \pm 0.30$	$1.34 \pm 0.34$	$2.17 \pm 0.19$

MGAT2	0.96 ± 0.07	$1.00 \pm 0.04$	$0.90 \pm 0.04$
GPAT1	1.17 ± 0.18	1.02 ± 0.09	$0.90 \pm 0.10$
GPAT3	0.78 ± 0.18	1.02 ± 0.10	$0.91 \pm 0.08$
DGAT1	$0.94 \pm 0.03$	1.01 ± 0.06	$1.00 \pm 0.03$
DGAT2	$0.89 \pm 0.05$	$1.02 \pm 0.07$	$0.97 \pm 0.05$
AGPAT2	$0.87 \pm 0.05$	1.01 ± 0.07	$1.03 \pm 0.07$
Cholesterol synthesis/trar	nsport		
HMGCoAr	1.18 ± 0.17	1.11 ± 0.18	$0.84 \pm 0.14$
SCAP	1.09 ± 0.17	1.02 ± 0.10	$0.88 \pm 0.07$
INSIG1	0.82 ± 0.10	1.04 ± 0.13	$0.86 \pm 0.07$
NPC1L1	1.01 ± 0.04	1.01 ± 0.05	1.03 ± 0.10
ACAT	1.42 ± 0.12	1.06 ± 0.14	$1.09 \pm 0.06$
ABCA1	1.20 ± 0.19	1.06 ± 0.16	$1.07 \pm 0.07$
ABCG5	$0.92 \pm 0.03$	1.03 ± 0.11	$1.05 \pm 0.03$
ABCG8	$0.89 \pm 0.06$	1.04 ± 0.13	$0.90 \pm 0.09$
ароВ	$0.94 \pm 0.09$	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	$0.76 \pm 0.05$
MTP	1.00 ± 0.13	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	$1.05 \pm 0.07$
LDLR	0.77 ± 0.10	1.03 ± 0.10	$0.83 \pm 0.08$

Values are means  $\pm$  SEM, n=5. Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. Intestinal segments from lean, MetS and Met+VA were collected after an overnight fasting (16 hr). PPAR $\alpha$ , peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha; PPAR $\gamma$ , peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma; LXR $\alpha$ , liver X receptor alpha; LXR $\beta$ , liver X receptor beta; SREBP2, sterol response element binding protein 2; FAT/CD36, fatty acid translocase/cluster determinant 36; FATP1, fatty acid transporter 1; FATP4, fatty acid transporter 4; L-FABP, liver-type fatty acid binding protein; I-FABP, intestine-type fatty acid binding protein; ACLY, ATP citrate lyase; ME1, malic enzyme 1; ACC, acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase alpha; SCD1, stearoyl-coenzyme A desaturase 1; AMPK $\alpha$ , AMP-activated

protein kinase alpha; CPT1α, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1; ACOX1, acyl-coenzyme A oxidase 1, MCAD, medium chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase; LCAD, long chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase; WLCAD, very long chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase; MGAT1, monoacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 1; MGAT2, monoacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 2; GPAT1, glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase 3; DGAT1, diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 1; DGAT2: diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 2; AGPAT2, 1-acyl-sn-glycerol 3-phosphate O-acyltransferase 2; HMGCoAr 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-CoA reductase; SCAP, *SREBP* cleavage-activating protein; INSIG1, insulin induced gene1; NPC1L1, Nieman Pick C 1-like protein 1; ACAT, sterol O-acyltransferase 1; ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette A1; ABCG5, ATP-binding cassette G5; ABCG8, ATP-binding cassette G8; apoB, apolipoprotein B; MTP, microsomal triglyceride transfer protein; LDLR, low density lipoprotein receptor.

Supp.Table	4-4	Expression	of	genes	known	to	affect	hepatic	lipid
synthesis, ox	idatio	on and trans	port	t. Value	s are th	e fo	old chai	nge in m	RNA
expression re	elative	e to MetS cor	ntro	l rats					

	Lean	MetS	MetS+VA
Transcription			
factors			
PPARα	1.32 ±0.18	$1.04 \pm 0.12$	$1.00 \pm 0.09$
PPARγ	$0.53 \pm 0.07$	$1.08 \pm 0.32$	$1.34 \pm 0.45$
LXRα	$0.82 \pm 0.06^{a}$	$1.01 \pm 0.04^{b}$	1.07 ± 0.05 <sup>b</sup>
LXRβ	1.04 ± 0.11	$1.01 \pm 0.06$	$1.02 \pm 0.09$
SREBP1	$0.20 \pm 0.05^{a}$	1.1 ± 0.25 <sup>b</sup>	$0.93 \pm 0.03^{b}$
SREBP2	0.91 ± 0.15	$1.02 \pm 0.10$	0.81 ± 0.05
FA synthesis and	oxidation		
FAT/CD36	0.11 ± 0.01 <sup>a</sup>	1.05 ± 0.13 <sup>b</sup>	1.24 ± 0.13 <sup>b</sup>
FATP1	1.09 ± 0.11	1.01 ± 0.07	$1.24 \pm 0.07$
FATP4	1.11 ± 0.10	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	1.03 ± 0.09
L-FABP	$1.63 \pm 0.06^{b}$	$1.02 \pm 0.09^{a}$	1.14 ± 0.05 <sup>a</sup>
ACLY	$0.18 \pm 0.03$	0.78 ± 0.15	0.86 ± 0.11
ME1	$0.23 \pm 0.05^{a}$	$1.14 \pm 0.30^{b}$	1.63 ± 0.20 <sup>b</sup>
FAS	$0.05 \pm 0.01^{a}$	1.56 ± 0.82 <sup>b</sup>	$0.91 \pm 0.13^{b}$
ACC	0.29 ± 0.07 <sup>a</sup>	$1.06 \pm 0.18$ <sup>b</sup>	1.10 ± 0.12 <sup>b</sup>
SCD1	$0.03 \pm 0.02^{a}$	1.11 ± 0.25 <sup>b</sup>	$0.72 \pm 0.08$ <sup>b</sup>
AMPKα	0.86 ± 0.13	$1.01 \pm 0.04$	1.05 ± 0.06
CPT1α	1.30 ± 0.22	$1.02 \pm 0.07$	1.10 ± 0.10
ACOX1	$0.92 \pm 0.12$	$1.02 \pm 0.10$	1.05 ± 0.11
MCAD	$1.06 \pm 0.08$	1.01 ± 0.07	0.97 ± 0.06
LCAD	$0.94 \pm 0.07$	1.01 ± 0.06	1.08 ± 0.07
VLCAD	$1.03 \pm 0.10$	$1.01 \pm 0.07$	1.02 ± 0.09
UCP2	$1.39 \pm 0.49$	1.07 ± 0.18	1.06 ± 0.19

Lipid synthesis			
MGAT1	$0.69 \pm 0.23$	1.04 ± 0.15	0.57 ± 0.10
GPAT1	$0.42 \pm 0.09^{a}$	1.11 ± 0.26 <sup>b</sup>	1.25 ± 0.26 <sup>b</sup>
GPAT3	0.99 ± 0.15	1.01 ± 0.07	1.40 ± 0.17
DGAT1	1.07 ± 0.10	$1.02 \pm 0.08$	1.23 ± 0.09
AGPAT2	$0.67 \pm 0.05^{a}$	$1.01 \pm 0.06^{ab}$	$1.32 \pm 0.12^{b}$
Cholesterol synthesis	/transport		
HMGCoAr	1.07 ± 0.17	1.03 ± 0.08	$0.84 \pm 0.08$
SCAP	1.29 ± 0.07 <sup>b</sup>	1.02 ± 0.08 <sup>a</sup>	$1.11 \pm 0.03^{ab}$
INSIG1	0.81 ± 0.13	0.83 ± 0.19	$0.40 \pm 0.04$
ACAT	0.87 ± 0.12	$1.02 \pm 0.09$	$0.95 \pm 0.03$
ABCA1	0.88 ± 0.11	$1.02 \pm 0.07$	$0.93 \pm 0.05$
ABCG5	$4.69 \pm 0.45$ <sup>b</sup>	1.08 ± 0.17 <sup>a</sup>	$0.62 \pm 0.10^{a}$
ABCG8	$6.36 \pm 0.68$ <sup>b</sup>	1.16 ± 0.23 <sup>a</sup>	$0.82 \pm 0.25^{a}$
ароВ	1.14 ± 0.10	1.01 ± 0.05	1.05 ± 0.06
MTP	0.75 ± 0.11 <sup>a</sup>	$1.00 \pm 0.04^{ab}$	$1.13 \pm 0.08^{b}$
LDLR	$0.75 \pm 0.12$	1.06 ± 0.16	$0.90 \pm 0.07$

Values are means ± SEM, n=5. Means without a common letter differ (P<0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. Liver segments from lean, MetS and Met+VA were collected after an overnight fasting (16 hr). PPARa, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha; PPARy, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma; LXRa, liver X receptor alpha; LXRB, liver X receptor beta; SREBP1, sterol response element binding protein 1; SREBP2, sterol response element binding protein 2; FAT/CD36, fatty acid translocase/cluster determinant 36; FATP1, fatty acid transporter 1; FATP4, fatty acid transporter 4; L-FABP, liver-type fatty acid binding protein; ACLY, ATP citrate lyase; ME1, malic enzyme 1; FAS, fatty acid synthase; ACC, acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase alpha; SCD1, stearoylcoenzyme A desaturase 1; AMPKa, AMP-activated protein kinase alpha;

CPT1α, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1; ACOX1, acyl-coenzyme A oxidase 1, MCAD, medium chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase; LCAD, long chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase; VLCAD, very long chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase; UCP2, uncoupling protein 2; MGAT1, monoacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 1; GPAT1, glycerol-3-GPAT3, phosphate acyltransferase 1; glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase 3; DGAT1, diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 1; AGPAT2, 1-acyl-sn-glycerol 3-phosphate O-acyltransferase 2; HMGCoAr 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-CoA reductase; SCAP, SREBP cleavage-activating protein; INSIG1, insulin induced gene1; ACAT, sterol O-acyltransferase 1; ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette A1; ABCG5, ATP-binding cassette G5; ABCG8, ATP-binding cassette G8; apoB, apolipoprotein B; MTP, microsomal triglyceride transfer protein; LDLR, low density lipoprotein receptor.



**Suppl. Figure 4-1** Food intake (Panel A) and body weight (Panel B) of lean (open squares), MetS (open circles) and MetS+VA rats (black circles). Food intake and body weight did not differ between MetS and MetS+VA rats (P>0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.



**Supp. Figure 4-2** Absolute lean mass of lean (open squares), MetS (open circles) and MetS+VA rats (black circles) determined by NMR. Values are means with standard error represented by vertical bars. Mean values did not differ between MetS and MetS+VA rats (P>0.05) as assessed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test.

#### Appendix 'C'

### Protocol for Extraction and Analysis of Endocannabinoids and Fatty acid fractions (TG and PL) in Tissue

#### Folch Extraction

Materials and reagents:

- Chloroform
- Methanol
- Internal standard (IS) (preparation steps shown in the Table below)
- Double distilled water
- Glass screw top tubes
- Pasteur pipettes
- Graduated glass pipettes

#### a) Stock Solution Preparation

Initial concentration of	Volume	Volume of solvent	Stock
commercial IS	taken from	added to make the	Solution, final
	Initial IS	stock solution	concentration
2-AG-d5	50 uL*	500 uL	100ug/mL
(500ug/500uL)		(acetonitrile)	-
AEA-d8	50 uL*	500 uL (methanol)	100ug/mL
(100ug/100uL)			-
PEA-d4	50 uL*	5000 uL	10 ug/mL
(100ug/100uL)		(methanol)	-
OEA-d2	50 uL*	5000 uL	10 ug/mL
(100ug/100uL)		(methanol)	

\*dry aliquots of IS under nitrogen before adding the corresponding solvent. Use micropipettes (glass capillaries) for measuring 50 and 100 uL of IS

#### b) IS 1<sup>st</sup> Working Solution

Initial concentration of	Volume	Volume of solvent	Stock				
commercial IS	taken from	added to make the	Solution, final				
	Initial IS	stock solution	concentration				
2-AG-d5 (100ug/mL)	100 uL*	500 uL	20 ug/mL				
		(acetonitrile)					
AEA-d8 (100ug/mL)	50 uL*	2.5 mL (methanol)	2 ug/mL				
PEA-d4 (10 ug/mL)	100 uL*	500 uL (methanol)	2 ug/mL				
OEA-d2 (10 ug/mL)	100 uL*	500 uL (methanol)	2 ug/mL				

\*dry aliquots of IS under nitrogen before adding the corresponding solvent.

c) IS Working Solution (freshly prepared):

Take 100 uL of each of the above IS 1<sup>st</sup> working Solutions into a pre-labeled amber vial (5mL), dry under nitrogen and add 4 mL of methanol. So the concentration in each IS working solution is: 2-AG-d5: 500 ng/mL

AEA-d8, PEA-d4, OEA-d2: 50 ng/mL

 d) Spike 96 uL of the above IS Working Solutions into each simple (as described in Step #3 below). So, the theoretical IS concentration in the final LC-MS samples is:

2-AG-d5: 200 ng/mL

AEA-d8, PEA-d4, OEA-d2: 20 ng/mL

- 1. Prepare Folch solution by adding chloroform and methanol (C/M) in a ratio of 2:1 (e.g. for 90 mL of Folch solution use 60 mL of chloroform + 30 mL of methanol).
- 2. Weight ~300 mg of tissue (record the weight) and place the sample into an appropriately labelled tube. 100-150 mg for brain and intestine.
- 3. Add in 96 uL of internal standard for endocannabinoids. The internal standard working solution is prepared following the steps in the Table above.
- 4. Add 9mL of Folch solution to each tube and vortex well and leave the tubes at room temperature (in the dark) for 1 hr.
- 5. Then add 3 mL of double distilled water to each tube. Mix by gentle inversion (this is crucial) and then let layers separate at room temperature (in the dark) for 1 hr.
- 6. Next, centrifuge the tubes at 3000 rpm at room temperature for 15-20 min.
- 7. Draw up 5 mL of the bottom layer with a graduated glass pipette and put into a clean, labelled tube. Alternatively, can aspirate the upper layer first (discard) by using a glass pipette connected to a vacuum flask system. Then can proceed to draw up 5 mL of the bottom layer with a graduated glass pipette and put into a clean, labelled tube.

- Dry under nitrogen gas at ~30°C (heating block) in the fume hood (samples can be frozen at -20 °C or stored in the fridge for short term at this point or before drying).
- 9. Reconstitute the sample with 500 uL of chloroform just before starting solid phase extractions.

#### Solid Phase Extraction (SPE)

Materials and reagents:

- Chloroform
- Methanol
- Chloroform: methanol (9:1) solution (e.g for 100 mL of solution use 90 mL of chloroform+10 ml of methanol)
- Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) columns (Phenomenex; Strata SI-1 Silica; 8B- S012-HCL; 55 um, 70A; 500 mg, 6 mL)
- Glass screw top tubes (collection tubes)
- Pasteur pipettes (glass transfer pipettes)
- Insulin syringes
- Syringe PTFE membrane filters (VWR International; Cat No. 28145-491; diameter 13 mm, pore size 0.2 um)

#### • Preparation of pre-measured solvents for each sample:

To facilitate the process, pre-measurement of solvents saves time. For each sample, label three scintillation vials (20ml) as chloroform, methanol and chloroform:methanol 9:1 solution respectively. Measure 10ml of each of these solvents into the respective vials. Prepare such vials for each sample to be analyzed. (*This saves time as during the column washes one does not have to measure the solvents and simply dispense the premeasured amounts into the column using a glass transfer pipette*): It is up to you whether *to use disposable glass tubes or recyclable kimax glass tubes* (need to wash them thoroughly-perhaps also leave them for a few hours in the AFNS furnace).

#### • Preparation of pre-labeled tubes:

It is preferable to label the collection tubes before starting the process to save time as well as to avoid mistakes. For each sample, label 3 glass tubes as TG (for the TG fraction), EC (for the endocannabinoid fraction) and PL (for the phospholipid fraction). Using sticky tape is helpful, so that the labels can be transferred from tube to tube to prevent any errors (mixing up the samples).

Proceed with this protocol in batches of samples. So that at any stage all samples are undergoing the same treatment/step. For example, label all tubes first, prepare fresh solutions to prevent evaporation and dry the samples simultaneously. If handling too many samples then stagger them in batches so that during a batch all samples are treated simultaneously. Please see the picture below for set up.



- 10. Wash the SPE column with chloroform (approx. 500 uL by drawing some chloroform with a glass transfer pipette and dispensing it into the SPE column). Use a collection tube (or scintillation vials) underneath the column to avoid spills.
- 11. Once the solvent has been dispensed add air pressure on the SPE column (For example by using a glass syringe that fits an adaptor on the neck of the SPE column snugly) to flush the solvent down the column.
- 12. Transfer (load) the reconstituted sample (500 uL) (from step #9) onto the column by using a glass transfer pipette.

- 13. Then, wash out the 'TG fraction' from the column by transferring the pre-measured 10 mL **chloroform** with a glass transfer pipette. Make sure to fit the column on the top of the respective pre-labeled glass tube (to collect the solvent). Will need to load the solvent in two steps as the column won't fit the 10 mL at once. Repeat step # 11 to flush the solvent down.
- 14. Next, wash out the 'EC fraction' from the column by transferring the pre-measured 10 mL **chloroform: methanol 9:1** solution with a glass transfer pipette and collect the wash out solvent in the respective pre-labeled glass tube (to collect the solvent). Again, will need to load the solvent in two steps while repeating step # 11 to flush the solvent down.
- 15. Finally, wash out the 'PL fraction' from the column by transferring the pre-measured 10 mL **methanol** with a glass transfer pipette and collect the wash out solvent in the respective pre-labeled glass tube (to collect the solvent). Again, will need to load the solvent in two steps while repeating step # 11 to flush the solvent down.
- 16. Dry each collected fraction under nitrogen gas at ~30°C (heating block) in the fume hood (samples can be frozen at -20 °C or stored in the fridge for short term at this point or before drying). To facilitate the drying process it is recommended that all samples are at the same step of solvent addition and drying. For example If some samples have methanol only and others have chloroform only then their drying times will be different and this leads to increased nitrogen wastage.

For further clarification of how to proceed further after drying each sample, please see Figure below.



17. After drying, the EC fraction is reconstituted in 200 uL of methanol, drawn from the glass tube with an 'insulin' syringe and passed through a syringe PTFE membrane filter while being transferred to a glass micro-insert in a GC vial. Samples are 'READY' for endocannabinoid analysis by LC-MS.

The final concentration of endocannabinoids in tissues can be calculated shown below.

		~~~	Calculated	ug/200 ul	ng/g	nmol/a
	N/NA/	ticquo		ug/200 uL mothanal*	ticcuo <sup>†</sup>	ticcuo <sup>‡</sup>
		แรรนษ	(ug/IIIL)	methanoi	แรรนย	แรรนษ
2-AG	379	86.4	5.58	1.116	15500.0	40.9
AEA	348	86.4	0.0228	0.00456	63	0.2
OEA	326	86.4	0.1	0.02	277.8	0.9
PEA	300	86.4	0.386	0.0772	1072.2	3.6

\*Concentration (ug) in 200 uL methanol= Calculated concentration x 200/1000 <sup>†</sup>Concentration (ng) per g tissue= (ug/200uL methanol/mg tissue) x (6/5) x10<sup>6</sup>; where 6 corresponds to the total volume of chloroform added to the sample (in the Folch solution) while 5 corresponds to the volume taken from the bottom layer after Folch extraction.

<sup>‡</sup>Concentration (pmol) per g tissue = ng/g tissue/MW of the respective molecule



Dried TG and PL fractions can undergo further methylation for fatty acid analysis, as described below. It is important to note that TG and PL fractions can also be separated by thin layer chromatography (TLC) (Procedure not included here).

#### Methylation of fatty acids in collected fractions

Materials and reagents:

- Methanolic Base 0.5 N (Sigma 33080) (for samples containing) CLA)
- Hexane
- Sodium sulfate anhydrous
- Glass tubes
- Pasteur pipets
- Micro-inserts for GC

- Microvials for GC with caps
- 18. Add 1 mL hexane and 2 mL Methanolic Base to each tube. Vortex well (make sure to keep the same caps with the same tube).

work in fume hood

19. Put on heating block at 80°C for 15 min.

Make sure to cap each tube tightly and check for leaking; otherwise the solvent will evaporate. If the solvent evaporates, fatty acids will NOT be detected by GC (Perhaps due to evaporation of methyl esters?). If this is the case, a new sample would need to be extracted and fractionated again.

20. Let tubes cool.

- 21. Add 1 mL  $H_2O$  (double distilled) and 1 mL of hexane to each tube.
- 22. Vortex well and centrifuge at 2500 rpm for 5 min at room temperature.
- 23. Transfer the 'upper layer' containing the organic solvent using a glass pipette into a clean, labelled screw top glass tube containing 1 mL of double distilled water (this is an extra step just to make sure there is no traces of methanolic base in the final sample and therefore it is optional <sup>2</sup> ?).
- 25. Vortex well and centrifuge at 2500 rpm for 5 min at room temperature.
- 26. Take off hexane with glass pipette and put in clean tubes.
- 27. Dry under Nitrogen gas (in fume hood).
- 28. Add 100-200 uL hexane to each tube and vortex well.

29. Transfer to micro-insert tubes (inside microvials for GC) and cap the tubes.

if samples are too diluted then can dry them down and add 50 uL of hexane into each insert, if they are too concentrated, then dilute appropriately. Try to keep a low concentration of lipids (~0.5-1 mg/mL of hexane) in samples containing ruminant trans fats to enhance peak separation in the 18:1 region of the chromatogram.

30. Samples are READY for GC analysis

#### Instrument and GC column

Varian 3600, FID detector, Column: CP Sil 88 (CP7489, Varian) 100m

X 0.25mm i.d. X 0.2 µm film thickness

# Operating conditions (from Kramer's lab (Cruz Hernandez *et al.*, J AOAC Int., 2004)

45 °C isothermal for 4 min, increase to 175 °C at 13 °C/min, isothermal for 27 min at this temperature then increase to 215 °C at 4 °C/min and hold isothermal for 35 min.

[45°C (4 min)--13°C/min--175°C (27 min)-- 4°C/min --215 °C (35 min), total time 86 min]

#### Injector and detector temperatures: 250 C

Injection volume: 1 uL